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MEMOIR~ 

OF THE CAMPAIGN OF THE 

NORTH WESTEB.N' Al\lYIY, 

IN THE YEAR 1812. 

J1dd,'essed to the People of the United States. 

No. I. 
Fellow Citizens, 

W HEN my defence before the Court Martial was publish­
ed; I stated in a preface addressed to you, that it was not then 
in my power to present all the documents and evide!lce which 
related to the subject; that the proceedings were deposi ted in 
tqe office of the Secretary of the department of War, and by 
law, I was entitled to a copy of them; and as soon as they were 
obtained, they should be published in separate numbers. Until 
the present time, [ have not been able to obtain them. 

Immediately after the trial. during the administration of Mr. 
Madison, I addressed a letter to the Secretary ofW ar, Gen. 
Armstrong, requesting a certified copy. He did not think prop­
er to comply with my request, or even return an answer to my 
application. Lately, under the administration of President 
Monroe. they have been prepared and transmitted by Mr. Cal­
houn, the present Secretary, with a promptitude and indepen­
dence becomillg the character of that officer. 

Although it has been a source of severe regret, that I have not 
been able to make this communication at an earlier period, yet 
under all circumstances, perhaps it ought not to be considered 
Ii misfortllne. All who were then actors Oil tbe stage, will re-



". ,- . ,~. \ ... ~ 
~eniber 'riow violently oUr'\oouiitry-.was \onvft'u;~d by""~s, 
and political dissentions. 'Truth itself was-eo obslmr~ ~.r prej­
udice, that it was almost i~possime'to makeit apparent: AU 
easily believed what they wished to be true. Fortull;ate\.y, those 
inauspicious days have passed away, and wttJf..i1~e.ni 't;e fefJ.ings 
and prejudices which existed. The time now appears favoura­
ble fOl' calm enquiry. and I shall endeavour to redeem the 
pledge which I then gave, 

Having now passed the 70th year of my age, I am strongly 
admonished, ttlat this appeal will lIoi be prepared in a manner 
so satisfactory to myself, or so acceptable to you, as it might 
have been, before age had impaired my health, and necessarily 
enfeebled the powers of my mind. 

I shall however tmdertake it, with a firm reliance on your 
candour, and with a confident expectation, that you will read 
without prejudice, and decide with impartiality. It will be 
written in the style of simplicity, and adorned with nothing 
but truth in its plainest garb. On an occasion so interesting to 
me, I cannot omit to express the satisfaction I feel, in appearing 
before a tribunal of enlightened ciiizens, who in forming their 
constitut,ir>n, have wisely retained the sovereign power, and 
, ... hose fihal opinion can reverse the sentence of all subordinate 
authorities. With confidence, therefore, I shall make this ap' 
peal to your candid and impartial judgment. 

In the progress of my following numbers, I am not insensible 
,Qf the difficulties with which I have to contend. I am not in­
sensible of the deep interest which yet exists, that the causes of 
the disasters of the campaign of 1812, shou td remain where the 
administration have attempted to place them. I am not insen­
sible how hard is the task of removing the weight of oppression, 
which I have so long and so unjustly sustained. 

In making my-statements, and adducing the documents and 
evidence in proof of tnem, it will frequentlj be necessary to 
'bring into view the officers who comp~sed the administration at 
that time, the Court Martial before which I was tried, and other 
distinguished characters. 

In cases of this kind, fearless of any consequences ta myself, 
while on the one hand I shall comment with the most perfect 
freedom on their conduct -On the other, I shall endeavour to 
liuppress any feeling of resentment, for the injustice and per-



secution which I have experienced ftom them, and shall !lay 
nothing more than is necessary fot a fair exemplification of the 
facts, which it will be my object to establish. 

If, when this mirror is placed before them, they should discerft 
the truth, and be made sensible, that, by their unfounded repre­
sentations, they have been the instruments of injuring. an inno­
cent individual, and robbing him of the cha£actpr he had acquir­
ed by a long course of public services. both in the cabinet and 
in the field, and in tbis view of the subject, any compunctions 
of conscience should be excited, I do not, and cannot wish them 
a more thorny pillow, than will be made by their own reflections. 

It is possible I deceive myself in the indulgence of the hop/} 
that this subject will even for a moment excite your attetitioJi, 
You may say, that it has been settled by the administration, 
and that that decision ought to be con~lusive and final-thftt the 
character of a.n individual is oflittle consequence, when compar­
ed, with the character of the administration-and that it is not 
expedient to rake open embers which have so long been cov;er­
ed. But when you consider that my character is connected 
with the events which took place, and how important it is that 
the truth of those events should be preserved and handed down 

. to posterity, I cannot but hope, that such l:onsiderations will 
be a sufficient answer to the objections, and induce you to feel 
an interest in the narrative I shall present, and the evidence I 
shall produce in its support; and that you will believe no means 
are so powerful as truth, to preserve the honour of the nation. 

Should these expectations be disappointed, and should the 
statements, with the evidence on which they are founded, not 
remove the veil ~f prejudice from the eyes of the present genera· 
tion, the reflection of having preserved materials for the future 
historians of our country, will be an ample reward for my la­
bours, and a soothing cunsolation during the short remnant of my 
future life. 

It will be remembered, this was the first war in which our 
,country was (>ligaged with a civilized nation, after the war of 
the revolution, by which our independence was obtained, 

It was the first experiment of your constitution, for the pre­
servation of those rights, which had b~cn acquired by the valour 
and blood of the few who no;v sunivl!, and of many of your Fa­
thers, who rest in their tombs. 
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Science is increasing with such rapid progres!$. that there can 
be no doubt, but our Country will soon produce an American 
Livy or Tacitus, who, rising above the atmosphere of prejudice, 
will develope the true causes of our misfortunes, as well as of 

our glory. 
fhe first war in our country, after we became a nation, and 

the first military operations in that war, whether prosperous or 
disastrous, will be considered as interesting events. All the 
evidence, which has any relation to them, will beeume the sub­
ject of the research of such an Historian, and viewed by him 
with deep interest.-His own fame, as well as his country's 
honour, will depend on his strict adherence to truth, as his stand­
ard. and no motives can be presented, so powerful, as to induce 
him to deviate from it. 

To aid you, my fellow citizens. in forming a correct judgment 
on this portion of our history, and to preserve for the use of 
such an Historian, evidence which will be useful to him, and to 
posterity, are among the objects of the following memoirs. 
They will contain the view,; of the administration in preparing 
a force, previously to the declaration of war; my motives in ac~ 
cepting the command; the operations of the campaign, and the 
causes of its disasters. 

I now have the happiness to believe, I shall be able to spread 
before you such evidence, and principally from the records of 
the government, as will satisfy you, that the misfortunes of that 
campaign ought not to rest on me. 

In recollecting my former relations to my fellow citizpns of 
the County of Middlesex, I cannot but hope a few observations 
addressed particularly to them, will be acceptably received. 

Having lived in the midst of you nearly forty years; having 
by your sulfragE's been elected to important public offices; hav­
ing for nearly twenty years devoted my best exertions, and my 
best talents to the discipline, and fame of the sd Division of 
Militia, and having experienced your kindness and friendship, 
it is impossible for me to feel indilferent to your opinions. 

If the mutual friendly intercourse, which so long subsisted be­
tween us, is still remembered by you, and has given me any 
claim to your regards; if the manner in which I discharged the 
duties of the public offices, which I held by your sulfrages, en­
titled me to your approbation and confidence; and if the for· 



tunes I have since experienced, and the reprNlentations which 
have been made to you, have made any unfav011rable impr"s-~ion$ 
on your minds, I only ask you to read the statements I shall 
make, and the evidence on which they are founded, and on 
them form an impartial decision. 

I presume I need not make an apology, for exprel"sing my 
strong desire. that a statement of the facts with the evidence, 
contained in the following numbers, may be examined with at­
tention, by the small remuant of the surviving offic:.ers of the 
revolutionary army.-It is impossible for me to call to mind the 
scenes and events of that period, without the most intt'resting 
recollections. A remembrance, that I was your companion in 
that glorious contest; that I often fought by your sides, 'that 
you were witnesses of my conduct, in the battles on Long Isl­
and, at the White Plains, at Trenton, at Prince Town, at Sara· 
toga, and Bhemis's Heights, at Monmouth, at Stoney Point, 
Morl'issania, and on many other memorable occa!>ions,-have 
been a source of happiness and support, through all the vicisi­
tudes of fortune, which I have since been called to experience. 

A recollection of the motives which animated us in that glori­
ous contest; that it was commenc,ed by less th<!-n three millions 
of people; that we have lived to see more than ten millions. in 
the enjoyment of privileges an,d blessings, derived from it ; that 
we have likewise, lived to see a great part of the civilized world, 
desirous of following the example, and wishing to enjoy the 
same privileges and blessings; and that we were the followers 
and associates of the illustrious Washington, and under his ban­
ners, acted a part, however small, in obtaining such privileges 
and blessings, £Or our fellow citizens; and producing such an 
example to the civilized world, must now inspire us with sensa 
tions, which no language can describe, which will cheer the den 
cline of life, and console the hour of death. 

No. II. 
BEFORE I proceed in my narrative, and produce the docu­

ments and evidence in its- support, I will exhibit to your view a 
general outline of the facts, which it will be my object to prove, 
and which wi'll be contained in the followmg numbe~s., 
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In the first place I shall show, that I accepted a military ap~ 

pointment, and the command of the forces ill Ohio, in time of 
peace, for the purpose of protecting the inhabitants of the Ter­
ritory of which I was Governor, ari~ those of the North-western 
frontier against the savages ;-That I considered the force en­
trusted to my command, in time of peace with Great Britain, 
when we had the free communication of Lake Erie, to obtain 
the necessary supplies, sufficient for that object ;--That these 
forces being ordered nearly four months he fore the dp.claration 
of war, and there being strQng indications that it would take 
place, I communicated to the government my views, in an event 
of that kind ;-That these official communicatinns were made 
both before and after I accepted this command ;-Tbat in the 
event I have mentioned, I stated in the most explicit nianner, 
th&t a naval force, sufficient to commalid Lake Erie, would be 
indispensably necessary, and essential to success ;-That without 
such a force, an army could not be supported at Detroit, and thl\t 
that place, Michillimackinack and Chirago, must necessarily fall 
into the hands of the enemy.-And if it were the intention of 
the Government, that hostilities should be commenced from .t~at • 
quarter agaimilt Upper Canada, it would be indispensably neces­
sary, he~jdes the co-operation of a naval force, to provide an 
army on the Niagara river to assist and to co-operate with the 
Army at Detroit. That these communications. having been. re­
ceived as official communications, I had every reason to believe, 0 

before a war was declared, that such a navy. and such an army, 
would h/lve been proyided;-That with these impressions I pro­
ceeded to th~ state of Ohiu, took the command of the forces, 
which consisted of 1200 militia and volunteers, and ahout three 
hundred regulars ;-That these militia were badly armed, badly 
clothed, and entirely ~lldisciplined; That my orders were to 
ma;'ch to Detroit, and make the hest arrangements in my power 
for the protection of the inhabitant" against the Indians; That­
the COlll1try from Urbarma in Ohio, to Detroit, was principally a 
wilderness, and the distance about 200 miles ;-That I was fur­
nished with no field artill!'ry ;-.-That on the 2d day of July. near 
the foot of tlle rapids of the Miama, about fifty-two miles from 
Malden, and "eventy from Detroit, I first received information 
of war against Great Britain, fourteen days after it 'had been de­
elared ;-That the letter from the Adn inistration announcing 
this event, was delivered to me by a fitranger, who informed me 



that it ~as brought by the mail to the Post Office ;.n CleavelaI:.d, 
state of Ohio, and tl\e Post Master ot' that place had employed 
tlin'l to deliver it to me, wherever he found me, on my march to 
Detroit ;-That tne rout it was sent was very circuitous, and if it 
had been sent by an express, it might have reached me in four 
or five days at farthest ;--That the enemy at Malden, fifty 
miles more distant from Washington than myarihy, received 
the information several days before ;":-'That by thi~ letter twm 
tlie administration, I was not only informed that war was de­
ciar¢d against Great Britain, but was positively ordered to march 
the forces under my command to Detroit, eighteen miles in the 

. rear of the enemy's principal fortress at Malden; and there wait 
for further orders;-That on the first day of July, having receiv­
ed fio information of the declaration of war, and supposing the 
navigation of the Lake to be safe, a vessel was emproyed by the 
Quarter-Master, to transport the sick of the army, and the stores 
and baggage, not necessary on the march, to Detroit;-That 
this vessel was taken by the enemy on her passage, and that this 
first misfortune was occasioned by the neglect of the administra­
tion, in nQt giving me information of the war eight days sooner, 
which inigl1t easily have been done ;-'rhat I have the strongest 
possible ground to declare, that this might have been done, be­
ea'Use I shall sho\v, that I received a letter from Washington, on 
the 26th of June, and dated also the 18th, the same date with 
the letter announcing the declaration of war, by express, which 
gave no information of the declaration of war. .) 

I shall. pro-ve by the records of the government that I stated in 
the most explicit terms to the administration, that Detroit, or 
some position on the waters of Lake Erie, would be a suitable 
position for troops, in time of peace with Great Blitain, design­
ed for the protection of the Michigan Territory, and the N orth­
"Western frontier against the savages.-But in the event of wal' 
with that nation, it would be impossible to support an army in 
that cou'ntry; without a naval force, sufficient to preserve the 
communicatiQri of the Lake, and w;thout a powerful army on the 
Niagata strait, to take possession of the enemies posts, orr that 
strait, and co-operate with such forces as should mllke an inva­
sion from Detroit._ and by the co-operation of such forces, take 
po~sessiori ortne Province. [shall show that this order of the 
iidministrati~n to ~arch my anny to Detroit, afte~' the decfara-

<.! 
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'tion of war and no navy being provided, to preserve the 00",,. 
1 • • 

munication of the I,ake, and no -army on HIe Niagara strait, 
which ever co-operated with ine, was contrary to what 1 had 
suffici~nt ground:> to believe was the understanding'before I left 
vVashington; contrary to the most explicit opinion I had given 
on the subject; con,rary to all military experience, and the 
principles wb,ichhave been taught by the best military writers ;' 
-That I obeved this order because it was positive, and under 
the fulj.."'exDe~tation, that a naval force. and an army would have 
oeen provided tn haTe assisted and co-operated with me, and 
that I had sufficient reasons to expect such assistance and co­
operation in the event of war, and in the invasion of Canada j­
That in complianc;e wit,h these orders, I passed the enemy's .post 
at Malden, and proceeded to Detroit, eighteen miles in the real' 
of that post, and both situated on the same river, where I arriv­
ed on the 5th of July ;-That notwithstanding my orders were 
positive to remain there until I should receive further orders, 
the militia and volunteer officers nearly excited a mutiny, be­
cause I did lIot immediately cross the river, and commence of­
fensive operations in v,iolation or my orders ;-That on the 9th. 
of July, I received an unqualified authority, which from the 
manner in which it was expressed, c(1luld have had no other con­
struction, than a positive order to cross the river, and invade the 
enemy's territory; and to issue a proclamation io the inhabi­
tants, and to pledge tpe ~overnment that they should be protect­
ed in their person .. , property, and rights; and in the same let­
ter I was only authorized to attack the fortress at Malde~, pro­
vided, in my opinion, my forces were ,adequate to the enterprise, 
and it could be done consistently with the safety of my other 
posts ;-That [ issued a proclamation to the inhabitants, and on 
the murning of the 12th of July. crossed the river and took pos­
session of the ('ppusite bank, in the face of the enemy ;--That I 
was induced to adopt these measures from the orders I receive'R 
from the go\'ernment. from the impatience of my army, from the­
convenience, and even n'cessity of collecting supplies from the 
enemy's country, from the expectation of co-operation, and from 
the hope that a display uf the American flag on both sides the 
river, would have a favourable efred on the savages and militia 
of t!1C province ;-That the authority I received to attack the 
enemy's fortress at Malden, being di~cretionary, I wrote to the 
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Government the same day I received it, that my force was not, 
adequate to the enterprize, and stated as a reason, that the ene­
my commanded the Lake and the. savages. 

hat I remained in the enemy1s country about a month, un­
der the expectation of re'ceiving assistance and' co.operation from 
the anny under tRe command' of General Dearborn, at Niagara; 
that during this time [ received inform'ltion that ·Michillimacki­
nack, on the same navigable waters wit.h Detroit and Malden, 
had fallen; that the forces, with the savages, of all that region, 
were descending the waters of the nOI·thern lakes against me; 
that I likewise had received certain information, that' General 
Brock, with all the regulars and militia of Upper Canada, wall 

proceeding to Malden; and th'at the road I hael opened through 
the wilderness, from Ohio, was filled witly. hostilE' savages, 
and that no supplies could be obtained for the army thiOugh that· 
1:ommunication ;-That, under these circumstances, I consider-- . 

ad that it~was my duty to re-cross the river, with the principal 
part of my forces, and attempt to open the only communication 
I could now possibly have with my country ;-That on the 8th 
of August, I re·crossed the river to Detl'oit, and on the same #' 

day made a detachment of all the regulars, and part of the Ohio 
militia, amounting to 600, under the command of Colonel Miller, 
with orders to proceed to the river Raisin, for the purpose of 
opening that communication; that on his way to that station, he 
was attack.ed, near Brownstown, by the regulars, militia, and' 
savages, from Malden, and that, after the loss of between p.ighty 
and ninety men on our part, the enemy was compelled to re­
treat; that, as it was the opinion of Colonel Miller, that this 

. detachment cOllld not proceed to the river Raisin, without a 
reinforcement of 150 or 2no men, I thought proper-to order.him 
back to Detroit, especially as the troops' had been out ina vio­
lent storm, were greatly fatigued, and it was necessary to re­
move, and provide for the wounded ;-That on the 14th of August, 
not ha,:ing received information, of the arrival of General arock, 
and the necessity of opening the communioation, for the purpose 
of obtaining, supplies, becoming more urgent, I made another 
detachment, of the effective' men of Coionels McArthur and 
Cass' regiments, c('mmanded by the two Colonels, for the pur­
pose: that as soon as I' received information of the arrival of 
General Brock, with the forces, from the eastern part of the-



province, I imnlecij;ltel,r sent expresees, with orders to McArthur 
and Cass to return to Detroit. Th;lt when General Broc~, 
landed at the Spring Wells, three miles below Detroit, on the 
morning of the 16th of Augut-lt,' I had received no ~nfo.rma~ion 
from them, and must have supposed they were at tlie nver 
Raisin, about fifty miles from Detroit. t~e route they were' or­
dered to march, And I pledge myself. fellow citjzena, to prove 
to the satisfaction of every unprejudiced mind, that on the ~Ilorn­
ing of the 16th, when General Brock landed, the provisions 
Were exhausted, that there was no possibility of obtaining a sup­
ply from any quarter whatever, and that his effective force was 
much more than twice my number. That my communic~tioij. 
was el·tirely cut off. both by land and water; that a part of th!) 
Michigan militia deserted, and joined General Brock's stand_ 
ard, as soon as he landed; that the savages were let loose on 
the inhabitants, whom it was impossible for me to protect; and 
that even a victory against his regulars and militia. that mor­
ning, would have bel:'n only a useless waste of blood-thatJ 
could not have conquered his savages in the ,williernes!l, or his 
navy on the Lake, and consequently could not have opened my 
comRtunication; that, under the circumstances my army Wl,l,s 

placed by the order,s of the goyernment, it could no more exist, . 
than the human arm can exist when cut off from the body; anI! 
that the measures I adopted were necessary, from my situation., 
and dictated by the highest sense of duty; that I was forced int'o 
this situation, by the orders of the government, and every avenue 
to it was closed by the enemy, in such a manner that ther4! was 
not a possibility of escapin1-'" And here I shall wish to b~ .dis­
tinctly understood; I have said~ that the order which I re.ceived 
from the government to march to Detroit, /,liter the decl;lr~tion 
of war, and when Lake Erie was in possession of the enemy's 
naval force, was contrary to all military elperience, amI one 
fatal calise of the disasters of the campaign. Jt WilS the case, all 
the result has proved, Had the orders however of the goverl).­
ment been obeyed by. General Dearborn, the result probal.>ly 
would have been very diffet'ent. I shall show, that he was ,re­
peatedly ordered, by the letters of ~he Secreta~y of War, an1i Py 
the command of the President, imm.edia~ely after the de~larati9.n 
of war, to assemble the forces under \lis command on the Niil-" 
garaRiver" to atia.ck the !'lnemy'sposts in thatpart of ,th,e prov-



inc,e Qf Upp.er Canadi?-' and cP-oJlerate with the f(lrces under my 
command; that during ,that ,time he never sulfered a man to en­
ter the enemy's country, ;that he neg"lected to obey the positive 
commands of his governm~nt; and .without any ord.ers, agreed 
to an a~mis:tice, or suspe~ion of h.ostilities, w~thSir George 
PIOV.ost, in which myanny WaS not included ; which will be 
shown, enabled G.enerlj.1 iBrock, with all ti,e forc~ of Upper 
Canada, ~d indeed a large reinforcemept from Montreal, to 
proceed to Malden, and attack me : that he established a peace 
on the Niagara fr.ontier, and it became only necessary for the 
enemy to leave at their forts in that quarler a few invalids to 
guard their barracks, ~c. And I shall further show, that after 
General D.earborn, the commanding General of the armies, had 
thu!'; neglected to obey the orders of the governmeut, and had 
been the great cause of the disasters of the campaign, he was 
appointed t\1e Ptr .... },Lent of the Court Martial fllr my trial; and 
that, although the administration employed, at your expense, 
two of the 'first counsellors in our country, Mr. Dallas, and Mr. 
Van Buren, to assi~t the Judge Advocate in the pose.cution, the 
Court wcmld not suffer me to employ any counsel at my own 
expense, to opel). their lips in the Court; and the op.inwns of 
officers were admitted .to prove entire chargesand spec fi('a:ionll 
against me. That the officers, who were selected by the admiri­
istration to give their opinions respecting my conduct, and to 
testify against me, had been promoted, after the capitulation, 
from Lieutenant Colonels in the militia. to the rank of Generals 
in the regular army. and others of inferior rank on a similar 
scale: that the mo:;;t outr!igeous measures were adopted to ex­
cite your prejudices against me; that the offic,ers who IIp.peared 
as witne~ses, were I',pphluqed in the· public Newspapers for the 
manner in which t)l;ey testified, and pamphlets were printed and 
~awked for liiale, at the very dOQr of the Cll:pitol where I was 
tried, filled with the most scandalous falsehoods. That I wa:;; 
accu~ed by the ,adnlinistrat.iol) of ell pita I crimes for acts, .whie,h, 
I ahp.ll prove by ~he letters ~fthe Se,cr.etary.of War, the Presi­
dent had befQl;e f~lly .approved; and that the prociamatiaD I is­
sped to ,the Canadians was by order pf the President : that as 
soon a,';; it WaS issued it WIt.S ,sent to him; and after'he received 
it, I shall pr04uce let~ers, written by the :;ecretary"of .", ar, by 
his order, to show that all mycondY~J, operatiQn:s, lI,I,ld~rrange-
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ments were not only approved by him, but viewed with, tlie' 
highes~ satisfaction: that notwithstanding this unqualified ap­
probation of the proclamation by the President, the Plenipoten­
tiaries at the treaty of Ghent, without any instructions from the 
administration on that subject, declared to the British Plenipo­
tentiarie!l, and consequently to the British nation and to the 
world that it was unauthorized, and disapproved by the Gov· 

, I 

ernment : that in an interview with the Hon. John Quincy Ad-
ams, one of the Plenipotentiaries, in answer to my inquiry, on 
what ground that declaration was made, he answered, that they 
had no particular instructions to make the declaration, that they 
received the information from Mr. Gallatin, that he wrote the 
paper which contained it, and he being one of the Plenipotentia­
ries, the others were induced to give it their signatures. 

I have given a very general sketch of the subjects of the fol­
lowing memoirs. The facts stated will be'~ lJved by the best 
evidence of which the nature of the case will admit; and princi­
pally by the records of the government itself. After you are 
possessed of the facts and evidence~ I shall cheerfully submit 
the question to your candid judgment. It is difficult always to 
form a correct opinion, in our own case. I can however declare 
with safety, that if I have committed errours, tlrey were errours 
pf th~ head, and not of the heart. 

No. III. 
As a desire for military fame and motives of ambition, have 

been imputed to me, I consider it a duty which lowe bom to 
myself and to you, to explain the true reasons, which finally, 
and very reluctantly induced me to accept an appointment in 
the army, and to satisfy you that the imputations are without 
any foundation. It has likewise been represented, and is be­
lieved by many, that I urged on the government the expediency 
of a declaration of war against Great Britain, at the time of my 
military appointment, and made representations that the Can­
adians were dissatisfied with their government, were desirous 
of independence, would join the American standard, whenever 
it was displayed in their territory, and that the conquest of 
those provinces might be easily effected with a small force. So 



15 

far from ever expressing or entertaining opinions of this kind~ 
I shall shew you, from the records of the govemment, the rp.pre­
sentations which I made, both before and after I accepted a 
militarv appointment; these communications must be consider­
ed'the best evid~ce the nature of the case will admit, of the 
views I entertained. Before I present them to you, I will ask 
YOUl' attention to the particular reasons which induced me to 
accept a military appointment before the declaration of war, in 
June 1912. 

Being at Washington in February 1812, and being at that 
time governour of the Territory of Michigan, and accounts having 
been received from that section ~f the country, that the Indians· 
were becoming hostile to the defenceless inhabitants of that ex­
posed frontier, it was natural for me to feel a solicitude for their 
safety. I urged on the officers of the administration, the expe­
diency of providin~ a force for their protection. At this time, 
in consequence of the differences which existed between our gov­
ernment and Great Britain, Congress had thought it expedient 
to augment the army, and was taking measures for the put·pose. 
These measures were well known to the Qfficers who adminis­
tered the government in the provinces of the Canadai, and the 
causes which produced them. In the event of a war with Eng­
land, they were satisfied that the invasion of those provinces 
would be the first object. The. numerous, and powerful tribes 
of savages, which not only inhabited that country, but also the 
northern and western territory of the United States, were con­
sidered as the allies and friends of England. On them she de­
pended for assistance, when-ever her dominions were invaded. 
The strong indications of war, which were then apparent, in­
duced his Brittannic Majesty's officers to adopt measures of 
,precaution and safety against the impending storm. Messages 
were therefore sent to the different fribes, informing them of 
the warlike preparations which were making by the United 

.States, of the events which probably would soon take place, and 
inviting them to join their standard in such a result. These 
messages wer/!! accompanied with unusual quantities of presents, 
~onsisting of munitions of war, clothing, and ornaments, gratify": 
ing to their pride and vanity. The British nation, ever since 
her possession of the C~nadas, has expended immense sums of 
Money in presents, not unly to the inuians, who inhal1it het" prov-
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inces, but also to those who reside within the territories of tlit! 
United States. On this occasion every effort was made to pre­
pare ~hem for the approaching crisis. 

Of all employments, war is tne most grateful to a savage. 
The prospect of it did not fail' to produce the excitement, in­
tended, by the means made use of by the British agents. It 
became apparent, from the manner they assembled to celebrate 
their war feasts. and from the hostile dispositions they manifest­
ed towards the inhabitants of the frontier, and particularly to­
wards those of the territory of Michigan, which borders several 
hundred miles on the Canada'S, and is only separated by an 
imaginary line, in the middle of the rivers and lakes. The 
hostile il1dications, which were frequently accompanied with 
acts of cruelty and murder, excited alarm among the inhabitants, 
and were represented both by the civil authorities and command­
ing officers of the garrisons, as foreboding evils, against which it 
was necessary to guard. ,The exposed and dangerous sitUatIon 
of that section of the country, being thus made known '0 the ad­
ministration, measures were promptly adopted for its safety. The 
governor of the state of Ohio, was called on, by the President of 
the United 8tat£s, to detach 1200 militia, and prepare them 
for actual service. These mili:ia were to be joined by the 4th 
D. S. Regiment, then at Post St. Vincennes. 

After these arrangements were made, the Secretary of War 
informed me, that it was the desire of the Presidellt, that I 
should accept the appointment of a J rigadier General, in the 
army, and take the command of ~hese forces, and march them 
to Detroit, the place of their destination. I observed to the 
Secretary, that I was no~ "desirous of any military, appointment, 
and declined it in the most unqualified manner. Another offi­
cer was designated for this command, and ordel'ed to Washing­
ton to receive his instructions. On his arrival, he became dis­
qualified by sickness. The pr~position was again made to me, 
and the necessity of a force in the country, for the purposes 
before' menti~ned, being more urgent, I informed the Secretary, 
that I was gOlllg to my govprnment at Detroit} and I would ac­
cept any military appointment, either the rank of Lieutenant 
Colonel, Colonel, or Rrigadier General, which would give me 
the comman~ of those forces, and lead them through the wilder­
ness to theIr pla:ce of destinatIon. In consequence of this 
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\l6n'sent, t was immediately nominated and appuinted a Brig.a::o 
dier General. I accepted the appointment, ,with great reluc~_ 

tance, and from no other motive and with no othu view, 
than to alford my aid in the protection of the fro~tier inhl/-bi­
tants, and thQse of the TerrItory of Michigan against the sava.:. 
ges. 

As proof of the principal facts here stated in relation to my 
appointment as a Brigadier General In the a1'my, I will state the 
testimony of his excellency Governour Eustis, who was then 
Secretary of the Depart.ment of 'Var ;-the whole of which may 
be seen in Lieut. Col. Forbes's report of my trial, pages S; 4, and 
5, of the appendix. 

The part relating to the f-acts referred to, is as follows :­
"The latter pad of February 1812, information had been re­

ceived from Mr. A.twater, then Secretary of the Territory of 
Michigan, and acting as Govornour, that there were strong ap­
pearances of hostility am.ong the Indians, and that the territory 
was in danger. "That Gen. Hull urged on him, as Secretary 
of War, the expediencj and necessity of ordering a force there~ 
for the protection of Detroit, the territory, and the northern 
frontier. That he declined in the first instance accepting the 
office of Brigadier General. That Col. Kingsbury was then or­
dered to Washington, for the purpose of proceeding to the state 
of Ohio to take the commahd of this force, and on account of 
bodily indisposition, was not ordered on the command-and af· 
terwards, when he (Gen. Hull,) was appointed, it was not soli­
cited by him-and that he manifested great anxiety for the safe­
ty, of the northern frontier~ and the Territory of Michigan." 

I have made this statement, and produced this evi.dence, for 
no other purpose, than to ~atisfy you. that I did not accept thli 
appointment from the motives which have been unjustly impu· 
ted to me. 

Having f~r seven years been Governour of the territory, and 
being then the Governour, it was impossible for me to feel indif­
ferent to the safety of its inhabitants. i consented therefore 
to accept any military appoint~ent, which the go\ernment 
should think proper to give me, for this purpose. A.nd it wai 
djsttnctly understood, 'that this appointment\~";ts not incompati­
ble with my office as Governour, and that office was to be re­
(aiDed by me. Ai evidence that thii wali the W.-teutioJl <If ~e 

5 
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admin;;tration. I received orders, on my arrival in the tft-. 
rit(lry. Tl' perform my cinl duties. in the same manner, as if ne 
such 3FFo;ntIT;eEt had been mane-as a further evidence. that 
~h;;; ",1- the intention. I never a;;ked for, or received a military 
cornmis;;ion. in con;;equence of the appointment. And further, 
it ,,~;; my intention, when the object of ~fE:ty to the inhabitants -
w"as accomplished. and my military duties in any-degree interfer­
ed with my JUli,,;; .1;; Goyernour, to haye resigned the military 
apFointrnent. I LaY!? been thus particular, to s:iti"fy you, my 
fellow (i:;UD;;. what were my motiye;; in accepting a military 
appointment.-and to your candid judgment I aweal, whether 

the: were lantable. 
I belieyed it to be m: dut:. to make Ube of every exertiOl! in 

m: :_":'\'e:'. for ,l:", protection of a people, with whom I WaS so 
nearly c' ~'.tC:c-C. ~o-ain5t the dJ.D;ers with \I \-,ich they were 

t!:tre:itet::ed, 
As t~" dftfrence;;. "~,icl,, e-s:i,,'ed betw~n the L'nited States, 

3.c.d G,e.~- Britain had L: beer, ''''Cled bY r:."'2:oc:.::.·iO:'D. and as 
there appeared :r:.d:c.1:~O:'!}; of war. in my ne; number, I shall 
;;: .. :C -,-;e ,--'",,, " I c(l~,mlJllic3.:t'd to the government, Won I left 
",Ya;;::..1:;:o:;, in ;;\len an event. 

So.IY. 
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Ase~rlyasthe 3d of April, 1809, being then Governour of the' 
...:rerrito~y of Michigan, I addressed an official letter to the Sl'cre­
tary of the department of war, in relation to. the security amI de.· 
fence of the fl;ontier settlement of our country in which, among 
other things, I observed, "I would suggest for consideration 
the expediency of building some armed vessels on Lake Erie, 
for the purpose of preserving the communication,~ consider you 
have three military posts, to the north and west of these waters 
and no other communication with them." The 18th of JJne, 
1811, about a year before the declaration of war, against Great 
Britain, I addressed another letter to the government, through 
the Secretary, from which the following is extracted; "From 
the pr~sent state of our foreign relations, particularly with 
Engialld, I am indt.ted to believe, there is little prospect of a 
continuance of peace. In the event of a w1£r with England" 
this part of the United States, (meaning the Michigan Territo· 
ry) will be particularly situated. The British land forces at 
Amherstburg and St. Joseph's, are about equal to those of the 
United States, at this place and Michilimackinack. The popu­
lation of Upper Canada is more than twenty to- one compared 
to this territory. That province contains about one hundred. 
thousand iBhabitants, while our population does not amount to 
:five thousand. . A wilderness of near two hundred miles sepa­
rates this settlement from any of the states. Besides, the In­
diana Territory and states of Ohio and Kentucky are thinly in­
habited, have extensive frontiers, and their force will be neces­
sary for their own defence. With respect to the Indians, their 
sit~ation and habits are such, that little dependence can be 
placed on them. At present they appear friendly, and was I to 
calculate on the profession of their chiefs, I should be satisfied 
that they. would not become hostile. Their first passion, how­
ever, is war. The policy of the British government is to con­
sider them their allies, and in the event of war, to invite them· 
to join their standard. The policy of the American government 
has been to advise them; in the event of war, to remain quiet 'at 
their villages, and take no part in quarrels, in which they have no 
interest. Many of their old Sachems and Chiefs would advise 
to his line of conduct. Their authority, however, over the war­
riors wo~ld not restrair:. them. They would not listen to their 
advice. An Indian is hardly considered as a man, until he has 
1!Ieen engaged in war, and can show trophies. This first, and 
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most ardent of all their passions, will be excited by present~ 
most gratifying to their pride and vanity .. Unless strong meas~ 
ures are taken to prevent it, we may consider b~yon~. all doubt, 

th w'll be influenced to follow the advice of their BrItish Father. 
t'J I B"h 

This then appears to ue the plain state of th~ case; the ntis 
have a regu lar force, equal to ours. The provmce o~ U pper Can~ 
ada has on its rolls, a militia of twenty to one agamst us. In 
allditioll to this, there can be little doubt, but a large proportion. 
of the savae;es will join thprr; what then will be the situation of 
this part of the country? Separated from the states by an exten~ 
sive wilderness. which will be filled with savages, to prevent 
any !\uccnur, our water communications entirely obstructed by 
the British armed vessels 011 Lake Erie, we shall have no other 
re~ource for defence, but the small garrisons, and feeble popula­
tion of the territory. Under these circumstances, it is easy 
to foresee what will be the fate of this country. 

" It is a principle in nature, that the lesser force must give 
way to the greater. Since my acquaintance with the situation 
of this country, I have been of the opinion that the government 
did not sufficiently estimate its value and importance. After 
the revolutiJn, and after it was ceded to us hy treaty, the blood 
and treasure of our country, were expended~n a savage war to 
obtain it. The post at this place, is the key of the northern 
country. By holding it the Indians are kept ~n check, and 
peace bai'i been preserved with them to the present time. If we 
were once deprived of it, the northern Indians would have n,o 
where to look, but to the British government in Upper Canada. 
They would then be entirely influenced by' their couJl.cils. rt 
would be easy for them, aidedby the councils of the British 
agents, to commit depredations on the scattered frontier settle­
ments of Ohio, Kentucky, Indiana, &c. They would oe collect­
ed from the most distant parts of their villages, where the Eng­
lish factors have an intercourse with them, and would become 
numerous. Under these circumstances, if there i:; a prospect of 
war with England, what meal'lures are most ..expedient? In my 
mind, there can be no doubt. Prepare a naval force on Lake 
Erie 8uperiour to the British, and 8ufficient to preserve your com­
munication." 

I have t.ranscribed so much of this letter, the orlginal of which 
Alay be found on the files of the war office, principally to show, 
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that,.T considered a na,:al force on Lake Eria, superiour to the 
British, and sufficient to prestlrve the communication, in the 
event ot war, essential, even for the preservation of the country; 
and li.kewise to show how strongly I urged it on the government, 
a year before war was declared. 

----------

No. V.· 
OJ( the sixt.h of March, 1812, about a month before I w~ ap­

pointed a General i.n the army, I addressed another letter to the 
government, through the Secretary of the departmertt of war, in 
whieh I stated the situation of the inhabitants on our frontier 
!ettlements, and particularly those in the Territory of Michi­
gan, in which I pointed out the expediency of ordering a force 
'for their protection, and building a navy on Lake Erie sufficient 
to preserve the communication. The following is an extract 
from thi,6 letter. 

" If we cannot command the ocean, we can command th~ in-
. land lakes of our country. I have always been of the opinion, 
that we ought to have built as many armed vessels on the lakes, 
as would have commanded them; we have more interest in them~ 
than the British nation, and can build vessels with more con­
venience. " 

The whole of this letter is recited in my defen~e, which has 
been published, and it is certified to bl! correct by the depart-
ment of war. \ 

After my appointment as a 'Brigadier General in the army, 
and before I left Washington to take the command of the north 
western army, I presented to -the administration a letter contain­
ing di~tinctIy my views, with respect to the destina.tion, and op­
erations of the fOI·ces placed under my orders, both in time of 
peace with Great Britain, and'likewise in the event of war with 
that mition. . 

The circumstances of this communication, with the documents 
in proof of them, are fully related in my defence before the 
-Court Martial, from Pllge '33, to page 58, inclusive. In'this let­
ter I repeated the opinions, I had before given, that the force 
~litrusted to my command, in time of peace with England, wail 
Ittfticient for the protection of the northern frontier against the 
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savages; and likewise, that Detr~it, or a position 011 that river,. 
or the west end of Lake Erie, was a sUltable station for that ob­
ject; ~lld for this obvious reailon, that all the necessary sup­
plies could be easily furnished through the communication of 
the lake. But in the event of war, I stated in the most expli~ 
cit and strongest terms the necessity of having a naval force, 

$' superiour to the enemy on the lakes ;-and that without it, and 
unless the army I was to command, W'l-S strengthened by addi­
tions to its numbers; and unless it was follo\"Ied by detachments, 
to keep open the communication, and insure it supplies from 
Ohio; and unless it was supported by co-operations from other 
quarters, it could not be able to maintain itself at Detroit, much 
less can'y on offensive operations in the enemy's country. 

'I'hat I wished it farther clearly to be understood by the govern­
ment, that in the event of war with England, I did not consider this 
force in any degree adequate, either to the invasion of Upper 
Canada, or for the defence of our own territories. That it was. 
formed almost entirely of militia, undisciplined, and who h3;d 
never seen anv service. I theh des.cribed the situation of 
the country, and observed, that it would be difficult, if not im­
possi ble, to send a force, which would be sufficient, either for 
invasion or even' defence, in the event of war without the 
privilege of a communication through Lake Erie. That as soon 
as a declaration of war should be made, that communication 
would be entirely obstructed. That in accepting the command, 
and leading an army through that wilderness,lit was under the full 
expectation that war' would not be declared, until such a na­
val force was provided, as would preserve that communication. 
It was farther stated that from the conversation [ had with the 
President of the U. S. and the Secretary of the Navy, from the, 
circumstance of a navy agent having been appointed on "Lake 
Erie, and Capt. Stewart. of the navy, having been ordered to 
Washington, for the express purpose of giving hi~ the com­
mand on the lakes, I had the fullest ~onfidence, that before a 
declaration of war wal> made, measures would be taken for the 
security of that communication. That under these circum­
stances, I believed the government would consider it a me~sure 
~ictated by trlle policy, and indeed indispensably necessary-a~ 
It was not at that time accomplished, and as every thing is un­
certain, until it is carried into effect, and as I knew I was to be 
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pla:ced in a most critical situation, I observed, if the goverll­
merit should adopt a different policy, and declare war, leaving 
to the British the cODlmand of the lakes, it would become in­
di~pensably necessary, as the nel:t best measure, imm~ diately 
-on its declaration to make an invasion of Upper Canada, by crosS­
ing the Niagra River, with a large army. sufficient to take pos­
session of the whole province, and likewise with large detach­
ments, to reinforce the army I commanded, in such a manner, as 
to preserve the communication by land to the state of Ohio. 
By this means the army at Detroit, might co-operate with the 
main army, which crossed the Niagara River, and the whole 
ptovince be subdued. In such an event. the British naval 
force on Lake Erie, would faU into our possession, as it would 
have no harbours, and no means of being furnished with necessa­
ry supplies. 

That, if in the event of war, a naval force should not be provid­
ed, or all invasion of Canada should not be made. in the manner 
I have stated, by an army from Niagara, the army I commanded 
would be led into a situation, from which there would be no es­
cape, and that whole country, with all our mIlitary posts, would 
fall into the hands of the enemy. That his regular fOl'ce, mili­
tia, and savages, with the facilities of the water communicatiGn, 
,for rapid movements, and the transportation of necessary sup­
-plies, would b~ fully equal to effect this object. 

No. VI. 
IN mv former number I have mentioned, that from a conver­

sation I had with the President of the United States, and the 
:Secretary of the Navy; ftom the circumstance of a Navy Agent 
having been appointed on Lake Erie. and Commodore Stewart 
of the Navy, having been ordered to Washington, for the ex­
,press purpose of giving him the command on the lakes, I had 
the fullest reason to believe, that before a declaration of War, 
was made, measures would have been taken for the security of 
ihat communication. 

That there may be no question with respect to these facts, I 
will now state the evid~nce on which they are founded. Com­
modore Stewart, in ~is testimony, on my trial before the Court 
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Martial, declared, that he received an order "from the Secretary 
'Of the Navy to repair to Washington, as it was contemplated by 
the Government, to trust him with an important command,; that 
in cumpliance with the order, he arrived in '\110- ashington in the 
beginning of April, and at his first interview with the SecretarYt 
he was infor~ed that it was contemplated to give him the com­
mand on the lakes; that the Secretary observed, that a naval 
force superiour to the British, on the lakes, had been strongly 
urged by General Hull, a~ essential. and as a certain means of 
ensuring success to the army. He then goes on to state why he 
declined the command, &c. 

Gooe'-al Peter B. Porter, in his testimony on my trial, said, 
about the last of March, or beginning of April, 1812, he was at 
the office of the Secretary of ''''ar, with General Hull, after he 
had been appointed a Brigadier General, and about the time he 
was to inarch to Detroit; that he was frequently with the Heads 
ef Departments, and had conversat.ions, as to the operations of 
the army, in case war should be declared, as was in contempla­
tion. He said he recollected that General Hull, recommended 
that a navy should be formed on the lakes, to have a superiority 
over the British in case of war. General Porter further states, 
that a Navy Agent was appointed for lake Erie, and he was 
twice at the President's, with the General, when the subject 
was talked over. 

From the evidence contained in this and the foregoing letters. 
I feel a confidence that every candid reader will be satisfi.edt 

that when I accepted the command of the Ohio militia, and the 
.. th regiment, the motive by which I "tas influenced was for the 
protection of the northern frontiers, and particularly the Territo­
ry of Michigan, of which I was Governour, against the savages; 
and that I had not the most riistant idea, in the event of war; 
with that force, of making an invasion of Upper Canada, while 
the enemy commandt'd the lakes, and while no army was pro­
vide~, with which I might co-operate. Before I proceed to' a 
relatIOn of the march through the wilderness, and of the opera­
tion~ of the army after I took the command, I shall present and 
eonslder one other document, which appears to me singular in 
its nature, and very important, on account of the high authority 
from whence it is derived. 
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No. VII. 
TilE singular, and important document, to which I alluded in 

my former letter, is the Message of the President oftLe LII.ted 
States to Congress, after the termination of the campaign, uf 
which in my future letters, it is my intention to give you the 
history. Although this is not in the onlet' of time, with the sub­
jects, which have been considered, yet as It gives infol"mati'.,n of 
the motives of the government, with respect to the objects of my 
command, and has a strong bearing on the considerations, which 
I have already presented, it appears to be the proper place for 
its introduction. 

In this Message, it is stated, "That the force sent to Detroit, 
was with a general view to the security of the Michigan Terri­
tory; and in the event of war, to such operations in the upper­
most Canada, as would intercept the hostile influence of Great 
Britain over the savages; obtain the command of th(' lakes on 
which that part of Canada borders; and maintain co-operating 
relations with such forces as might be most conveniently em­
ployed against other parts. Our expectation of gaining the com­
mand of the lake, by the invasion of Canada, from Detroit, hav­
ing been disappointed, measures were instantly taken to provide 
on them a naval force superiour to that of the enemy." 

From this message, it appears, there were four objects for 
which the forces were sent to Dett'oit under my command, 

1. With a general view to the security of the Michigan Terri­
tory. 

2. In the event of war, to make such operations in uppermost 
Canada, as would intercept the hostile influence of Great Britain 
over the savages. 

3. To obtain the command of the lake, on which that part of 
Canada borders. 

4. To co-operate with other forces in that quarter. 
The first object declared by the President, is what I have 

stated, the security of the Michigan Territory against the In­
dians, as we then had no other enemy. 

Being at that time the Govemour of the territory, it is natural 
to suppose, under the circulflstances which existed with respect 
to the savages, that I felt a strong solicitude for its safety. It 
was indeed that motive alone, which induced me to accept the 
cOPlmand. The troops being composed principally of UfHiisci-

4 
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plined militia. and without. artillery: is ~onclusive evidence, 
that, it was not an army desIgned for mvaSlOn and conquest. 

Indeed, it was a time of peace, and there was no danger from 
any other quarter than from the lawless savages. No p.owel' 
but Congress hau an authority to declare war, and the PresIdent 
had no powel' to order a militia force for any other purpose than 
the safety of the country, in the manner which has been men­
tioned. That I had no reason to expect there was any other ob­
ject than the security of the territory, is evident, from every 
communication I maue to the government, both previously to, 
and after accepting the command. In the event of war, it was 
perfectly understood to be my opinion, that the command of the 
lakes was not only essential for a successful invasion of the ene-. 
my's country but for the very exi8'tence of the army I com­
manded. 

In the next place, the President informed Congress, that in 
the event of war it was expecter! the forces under my command 
would make such operations in uppermost Canada, as would in­
tercept the hostile influence of Great Britain over the savages. 
It was perfectly understood, in the event of war, that the sava­
ges who resided in our territory were not to be employed. In 
that event I was directed to advise them to remain quiet at their 
villages, and take no part in a contest in which lhey had no in­
terest, and to assure them of protection and safety. This was 
humane, and, had it been practicable, would have been wise 
policy. For a number of years, I had not only been Governour 
of the territory of Michigan. but superintendant 01 Indian af­
fairs. The duties of this office rendered a constant intercourse 
with them necessary. I had become acquainted with their hab­
its, and their ruling passions. From the knowledO"e which my . . " SItuatIOn had thus enabled me to acquire of their characters, I 
well knew that as soon as the trumpet of war was sounded, they 
would not follow this pacific advice, and remain indifferent 
spe.ctators. i~y the documents which I have presented, and to 
whIch I have referred in these numbers, it will be manifest, that 
I repeatedly, and in the most explicit terms, gave this opinion 
to. the.government. Notwithstanding this opinion, I did every 
thmg III my power, in conformity to my instructions, to induce 
them to remain neutral. Before and after the declaration of 
war, I sent messages, with interpreters to the different villages., 
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explaining the views of the government, and en'forcing them 
with aU the reasons, I was capable of suggesting. I likewise 
collected the chiefs in council, repeated the views of the govern­
ment, and urged them to restrain their warriours, and induce 
them to follow the advice of their great Father, the President of 
the United States. This was all I was authorized to do. 

Many who joined the British standard would have joined ours 
if the government would have accepted their services. 

There was no probabilitv of preventing an i~ter('ourse between 
them and the- British agents.-Upper Canada is separated from 
the United States only by an imaginary line, running through 
the lakes and rivers, several hundred miles. and the principal 
part of the distance on the shores a wilderness. It was well 
known to the government that the British had a constant inter­
course with those whl) resided in our territory, ever since it be­
came a part of the United States; that at an immense expense, 
they furnished them with presents, consisting of arms, ammuni­
tion, -and clothing, and considered them as their allies and 
friends. 

To have guarded this immense wilderness, and prevented the 
hostile influence of the British, was impossible with the army I 
commanded. 

In my next number I shall consider the other objects for which 
the President informed Congress, the forces were sent to De­
troit, under my command. 

" 

-----------

No. VIII. 
THE next object of my command, as stated by the President, 

was, "To obtain the command of the lake on which that part 
of Canada borders." 

By this description the President must have meant lake Erie. 
There aloe two important facts so well knuwn, that it is unneces­
sary to produce any evidence to prove them. One is, that in the 
year 1812, when war was declared, Great Britain had four or 
five vessels of war on this lake, some of them carrying twenty 
cann1m, besides a number 'of gun-boats, all completely armed and 
manned. The oeher is, that the United States had not a single 
armed vessel, not even a gun-boat or canoe. It was not even 
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intimated to me, in any instruction that 1 received from the 
gove"nment. that this was one of the objects ?f m~ co~mand. 
The fil'st knowledge I ever had of it, was coniamed III this mes-

sage to Congress, . , 
[ cannot to the present moment conceiv2, notwlthstandmg the 

hi"h authority, and the solemn manner in which it was commu­
ni~ated, on what grounds such an expectation was founded. It 
certain! v must have been impossible to have obtained the com­
mand of: the lake, without in some ~vay destroying the British 
na",d force. which was established on it. In wh/.d possible way 
could t,'le Ohio militia have 1fect ed this object? 

Befor" I left Washington, it will be seen how repea.tedly and 
earnestly I recommended the necessity of constructing a navy 
on this lake, superiour to that of the enemy, in the event of war. 
If that object should be abandoned, and the government should 
not think proper to listen to this advice, I then suggested, as the 
next most expedient measure~ immediately on the declaration of 
war, to invade Upper Canada, with a powerful army, by cros­
sing the Niagara river, with which the troops I commanded 
mIght co-operate, and by this means take possession of the whole 
province, 

Tilus being in the possession of all the harbours on the lake, 
th~ navy wou Id be obliged to surrender for the want of necessary 
supplies. This measure not being adopted, and not even an 
armed boat of any description being provided C}ll the lake, I re­
peat the question, on what grounds could this expectation ha"\ie 
been funned? That the President was serious in making this 
communication, and at length was satisfied that the opinion I 
had so often given was correct, clearly appears; for in the next 
paragraph of the message he say,s, "Our expectation of gaining 
the command of the lake, by the invasion of Canada from De­
troit, having been disappointed, measures were instantly taken 
to provide a naval force superiour to that of the enemy 1" 

I do think this subject is so plain, that no further commenta­
ries on it are necessary; and that no blame can attach to me for 
not fulfil,ling what Mr. Madison, then Preside~t, says was the 
expectatIOn of the government, viz. taking possession of lake 
Eril', with no other force than a few Ohio militia, when that lake 
was commanded by a naval armament, such as I have described. 
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No. IX. 
IN addition to all the other evidence, that it was neither the 

expectation of the government nor In y expectation, that the forces 
sent to Detroit under my command were sufficient for the inva­
sion of Canada, l here present the declaration of the President, 
in his message to Congress, to which I have referred; that they 
were sent. in the event of war, to co-operate with other forces in 
that quarter. 

This appears to be conclusive evidence, that in the event of 
war, the government did not consider the forces under my com­
mand sufficient for this object. 

The President, in this message, did not describe the nature of 
the forces nor the manner they were to be employed. The rea­
son undoubtedly was. that none of any description were em· 
ployed. From the urgency of such provision. however, and the 
arrangements which have since been made, for the constmction 
of a navy on Lake Erie. and for the organization of an army it 
must be evident, that he referred to a naval force on that lake 
and a powerful army on the eastern border of Upper Canada, 
which he has since become convinced, it was indispensable to 
provide, to co-operate with the army at Detroit, as the only 
means to a successful invasion of Canada. 

Had such a navy been prepared, and such an army been em­
ployed in the manner I have stated, there is no question but the 
conquest of that province would have easily been effected dqring 
that campaign. Had, indeed, either of these measures been car­
ried into effect, the results of OUI' military operations would, in 
all probability, have been successful and prosperous. 

Before I left Washington, to take command of the rorces, as 
I have before observed, a navy agent had been' appointed on the 
lake, and a distinguished naval officer had been ordered to re­
pair to the goverllment, to receive his instructions, with respect 
to what was considered an important command on the lakes. 
Every member of the administration appeared to be impressed 
with the necessity of securing that communication, in the event 
of war; General Dearborn, the senior officer of the army, was 
at Washington, assisting in organizing a large army, to be ready 
for service, should a declaration of war become necessary. Be­
sides the assurances I received from the admmistration it result­
ed from our relative situation, and the nature of things, that in 
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the event of war, tl.e invasion of Canada would be the first ob­
ject. For what other purpose could so large an army have been 
provided? There was no other Britis~ ter.ritory within our 
reach, and no other British forces in a situatIOn that we could 
approach. Besides, by the conquest of Upper Canada, we 
should have had the controul of the Indians, and perfect security 
would have been given to our extensive and exposed frontiers, 
and have prevented the miseries of sava',\e barbarity. As these 
memoirs are written, merely for the purpose that the truth may 
be known, I shall make no apology, either for prolixity or repe­
tition. I shall not, therefore, hesitate to repeat, that from the 
documents and circumstances which have been produced, the 
following facts have been fully substantiated :--

That in April, 1812, when I accepted the command of the 
forces destined for Detroit, it was understood, both by the gov­
ernment and myself, that, it being a time of peace, these forcel 
were designed to protect the northern frontier against the 
depredations of the savages, and particularly the territory ofMi­
chigan, of which I was Governour; and in the event of war, to 
have co-operated with both naval and land forces in the invasion 
of Upper Canada. 

In the future numbers. I shall give an account of the opera­
tions of the army, after I took the command; how I was disap­
pointed in my expectations; and how cruelly, both the army 
and myself have been sacrificed by the government, and Gener­
eral Dearborn, the commanding General. 

No. X. 
IN leaving 'Washington, in April, 1812, to take the command 

of the forces. assembled in the state of Ohio. I felt a very deep 
interest in the object of my mission. The consideration that I 
was clothed with the authority, and furnished with the means of 
affording safety and security to the frontier inhabitants of the 
country; and particularly to those of the territory of Michigan, 
of which I was governour, was soothing to my feelings, and ani­
mating to my exertions. Although about thirty years had then 
elapsed, since my sword hatllaid useless in its scabbard, and 
time had necessarily enfeebled my strength and constitution, yet 
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it was impossible for me to see a countl:y, in which, from my 
situation, I was so particularly interested, exposed to the fury 
of the savages, without raising an arm for its safety. Convinced 
that the forces entrusted to my command were sufficient for the 
protection of the frontier settlements, and the security of the 
territory while we were at peace with Great Britain; ~nd 
knowing that I had communicated what measure3 in my opin­
ion, would be indispensably necessary in the event of war, 
which communication~ had been received as official documents, 
and approved by the government, and feeling a generous confi­
dence in the justice and honour of the administration, I had lit­
tle anxiety with respect to any consequences which might have 
attended my command. 

If it were to be my fortune to protect the defenceless inhab­
itants of our country, against the cruelty of savages, and pros­
perity was to attend the exertions of the army, the satisfaction 
of having promoted the cause of humanity, would have been an 
ample reward. But if, after honestly discharging my duty, in the 
best manner I was capable, misfortune was to be my lot, I be­
lieved that a generous government, and a generous people would 
at least have shielded me from censure and reproach. At that 
time, indeed, I considered there was little or no hazard. It 
was a time of peace, with England, and while that remained, 
there was no danger excepting from the savages. Some excite­
ment then exist.ed, through the influence of the British Agents, 
in pretJaring them for events which they anticipated might take 
place. 

In the event of war I considered that such anangements 
would have been made, as would have enabled the army I com­
manded to have operated with success against the enemy. As 
the government continued me in the command of the north wes­
tern army, after the declaration of war, I had a right to believe~ 
that such measures would have been adopted, as I had stated, 
were deemed by me, essential to success. The measures to 
which I alluded in the event of war, I have mentioned were a. 
navy on lake Erie; sufficient to preserve that communication" 
and an army of sufficient strength, in co-operation with ,he one 
I commanded, to make a conquest of Upper Canada. In ail these 
Gomrnunications, I gave it as my opinion, that unless we had 
the benefit of this co-operation, ths posts of Detroit, Michil-
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limackinack, and Chicago, would inevitably fall into the hands 

of the enemy. 
How I was disappointed in my expectations; how I was de-

ceived by the government; how, after the declaration of war, I 
was ordered into a situation, which it was impossible for me to 
sustain, and from which there was no retreat; how the officers 
of the administration shamefully neglected to redeem the pll'dge 
they had given me; and how Gen eral Dearborn the senior offi­
cer of the army, and afterwards the President of the Court Mar­
tial, neglected every duty, incident to his command, and adopt­
ed measures, which proved the inevitable destruction of the army 
I commanded, will be the subjects of my future numbers. 

Before, however, I close this, I will make one further obser­
vation. If, after the declaration of war, the President and other 
officers of the administration, who directed the military opera­
tions, had changed their opinions, and believed that twelve hun­
dred Ohio militia, and tbree hundred regular troops, were suffi­
cient without any naval force, to have taken possession of lake 
Erie, and without any reinforcements, and without any other 
army, with which they might have co-operated, to have inv~ded 
and conquered the province of Upper Canada, they ought to have 
appointed an officer to that command, cif the same opinions, and 
not to have made one responsible, who had repeatedly, decided­
ly, and in an official manner, declared, that in the event of war, 
without the command of the lake, and "'ithout a powerful army 
for co-operation, the most disastrous consequences wonld inev­
ably follow. 

That these consequences did follow, in the manner I had 
predicted, is well known, and that under the circumstances, it 
was not possible for me to have pre~ented them; and that they 
were occasioned by the neglect of the government, and the mis­
cwnduct of General Dearborn will appear manifest, from the fu­
ture Btatements I shall make, and the, documents and other evi­
dence I shall produce. 

By the documents and evidence which have already been 
shown, the objects of the government in detaching the forces 
entrusted to my command, must be distinctly understood. I 
have produced my communications to the government explanato­
ry of my own views: and I likewise have exhibited the Mes­
sage of the President, who was at the head ofthe administration, 
to prove the views of the government. In my communications, 
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;»otl> ,before and after I was appointed, and accepted thf' com 
maud of thl'se forces, I stated distinctly my views, that in time 
of peace with Great Britain, the forces were competent to the 
protection of the frontiers of our country agai.nst the savages; 
but in the event of war without the co.op~ration of a naval force 
on Lake Erie, and without the co-operation of an army froID 
Niagara, they were not competent' to the invasion of Canada~ 
and not adequate to the pmtection of that part of our territory. 

And it further appears, by the President's Message, that the 
forcf's were sent to Detroit with a view to the security of the 
Michigan territory against the Indians in time of peace, and i.n 
the event of war to intercept the hostile influence of the British 
over the savages; to obtain the com maud .of the lake on which 
that part of Canada borders; and to co-operate with other forcei 
in that quarter. 

Upper Canada borders on lake Erie and the navigable lakes 
and rivers more than four hundred miles, and, on what grounds 
the expectation of the administration were founded, that with 
the forces I commanded I should be able to take the_ command 
of the lake, when commanded by a strong naval force of the en­
~my ; and without any co-operation of any other forces, from 
any quarter, ate questions which will be hereafter considered. 
This subject I wish distinctly to be understood, and I must be 
-excused if I make use of repetition, in the explanation of it. 

I have offered these documents to shew the grounds I had to 
expect the co-operation of ,other forces; and, that the adminis­
iration became convinced that a naval force was necessary, and 
cne was immerliately ord'ered, as soon as it was founel that the 
possession of the lake could not be obtained by the militia under 
my command. 

'By lessons of experience, since that period, we have been 
-taught how important the command of those waters, are to suc­
cessful operations against the country. 

General Harrison, with a force vastly fluperiour to the one I 
commanded, was not able, after more than a year, to a pproacll 
within fifty mIles of Malden, with the assistance of a large force 
at Niagara to co-operate with him; and was not able to make 
,any impression on the country, until after the command of the 
lake was obtainerl, by Commodore Perry's glorious naval vic­
~'o~y. As soon as that was obtained, the enemy immediately 

-5 
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abandoned Malden, and the army took possession of the coun­
try. The tl'rritory situated on these navigable ~aters is so ~n­
su'lated, that. the power which commands them wIll necessanly 

command the country. 

No. XI. 
ON the 10th o'fMay, I arrived at Cincinnati, in the state of 

Ohio. H!'re I Ill!'t Governour Mpigs, who hall made great ex­
ertions in collecting the 1200 militia, which had been ordered 
by the President-Their place of rendezvl'us was Dayton. AI· 
though the officers and soldiers appeared to be animated with 
zeal, y!'t in reviewing them. and inspe; ting their equipmen.ts, 
they were found without discipline, ant.! destitute of arms and 
clothing. necessary for military operations Their arms were 
totally unfit for use, the leather which covered their cartouch 
boxes was rotten and no better security to the cartridges than 
brown paper; mallY of tlH' men were destitute of blankets, and 
(Jther necessary clothing; no armourers were provided to repair 
the arms; no means had bel'D adopted to furnish clothing; no 
public stores to resort to, either for good arms, or suitable cloth­
ing; and no powder in any of the magazines, fit for use-and 
what is more extraordinary, no contract, or any measures adop­
ted, to supply these troops with the nl'cessary article of provi­
sions. during their march through a ,vilderness of more than two 
l1undred miles, until they arrived at Detroit, the pla-ce of their 
destination. On my own responsibility. I sent to powder mills 
in Kentucky, and purchased powder. collected a few blankets, 
and other necessary articles of cloth:ng from the inhabitants of 
Ohio, and _ employed private armourers, at Cincinnati, and Day­
ton, to repair the arms, &c. 

These facts have been stated. to l'Oh{-w the neglect of the gov­
ernment in equiping and providing for these troops, which in 
thei~ situation. could not be considered as a force adequate to of­
fenSIve operatIOns, and to the conquest of Canada. 

After the junction of the 4th United States regiment, which 
Clonsisted of 300 effective men. with the 1200 militia at Urbanna. 
I somm(meed the march, early in June from that l,lace, a fron-
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tier town' in ihe state of Ohio, for Detroit, the distance of more 
'than two hundred miles. 

"'fter the disposition was made for the march, I was informed: 
that a part of the militia, refused to obey the order. 

In the first place, I directed their own officers, to give thet» 
positive orders to march, and inform them, if they did not obey, 
the 4th United Stat.es regiment would be sent to compel them. 
They still refused, and a part of the 4th regiment was niarched 
to their station, and they obeyed. This fact is proved by the 
testimony of Col. Miller of that regiment,and I have stated it, 
to shew, when I first took the command of these troops, the 
want of 'discipline, and the mutinous spirit which prevailed,-­
and that the authority of their officers, was not sufficient to com- / 
mand their obedience. and that nothing but the bayonets of the 
4th regiment could have the effec,t. , 

It is not necessary to describl:' the labours and fatigues, of the 
army in the march. It is sufficient to know, that the. country 
Was a wilderness, and the difficulties in marching an army 
through it will be apparent It is, however, a justice due to lhe 
efficers and soldiers to say, that all the lal.Jours of opening a road,­
building bridges and causeways, and indeed all t~e fatigues, in­
cident to sut:h a march, were borne with patience, and every 
possible exertion was made to effect the object of the march/" 
Oil the rout the army built four blGckhouses, which were garri­
soned by the invalids, who were unable to accompany the army. 
The object in building these blockhouses, was the convenience 
of re-enforcements, and the security of convoys. 

On the '2d'day of July, I received a letter from the secretary 
of war, dated the 18th of June, informing me of the declaration of 
wat·. It was in these words--" Sir, war is declared against 
Great Britain .. You will be on y~ur guard, proc~ed to yout' 
post with -all possible expedition, make such arrangements for 
the defence of the country, as in your judgment may be neces­
sary, and wait for further orders." 

The day before this letter was received, the quarter-master, 
had been directed to hire a small vessel, at the foot of the Rapids 
of the Miami, to transport the invalids, and the baggage, &c. not 
wanted on the march to Detroit. The horses being worn dowft 
on the march, rendered this measure, in my opinion, expedient. 
At this time I had received no information of the declaration 'of 
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w:ar, and did not consider, there was any hazard in the me~sure~' 
On the 24th of June, I received a letter from the war uepart­
men!, dated in the morning of the 18th Jum~, directing me to 
march to Detroit, with all possible expedition. I n that letter, 
not one word was said respecting a declaraticjfI of war. The 
British garrison, at Malden having a number of days before re­
eeiv~d the information, this vessel war; taken in passing thai for­
tress. The court martial could not find any ground to censure me 
for employing that vessel, as I had no information of the declar-. 
ation of war, and was obliged to acquit HIe of the charge growing 
out of that event; The circum~tance8 of this transaction, are 
particularly related in my defence. 

Thus it appears, that I did not receive information of the war, 
until fourteen days after it was deciared. that the British garri­
son had official knowledge of it four or five days sooner, that it· 
is proved to a demonstration, that I might ha"e received it eight 
days earlier, as I actually did receive a letter from the secretary 
of war, on the 24th of June, dated on the same day (viz.) the 
18th of June, in the morning, which gave no information of the 
declaration of war. 

The person who brougH me this letter announcing the war, 
informed me he was employed by the post master of Cleveland, 
in the state of Ohio, and that it was brought in the mail, to that 
post office. In time of peace with England, there could have 
bef:-n but one opinion, with respect to engaging this vessel, in 
the manner it was employed. Having no information of the 
declaration of war, I must necessarily have believed, it was a 
time of peace, and consequently JIlO blame could be attached to 
me. This was the opinion of the court martial. 

If, after a knowledge of the war, I had sent this unarmed vessel 
to4[)etroit, with the sick of the army, the medical stores, intrench­
ing tools, &c. knowing: shp mUl'It pass the British fortress at Am­
herstburg, it would have been treason, for which I ought to have 
been punished. Tht' following is the opinion of the court mar­
tial on this subject-" The evidence on the subject having been 
publicly given, the court deem it proper, in justice to the accus­
ed, to say, that thev do not believe, from any fhing which has 
appeared before them, that Brigadier Gen'eral William Hull has 
tommitted treason against the United States." 
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It appears then by the opinion of the eoud, founded on i:he 
~estimony of the witnesses, in behalf of the proseclltion, that ill 
this respect, there was no fault on my part. But here was a 
serious publir disastel', the first which had happened to the army 
I commanded~ and occasioried by the fault or neglect of some 
officer of the government, whose duty it was to givE' me the ear­
liest possib!!! infOl'mation of the war. It was well known to the 
government, that I was in a wilderness, filled witb hostile sava­
ges, and approaching a British garrison, that a previous knowl~(jge 
of the war, would have given the enemy the greatest p08!lible 
advantage, in the situation I was placed. It is impossible that 
stronger reasons could have existed, to render it necessary, that 
I should have received the earliest information of the war, 'What 
measures were taken to give me this information? A letter was 
put into the post-office, and sent a circuitous rout to Cleveland 
in the state of Ohio, and the post-master at that place was re­
quested to send it through a wilderness of abol;t an hundred 
miles, to me. This letter, announcing this importantevent,walO 
travelling fourteen days before it reached me, when I had I'e­
'eeived one in six days from 'Vashington, dated on the same day. 
Who then, I seriously ask, was in fault? If 1 had received infor­
lll,jl.tion of the war, as early as the government might haye com­
municated it to me. this vessel would not have been employed, 
and,this misfortune would not have happened. Every effort was 

',attempted to make me the guilty cause in the prosecution. but 
without success. Could treason have been proved by the opin­
ions of witnesses, the case would undoubtedly have been differ­
ent; but that would have been too great an outrage on establish­
ed principles. Opinions, however, were reserved for another 
charge against me, which will be considen:d in the course of 
these memoirs. 

On this subject, I am sure you will acquit me of all censure" 
and place the fault at the door of the administration by whose 
'neglect, the disaster, was occasior.ed. 

I ask you, fellow citizens. what must have been my feelings, 
as the commanding officer of that army, when I found that the 
enemy had received ioformation of the declaration of war, a 
number of days before it had been communicated to !I,e; Espe­
cially, as Malden was 'about sixty miles farther fmm Washing­

-{en" than my situation at the time it was received. Had I not 



38 

,as much cau!!e to declare, there was trea!lOl1 at Washington, a. 
the administration had to declare there wa" treason in my camp? 

Thf'le was no act which I committed, and no duty which I 
omitted, which (Quid create the least foundation for the charge. 
The administration had omitted giving me the earliest informav 

tion of the declaration of war, which had been attended with the 
most serious consequences to the army. I have been the more 
_particular on this suhject, on account of the injustice and cruelty 
~f the government, in charging me with treason, for an unfortu· 
nate e,vent, which was caused by its own neglect. 

No. XII. 
IT will be perceived. that the letter which I received from the­

Secretary of the department of war, on the morning ,of the 2d of 
July 11)12, which is transcribed in the former number, contain" 
ed a positive order to march the army to Detroit, and there 
wait for further orders. This order being positive, no other 
alternative remained, but obedience. In reflecting on the sub­
ject, the following considerations forced themselves on my mind. 
I had given it as my opinion, that while we were at peace With 
Great Britain, Detroit would be a suitable situation for forcesJ I 

designed to protect that territory, and the northernfrolltier agaiRst 
the savages, and for this obvious reason, that they could re" 
ceive all necessary supplies by the communication of the lake. 
But in the event of war with Great Britain, I had officially stat· 
ed, that without a navy on Lake Erie, that communication 
would be entirely closed against us. I had likewise stated in 
that event, the difficulty, if not the impossibility of obtaining 
the necessary supplies in any other way. 

Indeed it must be apparent to all who have any knowledge of 
the geography of the country, that there would be no other 
mode of obtaining supplies, but from the settled parts of the 
state of Ohio, through the wilderness which I had passed, and 
was passing, of more than two hundred miles, and filled with 
hostile savages. When the important event of the declaration 
of war against Great Britain was announced I received no as'-, , 
surances from the Government, that any preparation was ma4e 

I 
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to, preserve the communication of the lake. I'received no as'" 
surances that any re-enforcements were in readiness, to make 
such establishments on the road I had opened through the wil­
derness, as would give security to convoys. from the state of 
Ohio. I receiv,ed no assuranct's, that any army was prepared 
to co-operate with the forces I commanded, in making offensive 
-operations. At that moment, I anticipated what must be the 
fate of my army, unless the measures I have stated, were 

adopted. 
Notwithstanding these reflections, I knew the first duty of a 

soldier was to obey orders; and in obedience to them, I march­
ed the army to Detroit with all possible expedition. 

In passing a large Indian village,the residence of the Wy­
ondots, nearly opposite the British fort at Malden. and only 
separated from my rout by the Detroit river, it was the inten­
tion of the British commanding officer, to have crossed the riv­
er and attacked the al'my on its march through a hideous swamp, 
which we entered after passing this Indian villagf'. At this 
-time, having been informed of the war, a large body of the mi­
litia of Upper Canada, had re-enforced the British garrison, and 
aU the surrounding tribes of Indians had been invited to join its 
standard. Every preparation was made for it, on the morning 
gf the 5th of July. It was only prevented by a communication 
the night before, which I caused to be made. by a confidential 
inhabitant of Malden, then in my camp, to a friend of his who 
reside,d in Malden, and wall in the confidence of the command­
ing officer. The information communicated was, that it was 
Dot the intention of the army to march to Detroit, that all the 
boats had been collected on the west side of the river, that can~ 
Don had been sent for, from Detroit, and that my intention ',",'as 
to cross the river, and attack the fort. This information W,IS 

immediately communicated to the commanding officer, whi~h 

induced him to abandoned the enterprize, and concpntrate all 
his forces for the defence of the fort. This ruanmuvre I deem­
ed necel!sary, as the forces I commanded had been about a 
,month in the wilderness, on the hardest fatigue. opening a ro~d 
and not in a situation for discipline, or preparation for action. 
Besides the ground was well calculated f()J' Indian warfare. and 
'Ilehad no field artillery to oppose to that of the enemy, whic;:h 
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mioM easily have been transported across. the river. :8y this 
'" . I ~tratd~~m the troops passed this furtress Wit lOut annoyance, and 

that evening arrived at Detroit. After a march of so much 
hardship and fatigue, I thought it was my duty -to permit botb 
officers and soldiers to rest from'their labours for a few days. 
The time was however empltlyed in washing their clothes, 
deanillg and repairing their arms. All the armourers at De· 
troit were engaged, as~isting in thIs necessary work. The ene­
my were directly opposite at this time, erecting fortificati'llns 011 

the bank of the river. An impatj~nce was excited, and a strong 
,irish manifested among bnth officers and men, to cross the riv­
er and commence offensive operatiuns. In consequence of this, 
I called a council of war, cO:lsisting of the field (lfficers, and 
communicated to them the instructions I had received from the 
government, "that I was to march with all possible expedition 
to Detroit and there wait for further or< ~ers." I informed them 
that I did not consider myself authorized by those instructions 
to invade the enemyjs territory, and I wished them to give such 
explanatioils, as would allay the impatience which had been ex­
£ited. Notwithst!l.nd.ing this communication, the officers gave 
it as their opinion, that it was expedient immediately to cross 
and take possession of the opposite bank. I then informed 
them, as long as I commanded that army, I should Qbey the 0[­

deI'S of the Government. The circumstances of this Council, 
are proved by the testimony of Colonel Cass, who was a mem: 
bel' of it, and are on Iy stated, to shew the temper ami inexperi­
ence of my officers, and the difficulty of my command. This 
was but foul' days after the arrival of the army at Detroit. On 
the evening of the 9th, after the council was dismissed, I receiv· 
ed a letter from the Secretary of the department of war, author­
izing me to commence offensive operations. This letter is of so 
much importance that I shall here recite thp, part of it, which 
)l~lates to offensive operations. . 

War Department, June 24th, 18HZ. 
SIR, 

By my letter of the 18th inst. you were informed that war 
was declared against Great Britain. Herewith enclosed, you 
~ill receive a copy of the act, and of the President's proclama­
tIOn, and you are authorized to commence offensive operatione 
accordingly. -
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Should the force under your command be equal to the enter­
prise, .consistel}.t with the safety of your own posts, you will 
tl\.ke possession of Malden, amI extend your conquests as cir­
cum.stances may justify. 

(Signed) 0 WILLIAM EUSTIS. 

On the same evening this letter was received, the foHowing 
answer was given. 

Detl'oit, 9th July. II:! 1 2. 
SIR, 

I have received your letter of the 24th of June. The army 
under my command arrived here on the 5th of July :'l~t Every 
effort has been and is still making, by the British to collect. the 
Indians under their standard. They have aJarge number. 1 am 
preparing boats, and shall pass the river in a few days The 
British have established a post, directly opposite this place-I 
have confidence in dislodging him. and being in possession of 
the opposite; bank. 1 have little time to write: every thing will 
be done that is possible to do. 

·The British command the water and the savages. 
I do not think the force here equal to the reduction of Am­

herstburg (meaning the fort at Malden;) you therefore must not 
be too sanguine. 

(Signed) WILLIAM HULL.' 
HON. 'VM. EUSTIS. 

By the letter which has just been recited from the Secretary 
of 'Var, of the 24th of June, and. received by me at Detroit, the 
9th of July, I was a'lthorized, 

1st. To commence offensive operations. 
2d. Should the force under my command be equal to the en­

terprise, 'consistent with the safety of our own posts, I was to 
take possel:ision of Malden, and extend my conquests, as cir­
cumstances might justify. 

As soon as I r.eceived this letter I determined to cross"lthe 
river, and take possession of the, bank opposite Detroit. For 
this purpose, all the boats and ca.noes belonging to the inhabi­
tants were collected and repaired. There were none belonging 
to the public. 011 the 11th of July a suffici.ent number had been 
coUetted to carryover about four hundred men. As the enemy 
was in considerable force on the opposite bank, and as I could 
110t carryover more than four hundred men at once, I thoug;ht 

6 ' 
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it expedient to draw off his attpntion, as much as po~sibl:, from 
tIlt' "'1mt wh",.p it was my intention to cross. ThlE, pomt was 
at Bloody Bridge, abnut a mile and a half above Detroit. For 
this purpose I ordered all the boats on the 11th, towards even­
ing, to pass down the river, in sight of the enemy, and to con~ 
tinue 1-wlow the town until dark, and then silently to rEturn to 
the station at Bloody Brido-e. This movement had the desired 

• b 

effe~t. The enemy retreated in the night below Sandwich, and 
at day·light in the morning of the 12th, the army passed the 
river, and landed without any opposition. 

No. XIII. 
As the letter of the Secretary of the d~partment of war of the 

24th of June, authorized me to commence offensive operations, 
and gives assurances, III behalf of the government, to the inhabi­
tants of Canada, of protection, in their persons, property, and 
rights; I shall now state the reasons, which induced me to make 
the invasion, and issue the proclamation, when'the army landed 
011 the Canada shore. 

The authority given to commence offensive operations, was 
absolute. There was no qualifications.-Nothing was left to 
my discretion. The intenti(,n of this order is very clearly ex­
plained, by another order contained in the same letter. 

" Should the force under my command be equal to the enter­
prise, consistent with the safety of our other posts, I was order­
ed to take possession of Malden. &c." In this case, the authori­
ty was not abaolute, but the measure was left to my discretion. 
If, therefore, I had not commenced offensive operations. the ex­
pectations uf the government would have been disappointed. 

'Situated, however, as this army was, there were other very 
strong reasons for the measure. The enemy were erecting for­
tifications on the opposite bank, directly opposite to the town of 
Detroit. This bank is a little more elevated, than the one on 
the American side of the river. Had the enemy, therefore, 
been permitted to have finished the fortifications, and armed 
them with c:annon, the town of Detroit would have been greatly 
annoyed. and the situation of the army made uncomfortable. 
To dModge the {I~emy from this position, I thought both ex-
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pedient and necessary. The possession of both banks, would 
give us the command of the river, and prevent the enemy from 
sending supplies to the garrisons on Lake Huron. 

There were other objects, under the circulllstances I was 
placed, which rendered the measure expedient. The delay of 
only one or two days, in collecting and repai~ing the boats, and 
in making the necessary preparations Increased the impatience, 
which had been before manifested ane-I it arose almoit to mutiny. 
This spirit was fostered, and inflamed generally by the officers 
of the militia; what the motives were, whether they were an 
expectation of plunder, I will not pretend to say. 'Vith many 
of them, however, they proved to be an unsteady, wayward 
spirit; as about two hundred of them refused to accompany the 
army, alledging as a reas(m, that by law, and by their engage­
rnPDts, they were not obliged to march out of the D. States. 

Another object, which I considered of g"eat importance, was, 
to preserve the neutrality of the inhabitants of Upper Canada, 
and the savages, and to preve~t them from joining the British 
i!andard. 

I confidently hoped, when the inhabitants beheld the Ameri­
ean forces in the possession of their country, and in a situation 
to'allord them protection, it would be a strong inducement to 
them to remain quietly at their homes, and take no part ill the 
war. 

I believed, when. the Indians discovered the American stand­
ard erected on both sides of the river, it would have a favoura­
ble effect, and induce them to return.to their villages, and take 
no part in a war, in which they had no interest. At this time 
there was no information that Michillimackinack had fallen, anti 
there were some grounds, that these expectations would be. 
realized. ' 

There was another reason, which most powerfully urged me to 
take possession of the enemy's country. It was to draw from 
it provisigns and farage fOt, the support of ~ny army, and to in­
tercept, as far as possibl~, the supplies from tht> river Le 
Trench, to the British garrison at Malden. In the course'<if 
tliese memoirs, I shaH exhibit the sm~ll quantities of provisions, 
whic.h were at Detroit, the 5th of J.uly, on my arrival, that none 
arrived afterwards, that in the Territory of Michigan, there was 
not a sufficiency for the inhabitants, and that the whole stock 
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would have been exhallsted. long before the capitulation. had 
110> an a.d;tional supply been obtained from the inhabitants of 
Canada. The supply indeed was small. but it had a double 
operation; as it increased our stock and' diminished that of the 
enemy. It was taken principally from mills on the river Le 
Tr~nch. where it had been prepared for the garrison at Malden. 
I ha\',o stated these reasons, for the invasion of Canada, not that 
the o-overnment made it one of the articles of charges against 1:> , 

me. This indeed, clluld not have been done, because it was 
b') its own order; but I have done it to satisfy some of my fel­
low citizens of its expediency, who have attached blame to me 
for the measure, under the circumstances. in which J was placed. 
Had it not been done by the orders of the government, there is 
no doubt it would have been one of the first charges against me, 
for which I should have been condemned. 

The~e are the reason!>, which induced me to commence offen­
sive operations, and not with a view to storm the British fort 
at Malden. with undisciplined and mutinous militia. My let­
ter to the Secretary of War. which has been recited, is conclu­
sive evidence on this subject, I repeat the words. "The Bri­
tish command the water and the savages; I do not think the 
force here equal to the reduction of Amherstburg, (the fort at 
Maiden,) you therefore must not be too sanguine." 

No. XIV. 
ON the subject of the number which I shall now present to 

you. I feel mace int~rest than on any other which hasbeea or 
will be discussed. It is the proclamation which I issued to the' 
inhabitants of Canada. This was not made an article of charo-e 

'"' against me, because it would have re-acted on the adminii'tra. 
tion. By the letter of the Secretary of War, of the 24th June, 
and which was received before the proclamation was iHsued, I 
was authorized, when I commenced offensive operations, to 
give as!>urances of protection 1:0 the inhabitants, in their per­
sons, ~roperty, and rights. This was the foundation of the pro­
clamatIOn, amI the substance of it was authorized in this letter, 
and the other parts of it contained reasons to induce the inhabi­
tauts not to take any part in the contest. I shall endeavour to 
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which induced me to issue it in the form it appeared. What­
tjver opinion you may form of it--whether it meets with your 
approbation or disapprobation-I pledge myself to produce au­
thentic testimony, that as soon as it was published, it was sent 
to the government, approved by the government, and conse­
quently became the act of the government; and that, in publish­
ing it, I was in~uenced by pure and honourable motives. 

I feel the more solicitude on this subject, because, many hon­
ourable men, who have approved of my conduct generally, dur­
ing that campaign, have not been satisfied with every part of 
the proclamation. As many of you, perhaps, have not had an 
opportunity of seeing it, I shall here transcribe the whole of it ; 
after which, I shall give such explanations as in my opinion the 
text will justify. 
By WILLU.lIf HULL, Governour of the Territol'Y of Michigan, 

and Commanding the North Western .f1rmy. 

A PROCLAMATION. 
INHABITANTS OF CANADA, 

After thirty years of peace and prosperity, the United States 
have been driven to arms. The injuries and aggressions, the 
insults and indignities of Great Britain h~ve once more left 
the;n no alternative but manly resistance or unconditional sub­
mISSlOn. The army under my cummand has invaded your 
country; the standard of the Union now waves over the territo­
ry of Canada. To the peaceable, unoffending inhabitants, it 
brings neither danger nor difficulty. I come to find enemies, 
not to make them. I come to protect, not to injure you. 

Separated by an immense ocean and an extensive wilderness 
from Great Britain, you have no participation in her councils, 
no interest in her conduct. You have felt her tyranny, you have 
·Been her'injustice. But I do not ask you to avenge the one or 
redress the other .. The United States are sufficiently powerful 
to afford every security consistent with their rights and your ex­
pectations. I tender to you the invaluable blessings of civil, 
political, and religious liberty, and their necessary result; in­
dividual and general prosperity: that liberty which gave deci­
siOIi to our councils and energy to our conduct, in a struggle for 
independence, which .conducted us sa.fely and. triumphantly 
through the stormy period (j)f the revolution-that liberty which 
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and which afforded Cl greater measure of peace aad security, of 
wealth and improvement, than ever fell to the lot of any 
people. 

In the name of my country. and the authority of government, 
I promise you protection, to your persons, property, and rights. 
Remain at your homes, pursue your peaceful and customary 
avocations; raise not your hands against your brethren. Many: 
of your fathers fought for the freedom and independ~nce we now 
enjoy. Being children, therefore, of the same family with us, 
and heirs to the same heritage, the arrival of an army of friends 
must be hailed by you, with a cord ial welcome. You will be 
emancipated from tyranny and oppression, and restored to the 
dignified station of freemen. Had I any douht of eventual suc­
cess, I might ask your assistance, but [do not" I corne prepar­
ed for every contingency. I have a force which will break 
down all opposition, and that force is but the vanguard of a 
much greater. If contrary to your own interest, and the just 
expectations of my cuuntry, you should take a part ir~ the ap­
proaching contest, you will be considered as enemie!l, and the 
hortours and calamities of war will stalk before you. If the bar­
barous and savage policy of <;:ireat Britain be pursued, and the 
savages be let loose to murder our citizens and butcher our wo­
men and children, this war will be a war of extermination. The 
first stroke of the tomahawk, the first attempt with the scalping 
knife, will be the signal of one indiscriminate scene of desola­
tion. No white man found fighting by the side of an Indian 
will be taken prisoner-instant dell.th will be his lot. If the 
dictates of reason, duty, justice, and humanity, cannot prevent 
the employment of a force which respects no rights, and knows 
no wrong, it will be prevented by a severe and relentless sys­
tem of retaliation. I doubt not your courage and firmness~ I 
will not doubt your attachment to liberty. If you tender your 
services voluntarily. they will be accepted readily. The Unit­
ed t;tates offer you peace, liberty, and security. Your choice 
lies between' these and war, slavery or destruction. Choose 
then; choose wis~ly, and may He who knows the justice of our 
cause, and who holds in his hand the fate of nations, guide you 
to the result the most compatible with your rights and interes4 
your peace and happiness. WILLIAM HULL. 
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Before Illroceed to any particular explanation$., I ask you to 
bear in mind the situation in which I was placed by the orders 
uf the government. I was in au enemy's country, with the com­
mand ,If a small body of militia, and a few regulars, (the num­
bers will hereafter be described) nearly three hundred miles 
distant from any magazines of provisions. munitions of war, or 
re-enforcements. The enemy with which I had to contend, was 
all the British troops in Uppl'r Canada, all the militia of that 
province, and all the northe1'll and weste1'll Indians, both, in the 
territory of Canada and the United States, together with all the 
strength and resources of the wealthy and powerful North-west 
Company. , 

Placed in this insulated situation, by the orders of the gov­
ernment; and surrounded by all the veteran British troops in 
Upper Canada, a powerful militia, subject to the command 
of the British goverllour of the province, who was the general of 
'the army) with but a small stock of provisions on hand and no 
possibility of obtaining a further supply, as the lake was com­
manded by a British naval squadron. and the only communica­
tion by land, a wilderness of more than two hundred miles, 
filled with hostile savages; I saw no possibility of even sustain 
ing my situation, unless the militia could be prevented from 
taking a part in the war, and joining the British standard. 

A large portioI' of the population of that province had emi­
grated from the United States. They had been educated with 
the principles of freedom and independence; and some of them, 
and many of their fathers, had fought and bled in our revo­
lutionary contest. They were situated more than three thous­
and miles from the country to which they were subjected, and 
had no participation or-interest in the measures it adopted. 
Having for a number of years lived in their neighbourhood, I 
had often heard them express the inj ustice and oppression they 
suffered, and their nutural right, and strong wishes, to partici­
pate in the same freedom and independence which their breth­
ren of the United States enjoyed, and under which they were' 
so prosperous and happy. They were informed that the force 
I had was but the vanguard of a much greater. I considered 
that I had solid gt'ounds to make this declaration. 

In the first place, it will· be seen that I was authorized 'to 
pledge the fai~h of the government, that they should be protect-
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eil in their persons, property, and rights. Could I have believ-J 

cd that the government would have authorized me to ~ave. made 
this pledge, without furnishing the means of redeemmg It? I 
beg you, my fellow citizens, to look back, and consider what 
took place, before Iv left Washington, on this subject. In my 
official communications to the government, I stated, that in the 
event of war with Great Britain, it would be necessary to com­
mand the waters of Lake Erie, by a naval force superiour to that 
of the enemy; to provide re-enforcements, to secure the com­
munication through the wilderness I was to penetrate-and a 
powerful army, to co-operate. from the States of New York and 
Pennsylvania, which border on the east part of the lake: that, 
without these measures, it would be impossible for me to sustain 
my si.tuation; and the ports of Detroit, Michillimackanack, and 
Chicago, would fall into the possession of the enemy. I hope, 
and indeed believe, you will be satisfied, there were sufficient 
grounds on my part for making this declaration. 

I now come to that part of the proclamation which regards the 
Indians, and the employment of them in the war by the British 
government. It is well known, that the mode of Indian war­
fare is to give no quarter. After torturing their prisoners in 
the most inhuman manner, they put them to d.eath, unless they 
believe they will be useful to them as slave>l, or they can obtain 
an high ransom for them. In their warfare, they have no respect 
to age, to women, or children; wherever thl.'ir power extends, it 
becomes an inuiscriminate scene of desolation; and, on their 
part, a war of extermination. 

In the former wars, it is well known, that many of the Cana­
dians have joined their bands, and in every respect assumed 
their dress, and so assimilated themselves to them, that it was 
impossible to make any distinction. If it is the Indian moue of 
warfare to I give no quarter, it is certainly proper for those 
against whom they fight to observe the same rull.', If white men 
paint nnd disfigure themselves, and assume the dress of Indians, 
and fight by their sides in war, in such a manner that they can­
not be distinguished, I ask whether it is not proper to treat them 
in the same manner as Indians. By a reference to General 
Brock's proclamation, in answer to mine, it will be seen that he 
justified this mode of warfare of his savage allies. 
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It is observed, if the barbarous and savage policy of cqreat 
Britain be pursued, and the savages are let loose to murder 
our citizens, and butcher our women and children, this war 
will be a war of extermination. It then states, that if the dic­
tates of reason, duty. justice, and humanity cannot prevent the 
employment of a force, which respects no rights, and knows no 
wrongs, it will be prevented by a severe and relentless system 
of retaliation. 

It will be perceived, that all these declarations are grounded 
on the principle of retaliation; this principle, I have ever been 
taught by the high authority of the laws of nations, is well 
founded and just. The whole pl'oclamation has been recited; 
and I beg it may be particularly observed, that the threatening 
declarations are hypotnetical; that, if the enemy pursue this 
barbarous policy we must retaliate in our own defence. 

On the 13th of July, the day after it was published, a copy of 
it was sent to the government. The paragraph of the letter is 
in these words :-'" Enclosed is a copy of a proclamation to the 
inhabitants, which I hope will be approved by the government. 
Two hundred copies have been printed and are in circulation." 
See Hull's Trial, page 10 of the Index. Here follow several 
extracts of letters received from the war department, in reply 
to my letters about that date. 

"War Department .!lug. 1, 1812. 
" Sir: Your letters of the 13th and 14th, together with your 

proclamation, have been received. Your operations a"re ap­
proved by the President. " 

In another letter, dated on the same day the proclamatioll 
was received, the Secretary of war says: "The progress you 
have made, and the success which has attended it, are highly 
satisfactory to the President." 

In anuther letter from the Secretary of War, dated the 3th 
of August, eight days after the receipt of the proclamation, he 
says: " Your letters of the 21st and 22d of July have been re­
ceived and your arrangements are approved by the Pl·esident." 

These letters have lately been obtained from the war office, 
ll.nd are certified to be true copies. 

Thus it appears, from the records of the war office, that my 
letter of the 1 Sth of July~ enclosing the proclamation, was re­
~eived on the 1 st of Au~ust; that on the same day, the Sl!Creta" 

7 
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ry wrote me a letter, acknowledging the receipt of it, ~nd say­
ing that my operations were approved by the President. 

On the same day, the Secretary wrote me another letter, re­
ferring likewise to the one enclosing my proclamation; in which 
he said, "that the progress I had made, aIld the success which 
had attended it was highly satisfactory to the President;" l'llld 

in another lett~r, written eight days after the receipt of the proc­
lamation, he says, referring to the same subject, "your ar­
rangements are approved by the President." 

After this explanation and state of facts, which has been 
proved by the records of the goverment, I confidently submit the 
subject to your candid decision. 

I have been the lhore particular on this subject for two reasons 
which have not been mentioned. One is, although this procla­
mation was not an aricle of charge against me, as I before ob­
served, yet it was copied from the records of th@ government, 
and sent to the court martial as evidence against me on my 
trial, and published with the other evidence, by Lieut. Col. 
Forbes, in his report of my trial. There could have been 
no other motive, but to have created unfavourable impres­
sions against me. It is with reluctance, that I state the other 
reason, because it may in some measure, affect characters. for 
whom I have the highest respect, and on whom the futUre hopes 
of our country are placed. 

By the journal of the proceedings of the commissioners, at 
rhe treaty of Ghent, it appears, that t he commissioners on the 
part of Great Britain, stated some improper aggressions, which 
our government had committed against the inhabitants of Cana-

'da. Not having the journal before me, I cannot state precisely, 
and it is not necessary, what they were. The American com­
missioners asked them for the eviuence. The proclamation, 
which has been referred to, was offered as evidence. The 
American commissioners declared that it was unauthorized and 
disapproved by the government. 

On this subject, my fellow citizens, you have before you the 
documents and evidence, giving me an authority to issue this 
proclamation, of its being sent to the government, and the Pres­
ident's appl"Obation of it, in three letters, after it had been re­
eeived,-my enquiries of the Hon. John Quincy Adams, on 
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what grounds that declaration was made, and his answer, aI'\' 
contained in my second number. 

Thus, it appears; that every wheel, and intleed the whole 
machinery of the administration, was put in motion, however 
distant from the centre of operation, to exonerate itself, and 
place on my shoulders, all the misfortunes which took place at 
the commencement of the war; a war, however just were the 
causes of it. was declared without any preparation; and I can 
safely appeal to the public records, to prove, contrary to every 
opinion I had given on the subject; 

In not less than three official communications made to the 
administration, I stated that if war was declared, without 
the command of the lake, Detroit, Michillimackanack and 
Chicago, must in the nature of things, fall into the hands of tht~ 
enemy. 

-----------

No. XV. 
HAVING in the former numbers explained the motives which 

rendered it expedient, to cross the Detroit river, and take a posi~ 
tion with the principal part of the forces on the opposite bank, I 
-shall now endeavour to satisfy you of the propriety of the delay 
in this situation, and oiler the reasons why an attack on the 
British fort at Malden was not made. In the same letter, from 
the Secretary of War, which authorized me to commence offen­
sive operations, an attempt to take possr.ssion ofthe British fort 
a t Malden, was left to my discretion. This letter was receiyed 
the 9th of July, in the evening. On the same evening this let­
ter was received, I wrote to the Secretary, in answer to it, in 
these words :-~, The British command the water and the sav~ 
ages.-I do not think the force here, ~qllal to the reduction of 
Amherstburg. You therefore, must not be too sanguine. " 

As the Secretary's letter only authorized me to make the at· 
tack on the British fort at Malden, provided, I considered my 
force adequate to the enterprise, and consistent with the safety 
of my other posts; and as inlmy answer, I gave it as my opinion 
that my force was Rot equal to the enterprise, and gave my 
reasons for the opinion, (viz.) that the enemy commanded the 



52 

water and the savages. I could not have believed it possible, 
after the government had confided this measure to my discretion~ 
and had fully approvro of my conduct, that it could have been 
marie a charge of capital offence against me. But so it was, and 
I therefore, must ask the indulgence of your patience, in stating 
the reasons, which governed my conduct. 

After having received these discretionary orders, and after 
having given this answer alld opinion. if I had made the attempt, 
and it had been unsuccessful, what would the officers of the ad~ 
ministration have said? They would have said, and with pro~ 
priety, that I was only authorized to adopt this measure. provi­
ded my force was competent to it; that I had communicated to 
them my opinion that it was not competent to it, and therefore 
it had been attempted, contrary to the spirit of the orders I had 
receIved, and would then have been a sufficient ground for an 
article of charge. In explaining the reasons of my conduct on 
this occasion, nothing shall be disguised, nothing shall be kept 
back, nothing shall be said, but what is founded in truth, whe­
ther it operates for or against me. Under these impressions, 
I wish you to understand, that on the 9th of July, when I wrote 
to the Secretary of \Var, and informed him that my force wa~ 
n t equal to the reduction of Malden, it was uncertain, what 
part the inhabitants of Upper Canada would take in the war. 
They were subjects of the British nation, and liable to the or­
ders uf its government. Unless in some way they could be pre­
vented from takin!!; a part i:l the war, they alone were sufficient 
to overwhelm the whole of my army. They were militia, com­
posed flf the ~awe materials, as the principal part of my army 
and more than five times its number. 'Vith respect to the sav­
ages, many of them at that time had joined the British stand­
ard. hnd no certain calculations could be made, that I should 
be able to induce them to return and remain quiet at their vil­
la,!:,::" It was well known that a great portion of the inhabitants 
of the Province, felt no very strong attachment to the govern­
ment under which they lived. Many of them, as I have before 
observed, were born and educated in the United States, had en­
joyed the blessings of a frep government, and were united to 
us by ties of friendship and of blood. 

They re,memberf::d the time when the United States, were 
provinces of Great Britain, the history of our revolution, and 
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Were not ignorant of the blessing'we enjoyed as an independent 
nation. I could not but indulge the expectation, that frum their 
situation and feelingt., they would not have been disposed to 
have joined in the war agaim:t us. For some time every ap­
pearance justified this expectation. Large numbers, who had 
been called into Maltlen for its defence, came to our camp, and 
l'eceiveu the protection of our government. Numbers came from 
every part of the province, and gave assurances of their friend­
ship, and their determination, not to take arms against us. Un· 
der these circumstances, I considered delay favourable to my 
operations, as the force of the enemy was every day diminish­
ed. Strong detachments were made to the river Trench, to 
eollec.t provisions, and to Malden, to reconnoitre the situation 
of the enemy. All the artificers of the army were employed in 
making carriages for twenty-four pounders, for the attack on the 
fort at Malden. and floating batteries were commenced to tran­
sport them down the river, if possible, to operate against the 
tmemy's naval force. 

The,;e preparations for an attack on the fort at Malden, were 
made under the expectation, or at least the hope, that the de­
sertion of the militia would continue, and other events would 
1!ake place, which would render that measure expedient. 

During this delay, a clamour was excited in the camp, by the 
efficers of the militia. because the army was not immediately 
marched to the attack of Malden. In consequence of this im­
patience, two days after the invasion of the enemy's territory, 
1 called a council of war, and proposed the question, whether 
it were expedient to attempt, with the bayonet, to storm the fort 
at Malden. The council de1ermin~d that no attempt ought to 
be made on Malden, until the heavy artillery was prepared. 

Although, from the time of the first. council, to the 5th of Au­
gust, many circumstances had taken ,place, which will hereafter 
be related, to render an attack on Malden still more inexped­
ient, and the heavy artillery had not been completed, yet on ac­
count of the great impatience of the officers, I called another 
council of war, on the 5th of August. 

In this council, I stlllted that the heavy artillery was not in 
readihess, but would be in two or three days. The question 
was then submitted to the council, whether it were expedient to 
wlloit for the heavy artillery, in onler to make a breach in the 
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<.\(irks, or immediately to make the attempt with the bayonet 
alone? 

Before the question was taken, I observed to them, that if it 
should be their opinion that it was expedient to make the at­
tack immediately, and they w()uld answer for their men, I would 
lead them to the enterprise. Colonel Miller, (who commanded 
the regulars,) answered, he would be answerable for the llJen 
he commanded. Colonels McArthur, Cass, and Finley, (who 
commanded the militia,) said they would not be answerable, but 
hoped they would behave well. The council then determined 
that it was expedient to wait two days longer for the heavy ar~ 
tillery. 

Thus it appears, that notwithstanding the impatience and de~ 
sire which was manifested to attack the fort with the bayonet, 
yet when it came to the test, and I declared to them that I 
would lead them, if in their opinion in council, they thought it 
expedient, their impatience and desire subsided, and they 
thought it best to be aided in the enterprise by the heavy artil­
lery. These facts are proved by the testimony of l olonel Mil­
ler, and others, and a more particular detail, will be found ill 
my defence before the cOllrt martial. 

----------

No. XVI. 
As the measmes alluded to in my last number of not attack­

ing Malden, and of recrossing the De~roit river. were made ar­
ticles of capital charge against me, by the administration, I 
must ask your p~rticular aftention to these subjects. However 
contrary they were to my feelings and wishes, yet under the 
ltll£xpected circumstances, which had taken place, they were in 
my opinion dictated by a sense of imperious duty-had I been 
influenced only by a desire of popular fame, and not been gov­
erned by the dictates of duty, I should have been unworthy of 
the confidence which had been placed in me.--There existed, 
however, powerful inducements to a departure from the line of 
conduct which I pursued. I well knew the interest which the 
progress of the army I commanded had excited, and the expec~ 
tations which were cherished, I well knew the feelings of the 
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officers and soldiers of the Ohio militia, who in a patriotic man­
ner had volunteered their services; and the effect that a retro­
grade movement would have on them. I well knew their 
anxiolls desire, when' they returned to their homes, after the 
fatigues and uangers of the campaign had passed, to be adorn­
ed with laurels, and to be hailed by their friends and neighbours 
as the conquerors of Malden. As to myself had I been influ­
enced by motives of ambition alone, I was no stranger to the 
roa~1 which would have condueted me to popular favour, or of 
the rewards and honours, which an achievement so anxiously ex­
pected, would have bestowed. 

In adopting the measures, which I did on this occasion, I 
hope to convince yo!.!, that I was influenced by the purest mo­
tives, that the measures were strictly conformable to establish­
ed military principles, and that not even errours of judgment, 
much less crimes, ought to have been imputed to me. 

The number of effective men, of which my army consisted, 
has been greatly exaggerated, both at this time, and at the time 
of the capitulation.-In the course of these memoirs, I shall 
present a more particular !letai!. At present, I shall make 
such statements and present such document~, as will enable 
you to form 3, satisfactory estimate of my forces in the enemy's 
country, at the time I recrossed Detroit river. 

By the letter of the Secretary of war, of the 9th of April, 
181~, which gave me the command of these forces, their num­
bers were stated, and-the objects for which they were called 
into service. The numbers were l~OO militia from the state of 
Ohio, and the 4th ~United States' Regiment, which consisted of 
about 300. I never received any instructions from the Govern­
ment to march with a larger force. A few straggling volun­
teers, from the novelty of the scene, curiosity, or a desire to 
see the country, followed the army, and were included in the 
return. 

On the road which was opened through the wilderness three 
block houses were built, and garrisoned for the purpose of aid­
ing in the security of the communication, and the protection of 
convoys of provisions, against the savages. It appears from 
Lieut. Furbush's testimony, and other evidence on my trial 
(Page 146 of Lieut. Col. Forbes' report of the trial,) all the 
sick of the army, with a suitable number to take care of them, 
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were made pri!!oners in the vessel, which sailed from the Mi· 
ami, on the 1 st of July. for Detroit, in passing the Fort at Mal­
den before I had received information of the declaration of 
vvar'.-This number must have been as many as sixty, as the 
Lieut. who was himself on board the vessel, says, it was as 
ma!lY as she could carry. A number (If the sick of the army, 
on its march, were left at the river Raisin, and never again 
joined it. One hundred and eighty of the Ohio militia refused 
to pass the river when I commenced offensive operations, al­
ledging as a reason, that they were not obliged to serve out of 
the United States. The aggregate of these numbers, will 
amount to more than three hundred. In addition to this num­
ber, a subaltern officer and thirty men, were left at the Miami, 
to build a stockade fort, by orders from the Secretary of war. 
Besides this, it was necessary to leave a portion of the troops, 
for the security of the fort of Detroit. and the other posts in its 
vicinity. 

In addition to the Ohio militia, and the 4th regiment, there 
was a company in the fort of Detroit. Being governour of the 
territory, its militia were under my command. The 'popUlation 
of that territory did not much exceed four thousand, and scat­
tered from lake Superior to the Miami of lake Erie, a distance 
of about five hundred miles. Little or no advantage could be 
derived from this militia. The unfortunate loss of my papers 
during thp. campaign, the circumstances of which will be parti­
cularly related in a future number, prevents me from giving, 
at present, a more particular detail. Rut here we have the 
highest authority for the numbers ordered by the government, 
and in my trial, will be found conclusive evidence, with respect 
to those taken in the vessel, those left in the block houses, and 
those who refused to pass the river.-It was now the 6th or 7th 
of August; the troops had endured great fatigue in opening the 
road on their march, and the principal part of them had not 
been inured to a camp life. They were in a coul1try liable to 
the ague and fever, and a large number were sick and de­
bilitated. 

At my trial mv prosecutors endeavoured to make the numbers 
as large as possible-A return was presented to the Court 
Martial made at fort Finlay at the commencement of the 
march, and before any detachments were made, and the total 
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uumber amounted to a few more, than were ordered by the 
government This return included all thl" volunteer~, and fol­
lowers of the army. not legally subject to my command, wag;­
onners, packhorse-men, &c. &c. &c. On fhe data here gi. en 
the effective force at Sandwich, could not have been one thou­
sand, which will appear evident by mathematical calculation. 

In a future number, in which I shall state the reasons why 
the capitulation was necessary. I shall explain the manner in 
which Gen. Brock made the numbers so much larger. I will 
now only state a few facts on that subject. In the first place, 
the troops made prisoneriii at Michillimarkanack. were at De­
troit on theil' parole, and were included in the number. Like­
wise the Michigan militia w~re included, which joined the ene­
my on their first landing at the Spring Wells. Major Jessop, 
who was one of my most violent prosecutors, and who mani­
fested 11 desire to augment my force as much as possible, in his 
testimony before the Court Martial, says we crossed the river 
with sixteen or Qightef'n hundred men. This however was a 
mere matter of opinion, because he did not state, or produ(;e 
any document or evidence on which it was grounded. By his 
own expressions he wa3 uncertain, and had no correct data, on 
which even to found an opinion. His testimony therefore, 
leaves it as uncertain, as ifhe had said, between a thousand 
and eighteen hundred. By the official documents and evidence, 
which I have hert' given, it is impossible in the nature of things, 
that his opinion could have been correct. Notwithstanding this 
testimony, I think you must be satisfied that at this time, I had 
not on the Canada shore, a thousand effective men. 

Without giving any weight to my opinion, from the evidence 
here exhibited, and an accurate calculation, you will be able to 
form an estimate for yourselves. I shall now proceed to state 
the situation in which I was placed, and offer my reasons, for 
not making lin a,ttack on the fortress at Malden Obedience to 
orders, is the first duty of a militllry officer. I will therefore 
again state, the only order I had received on the subject. In 
the letter of the Secretary of war, of the 24th of June, I was 
only authorized to make the attempt, provided I thought Illy 
force was adequate to the enterprize, and it could be done con­
sistent with the safety of my other posts. Here it was left to 
my discretion, and if I did not believe it cduld be done wit.!l 

8 



58 

safety, in the manner stated in the order, neither its letter nor 

"pirit authorized the enterprise. 
The following reasons induced me to believe that it was not 

expedient. 
The few undisciplined forces I commanded, were. in an ene­

my's country. and surrounded by foes of every description. 
The waters and the wilderness were enemies, which in the na­
ture of things, could not be controuled by any means in my 
power. I had no communication with my country, excepting 
through one or the other of them. The first was ob,;tructed by 
the enemy's na:vy, the other by his savage allies. Thus it ap­
pears, my communication was entirely cut off, and distant 
about three hundred miles from any part of the country on 
which I could depend for re-enforcements, or necessary sup­
plies. 

Information had now b~en received, that the fortress at Mich­
iIIimackanack, situated on the navigable waters above me, and 
which the enemy commanded, had fallen into the possession of 
the British and savage forces, which surrounded it. ' 

The news of this event was accompanied with information 
which cast a shade over my prospects, and greatly encouraged 
and strengthened the force of the enemy opposed to me. 

Immediat@ly after the fall of Michillimackanack, messages 
were sent by the Indian Chiefs, who attended the British troops 
in the reduction of that place, and who inhabited the adjacent 
country, to all the villages south, as far as Miami, informing 
them that they had joined the British standard, that Michilli­
lllackanack had fallen into their hands, that Chichago was in­
vested, and that they were all preparing to proceed to Malden; 
that they expected there tomeet all their warriours, and assist in 
the reduction of Detroit. That an express had likewise been 
sent to General Brock1 informing him of the event, and that the 
Canadians and savages were coming to join the army at Mal­
den. About the same time, viz."the 4th of August, I received 
information, that Major Chambers, of the British army, with a 
detachment of regular soldiers and brass field pieces, had land­
ed on the west part of Lake Ontario, had penetrated as far as 
the river Le Trench, and was collecting all the Canadian mili­
tia and savages of that part of Canada, to lead thelll against my 
army. At this time I likewise received information, that Colo-
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nel Proctor, of the British army, had arrived from fort Erie, by 
water, with re-enforcements at Malrlen. As their re-enforce­
D?-ents were guarded by an armed vessel, I had nothiug to op­
pose to them, to prevent their junction at Malden. Indeed the 
advantage to the enemy of commanding the lake became every 
day more apparent. Both re-enforcements, and supplies, could 
be tl'ansportea with facility from one post to another, whenever 
it became necessary. 

At this time, I had intercepted a letter from a Mr. McKenzie, 
a, member of the North-west Company, at fort 'Villiam, to a 
Mr. McIntosh of Sandwich, the principal agent of that com­
pany, in Upper Canada, dated the 19th of July, 1812. The 
genuineness of this letter was proved on my trial, and admitted 
in evidence. It affords such clear evidence of the force on the 
borders of the lakes above me, and that it "was to be directed 
against me, that I shall here recite the following extracts 
from it. 

" The declaration of war reached us on the 16th inat. [viz. 
" 16th July] but we are neither astonished nor alarmed. OUl' 
"agents ordered a general muster, which amounted to t1velve 
"hundred, exclusive of several hundreds of the natives. We 
" are equal in all to sixteen or seventeen hundred strong. One 
"of our gentlemen started on the 17th with several light canoes 
"for the interioUl' country, to rouse the natives to activity, which 
"is not hard to do ,on the present occasion. We likewise dis­
" patched messengers in all directions with the news. I have not 
"the least doubt but our force in ten days hence, will amount to 
"five thousand effective men. Our young gentlemen and en­
"gagees, offered most handsomely, to march immediately for 
"Michillimackanack. Our Chief. Mr. Shaw, expressed his 
"gratitude, and drafted one hundred. They are to proceed 
" this evening for St. Joseph's. He takes about as many In­
"dians. Could the vessel contain them, he might have had 
"four thousand more. It now depends on what accounts we 
"receive from St. Joseph's whether these numerous tribes, from 
"the interiour will proceed to Sf. Joseph's or not." 

At the time I intercepted this letter, its contents were con­
firmed by the information I received from Lieutenant J{anks, 
Doctor Day, and Mr. Stone, who had arrived at Detroit f,'om 
Michillimacka~ack, prisoners on parole. They stated, that be-
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fore they left ~1 ichillimackanack, a number of boats and ca­
noes had arrived, in which several gentlemen came passengers, 
who they were informed. were agents of the Norlh-wFst Com­
pan;, and had come from fort William, on lake S~periour af­
ter the news of the declaration of war had been receIved there; 
and that they gave the same account of the Canadian and sa~­
age force, and its destination, as is contained in Mr. McKen­
zie's letter. They further stated to me, that a large body of 
savages were collected at the outlet of lake Superiuur and that 
two thousand sava~es, according til the best estimate they could 
make. were at M ichillimackanack, prepared to proceed and 
join the British force at Malden. Lieutenant HalJks was killed 
in the fort at Detroit, which deprived me of his testimony. 
Doctor Day and ;\1 r. Stone, who were both at 1\\ ichillimacka­
nack, and present, when Lieutenant Hank made the communi­
cation to me, in tlwil' testimony on my trial, fully confirmed the 

statement here made. 
In addition tu all this combination of force, which was pro­

ceeding against me, symptoms appeared in the interiour of my 
camp, not less alarming. The spirit of mutiny, which before 
had manifested itself in whispers, increased, and became more 
open. It was evident it was now fostered and encouraged by the 
principal officers of the militia, and was fast rising into an 
avowed conspiracy- I, however, never believed the extent, en­
ormity and malignity of it, until it was confessed in Colonel 
Cass' letter to the Secretary of War, (which is published in my 
trial, page 25 of the appendix) which, in the course of these 
memoirs, will be more p:otrticularly noticed. 

Nutwithstanding the fortress of Malden had been strengthen­
ed by British re-enforcements, notwithstanding many of the -
militia of U ppl'r Canada had returned to their d.uty, under a 
proclamation of pardon from the cummanding officer, notwith­
standing, after the fall of Michillimackanack, the Wyondots, and 
other tribes of Indians connected with them, had joined the 
standard of the enemy, yet. under all the circumstances, I was 
detenninedto make the attempt on the fort on the ~th of Au­
gust, and made my arrangemeJlts accordingly. 

And I now repeat what I stated in my defence, that there is 
no part of my conduct, l>ince I have been a soldier, that I reflect 
upon with so much self conviction of errour, as 1 do upon this. 
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I look back with regret upon the moment when I yielded to the 
councils (If the inexperienced officers I commanded, and deter­
minl'd to make an attempt, which my own judgment did not ap~ 
prove. which was contrary to all military knowledge, and which 
even success might not justify. I thought, however, it was POSd 

sible. that if I were successful, and should p08sess myself of the 
enemy's fortress, I might possibly maintain myself there, for 
some short time; aI,d in that time, I hoped I might have some 
succour and security, from my own country, and her armies, 
that I had been led to expect would be operating below me. 

No. XVII. 
I SHALL now ask your attention to the reasons whjch finally in­

duced me not to make the movement and attaek: -on the fortress 
at Malden, according to the arrangement I had made, but to re­
cross the river with the principal part of the army, on the even·· 
jng of the 7th of August. That afternoon I received two letters 
fro,m General Hall, who commanded the American troops on 
the Niagara Straits, and one from General Porter, from Black 
Rock. By these letters I was informed. that a large number of 
boats, filled with British troops, had Pilssed over Lake Ontario, 
to the west part of it, and were directing their course to Mal­
den, and likewise, that the British forces, with the Canadian 
militia, and savages, ~n the opposite side of the Niagara river, 
were moving by water, to the same point; and what was 
more decisive still on my operations, by the same letters I wail 
informed that nothing would be done there to check these move­
ments, and that no assistance or co-operation wou.ld be afforded 
from that quarter, to tile army I commanded. It is impossible 
for me to express the disappointment which this information oc­
casioned-what possible events could have taken place, which 
would have authorized General Brock to have withdrawn the 
troops from fort George, fort Erie) and the other posts on the 
Niagara river, I could not co\lceive ;-,-especiall y, as I had 
grounds to believe that the whole strength of the American 
forces were posted on the opposite bank-·and as the Secretary 
0f War had informed General Dearborn of my situation, and 
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had ordered him to make diversions in the enemy's country, at 
those very ,stations, from which I was informed they were with­
drawn, and were bearing on me. The real and true causes 
which enabled the enemy to withdraw his forces from those sta-­
tions on the Niagara river, and concentrate them, and his other 
troops, against the army I commanded, were then unknown to 
me. The mystery has since been unfolded, and the causes are 
as apparent as the sun at noon-day without a cloud. It was the 
armistice, or cessation of hostilities, which General Dearborn, 
the senior officer of the army, agreed to the beginning of Au­
gust, and which he communicated to the Secretary of 1\' ar, on 
the 8th of the same month, as appears by his letter of that 
date, in which the army I commanded was not iaduded, but; 
which extended to all th€' other forces on the northern borders. 
This convention, or agreement entered into by General Dear­
born, and its consequences on my situation, will be fully con­
sidered in my future numbers. 

It now appeared that the whole wa," against Canada, was ter 
be carried on with the 1£00 Ohio militia, and three hundred 
regulars, which were placed under my command. It will be re­
membered before I crossed the river, and took a position in 
the enemy's country, I statccd to the Secretary of '\Yar, in mr 
letter of the 9th of .J u I y, which has been before referred to, that 
1 did not consider my force adequate to the enterprize, and in 
a former number, have stated. the reasons, which iFJduced me 
to cross the river and take possession of Sandwich. 

When I received these letters from General Hall and Gener­
al Porter, the expectations which I had before entertained of 
my communication by the lake being opened by a naval force, 
and of assistance and co-operation, from our armies on the Nia­
gara river, were at an end. These letters from Generals Hall 
and Porter, were admitted in evidence on my trial, and the time 
and circumstances of receiving them proved, by the testimony 
of Colonel Miller, to whom I communicated the contents. (See 
Col. Miller's testimony, page 117, I~ieut. Col. Forbes' report of 
my trial.) 

After this information, and thus situated, I determined to re­
cross the river with the principal part of the army, not with an 
intention of relinquishing the object of the reduction of Malden, 
and offensive opemtions, against Canada, but of waiting until 
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-more favoUl'able circumstances should present themselves, and 
in the meantime of attempting to open my communication 
through the wilderness, 

I had now, no communication with my country, and it was 
not possible to obtain any through any other channel. On the 
security of this communication for the purpose of obtaining sup­
plies, I considered the very existence of my army depended, 

If I had believed that an attack on Malden, with a probability 
of success, would have elfected the object of opening this com­
munication, or of even giving facility to it, I should cheerfully 
have undertaken it. 

As I have before observed, my own f~me, and the gratification 
of my officers, were powerful inducements to the measure. 
Situated, however, as I was, it was my opinion that it would 
have been a useless waste of blood, and success would have been 
,attended with no advantage. 

The reduction of Malden could have had no effect on the na­
val force ofthe enemy, unless all the harbours on the Canada 
shore, and among the islands, had been in our possession. It 
would have been utterly impossible to have maintained the ffilr­
tress. It must have fallen for the want of supplies. The wa­
ters of the lakes would have remained shut against us. If, 
therefore, the road through th~ wilderness to the settlements of 
Ohio could have been opened, still no su pplies could have pas­
sed into the fort without crossing the water, and that would 
have been prevented by the enemy's naval force. 

As Michillimackanack had fallen, if we had possessed Mal­
den, in a very short time it would have been assailed by all the 
Canadians attached to the North-western Company, with the 
numerous and powerful hosts of savages of that region, and by 
the British force, which had landed on the western part of Lake 
Ontario, with the militia and savages of that part of the coun-

, try. The naval armament would have co-operated with these 
forces, the supplies would have been intercepted, and no relief 
or assistance could possibly have been afforded. 

If, with the knowledge I had of the forces which were march­
ing against me, I had made an attack on Malden, it would 
have been as great a crime as any of which I was accu&ed by 
the administration, 'and I certainly should have wanted the con­
sciousness of having acted from the purest motive!1, and accord-
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ing to my best judgment, which has been my consolation in all 
I have suffereu. 

Thus it appears, that the little army r.commandeu was en­
tirelv cut off from the country, and could receive no more sus­
tena~ce from it than the arm can receive sustenance when cut 
off and separated from the human body j and rt'maining in this 
situation, it must as inevitably have perished as the arm would 
perish without receiving sustenance from the source on which it 
depended for life. As I considered the existence of my army 
depended on opening the cgmmunication through the road to 

l" • • 
Ohio, and as no other possible mode presented of effectmg It but 
by recrossing the river with the principal part of the army, it 
was adopted OIi the evening of the 7th of August. 

These, fellow citizens, as I observed in my defence, were 
the grounds on which I made a l'etrogade movement with a part 
of the army to Detroit. It was from thence [could open the 
only channel, through which it could derive the means of its 
existence. If my judgment then misled me, it continues yet to 
mislead me j for every day that I have lived I have become more 
confident that I did right to leave the enemy's country. Had I 
followed the dIctates of my own judgment I should have made 
my retreat to the Miami, and there waited fo\' co-operation and 
assistance. The distance from thence to the settlements in 
Ohio would have been comparatively short j I should have had 
no enemy in my rear but savages, and it might have been p08si­
ble to have preserved my COli munication, and obtained supplies. 
The day after I recrossed the river, (the 9th of August,) I pro­
posed this measure to some of the principal officers. I will here 
give the answer of Colonel Casso It was, that if I did, under 
the existing circumstances, every man of the Ohio volunteers 
and militia would leave me. His language was, as he states 
it himself, that the militia would retreat with me if they thought 
a retreat necessary. But as they undertook to judge that it was 
not then necessary, they would leave me, and not a man would 
retreat under my command. Colonel Cass's testimony on 1hii 
subject is in the following words. "I recollect a conversation, 
after the retreat from Canada, and before we went to the river 
Raisin, in which General Hull suggested, that as he heard of no 
co-operation from below, it might be necessary to take post at 
the Miami. I think I told General Hull that, if under existing 
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circumstances, he took such a step. the Ohio militia would de­
sert him to a man. Whether I told General Hull so or not, I 
am confident it would have been the case." This, among many 
other things which might be mentioned, is evidence of the insub­
~rdination which was among the troops. That this Iilpirit was 
encouraged by the principal officers is evident, from the confes­
sions of some of them un my trial. The officers were indebted 
to the soldiers for their stations; they were their neighbours, 
and were elected by them. They lived together, in camp on 
habits of perfect equality, and before 'this campaign, neither 
officers nor soldiers had ever seen any actual service, and had 
never been accustomed to any military discipline excepting 
company trainings about their doors. It is unnecessary for me 
to describe the difficulty of commanding troops of such a char­
acter; or of performing any military operations where obedience 
to ~rders is essential to success. No better exemplification can 
possibly be given than the conduct which both officers and men 
exhibited on this occasion. 

It may probably be asked, why did you not arrest the princi­
pal officers who had been guilty of this conspiracy. and who had 

, excited this insubordination? I answer, by asking another ques­
tion. 'Whether you believe these volunteers from the militia, 
who composed more than two thirds of the army, would have 
suffered the leaders they had chosen, to be deprived of their 
command? Whether an attempt of the kind would not have 
produced a civil war in the camp? This same spirit had been 
manifested from the commencement to the end of the campaIgn. 
It was manif~sted at Urbanna, by a part of the militia refusing 
to march -when ordered. It was manifested at Detroit, by one 
hunQred and eighty refusing to cross the river when order­
ed; it was m~nifested on the march, by conduct towards some 
of their own officers, too ridiculous and too disgraceful to be re­
peated. And it finally appeared that a Cataline was in our 
camp, who had formed a conspiracy to deprive me of the eorn­
mand, with which I had been entrusted by the government. 
This fact appears by the letter of Colonel Oass to the S 'cretary 
of ",'ar, which is published in my trial. 

Under the events which had taken place, and which had 
come to my knowledge, I should have been wanting in the du­
llies which I _ owed to my station, had I not re~reated from 

9 
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.Canada. I rett'eated for the purpose of taking the most effective 
measures in my power for opening my communication. Its im­
portance I have endeavoured to explain. Indeed it was so ob­
vious that the administration was sensible of it, and one of the 
articles of charges against me was, for not keeping it open, and 
another for withdrawing the army from Canada, the only meas­
ure by which it possibly could have been effected. In my let­
ters to the Secretary of War, immediately after the retreat, I 
stated the same reasons which I have here given. Likewise in 
my letters to Governour Meigs, of Ohio, Governour Scott, of 
Kentucky, &c. These letters bear date the 8th, 9th, and 11th 
of August, and were in evidence on my trial. All these letters; 
written at the time, shew that I retreated fwm Canada because 
I had ascertained that I should soon be surrounded by an over­
whelming force; because there was no possibility of opening my 
communication from that station, and because I found the few 
regulars aDd militia undel' my command, were to be left to car­
ry on, without any assistance or co-operation, the offensive war, 
which the United States had declared against one of the most 
powerful nations on earth. By a referrence to my trial, it will 
appear, that Colonel Cass and others of my officers, were sensi­
ble at this time of the difficulties of my situatioll. In a letter 
to Mr. Silliman, of Ohio, the brother-in-law of the Colonel, he 
says, "that provisions would become necessary for the exist­
ence of the troops." In a letter to the same, after the fall of 
Michi.llimackanack, he says, .. that the impression made by that 
event could scarcely be concei.ved." According to Mr. Silli­
man's testimony in his letters to him, Colonel Cass pressed him 
to use his iniluence tll procure re·enforcements for the army, 
and expres~ed his surprize that we were lp,ft without co-opera­
tion, by putting to his correspondent the following interrogation, 
" Is their nothing to be done in the lower end of the lakes to 
make a diversion in our favour?" In a letter to the same gentle­
man on the 1 '2th of Aligust, Colonel Cass says, "think our sit­
Qation as bad as you may, it is still worse." 
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No. XVIII. 
BEFORE I proceed to give ar: account of the measures I adopt., 

ed, to open the communication, to Ohio, I will state some gen­
eral principles, and will endeavour to show the propriety of ob­
serving them in all military movements, and will appl \ them 
to the situation in which I was placed by the orders of the gov­
ernment. And'hire in the first place, I will ask your atten­
tion, to the same principles, which I stated. in my defence-that 
in modern warfare, the first great object of each contending 
party, is the resources of his enemy.-The fate of armies is 
found to depend upon the abundance of their resources, on their 
security, and the facility of keeping up a communication with 
them. It has become a principle to manreuvre in such a man­
ner, as to cover the places from whence supplies may be drawn, 
not to go far from them, but with great caution, and never to 
cease preserving with them those connections,- in which the 
strength of an army consists, and on which its success depends. 
These principles are to be found in the best military au­
thors of modern times, and the soundness of them have been 
confirmed by numerous examples. The enemy with which I 
had to contend, had strictly observed them. His principal post 
was at Malden, on the east bank of the Detroit river, where it 
empties into lake Erie. His magazines, which contained all 
necessary supplies, were !It fort Erie, and nt other places, be­
tween Malden and fort Erie, on the borders of the lake, which 
his navy command~d. Having no armed vessels, or boats, it 
was impossible for me, in the least degree to interrupt this line 
of communication. The enemy's station, therefore, could be 
furnished with all necessary supplies, with the greatest facility, 
and with the most perfect safety. I now ask you, my fellow 
citizens, to cast your eyes on the map of the country, where I 
was placed, not by my own judgment and discretion, after the 
declaration of war, hut by the positive orders of the government, 
and consider on what grounds, such orders could have been 
justified. As these fatal orders were, in my opinion, one great 
cause of the misfortune, which attended the army I commanded, 
1 shall ask -your particular attention to them. On thG 18th of 
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June, after war was declared against Great Britain, the Secreta.· 
ry of '''' ar, wrote me a letter, in which, he informed me of the 
event, and ordered me to march the army I commanded, to De· 
troit, with all possible expedition. At the time, this order was 
given, the President of the United State~, by whose comma~d 
it was given, well knew, that no preparahon was mad~ to ~Ulld 
a navy on lake Erie, and that the enemy commanded It, WIth a 
number of anlled vessels and gun-boats. 

'Vhen, therefore, these fatal orders were given, those, by 
whose authority they were given, well knew that the communi· 
cation through the lake would be closed against us, and that no 
re-enforcements, or supplies of any kind, could be obtained fOl' 
the army, through that channel. Those, who gave these fatal or­
ders, well knew, that after the declaration of war, the army I 
commanded, and the posts of Detroit, Michillimackanack, and 
Chicago, which had before, in time of peace, been supplied 
through the communication of the lakes, could only receive their 
supplies by land, They well knew, that the State of Ohio, was the 
nearest part of our country, from which the necessary supplies 
could be fUinished. They well knew, that the distance from 
any magazines, where these supplies could be obtained, to the 
point where they ordered thp. army, was more than two hun­
dred miles, and to the other posts they had established, was 
more than five hundred miles. 

They well knew, that this distance, was almost entirely a 
wihlerness, filled with savages, who in the event of war, would 
probably bet:ome hostile. They well knew, that the necessary 
supplies, could only be carried through this wilderness. on pack­
horses. They well knew, that the only line of communication, 
through which these pack-horses, with supplies, could pass, was 
for about seventy miles on the margin of lake Erie, and the De­
troit river, both of which were commanded by the enemy's gun­
boats and vessels of war. They likewise well knew, that these 
supplies must pass by the enemy's principal post at Malden, 
only s~parated by the Detroit river. Under the orders the ad­
mi~istration had given, they well knew the impossibility of sup. 
plymg the army, and the posts I have mentioned, with the 
m~ans o~ subsistence. They well knew, the facility and ease, 
WIth which the enemy ~ould assail the convoys, both by his land 
and na.val forces, on thIS long and vulnerable line of communi-
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.eation, and the impossibility of stretching the army back, from 
the point they had ordered as my station, for the safety and pro­
tection of such convoys. 

The administration, likewise well knew, when these fatal or­
ders were given, that in three separate statements, which I had . 
made to the President through the medium of the Secretary of 
the department of war, I had observed that in the event of a war 
agaiDst Great Britain, a navy on lake Erie, superiour to the Bri­
tish was el'!sential to success; and, that without preserving the 
water communication, an army could not be supported at De­
troit, and that Detroit; Michillimackanack, and Chicago, would 
inevitably fall into the hands of the enemy. 

These statements had been received as official documents, 
and no objections had ever been urged against them. The ad­
ministration. therefore, knew my opinions on the subject, and 
certainly ought not to have continued me in command, when a 
course was to be pUf5lUed directly contrary to the opinion, I had 
repeatedly and officially given. 

On a map of the country, which was the scene of my opera­
tions, you will be able more distinctly to perceive the natural 
obstacles, with which I had to contend. Besides seeing the 
positions of the British and Canadian forces', and the stations of 
the different nations of savages, you can see t)le manner in 
which the waters and the wilderness, were arrayed against me. 
At present, I can only ask your attention to the general maps of 
our country, which will afford some assistance, in obtaining a 
knowledge of my situation. 

The necessity and importance of preserving my communica­
tion with magazines, for supplying the army, I had learned from 
rellding the best military authors, and from my observations and 
experience, during the war of the revolution. 

FrQm books, I had been taught, that when an army moved 
towards an enemy, its line or lines of operation must be from it5 
base, on which are its magazines of necessary supplies. That 
a connection should always be pt'eserved between the line or 
lines of operation, and the base, or magazines. That an army 
never ought to advance so far from the magazines, as to enable 
the enemy, to attack and 'destroy the convoys of supplies from 
the magazinelt to the army, When the army marched from Ur­
banna in Ohio, this rule did not apply, because we were at 
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peace with Great Britain, and in the country throu~h whicn F 
march1ld, there was no other enemy but, savages. fhe army,. 
therefore, carried on pack-horses, sufficient supplies, for its sup­
port, until it arrived at the lake. On the communication 
through the lake on our arrival there, we depended for supplies, 
as it was open to us, until aftcr the declaration of war. 

Near the Miami of the lake, I received the fatal order, which 
has so often been referred to, informing me of the declaration of 
war, and ordering me, positively, to march to. Detroit. 

Had I not received this order, and the operations had been 
left to my di8cretion, I should not have marched to Detroit, 
eighteen miles in the rear of the enemy, but made my move­
ments against the enemy, from a different quarter. 

I had served under the banners of General Washington, from 
the commencement to the end of the revolutionary war. 

I had observed, how cautious he was in all his movements, to 
preserve a communication with his magazines. He retreated 
from Long Island to New York, because he knew the enemy 
would prevent his communication with a naval force in the East 
river. He retreated from New York to the White Plains, be­
cause the British navy commanded both the East and North riv­
ers, and the army was marching to take possession of the higil' 
grounds, beyond King's Bridge, to intercept his communication 
from the country, whence he received his supplies. He retreat­
ed through New Jersey and passed the Delaware, to take a pos­
ition, where he could receive his supplies. In 1777 ~ when Gen­
eral St. Clair commanded at Ticonderoga, and found that the 
enemy commanded lake Champlain, and was making move­
ments to surround the garrison on all sides, and cut off his com-· 
munication, and supplies, he retreated, and abandoned a post, 
which was considered the key of the country. 

When General Burgoyne, became sensible that he was to re­
ceive no co-operation, from New Y tlrk, and his communication: 
was cut off from his magazines in Canada, he surrendered un­
der a capitulation. 

~~hen General Lincoln, was beseiged at Charleston, by a 
B.rlhsh fleet and army, and his communication with his maga­
zmes was cut off, he surrendered. 

When the army commanded by Lord Cornwallis at York. 
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town, was attacked by a naval and land force, and he had 1010 

eommunication with his magazines, he surrendered. 
At an earli.er period, during the war between France and 

England, in 1753, when General 'Washington, (then Major 
"'. ashington) and commandant of a colonial regiment, from Vir­
ginia, was surrounded and attacked in a Stockade fort, at a 
place called the Little Meadows, by a body, of Frenchmen and 
.savages, by which means, his communicati.on was cut off' from 
any supplies, he made a capitulation with the enemy. 

Bonaparte, in his Russian campaign, departed from the prin­
i:iples of the most celebrated military authors. Moscow, the 
.object of his attack, was so distant from his magazines, that it 
was impossible to preserve any connection with them, so as to 
receiv,e the necessary supplies. For the SUppOl·t of his army, he 
had nothing to depend on, but supplies from the enemy's coun­
try. The conflagration of Moscow, and the Russians rising in 
mass against him, rendered it impossible to obtain !tupplil's, and 
consequently to sustain his situation, at so remote a post 

In this situati6n, had he proposed a capitulation, he probably 
might have saved the lives of more than four hundred thousand' 
men, for the future services of his empire. His haughty spirit, 
and former triumphs forbid any proposition of the kind. In his 
attempt to retreat, his army was destroyed by the force of the 
elements, and ihe Russian bayonet. It may, at least be made 
a question, whether, under the circumstances he was placed, he 
would nQt have exhibited more magnanimity, by an attempt to 
save the lives of his army, by negotiation, than by the course 
he pursued. 

I have cited the examples of these celebrated commanders, 
.for no other purpose, than to illustrate the pri~ciple, that, when 
an army is deprived of its communication with its magazines, 
.on which it depends for its necessary supplies, and cannot open 
that communication, so as to obtain them, its fate is inevitable, 
and it becomes the duty of its commander, to accept the best 
terms from the enemy, which can be obtained. 
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No. XIX. 
BEFORE I left the enemy's country, having received informa· 

tion that some beef cattle had arrived at or near the river Rai~ 
sin, escorted by a company of militia from the State of Ohio, I 
made a detachment of two hundred men, under the command of 
Major Van-horn, with orders to proceed to the river Rai~in,and 
guard these cattle safely to camp. 

At Brownstown, this detachment was attacked by a body of 
savages, and entirely defeated. According to Major Van~horn's 
report, eighteen men were killed, twelve wounded, and about 
seventy missing. His opinion walD, that three hundred Indians 
crossed from Malden, and that from one hundred and fifty to 
two hundred were actually engaged. This report was received 
on the 5th of August, two days before the retreat from Sand­
wich. This unpropitious event increased the difficulty of my 
situation, and more strongly convinced me how impossible it 
was to continll.e offensive operations, and furnish at the same 
time a sufficient force to give security to so extensive a com­
munication. The war had now become both offensive and de­
fensive, and the little army I commanded was alone left to car­
ry it on in both characters. This was among the reasons which 
iuduced me to recross the river, that I might be able to detach. 
a more powerful force to open the communication. 

For this purpose, therefore, on the very day the army retreat­
ed to Detroit, I ordered a detachment of six hundred men, un­
der the command of Colonel Miller, of the 4th United States' 
regiment. This command consisted of all the effective men of 

. that regiment, and a selection of the most elfective of the mili­
tia. It was likewi"e accompanied by a field piece and howit­
zer, from the fort at Detroit. Colonel Miller met a body of the 
enemy, consisting of British troops, Canadian militia, and sav­
ages; ,,:hich, having received information of his approach, wail 
form~d In t~e woods in regular order of battle. A disposition 
was Immediately made on his part for an attack, and after a. 
severe contest, honourable to the American arms, the enemy 
w~s compelled to retreat. After pressing on his rear about two 
wles, Colonel Miller thought proper to discontinue the p~rsuit, 
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and the eHemy embarked, under cover of his armed vessels, and 
recrossed to Malden. The loss, in killed and wounded, in the 
battle, ·on our part, was about eighty. Aa soon as I received an 

'account of the action, a re-enforcement of one hundred men, 
with a supply of provisions, under the command of Colonel Mc­
Arthur, was ordererl to join Colonel Miller~s detachment at 
Maguago. As soon as the detachment had recruited from its 
fatigue, my intentions was, that it should have proceeded on the 
expedition to the river Raisin. A severe storm of rain inter­
vened. and the troops were exposed to it without any covering. 
I the1'efore thought it expedient, on account of 'their great' fa­
tigue, to order th'<!m back to Detroit, and make an arrangement 
by another rout to open the comniunication. 

The road to the river Raisin, which passed through the bt­
dian village of Br0wnstown, being piinciplI-lly on the margin of 
the Detroit river, both troops and convoys could easily be an­
noyed by the gun boats and armed vessels of the enemy. Be­
sides, in its course, there was only the river which 'leparated it 
from the enemy's principal post at Malden. Being thus situat­
ed, it was almost impossible to secure it in such a manner as 
that convoys could pass with any kind of safety. After Colon~l . 
Miller's return to Detroit, therefore, seeing the indispensable 
necessity of obtaining the supplies which had arriv~d at the 
river Raisin, and ~eing informed of a circuitous rout, distant 
from the river, I thought it expedient to make the attempt in 
that d~rection. I communicated my intentions to Colonels Mc­
Arth~r and Cass, arid they not only fully approved of the meas- , 

. ure, but offered their service9, as voluntee,rs, on the expedition. 
I likewise communicated to them a letter from Captain HI'ush, 
who commanded the escort of provisions, informing me that he 
~hould take ille back road, and sho.u.ld have occasion for sup­
port. I authorized Colonels McArthur and Cass to select the 
most healthy and. effective men of theit regiments, and directed 
the Quarter Master to furniih pack-horses to carry provisions 
for them during theu' march. On the 14th of August, they 
commenced their march, .under the command of Colonel McAr­
thur, attended by Colonel Casso The'progress they made, and 
the circumstaflces which attended the expedItion, will hereafter 
be related;. 

Thus will be seen the measures whii:h were adopted, and the 
- 10 
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elforts which were made to open the communica~ion. I have 
been the more particular on this subject, because It was made 
an article of charge against me. What more co~ld haye been 
done, in my situation, and with the force at my dIsposal, I ~no~ 
not unless I had retreated with my whole force to the Miami. 
Th~ reasons why I did not, have been stated in these memoirs. 

By the statement here made, the tru·th of which will be man~ 
ifest by the evidence and documents in my trial, it appears 
that I made three attempts to open my communication-one by 
a detachment of two hundred men, under the command of Ma­
jor Van-horn; another by a detachment of six hundred of the 
best and most elfective part of the army, under the command of 
Colonel Miller; and the third, by all the healthy and effective 
men of McArthur's and Cass' regiments, which the two Colo­
nels were authorized to select and command themselves. 

I now ask the candid reader, iIi imagination, to fix himself at 
Detroit, and view my situation: I ask him to read the orders of 
the government, which positively placed me in this situation, 
eighteen miles in the rear of the enemy's principal post in the 
province of Upper Canada; to look over the waters of the lake, 
and behold the hostile naval armament i.vhich commanded them; 
to view not only the enemy's principal post, situated on these 
waters, but all hii> magazines established on them, protected by 
this naval armament, and capable of being transported, with the 
greatest safety and facility, to any point where they might be 
necessary. After viewing the situation of the enemy, and his 
resources, I ask you more particularly to look at mine. You 
must look through a dreary wilderness of more than two hune 
dred miles, filled with hostile sav,a!!;es, before you can find a 
base on which any magazines were established, by which my 
little army could be supplied with the means of subsistence. 
Through this wilderness you will see no possible conmuniJ;a­
tion, excepting by a single road, opened by the labour and fa­
tigue ot this little a.rmy, in penetrating to the position to which 
i~ was ordered. This only and single line of operation, was 
liable to be obstructed by the savage force, to which the na­
ture of the country was peculiarly suited; by the whole force of 
the enemy's troops, both British and Canadian' and between 
the Miami and Detroit, :;eventy .miies, by the ~un boats and 
armed vessels on the lake. To give security to this communi-
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cation, you will see nothing but two or three solitary block~· 
houses, built by the troops when the road was opened, and 
guarded only by a few invalid militia, left in them on the 
march. 

By the foregoing memoirs, and by the evidence on my trial, 
you will perceive there was no adequate furce, on this long liue­
of operation, furnished by the government, to give security to 
it, for the protection of convoys. And when you consider the 
attempts I had made and their consequences, I think you will 
be satisfied, that with my whole force I could not have stretch­
ed back so great a distance as to ,have preserved the communi­
cation.' To illustrate a subject of this kind the best writers on· 
military movements compare an army;s lines of operation to the 
muscles of the human body, on which the life and motions of the 
members depend. When the whole moving spring of \l mem­
b.er i~ confined to a single muscle, the loss of which would ren­
der it useless, it is the more important to defend it from every' 
hurt. So a single offensive line is, to an army marching to· 
wards an object, a part singularly sensible, and cannot be too 
carefully gual'ded fr'om contact with the enemy. 

From the nahlre of the country from Miami to Detroit, it was 
impossible to have more than one line of operation, and it has 
been shown how singularly it was exposed to be intercepted and 
rendered useless. 

Thus I think, from the exposition given of my situation, eve­
ry unprejudi~ed reader will be convinced that, there was no 
posibility of obtaining any supplies, from any magazines from 
my country. I shall no,w offer for your consideration, the best 
evidence and the best documents the nature of the case will ad­
mit of, to satisfy you of tire state of the magazines at Detroit, 
and the supplies wh,ich could have been obtained from the coun­
try around it. 

As a true knowledge of this subject is very important in form~ 
ing an opinion of the measures I adopted, and a~ the grossest 
misrepresentations have been made by my enemies, I shall make, 
it a separate article 'in my next number. 
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No. XX. 

'That you may clearly understand the situation in which I waS 
placed, with respect to provision, for the army, it will be neces· 
s~ry, that you should be acquainted with the country, and its 
tesources. At this time the population of the Michigan terri· 
tory, of which Detroit was the capital, was between four and 
five thousand iotlls.-Theil' settlements were on the Miain~, 
of lake Erie, the river Raisill, Ecoss, Rouge, and the Detro~t ' 
river, lake St. Clair, the river Huron, which empties into lake 
St. Clair, the river St. Clair, and the island of Michi1limack~ 
anack-at that time much the great.est part, indeed almo~t 
the whole, who cultivated the lar:d, were Canadians.-They 
were miserable ti:rm£.rs, paid little attention to agriculture, and 
depended principally on hunting, fishing, and trading w~th the 
Indians for support.-The produce of the territory, iIi the ,sub­
stantial articles of living, was by no means sufficient for the 
subsistence of the inhabitants.-'l'hey were supplied, with pork; 
beef, flour, and corn from the State of Ohio, and the parts of 
New York and Pennsylvania, which border on luke Erie-not­
withstanding these facts are well known, I will r~fer to some' 
testimony, to satisfy those, who are unacquainted with the ter­
ritory. 

Captain Thomson Maxwell, in his evidence on my trial, tes­
tified, "that he had lived thirteen years in Ohio, and had been 
engaged every year, in driving cattle and hogs, from thence to 
Detroit market; from a thousand to fifteen hundred hogs an­
n,ually, from one hundred and fifty, to two hundred pounds 
each-and from an hundred and fifty, to two hundred head of 
cattle . ....:....They were generally driven through the woods, without 
any road. "-Colonel Kingsbury, of the 1st United States' regi­
ment, testified, "that he commanded at Detroit about two years, 
and left it in 1811, and that during the time he comlhanded 
there, there were large droves of hogs, and fat beef cattle, driv­
en from Ohio, to that market" . 

. A great variety of other evidence might be adduced to prove 
his fact, but I deem it:unnecessary. 

It is only necessary to know the character of the inhabitants 
and the situation of the country, to be satisfied of the fact-uni-
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versal experience proves, that nothing but necessity will induce 
men to toil and hard labour. They are much better pleased 
with the chase, fishing, Sic. Without making any further ob­
servations on this subject, I believe you will be convinced, af­
ter consid~ring how long the army had been among these peo­
ple, and how much had been taken from them that there were 
no grounds, to calculate on any further supplies from their scan-

,ty stores. 
I shall now endeavour to demonstrate, from the best evidence 

which the nature of the ease will admit, the state of provisions 
at Detroit, at the time of the capitulation. 

Augustus Porter, Esq. of the State of New York, was the con· 
tractor for furnishIng this army.-David Beard, Esq. was his 
agent, and was present at Detroit. 

Before my trial, and pending my trial, I repeatedly request­
ed that David Beard who then resided in the State of New York, 
might be summoned as a witness to 'prove the quantity of pro­
visions at Detroit before. and at the time of' the capitulation. 
The Judge advocate assured me, he should be summoned. Near 
th~ close of the trial, as he did not appear, I wrote him a letter, 
infor'ming him how important his testimony was, and requested 
his attendance. He arrived in Albany the day the evidence was 
closed, and his certificate of the quantity of provisions, was ad­
mitted in evidence. It will appear by the minutes of the trial 
that his testimony, was the last before I made my defence. 
This being the best evidence which the nature of the case will 
admit of, I presume ought to controul all other evidence. Mr.' 
Beard, was not only the agent, who d~d all the business at De-

.' troit, but I undprstood from him, had some share in the profits of 
the contract. He could have no motive, to have diminished the 
quantity, because the United States must have paid for aU 
that was on hand at the time of the capitulation. 

By the contractor's agent's certificate, it will appear that on 
the ninth of July, 181~, t\o;ere was at Detroit 1~5, 000 rations of 
Hour, and' 70,666 rations of meat; and that on the 28th of July~ 
there was 70,000 rations of Hour, and ~1,000 of meat. Mr. 
Beard has certified that this statement was handed to me, con­
taining the provisions in the c<:mtractor's store, and signed by. 
him as will appear by the proceedings of the Court Martial, on 

my trial. 
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By this return, it will appear_~ what quantity. was co~eumeo.,. 
from the ninth, to the 28th of July. what quantIty remamed on 
hand, the 28th of July, and by observing the same rule of con­
sumption, it will appear, what quantity, would have been in 
store, on the 16th of ':August, the day ofth3 capitulation. 

By the data here given it will appear that, if a ration of meat. 
had been issued, the meat wouJd have been exhausted on the 6th 
of August, ten days before the capitulation. And if during 
those ten days, after the meat was exhausted, an additional 
quantity of flour had been jssued, to make up the ration, as was 
the case, the whole of the flour would have been exhausted on 
the 16th of August, the day of the capitulation. It appears by 
the return of the contractor, that from the 9th to the 28th of July, 
that 5,334 rations of flour, more than of meat, were issued, and 
that practice was continued, in about the same prof,ortion, un­
til the 16th of August. There is another reason why 80 much 
more flour was issued than meat.-In a fOrTIler paI;t of these 
memoirs, I stated, that the old Indian ChIefS ano ::lachems con­
tinued friendly to the United States, and advised the warrlours 
not to join the British standard, or to take any part in -the con­
test. These friendly Chiefs and Sachems, with the women and 
children, daily came to Detroit from the villages, in a starving 
condition. It had long been the custom, and I was ordered by 
the Government, as superintendant of Indian affairs, on their 
visit to this post, to furnish them with provisions. At this time, 
I directed, on account of the deficiency of meat, that flour alone 
should be issued, which they preferred. Every effort was made 
to prevent these visits, and no more provisiuns were issued to 
them, than was necessary to preserve life. 

Perhaps it may be asked by those unacquainted with my situ­
ation, and the practice of armies, why so many more rations 
were daily issued, than the number of effective men, which 
compused the army? I will give the true answer to an enquiry 
of this kind. 

It will appear by the foregoing memoirs, that the officers and­
soldiers from Michillamackinack had arrived at Detroit, prison- ' 
ers on parole, and they had no other means of subsistence but . , 
to recelye rations. 

It likewise appears, that a large number of old Indian Chiefs 
~nd Sachems, daily visited our camp, and were fed from the pub­
hc stores by order of the Govern .. ment, as I before stated. ' 
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It was now the middle of August. and a large number of sick 
we're to be provided for, and there being no medical stores it was 
necessary to issue meat and flour, for their subsistence. 
, A numb~r of women, are attached to all armies, and it is a 

general custom to furnish them with provisions. All the officers 
are entitled to extra rations, from twelve to two. All the quar­
ter-masters' department, such as waggoners, pack-horsemen, 
boatmeu, &c. are entitled to rations. I think this statement will 
satisfy any enquiries on thi~ subject. 

Although every possible effort was made by the administration 
to prove, that the state of the provisions, was no reason for the 
capitulation; yet, on a careful examination of all the evidence' 
on my trial, I can find nothing which ought to have any weight 
in any degree to controul, or vary the statempnt, here made. 
It has been said by Cols. M' Arthur and Cass, and other wit­
nesses, that they never heard any complaints of the want of pro­
VlSlOn. Brevet-Major Whistler is the only witness, who has 
given any t_estimony on this subject worthy of notice. 

His testimony is in the words following: "I went, some days 
before the army re-crossed, with a Mr. Beard, the deputy con­
tractor, to a store which held the provisions of the army, and 
'Saw, and helped to count between 2 and 300 barrels of flour, 48 

barrels of pork, and 16 or 17 barrels of salt beef." From this 
testimony of the Brevet Major, it is impossible to determine, the 
quantity, if any, which was in the store on the 16th of August. 
And for this conclusive reason, that he does not ascel:tain the 
day, that he was in the store, and it is impossible to ascertain it, 
from any thin.1I; he said. He said, "some days before the army 
re-crossed the river." It might have been three or four days be­
fore, or it might have been fifteen or twenty. It is unfortunate 
for me, that he did not recollect the day, because had it been 
only three or four days before the army re-crossed the river, the 
quantity, by his testimony, would not have been so great, as it 
appears to be by the returns of the deputy contractor. This. 
can easily be ascertained and reduced to mathematical demon­
stration, from the data here given. 
, I feel confident, that I am not blinded by prejudice, in be­
lieving, that every person, who will read this statement, and the 
evi4ence, by which it is proved to be true, will be satisfied, that 
the state of the Provisions in the store, and the impossibility of 
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obta:ining a supply, from any other quarter, presented very pow­
erful reason&, for the meal:lures, which I adopted on the 10th of 

August. 
In my next number, I shall preflent to you, my fellow citizens .• 

documents, from the records of the government, to prove the 
a3sistance, and co-operation, which the administration instruct­
eu General Dearborn, the senior officer of the arlI}Y, to afford 
me, and to convince you, by the most conclusive testimony, that 
in violation of his orders, instead of affording any assistance and 
co-operation, he adopted measures which were among the fatal 
causes of the disasters, which the army under my comman~ 
suffered. 

------------

No. XXI. 

IN redeeming the pledge, which I gave in my last number, I 
shall endeavour to suppress the feelings, which a recollection of 
the injustice I have experienced, naturally excites. In vindica­
tion of my honour, I have no disposition to criminate others. 
Age is entitled to respect; the feelings of near connections have 
a claim to our regard, and should never wantonly be violated; • 
and every day, my fellow citizens, we witness your veneration 
and gratitude for revolutionary services. No considerations 
ought, however, to prevent the publication of truth, whatever its 
operations may be on any individual character. 

It is well known, that General Dearborn was the senior officer 
{)f ou r armies in the year 181~, it is well kn{)wn that he was the 
President of the Court Martial, before which I was tried; and 
it will, and it must appear, that the defence of his own charac­
ter and fame, depended on the event of that trial. The unfor­
tunate loss of all my public papers will be particularly stated., 
and it will appear that on my trial, I had no other documentary. 
evidence, excepting what the administration, who were my p'ro-

• secutors, thought proper to furnish. Whoever will examine the 
proceedings of that Court Martial will find that none of the 
letters from the administration to General Dearborn, none of the 
instructions which he received, and indeed not a singte~docu. 
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ment, to prove the manner in which he was ordered to co·ope­
rate with my army were produced; although I requester! copies 
of all the papers from the war office, which had any relation to 
the charges the administration had exhibited against me. It is 
too well known, how deeply interested the officers of that adm:n­
istration were in my condemnation, to require any evidence on 
t.lte subject. The important crisis of the Presidential election 
soon followed the disasters of the· campaign, and the fate of 
every officer who directed the councils of the cabinet, and the 
operations of the field, depend. d on that event. A general 
opinion prevailed that the war had been declared without suit­
able preparation, and that its misfortunes had been occasioned 
by the ill judged measures of the administration, and a storm 
seemed to be gathering over the heads of its officers. Its fury 
was increa~ing with so much violrnce, and its direction was be­
coming so pointed. as to create the most alarming fears. To 
d·ivert its force, and to shield themselves from its violence, a 
shelter of some kind became necessary for their safety: and as 
I had been the unsuccessful General, it was thought more easy 
to divert it .from themselves, by directing its force against me, 
than in any other manner. To effect this, every means in their 
power were brought into exercise, a:ld General Dearborn was 
selected as the principal instrumen·t to execute their plans. 

I have made these observations to show the efforts of the ad­
ministration, in the measures which were adopted, for my de­
struction. In proof of the statement" which I shall make, the 
highest evidence of which the nature of the case will admit, cer­
tified documents from the records of the government, will be 
produced. The facts which 1 shall exhibit to your view, are so 
necessary to be known, to enable you to form a just estimate of 
both his public conduct and mine, and are so connected with the 
history of our country and its military operations, that no con­
siderations ought to prevent the publication of th~m. 

Satisfactory reasons, I presume, have been given for the long 
d,elayo Weare both tast descending the downhill of life, and 
loapidly approaching the end of our journey. The truth can bet­
ter be made known while we are living, than after our death. 

I have deeply regrett,ed his absence from the country at this 
time, lest it should be. thought that I have taken advantage of 
that absence to make communications which would not bear the 
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test of his examination. I reJoIce, howl' vel', to lp.arn by the 
public prints that he will soon return, and .have an opportunity 
of reprlling any char:J;es. which he may beheve unwalTlHlted by 
the evidence in my possession. No one of .You can be 100re 
ready than myself tl) receive, and give due weight to any expla­
na.tions which he may wi"h to make. But., fellow citizens. should 
he woid such explanations O!l the ground that the deci"ion of the 
Court Martial uf which he was President, is conclusive, I shall, 
with the utmost confidence appeal to my countrymen for a re­
vi~i()n of the sentence of that tribunal; knowing that in you I 
shall have candid. ju~t, intylligent, and disinterested judges. in 
\rhose hands the honour of the innocent and the injured must 
always be safe. 

I ~hall now proceed to produce documents to show, the man­
ner in which he discharger! the duties uf his high office in rela­
tion to the detachment of the army entrusted to my c(lmmand. 
In the first place, I, will ubserve, that during the whole cam­
paign, I never received a single letter from him. 

In the next place I shall prov(', that early in the campaign, he 
was ordered by the government, to place the troops under his 
immediate command, in stations suitable for the invasion of Up­
per Canada; and that when I commenced offensive operations 
against that province, he was likewise commanded to co-operate 
with me in those operations. 

In the next place I shall prove, that in violation of the orders 
of the government, he never made any co-operations, at the time 
here referred to, although he had at his disposal, a sufficient 
force for the purpose. 

I shall then ~how, that without any instructions frolh the' gov­
ernment, and without any justifiable cause for the measure, he 
agreed with Sir George Prevost, the commander-in-chief of the 
armies in Canada. to an armistice, or suspension of hostilities, 
in whi-::h the a. my I commandrd wa:" not included; and by that 
means, left it in the power of the enemy to march his whole 
force with the most perfect safety to his other posts, to the point, 
where I had commenced uffensive operations. I shall furthl!r 
show, that he was constautly informed of my situation, and must 
have known. if he had any knuwledge of hi;" duty. that the meas­
ures he adol.icd, in the n,:ure of things, must have occasioned 
the destruction of my army. And I shall further show that in. , , 
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consequence of this armistice, or cesslltion of hostilities, that 
General Brock, the acting Governour and comrnander-in-c,hief of 
Upper Canada, marched with all the forces of his province, and 
re-enfOI"Cements from Montreal to the station at Maltlen. 

As early as the 26th of June, 1812, ten days before the army 
I commanded arrived at Detroit, the Secretary of 'Var, in a l 

letter .to General Dt'arborn says, ".It is altogether uncertai. 
what time General Hull may deem It expedient to commenc~ 
offen$ive operations. The preparations, (meaning General 
Dearborn's preparations) it is presumed, will be made, to move 
in a direction for Niagara, Kingston and Montreal." [Record­
ed Vol. 5th, p. 458. J This shows, that a few days after the 
declaration of war, and while I was on my march, throu~h the 
wilderness, that it was not only the intention of the government, 
that I should commence offensive operations from Detroit against 
Upper Canada, but likewise, that General Dearborn should make 
preparations to co-operate with me, as the troops were to move 
in a direction rolr Niagara, &c. In the Secretary's letter to the 
same, dated the 9th of July, he says, "You will order all the 
recruits not otherwise disposed of, to Albany, or some other sta­
tions on Lake Champlain, to be organized for the invasion of 
Canada." [Vol. 6th, p 15, 16. Records of the War Office.] 
This shows as early as the 9th of July, the object of the admin­
istration, was the invasion of Canada. 

On the 20th of July, the Secretary wrote to General Dear­
born as follows: "I have been in daily expectation of hearing 
from General Hull, who probably arrived at Detroit on the 8th 
inst. The first intelligence received from him will be commu­
nicated to y-ou; enclosed is a copy of his last orden;; you will 
make such artangments with G"vernour Thompkins, a~ will 
place the militia detached by him for NIagara, and the other 
posts on the Lakes under your controul : and there should be a 
communication, and, if practicable, a co operation, throughout 
the whole frontier." [Vol. 6, p. 35·1 By this letter, the mili­
tia of New York were placed under Genei'al Dearborn's COIl­
troul. and he was directed to communicate, and co-operate with 
the other forces on the frontier. General Dearborn could not 
have misunden;tood this order, because there were at that time 
no other forces on the frontier but those under my command, 
and the orders which are alluded to, in the letter enclosed to 
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hirn, were the orders to me to commence offensive operations 

against Canada. 
On the 1st of Augu~t, the Secretary wrote to General Dear­

born the following letter. " Enclosed herewith, you will receive 
a copy of a letter, from Brigadier General HuU, of July ~9, by 
express. You will make a liiversion in his favour atNlagara, 
and at Kingston, as soon as may be practicable, and by such op­
perations as may be within your controuL" [Vol. 6, p. 199.J 
Here he was positively ordered to make a diversion at Niagara, 
and Kingston, as soon as was practicable; ami by such opera­
tions, as were within his controu!. It may here be observed, 
that he was the senior officer of the army, and all the troops 
raised for the invasion of Canada were subject to his immediate 
controu!, excepting the few Ohio militia. and the 4th United 
States regiment under my command. and by his rank, he would 
have commaRded them, if he had oheyed his orders, in making 
diversions in the enemy's country, and co-operating with them. 

In a number of other letters to General Dearborn from the 
Secretary. he was instructed to make diversions, and co-operate 
with my army: to prevent being tedious, I will extract the sub­
stance of them, with a reference to the record of them in the 
War Office. In one, the Secretary informs General Dearborn 
that the last letter from General Hull was dated the 29th of 
July, and that reports had bet'n received that the militia order­
ed by Governour Meigs of Ohio, to secure the road for conveying 
provisions to Detroit, had halted at the Miami of the Lake. in 
consequence of a collection of Indians in their front. He fur­
ther informed him, that every thing indicated the neces~ity of 
early and effective co-operation at Niagara, and the posts below. 
[Vol. 6, p. 89.J 

Indeed all my letters to the Secretary of Wat', giving an ~c. 
count of my situation, and the necessity of co-operation, were 
enclosed by him to General Dearborn, for his information. [See 
Vol. 6, p. 68.J The others I will not notice; they may be found 
on record. 

In order to make it still more apparent, that General Dear­
born knew perfectly my situation. and was ordered to adopt 
measures for my support and assistance, I will give extracts of 
l~tters from the Secretary of War to me, on that subject. In 
hIS letter of the 26th of July, he says, "General Dearborn will 
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be apprized of your situation, and directed to keep up a corres" 
pondence with you, and to take measures to affurd the necessary 
support." [Vol. 6, p. 126.J ~n another letter to me of the 1st 
of August, he says, "On the :26th of July, your letters of the 
7th and 10i.h were enclosed to General Dearborn, with a copy 
of mine of the 26th, accompanied with a request, that he would 
make a diversion in your favour. By th(~ mail of this evening, 
yours of the 29th is enclosed to him, with an instruction to make 
a diversion at Niagara and Kingston, as soon as practicable." 
[Vol. 6, p. 127, 8.J 

Thus it appears, by a number of official letters from the Sec­
retary of the department of wa~, to General .Dearborn, from the 
26th of June, 1812, to the 1 st of August, and from official let­
ters from the Secretary to me, that during that time, he was 
constantly apprized of my situation, and ordered by the govern­
ment, not only to make diversions aga,inst the enemy, but to co­
operate with me in the invasion of Canada. And it will like­
wise appear by a letter to me from the Secretary of War, which 
I shall hereafter have occasion to mention more particularl. on 
another subject, that the force at Niagara was twenty-four hun­
dred. It is in these words, "Orders have been given to Gen­
eral Dearborn, to attack the enemy's posts at Niagara and 
Kingston, as soon as may be practicable. Our force at Niagara, 
according to General Dearborn's account, will amount to twen­
ty-four hundred; and he will notify you \)f such movements and 
operations as he may order. It is indispensably necessary that 
a communication should be kept up bet"Veen you and the com­
mandant, at Niagara."-[Vol. 6, p. 128, 129.J 

Notwithstanding the forces which were collected on the Nia­
gara river, notwithstanding the militia of the State of New 
York, and all the recruits of the army, in the northern sectioD. 
of the country, were at his disposal, and notwithstanding the in­
structions, he had received from the government, not a single 
man, crossed the Niagara river, .from the time he received those 
instructions, from the latter part of June, to the 8th of August, 
when he agreed to an armistice, or su.spension of hostilities, ill 
which the army I commanded was not included. This measure 
and the effect it had on my situation, will be the subject of my 
next number. 
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No. XXII. 

IT is a subject of regret to me, that in this memoir, I cannot 
present to you a certified copy from the records of the war of­
fice, of the original armistice or agreement between Sir George 
Prevost and General Dearborn, for a suspension of hostilities Oil 

the Niagara frontier; I am happy at the same time that I have 
it in my power, to furnish a satisfactory reason, why it is not 
presented, and to offer other documents, to prove its existence 
and contents. The following is a copy of a letter, from the 
Secretary of War, Mr. Calhoun. 

if'O,r Department, 25th .!lug. 1823. 

SIR -.Conformably to your request, I have had copies made 
of all the correspondence, between this department, and your­
self; likewise the correspondence with General Dearbol'l1, Gov­
ernour Meigs, and Governour Scott, as far as the same can be 
had from the records and files of this office, and now transmit 
them to you. The copy «;If the- armistice to which you refer, 
cannot be found on file, in this department. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed,) J. C. CALHOUN. 

Gen. WM. HULL, Newton, Mass. 

After receiving this letter, I applied to Governour Eustis, whll 
was at that time Secretary of the '''-ar Department, and he in­
formed me, that it was received at tJle war office, and placed on 
the files of the Department. How a public document of so much 
consequence could be lost, appears in some degree mysterious. 
I shall however make no other comment on it, than to observe, 
that the high standing and character of Mr. Calhoun, and his 
prompt and honourable conduct, in furnishino- me, with the 
other testimony, which I requested, and winch his predecessor 
General Armstrong, had neglected to furnish, or even notice 
any application, forbids the most distant suspicion, of any un­
fair, or improper management on his part. General Armstrong 
was the immediate successor of Governour Eustis who rleclares . . 
It was left on file in the office, and had the custody of the pub-
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lic papers of the department. The following is a copy of the 
letter to General Armstrong, which was put into the Post Office 
in Boston. 

Newton, (Mass.) May 10th, 1814. 

SIR.-Having been officially informed, by the Adjutant Gen­
eral, of the result of the Court Martial by which I have been 
tried, and feeling it a duty, which lowe to my country, my 
family, and myself, to publish the procet-dings of my trial, I re­
quest as soon as possible, a copy of the same from the War De­
partment; which request is warranted by the 90th article of the 
rules and articles of war. 

I am, &c. 
(Signed) WILLIAM HULL. 

Hon. JOHN ARMSTRONG, Secretary of 'Val', ~ 
Washington City. 5 

This armistice had so fatal a bearing on my situation, tlJat I 
must be excused) for disclosing every circumstance which had 
any relation to it. 

To prove that this agreement was made between Sir George' 
Prevost and General Dearborn, I will in the first place present 
a copy of a letter from the Secretary of War to General Dear­
born, copied from the records of the war office.-[V 01. 6th, 
page 200.J 

T;Pm' Depatlmenl, August 15th, 1812. 

SIR,-Your letter of the 8th, with that of the 9th inst. enelos­
ing a letter from Sir George Prevost, addressed to you, has been 
received. A letter addressed to the 8ecretary of Statp', cover­
ing a dispatch for Mr. Baker, late Secretary of legation of His 
Brittanic Majesty, from Sir, George Prevost, has <llso been re­
ce.ived, and the dispatch hal' been delivered to Mr. Baker. 

No communication having been made to this government, by 
Mr. Baker, I am commanded by the President to inform you, that 
there does not appe~r to him any justifiable cause to vary or 
desist fmm the arrangements, which are in operation; and 1 am 
further commanded to instruct you, that from and after the re­
ceipt of this letter, and allowing a reasonable time, in which 
you will inform Sir George Prevost thereof, you will proceed 
with the utmost vigour in your operationi. How far the plan, 
originally suggested by you of attacking Niagara, Kingston, 
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and "Montreal, at the same time can be rendered practicable, 
you can best judge. Presuming that not more than a feint, (if 
that shl/uld be deemed expedient) with the troops on lake Cham­
plam, aided by volunteers and militia, can be immediatelyef­
fected, against Montreal, and considering the urgency of a di­
version in favour of General Hull, under the circumstances at­
tendiuo- his situation, the President thinks it proper, that not a 
mome;t should be lost in gaining possession of the British posts 
at Niagara and Kings~on, or at least the former, and proceeding 
in co-operation with General Hull in securing Upper Canada. 
It is expected, that the force assembled at those places, particu­
larly at Niagara, will be such as to justify your immediate or­
ders for an attack, or if this should not be the case, that the 
measures you have taken for rendering it such, will prevent any 
material delay. You will of ~ourse communicate your views to 
General Hull, and direct the commanding officer at Niagara, to 
be particular in givmg him every iuformation which can be use­
ful. " 

Before I proceed to make any comments on this letter, I will 
transcribe another addressed to me by the Secretary of War, 
giving me the information. 

Ww' Department, .flugust 20th, 1812. 

" SI'-' ,-General Dearborn has communicated to this depart­
ment, an arrangement by which it was agreed between him aDd 
Sir George Prevost, that offensive operations should be suspend­
ed until the determillation of the government should be made 
known to him, on certain information presumed by General 
Dearborn to be contained in a dispatch, transmitted by Sir 
George Prevost to Mr. Baker, la te S, 'creta!'), of legation to His 
Brittanic Majesty in this city. It further appears by General 
Dearborn's letter, that he made known, and proposed to your 
concurrence, in said agreement, so far as your orders, and as 
circumstances might permit. 

I am now instructed by the President to inform you that no 
communication, such as was supposed by General Dearborn 
might have been transmitted, has been made to this government, 
by Mr. Baker, or by any authorized agent of the British govern­
ment, .which will ~ustify a delay, or suspension of any military 
operatIOns, o~ whIch General Dearborn has been duly informed. 
In case theret9re, you shall have entered into any stipUlation 
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respecting a suspension of offensive operations, with the officer 
commanding the forces of His Brittanic Majesty in your vicini­
ty, you will conceive it to be made known to him, that such 
stipulation, is, after tIue notice, to cease and determine, and 
you will proceed in the same manner as if no sach agreement 
had been entered into. "-See vol. 6, p. 12.8, 12.9. 

In the close of the letter, I am informed that General Dear­
born was ordered to attack the enemy's posts at ~iagara and 
Kingston, that 2400 men were at Niagara, that he was ordered 
to notify me of his movements, &c. which has been cited in a 
former memoir. 

As I before observed, I never ,received a letter from General 
:Dearborn during the campaign; and it appears by the letter 
here recited, that it was twelve days after the armistice was 
agreed to, before the administrati(ln wrote to me from Washing­
ton, giving me information of it. 

This letter I never received, and the copy I have here pre­
sented has been obtained from the records of the War Office. 
Indeed, the first information I received, that General Dearborn 
had established a peace on the Niagara frontier was from Gen­
~ral Brock, immediately after the capitulation was signed. 
Neither the administration nor General Dearborn ever gave me 
any information of it, which was received. Thus it appears. 
that by the neglect of the General, and the delay of the admin­
istration, I was kept in ignorance of a measure which so mater­
ially e,ffected my situation and had no knowledge of it until 
General Brock had time sufficient to collect and march all the 
forces of the province against me. 

Before I close this number, I will observe, that from docu­
ments here produced. I do presume you will be as well satis­
fied of the following facts as if a copy of the agreement had been 
produced; viz. that it was entered into as early as the 8th of 
August, and that it provided for a suspen~ion of hostilities, on 
the frontiers of Canada, in which the army I commanded wai 
not included. 
Having thus proved, what were the orders of the gO,vernment to 

General Dearborn, and the measures he adopted; in my next 
number, after making'some general 'observations, I shall cOllliJ~d­
er the effect they had on my situation. 

12 
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No. XXiII. 
By the letter of the Secretai'Y of WaJ' to GenerallPearborirr 

referred to in the last number, it appears, that the agreement 
he had made with Sir George Prevost, fora suspension of hos­
tiliti~s, was entirely disapproved by the ,President, and he was 
commanrled to cause it to cease, after due notice. It is impos­
sillle to account for the motives which induced him to adopt the 
measure. All my letters, stating my situation in the enemy's 
country, had been sent to him by the Secretary of War. He 
knew that the lake was shut against me; and, by the Sej:retary's 
letter, he was inf • .'rmed, that a body of Indians had assembled 
on the road I had opened through the wilderness, and had stop­
pell a company of Ohio militia, at the Miami, which was escort­
ing provisions to Detroit, for the support of my army. He knew 
by the same letters, sent to him by the Secretary of War, that 
Michillimackanack had fallen; that the savages had joined the 
British standard. anti all the northern and western tribes were 
marching in hostile array against me. Under these circumstan­
ces, if his own military experience, and knowledge did not 
teach him his dlltYt viz. the necessity of cooperation with the 
forces under my command,he harl before him the positive or­
ders of the government. After making this agreement, it be­
came impuE~ible fol' him, dllring its continuance, to have obeyed 
the orders of his government, in rilaking diversions and co-oper .. 
alions, without a violation of the faith he had pledged. Had he 
the powel', by his commi~sion, to make an agreement which 
would render him incapable of obeying the orders of thol'c from 
whom he f('r'ived his authority? I ask, then, by what authority 
did he make this armistice? It was not by the authority of the 
government) :'t>CQuse, in my former' numbers, I have cited the 
letter of the government, by whieh the measure was disapproV~ 
ed, in the m·y,t pointed language. But suppose, by his com­
mission as t;e senior Major General in the army, a di~cretiona­
ry power Wd~ .:;;ted ill him to make an armistice; did he in 
thi~ instance, exercise that power prnperly, by agreeing to a 
me.asure, which totally dl'l<}ualified him from carrying into effect 

the orders of his government? I ask you, then, my fellow citi-
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zens, on what grounds this measure can be justified? If it can·, 
not be justified on military principles, permit me again to 'ask 
you? what motives coulc;l have mduced him to have adopted it? 
I wIll not even ask the question, whether it was to shield him­
self from personal danger, in attacking the epemy's posts, and 
co-operating with the forces under my command. I have too 
often witnessed his bravery, during the war of the revolution, to 
make a ~uggestion of the kind. 

Was it the fear that the forces under my command, having 
first made the invasion of Upper Canada, would have shared 
some part of the glol"y, in the event of conques't ? 

When he was comlhanded by the administration to concentrate 
his forces at Niagara, and co-operate with me, and only make 
a feint againt Montreal, why did he direct the principal part of 
them to Plattsburg and Burlington, on lake Champlain? He 
must have foreseen, that by agreeing to the suspension of hos­
tilities, in the manner he did, the whole force of the enemy 
would be removed for the defence of that part of the province 
which was invaded. This he must have perceived, unless he 
had become giddy by his elevation, aDd could not discern 11is 
duty. It is possible, that it was not his expectation that the 
government would approve of the measure,. and would have or­
dered it to have ceased, after giving due notice; and in such an 
~vent, before t)le enemy's force could have returned. to Mon­
treal, he might have advancer! his forc,es from Plattsburg and 
Burlington, and taken possession of that capital. In stich a 
case he undoubtedly supposed all the glory would be his own, 
and that such an achievement wOllld have more than compensatu 

ed for the sacrifice of my army. 
If he were not influenced by any of the motives which have 

been here suggested, let me ask you, whether they were not the 
same, which induced him, in publishing a narrative of the battle 
of Bunker Hill, to open the tomb, and violate the ashes of tIre 
brave General. Putnam, more than twenty years after he had 
rested from his patriotic labours ?-a chief whose name alone 
was a host at the commencement of our revolution, and whose 
gallant deeds, are identified with the glory of our cuuntry. 
Putnam was then a general and Dearborn was a captain. 

If he were capable of making representations intended to 
blast the laurels, which had so long flourished around the tom~, 
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of this brave commander, tloes it not in some measure account 
for his motivps, in attempting to rob me of the little fame, I had, 
acquired in following the ,standard of the illustrious Washing­
ton, during the war of our revolution. Every man engaged in 
that memorable battle is entitled to glory; and had General 
Dearborn been contented with the share to which his rank and 
conduct entitled him, no one would have been so ungenerous 
twenty years after his death, as to haTe opened his tomb, violat­
ed his ashes, or attempted to blast even the twig qf a laurel, 
which might have been found, growing around it. 

He must have known when he agreed to the armistice, that a 
very considerable time must elapse, even, if the government dis­
approved of it, before its operation would have ceased. The 
despatches must have travelled from his Head Quarters, to 
Washington, and from 'Vashington back to Albany; he then must 
have given notice to Sir George Prevost at Quebec or Montreal, 
and have waited a reasonable time for this notice to have arriv­
ed. As the division of the army I commanded had no partici­
pation in the measure, he well knew the advantages he thereby 
gave the enemy in concentrating his whole force to the scene 
of my operations-he knew that uuring this period, it would not 
be necessary for the enemy to retain a single effective man at 
any of the stations, on the Niagara river, Kingston, Montreal, 
or any of the posts, in the eastern part of the province.-He 
well knew, that the whole force of the British army, in that sec­
tion of territory, the militia of the Canadas, and the savages of 
the wilderness might be employed in opposing the offensive oper­
ations, I had commenced, anu at that moment was engaged in 
prosecuting. He was perfectly acquainted both with my situa­
tion, and the situatioll of the enemy; that I was surrounded on 
all sides, and had no communication with my country; that by 
the command of lake Erie, and being in the possession of armed 
ships, tran~ports, and boats, all the troops from fort Erie, fort 
George, with all the militia of that part of the province

1 
might 

with the greatest facility, have been moved to any point, where 
their services were most necessary.-That two or three days 
would only ha,-;e been required, to have transported· them to 
Malden, or a~y part of the Detroit river-that by the command­
of lake ~ntano ,the forces from Kingston, York, and that part of 
the prOVlllce, wIth the same facility and despatch, might have 
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been removed to the west part of the lake, and marched, to the 
same point-all these advantages, General Dearborn must have 
well known, would be given to the enemy, when he signed this 
agreement, for the' suspension of hostilities. 

In the course of these memoirs, 'I shall show, that all these 
advantages were made use of; and in consequence of this mea­
sure, which was unauthorized and disapproved by the govern­
ment, the plan of the British commander succeeded according to 
the expectation, which was anticipated. 

The measure I am now considering, my fellow citizens, had 
such an effect on my situation, that no apology, I presume 1;'ill 
be necessary, for asking your very particular attention t'o all the 
circumstances, attending it.-It will be recollected from the 
copy of the lettel' of the Secretary of war, that he had received 
General Dearborn's of the 8th and 9th of August, communicat­
ing information of the suspension of hostilities, and the cause of 
it. Colonel Baynes, the adjutant-general of the army cont 
manded by Sir George Prevost, was the officer appointed and 
authorized on his part to make this negotiation.-He must have 
arrived at the head-quarters of General Dearborn as early as the 
6th or 7th of August ;-consequently he must have left Montreal, 
as early as the first of August, the distance being about two 
hundred and forty miles-Sir George Prevost, calculating on the 
success of this measure, no doubt gave General Brock immediate 
information respecting it, as ,soon, as Colonel Baynes commenc­
ed his journey, with directions to proceed with all the forces, to 
Malden,-In addition to this, Major General Sheafe, marched 
with the forces from MO)ltreal to Kingston, wncre a great part 
of them embarked, passed to the west part of Lake Ontario, 
there landed, marchrd to the reyef of Malden, collecting the 
militia and savages on t~eir march. 

Thus it appears, that eight or nine days before the agreement 
was actually signed, all the British forces were put in motion, 
and concentrating to the only point ~here the invasion of the 
Upper Province had. been made, and these arrangements must 
have been made on the presumption that Colonel Baynes would 
obtain a suspension of hostilities. 

The inquiry now becomes important. What information had 
General Dearborn receiv'ed by the Adjutant-General, which 

I could have afforded even a shadow (If colour for the measures he 
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adopted? This information was communicated by him, to the 
Secretary of'Var, and in the Secretary's letter to me, has been 
recited in the former number; and it iF; so important it ~hould 
be perfectly understouu, that I will here ,again repeat the sub· 
stance of it-He says~ thatGeneral Dearborn has c(,mmunicated 
an arrangement, by which it was agreed between him and Sir 
George Prevust, that offensive operations should be susp"nded. 
until the determination of the government should be made known 
to him, on certain information, prewmcd by General lJearborn,. 

to be contained in a dispatch transmitted by Sir George Prevost, 

to Mr. Baker late Secretw"y of Legation to his Brittanic Ma· 

iesty in this dty. 
The SecretarY, further says that he was further instructed by 

the President to inform me, that no communication, such as ~ras 
supposed by General Dearborn, might have been transmitted, has 
been made to this government. This letter, which was presull,cd 
to contain the information, was not addressed to General Dear­
born, but to 1\1 r. Baker, at Washington, and he had no other· 
grounds for consenting to a suspension of hostilities, than a bare 
presumption, that it might contain something which mi,t!ht ren­
der such a measure proper. The grounds even of this preloump· 
tion could have been nothing more, than his conversation with 
the Adjutant-General, and the sight of this sealed despatch to 
Mr. Baker, which he was requested to send to the Secretary of 
State, to be delivered according to his discretion. I now ask 
you to imagine a reason, why he did nut wait for the onlers of 
the government, before he made an agreement, which \\las so 
important in its consequences? . 

In my next number I shall cunsidet~ the effect which it had 
. . olE' on my sItuatIOn. 

No. XXIV. 

THE motives of Sir George Prevost, in sending his Adjutant­
(jen.eral to the head-quarters of General Dearborn, at this time, 
I thmk, must be evident from the statelllen,t of facts in the pre-
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ceding numbers, and from considerations, which I shall now of­
fer. At this time, no part of the enemy's country was invaded, 
excepting by the forces from Detroit, under my commanll. To 
repel this invasion, must have been a desirable object of the 
commander· in-chief of {he British army. He could not with­
draw his forces from the east part of Upper Canada, consistently 
with the safety of his posts, at Fort Erie, Fort George, Kingston 
and Montreal, because he well knew General Dearborn had col­
lectl!d, and was collecting troops, oppolSite to those stations. 
He therefore found it necessary to devise some p\::'.n, by which 
his troops. on those stations might be withdrawn, and employed 
under the command of General Brock, for the support of Mal­
den, and the protection of the part of the province invaded, and 
in a manner consistently with the safety of the posts which have 
b~en mentioned. The stratagem, \vhich has here been describ­
ed, was formed by the enemy, amI assented to by General Dear­
born, and its success was complete. He was induced to enter 
into an agreement that his troQPs should only act on the defen·, 
sive, at those station,;, from which General Brock wished to 
withdraw his troops, and indeed which extended to the whole 
frontier, excepting where the invasion was. made. 

In pursuance of this plan. all the forces were withdrawn from 
the stations I have mentioned, excepting a few invalid soldiers 
to take care of ,the fortifications, cannon, &c. These forces, 
with the militia of the province, and all the savages which coulll 
be collected, were immediately transported by water, over the 
lakes to Malden and Sandw.ich. under the command of General 
Brock, as re-enforcements to the enemy's army at those stations. 
General Brock arrived at Malden on the 14th of August, during 
the suspension of h9!'tjlities below, and()ll the 15th marched to 
Sandwich opp()site to Detroit, from which place I had retreated, 
for the reasons stated in the former numbers of these memoirs. 
About' 12 o'clock on the 15th, I recl!ived a letter from General 
Brock, by Lieut. Colonel McDonnell, and Major Gregg, of the 
British army, who came under the sanction of a flag of truce. 

-fi;,f}'~ '.J~U<"1 '7~r "?rVl' 

;,y," Head Quarters., S.a;~dwich, ./Iv-gust 15, 1812. 
Sir..,-The"force at my disposal authorizes me to require of 

you the immediate surrender of Fort Detroit; it is far fl'om my 
indination to join in a war of extermination; but you must be 
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aware that the numerous body of Indians, who have attached 
themselves to my troops, will be beyond my controul the moment 
the contest commences; you will find me disposed to enter into 
such conditions as will satisfy the most scrupulous sense of 
honour. Lieut.-Colonel McDonnell and Major Gregg, are fully 
authorized to conclude any arrangement that may prevent the 
unnecessary effusion of blood. I have the honour to be your 
obedient servant. 

[His Excellency, Brigadier General Hull, commanding at 
Fort Detroit. 

Signed ISAAC BROCK, Major General, 
commanding his Brittanic Majesty's forces, Upper Canada." 

To this letter, I immediately returned the following answer. 

"Head Quarters. Detroit, August 15, 1812. 
Sir-I have no other reply to make, than to inform you that 

I am prepared to meet any force which may be at your disposal, 
and any consequences which may result from an exertion of it, 
you may think proper to make. I am, &c. 

His Excellency, Major General Brock, commal1!ling his Brit­
tanic Majesty's forces, Sandwich, Upper Canada. 

Signed WILLIAM HULL, Brig. General, 
commanding the North 'Western army of the United States." 

This letter wa:; the first inforlJ\ution that I received of the ar­
rival of General Brock, with the forces from Fort Erie, Fort 
George, and the other stations on the east part of tJ pper.Cana­
da. Indeed it was hardly possible for me to have received the 
information, as he came by watel' with his re-enforcements, and 
had the exclusive command of the lake. 

By my former numbers, it appears, that before I recrossed the 
river, I had received letters from Generals Hall and Porter, 
who commanded the American forces on the Niagara river, that 
the British forces had moved from their stations on that river, 
an~ the east part of the province, and Were passing over lakes 
Ene and Ontario, towards Malden. In those numbers, I like­
wise stated how mysterious this information was .. The. arrival 
of G:eneral Brock, with the forces, still added to the mystery. 
It Will be remembered, that I had received no information from 
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General Dearborn. or from any other quarter of the suspension 
of hostilities; and I kriew that a large American force had as­
sembled, and was assembling on the Niagara river, directly op­
posite to tre British posts. It was likewise well known to me, 
that that part of the province was of much more importance to 
the Bt-itish interest than Malden. and the territory nn the De­
troit river and its vicinity. It appeared to me certain, that the 
British forces could not have been withdrawn from those stations, 
without exposing them to an invasion, and to be taken posses,.. 
sion of by General Dearborn's forces on the Niagara river, di. 
rectly opposite to them, and only separated by the river. I as-k 
you, my fellow citizens, to reflect on my situation, and con­
sider for a moment, the embarrassments at this time occasioned 
to my army. 

General Brock was not only the Major General of the army, ' 
but the Acting Governour of the province. Could I have be­
lieved that the Governour of the province would have left the 
most important part of it, without 'the means of defence, expos­
ed in the manner I have stMed, and liable to be invaded, and 
possessed by the American forces? Such an event would have 
been the most disastrous of any which could have happened to 
him. By possessing both sides of the Niagara river, we should 
have commanded the water communication to Malden, and the 
whole country above, which was the only communication on 
which that post, St. Joseph's on lak~ Huron, and indeed the 
whole North West Company depended tor supplies. Had we 
therefore taken possession of Fort Erie, Fort George, and the 
other posts on the Niagara river, their communication would 
have been obstructed, and they must have perished for the want 
of the means of subsistence_ I again ask, on what grounds I 
could have possibly conceived, that General Brock had left that 
vital part of his province, and drawn his troops from situation:;; 
on whose protection their very existence depended. Had it 
been possible for me to have imagined the case, which actually 
existed, that General Dearborn had ail:reed to a suspension of 
hostilities, I should have believed it certain, that he would have 
stipulated, that all the troops, which were parties to it, should 
remain in the same situa.tion, they were, at the time it was made, 
and expressly, that none bound by the armistice should be em­
ployed, aiainst those wltich were not included in it. If 'he had 

15 



98 

possessed any knnwl~d!!e.,?f his out!, ~e ~o~ld have known 
ihi" to have been the lDvanable practIce In sImIlar cases. Rut 
in fact, I did not even imagine, that it was possible a measure 
so fraught with the certain destruction of my army could have 
been adopted by him. 

But so it was, and almost all the enemy's most important 
post~ were perfectly safe, when only guarded by a few invahds t 

to take care of the barracks. &c. The Secretary of War, it 
will be seen by his letter referred to in a former memoir, stated. 
1i1iut by General Dearborn's letter to him, the General had in­
farmed me of the measure, and had proposed a similar one to 
my concurrence. If it were sent, it only reached mp befure the 
capitulation from the mouths of General Brock's cannon; after 
that event, he, (General Brock) informed me that it had take, 
place at Niagara, and all the other posts below were embraced 
in it Perhaps it may be a"ked, when I perceived the forces of 
the enemy, of all descriptions concentrating and bearing upon 
me from every quarter, why I did not ret,reat from Detroit, and 
save my army from capture? as I wish to answer evpry inquiry, 
and, if possible, remove ,every doubt, with respect to the pro­
priety of my conduct, I will here state "the reasons. To those 
who are unacquainted with the situation of the country, this 
would probably be a natural inquiry. In the manner in which 
ibese memuirs are published, I cannot present a map of the coun­
try which was the scene of my operations. r fear it will be diffi­
€uIt to describe it in such a way that it will be perfectly under­
stO;)!!. I must ask yuu in this case to examine some general 
maps of the country, from Detroit to the foot of the rapids of 
'the \Eami of lake Erie. The distance is about seventy miles. 
The only road through which I could have retI'eated, runs from 
Detroit as far as Bruwhstown, on the banks of the Detroit river, 
about twenty miles; and from Brownstown to the foot of the 
rapids. about fifty miles; in some places on, and in others near 
the borders of lake Erie. This road was very difficult to pass, 
a great part of it being thrf,ugh a wildernp;,s, and had only been 
opened by my army, when advancing to Detroit. Its ~ourse, 
for seventy miles being on the margin of a navigable river, and 
the, lake a~d General Brock with his army being opposite to 
D~irolt, WIth a number of armed ves~eJs, gun-boats, and a suf­
fiCient number of fiatlS to move his troopii on the water, woulll 
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'have had suc~ an advantage in attacking Ii retreating army, esc 
pecially when aided by his numerous tribes of savages, that I 
then thought and I now think, that an attempt of the kind would 
have resulted in the total destruction of the army. With his 
boats, protected by his armed vessels and gun-boats, his troops 
Ulight have been moved on those smooth watl::'rs with the greatest 
celerity. and landed in the front, rear, or on the flank, and har­
rassed my march in such a mnnner that it would have been im­
pussible to have effected it; besides we must have encountered 
the difficulty of passing a numb. r of rivers without boats, and 
over which there were no bridges. The only places \fhere some 
of these rivers could have been cr"s~ed, were near the naviga­
ble waters commanded- by the enemy's naval armament, and no 
boats could have been provided for the purpose. There would 
have been nQ other mode of effecting the passage, but by swim­
ming or constructing rafts,- in the face uf the enemy. Situated 
as I was, after the arrival of General Brock with the re-enforce;. 
ments, I think you must be satisfie.d. that nOlhing could have 
justified an attempt of this kind, especially when the nature of 
the country, and the character of the enemy, which would ha-ve 
assailed my army during this long march, is considered. The 
reasons which prevented me from retreating and taking a posi­
tion at the Miami, immediately after recrossing the Detroit river, 
have neen stated in a forme; number of these memoirs. I pre­
sume this will be considered as a satisfactory answer to the1in­
quiry. 

In my next number, I shall proceed to a consideration of my 
situation at Detroit on the 15th of August, when I received 
General Brock's letter. and the position, and numbers of the 
enemy; after which I shall state the reasons which induced me 
to agree to the capitulation on the 16th. Before, however, I 
close this number, I must ask your indulgence, my fellow citi­
zens, in making such observations and reflections as will natu­
rally arise from the facts and documents which have been pre­
sented in the last numbers of ihese memoirs in relation to the 
coaduct of General Dearborn. 

After considering the facts and evidence which has been ad­
duced to prove them, I ask whonas been guilty of the vile and 
base charges which have beeu iu.puted to me? \-Vho has been 
guilty of unofficer-like conduct? If I had been in General 
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Dearborn's situation, and he had been in mine, and [had re­
ceivedthe same orders from the government which it has been 
proved he received, respecting the invasion of Canada, .would 
you not have had a right to have said that I had been ~Ullty of 
unofficer-like conduct? If thus situated, [had rec£'lVed the 
same orders he repeatedly received, to make diversions in the 
enemy's country, to attack their posts and to co-operate with 
him, I had not only neglectf·d to obey these orders, but had 
ao-reed to a suspension of I ostilities, from which his army was 
e~cluded, 1 ask you whether I could have complained of the 
vile charge of cowardice being imputed to me? If further, [had 
agreed to a suspension of hostilities, in the manner and ,under 
the circumstances General Dearborn did, whether it would not 
have affonled s(>me colour to ha,ve supposed it W;LS with treason­
able views? I wi"h it to be distinctly undt>rstood, that I im­
pute nothing criminal to him, and have made these reflections 
with no other view but to exhibit in a strong light, that there 
was not the least foundation for criminal charges against me. 

For the present, I shall take a farewell of him, and if the 
facts and documents which have been pI·psented shall cause any 
unpleasant sensations in his mind, I regret that I can offer no, 
balm to cure the stings and wounds which his own reflectionll 
must inflict. , 

Before these memoirs are ended. he will again be introduced, 
as President of the Court Martial before which I was tried, and 
his conduct in that character will be partic~larly examined. 

As you, my fellow citizens, are the legitimate and final tri­
bunal, if you are satisfied that the facts which have been here 
stated, are proved by the evidence which has been offered, and 
that the measures he adopted were the cause of the misfortunes 
of the campaign, and the disasters which attended the army I 
commanded, it is to be hoped, on account of his age, his respect­
able connections, and his revolutionary services, yOUI" clemency 
will be exercised, and the punishment which would be justly 
due to such conduct will be remitted. . 

For the sa~e reasons here expressed recommending him to 
your mercy, III a former number, I stated, that it would have 
bee~ ~ happy t;;onsideration, had it been in my power 10 have 
exhl?lted the truth in vindication of my own honour, without 
any impeachment of his character. 
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No. XXV. 
A KNOWLEDGE of the number, and character of the enemy's 

forcfls, at the time of the capitulation, and likewise of those un­
der my command, is so important in forming a correct opinIOn 
that I shall ask your very particular attention to an examination 
of both these subjects. 

Before I proceed to off~r you the evidenc!' of them, it is a du­
ty which lowe to you, and to myself, to state particularly the 
reasons why this evidence was not presented to the Court Mar­
tial, and why it has not before been presented to you; and like­
wise, why it will not he in my powel', even' at this time, to' 
spread before you, the whole which eXisted in the case. 

The same causes have prevented me from giving a more min­
ute detail of the transactions and eVents of the campaign. The 
reasons are the unfortunate loss of my papers, both of a public 
and private nature. A part of them were taken in the Cayahoga 
packet, the particular circumstances of which have been related 

. in my trial. 
After the capitulation, I left Detroit, a prisoner, not knowing 

my place of destination. One of my daughters was with me, 
. and expected in a few days to return to my residence in Massa­
chusetts. As I should have flO occasion for these papers while 
a prisoner, I thought it advisable, to pack them in trunks and 
commit them to her care, to be carried to my home, at the place 
where I now reside. 

A short time after, my daughter passed lake Erie in a British 
vessel, and arriving near Buffalo in the evening, she was put on 
shore at that place, with an assurance from the captain of the 
vessel, that her trunks, &c. sh()uld be sent to her the next morn­
ing. In the course of that night, the vessel was attacked by a 
party of our sailors. under the command of Captain Elliot, and 
i'n the contest was burnt. By this event, all these papers were 
destroyed. 

The most material of these documents, were copies of all the 
orders I had issued to the army, from the day I took command 
of it, to the time ofthe capitulation. All the returns and daily 
reports, which were made to me. The letters which I ha4 re-
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o.:ei ved f-rom the Secretary of War, and the Govemours of Ohll1 
and K.entucky. CopIes of all the communications which I had 
made tn these officers and many others; likewise a daily journal 
of the operations of the army, and the events which took place 
during the period above mentioned; likewise the information I 
had received of tile numbers and movements of the enemy 4ur­
ing the campaign. 

At my trial before the Court Martial, I had no other docu­
mentary evidence, excepting what the administration was will­
ing to furnish from the records of the government. Some pa­
pers which were necessary to exhibit a true state of facts, couhl 
not be found on the files and records of the public offices. After 
my trial, as I have before remarked, I applied for a cepy of the 
proceedings of the Court Martial, and all the documents relat­
ing to the compaign, and could not obtain them. Lately, Mr. 
Calhoun, as I have before stated, has furnished me with copies 
of all the documents which can be found in the War Office. 
Many very Important papers now, which ought to be on the files 
and records I)f the government, cannot be found; even one o£ 
so important a nature as the armistice, entered into by General 
Dearborn, cannot be obtained. This fact is certified by the 
present Secretary df War, in his letter to me, which has been 
published in a former number. My orders to the army, daily 
journal, reports, and letters, giving me accounts of the numbers 
and movements of the enemy, and many other important docu­
ments are irreparable losses. 

The destruction of this vessel is a subject of public notority, 
and were it necessary, the testimony of my daughter, and others 
who assisted in packing the papers, and who well knew the con­
tents "f them, might be here added. I will not encumber these 
numbers, at present. with this evidence. If the truth of these 
facts shall be doubted by any reader, the evidence shall be pub­
lished. 

Somr of the Adjutants preserved their orderly books, and I re~ 
quested the Judge 4-dvocate to direct them, when they were' 
s~mmoned as witnesses, to produce them. They however, 
eIther forgot them, or did not incline to present them to the 
Court. 

I will h~re recite the circumstances of another important doc­
ument whICh I could not obtain, at the time of my trial, which 
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bas been referred to in a former number, Ilnd I will copy from. 
my defenee, the statement and evidence which I offered to the 
GOurt martial, respecting it. 

B A few days after I was ·appointed to the command of the 
North Western Army, I presented another memorial to th~ 
President, through the war department, in \\ hich I was explicit 
as to what might be expected fr~m such a force a'l I was to lead; 
as to the n~cessity of re enfor(;elllents; of our commanding the 
lake; and, of a co-operation in other quarters. 

"¥y draft of this memorial I have lost, in the way I shall 
hereafter explain. The existence of the original and its gener­
al purport, is proved by Mr. Eustis, who in his an:;wer to the 
6th and 7th iuterrogations addressed io him, says, • I have a 
perfect recollection of your having presented the memorial re­
ferred ttl in the interrogatory.' 'I recollect,' he adds, • your 
attendance by appointment, at the 'Yar Office. The memorial 
or that part of it which related to the naval defence of lake Erie, 
was referred or communicated, to the Secretary of the Navy, 
who was present. The brig Adams, which had been employed 
as a transport, under direction of the war department, became 
the subject of conversation. Whether she was (being then on 
the stocks repairing) actually transferred to the Navy Depart­
ment) I do not distinctly recollect. If that was the case, the 
evidence is on record.' Yet this memorial, or a copy of it, I 
have never heen able to obtain. 

"I have applied for it to the, Secretary of 'Var, he 'referred 
me to the Secretary of the Navy; the Secretary of the Navy to 
Mr. Dallas, [who was then employed by the administration in 
the prosecution against me;] to him I applied, and he referred 
me to the present Judge Advocate, who knows nothing of it. 
And finally when my trial commenced, I addressed a letter to 
the President of the United States, requesting him to interfere 
his authority to pt'ocure me a document, which I considered so 
important in my defence. It was, sir, too mue-h for me to have 
expected an ar.swet· from the President himself, though thl' time 
has been, when such an answer would not have been considered 
as conferring too great an honour. The President referred my 
letter to the gentlemen at the head of the \\ ar and Navy De­
partments. They also would not condescend to answer my 
letter, but handed it over to their clerks. I ask, would it not 



104 

llave comported with the importance of the occasion, the deco­
Fum due an old man and a veteran soldier, not yet convicted of 
any crime, for the Secretaries themselves to have addressed 
me? But in answer to my letter, I received a letter from the 
chief clerk in the War Office, dated the 12th of February, 1814; 
with a certificate from the chief clerk in the Navy Department. 
The letter from the War Office, is in the following words: 

" War Office, February 12th, 18]4. 

SIR,-Your letter of the ] st inst. addresseq to the Presi­
dent of the United States, has been referred to me. In answer 
to which I have the honour to state, that all your communica­
tions to the War Department, after you were appointed Briga­
dier General in the army, have been transmitted to P. S. Par­
ker, Esq. Judge Advocate of the Court Martial, now sitting at 
Albany, together with such others as you had required, as far 
as they could be found on the files of this office. The public 
records of papers of the \\' ar Department have been constantly 
within my observation and charge for several ,ears past, and I 
a~sure you, ~ir, I have never seen or heard of a memoir pointing 
out the necessity of a navy on lake Erie. Since the receipt of 
your letter, I have carefully examined the files, and enquired of 
every gentleman attached to the department without being able 
to give any infurmation on the subject. 

I have the honour to be, 

Sir, very respectfully, 

Your O'bt. servant, 

DANIEL PARKER, C. C. 
Brig. Gen. WM. HULL, Albany. 

" It is unaccountable, that a public document of this nature 
should be lost. That it did exist, and was on the files of the 
war office, is proved beyond controversy, by the deposition of 
t~e late Secretary of VI' ar, who declares that he has a perfect re­
collection of it. But a most Htraordinary part of this letter 
from the War Department, is that which states, that the writer 
has had the public records, and papers of the 'Var Department 
constantly under his charge and observation for seve~al years 
past; yet, that he never knew or heard of a memorial, pointing 
out the necessity of a navy on lake Erie. It is a fact hardly til 
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be crcditted, that a copy of the memorial of the 6th of March, 
1812, from which I made that copy which I' have just read to 
the court, is certified as a true copy from the files of the War 
Office. by the very gentleman, who writes me the letter of the 
12th of February. Let me quote from the memorial of the 6th 
of March, or rather from the copy certified as I have mentioned 
above, a passage which is in the following words: 

'If, sir, we cannot command the ocean, we can command the 
inland lakes of our country. I have always been of opinion that 
we ought to have built as many armed vessels on the lakes. as 
would have commitnded them. We have more interest in them 
than tho British nation, and can build vessels with more con­
venience.' 

"When the writer of the letter had certified a copy of this 
_memorial but a few days before, how could he say, that he nev­
er knew or heard of a memorial, (from me to the government) 
pointing out the necessity of a navy on lake Erie ?" 

I 'shall more particularly feel the los~ of the documents which 
were destroyed in the vessel, in a future paper, in which I shall 
state the number of the effective force, under my controul, at 

- the time of the capitulation. Perhaps you may think it an in­
trusion, and I certainly feel a degree of humiliation, in asking 
your' attenti,on, one moment to my private losses, and my pri­
vate misfortunes, as respects property. This I should not do, 
had it not been rumoured, and probably believed by some, that 
I had been influenced by the base and grovelling motives of 
self-interest, in the measurei I agrlied to, as the commanding 
General of my country's forces. The bare mention of the sub­
ject excites the most indignant feelings, and I believe no just 
and honoura.ble man, ",: •. 0 ever knew me, for a moment enter­
tained an opinion of the kind. In the year 1805 when I accept­
ed the office of Govern"ur of the territory of Michigan, I dis­
posed of all my property in Ma.ssachusf'tts, excepting the farm 
on which I now live, which I hold in right of my wife. Af­
ter paying my debts, a considerable sum remained 'fhis was 
transferred to the Michigan territory. Before my arrival, the 
town of Detroit was burnt, with all the public buildings. in one of 
which I was to have resided. For my accommodafion I was ob[ig~ 
ed to build a house, and engage mechanics in this part of the 
CQuntry. Under the circumstances of the territory, comfortable 

14 . 
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accommooations were provided at very great expense. All the 
property which I possessed, ex ~epting tl~e farm I havt' ment.ion­
eu, was vt'sterl in that country. All thIs property I have Sl11ce 
sold, and the proceeds of it, have not been one third part as 
much as 1 carried to the country. ' 

During my command of the North Western army, no military 
chest was furnished, and 1 never -received one dollar from the 
govt'rnment to defray the necessary contingent expf'nses of t.he 
army. The Secre'ary of War, placed in the bank of Pittsburg, 
ten thousand dollars to my credit, for defraying- these expenses, 
and ,.!;uvt' me notice accordingly. A1 that time there was little 
or no communication between Pittsburg and Detroit, and 1 could 
not obtain money for bills on that Bank. I made nsf' of my 
own money and credit to defray those l'Iecessary expenses to the 
amount of sixteen hundred dollars, on the credit of the ten thou­
sand, which was thus deposited. For this sixteen hundred dol­
lars, I took regular vouchers, which were with my other papers, 
ur.d were lost in the vessel, as before stated. As sooe as the 
administration, received information of the capitulatior" the 
whole of this ten thousand dollars was withdrawn from the 
bank, by the Secretary of "Yar, and I never have received the 
sixteen hundred dollars or any part of it, which r disbursed for 
the public, to defray these necessary expenses. I have present­
ed my account, and evidence to show, the once existence of the 
voucher~, and the manner in whith they were lost. The ob­
jection to an all'lwance of the claim, by the auditor is, that asI 
all, not a public defaulter. and owe the government nothing, he 
is not authorized to hear the evidence, with reRpect to the loss 
of the vouchers, aR the government will have money to pay, pro­
vided the account were allowed. But If on the other hand I 
had been a public defaulter, the auditor in that case would be 
authorized to cancel the demand of the government, on being 
satisfied with the loss of my vouchers. 

I UO not now possess more property than is sufficient to pay 
my just debts, excepting the farm on which I live, which as I 
b~fore observed, I hold in the right of my wife. And I can say 
w~th truth, had I not been so fortunate as to have lived among 
~rlends, and experienced their gent'rosity, it would have been 
1m ;,,,';sible for me, on lily farm, at my age. for twelve years past, 
to have supported my family, with common decency. 
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r have made this statement to satisfy you how much I haye 
been injured. and to repel the base and wicked insinuations, 
which have been more than rumoured against me. It will be 
easy for me to produce evidence of all these facts, if anyone 
desires it. 

lt is only necessary to look at the newspapers of that day, to 
prove the pains which were taken to excite your prejudices 
against me. 

Every skipper of a boat,- every unprincipled adventurer. and 
follower of the army. who was at Ddroit, and every drunken 
soldier who was I'eturning home, were placed in requisition, and 
taken before magistrates, and oaths were prepared for them, 
with respect to the number (If my army, and the number of the 
enemy, and the boxes of gold, which were carried to my house, 
as the consideration for the capltu lation. After keeping me 
nearly two years in arrest, and during that time, searching for 
evidenre to prove the charge of treason against me, the Court 
Martial was obliged, as not the faintest colour of eviden('€; ap­
pearpd, to acquit me of that charge. and all the specifica( inns 
under it. I must be excused. my fellow citizens, for thi- di­
gression, and defer the eviden~, with re8pect to GeneraL 
Brock's force to my next number. 

No. XXVI. 
BEFORE I relate the events of the 16th of August, 1812, amI: 

assign the reasons, which induced me to agree to the capitula­
tion, I will ask your attention,-

lst. To tbe position which General Brock had taken, on the 
15th, with hIs army. 

2d. To the number and character of the forces, which were 
under his authority and cOlJtroul, which were in suitable situa­
tions, and might have immediately been ordered to re-enforce 
his army. with the most perfect safety to his other posts, before 
~t would have beeR possible for me to have received anyas­
sistance. 

3d. To the number and eharac.ter of the forces, with which ' 
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he actually invaued our territory on the morning of the 16th of 
August. 

With respect to the position he had taken, it was at Sand~ 
wich, on the opposite bank of the river, more elevated than the 
fort of Detroit, and from which, with his cannon and mortars, 
he could throw shot and shells into the town and fort. 

With respect to the number and character of the forces, 
which were under his authority and controul, which were in 
suitable situations, immediately to re-enforce his army before I 
could have received any aid, it is to be observed, that he was 
not only the General of the army, but the acting Governour of 
Upper Canada, and had the su perintende!lce and direction n?t 
only of the numerous tribe~ of Indians, who resided in the Bri­
tish dominions, but likewise those who inhabited our territories, 
had joined his standard. COU8equently all the British troops, 
in the different stations, at fort George, York, Kingston, fort 
Erie, and Chippewa, with all the militia of the province, and all 
the Indian warriours, in the northern and western region, were 
subject to his controul and authority. 

In addition to these sources of strength. the numerous retain­
ers of the wealthy and powerful Northwest Company, were call­
ed from t!J.eir stations, anll hunting grounds, and offered their 
services, after the fall of Michillimackanack, in the reduction 
of Detroit. It is well k'1own, there are more than three thous­
and men employed by this company, and that their supplies are 
carried over lake Erie, and pas;; up Detroit river, and that their 
existence depended on keeping open that communicatil,n. And 
it appears by Mr. McKenzie's letter, one of the principal 
agents of that company, which has been recited, that they were 
prepared, with numerous hbsts of savages, to procp.ed against 
Detroit, whenever their services should become necessary. It 
further appears, by the letter of the Secretarvof War to Gener­
al Dearburn, which has been recited, that thOe savages had as­
sembled on the road, which I had opened from Ohio, and had 
stopped the militia which were escortinO' provisions to Detroit. 
1 will here recite an extract (If a letter, :hich I received from 
Colonel Andel'slIn, who cummanded at the river Raisin, dated 
the 4th of, August, which was in evidence on my trial, and is to 
be found III the 20th page of the appendix. 

"I am doubtful if the mail is not taken, but I hope not. I d. 
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all in my power to keep up the spirits of the inhabitant!!, which 
is all but exhausted. There is forty men on guard and patrole 
at this place, and ten at the other Creek, and will continue the 
same until further orders. \\" e are short of ammunition, if at­
tacked, please to keep a little for U!h if possible. I understand 
by good authority, that numbers of Indians, are passing on the 
heads of this river (meaning the river Raisin) and river Huron, 
on their way to Maillen; and I think if some phin is not taken 
soon, that they will be in thousands at that place before long, 
~c. &c. 

( Signed) JOH~ ANDERSON. 

P. S. In behalf of the inhabitants, I request you will not or­
der away any of the people from this place; for we are too few 
for its defence. If it was possible to be succoured, would be 
best. ( Signed) J. A. 

This letter was received after the reduction of Chicago, and 
it appeared that the Indians. who had taken that fort, with 
those from the western region, were marching to join those at 
Malden. 

" 

With respect to the British troops, militia, and savages of the 
province, they were unnecessl1ry at any other stations. because 
the armistice entered into by General Dearborn was then, and. 
had been for eight days in operation. General &'ock left the 
'Vital part of the province, where General Dearborn had estab­
lished a peace, and commanded in person the expedition against 
Detroit. He was a Major General in the British army, and had 
a high reputation as a military officer. On the success of this 
enterprize, not only his military fame, but thp, protection and 
safety of hiil province depended. Having these sources, and 
the means of augmenting his army, under his controul and au­
thority, I ask you whether it is possible for you to believe, that 
he did not make use of them, and assemble and order under his 
immediate command, before he mad", the invasion of our terri­
tory, a force competent to the object? At this time, I had re­
ceived no information of the armistice; yet I had received in­
formation from Generals Hall and Porter, who were in command 
on the Niagara river, that all the forces of every description 
from the east part of the province, were proceeding to Malden. 

When, therefore, General Brock had the means of augment­
ing; his al'my, with perfect safety to the other parts of his pro-
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vince, to at least ten times the numb~ of those under my com~ 
rna nd, and when on the 15th he appeared on the bank of the 
rivt'r at Sandwich, opposite to Detroit, and summoned me to' 
surrender the Fort of Detroit, and not only declared in his sum­
mons, tha1 his force justified him in making the demand, but· 
that the tribes of savages, which had joined his standar'd, were 
so numerous, that it would he impossible for hi~ to re~train 
them, the moment the contest commenced. I ask you, fellow 
citizens, whether the facts here stated, did not afford strong 
reasons for me to believe, that his forces were much superiour 
to mine, and competent to the object, which he had in view r 

To this summons, I however gave a decided answer~ that I 
should defend the fort; hoping to be able, before he made the 
invasion, to collect at Detroit, the detachment under the cQm­
mand of M' Arthur and Cass, which had marched. to the river 
Rail'ill, and other detachments, which were absent on other du­
ties. And I nnw again ask you, whether his landing with his 
armx the next morning, did not afford additional evidence of 
the rompetency of his force? 

The moment I received information of the arrival of General' 
Brock, '1 sent orders to M' Arthur and Cass, immediately to re·, 
turn to Detroit, and stated the reasons. OJ' the morning of the 
16th, when the invasion was made, I had received no informa­
tion from them. The route they marched, as I have before ob­
served, was about fifty miles through a wilderness. They were 
sent to procure the m~ans of subsistence, for my army. ¥ TI} 
satisfy, how easy he might have increased his numbers, 1 refer 
you to the testimony of Captain Eastman~ of the 4th regimentf 

whl} was a witness in behalf of the administratioIl; "that he was 
at Detroit, and says that fourteen hundred Indian warriours, ar­
rived as re-enforcements, a few days after the capitulation, from 
two stations only, viz. Saganau and Michillimackanack." The 
facts and circumstances he(e stated, furnish you with solid ma­
terials, to form a general estimate of the force, and strength 
which General Brock, at thl:o time, had it in his power to have 
brought against me; and 1 believe you will be satisfied that he 
availed himself of the advantages of collecting as large a force1 
as he deemed necessary for the object. 

* See page 100 of my trial. 
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In making your estimate on this subject, you will recollect, 
the orders General Dearborn had received, immediately after 
the declaration of war, to ord~r the troops under his co~mand 
to the Niagara river, and other suitable situations for the inva­
sion of Upper Canada, and he was likewise ordered only to 
make. a feint against Montreal, and not even a feint against 
Quebec. Fort George, and all the other British posts, on the 
east part .of Upper Canada, being thus threatened with invasion, 
and Quebec and Montreal, &c. not even being threatened, it re­
quires no evidence to prove, that the principal part of the Brit­
ish forces were drawn from those lower stations, to reo enforce 
.and support those which were in danger. 

From these facts, it may very fairly be presumr-d, that the 
principal part of the British forces were at these stations on the 
Niagara river, directlJ opposite to General Dearborn's army 
and only separated by the river. Let me then in the first place 
ask you, after peace was established with General Dearborn. to 
make your estimate of the British force, which General Brock 
might with the most perfect safety, have carried with him to 
Malden? 

In the next place, thE' population of Upper Canada at that 
time, was about one hundred thousand inhabitants. If only 
every tenth inhabitant was on the militia, the number would 
have amounted to ten thousand. I ask you to consider, under 
the quiet and peaceable circumstances of the E'ast part of the 
province, what number of militia, the British General and Gov­
ernour, might have taken wit.h him in his expedition for the de­
fence of the only part of his province wAich WitS invaded? 

Being the superintendant of Indian affairs, within the British 
territcr~es, and the numerous tribes of savages within our own 
country, having joined the British standard. I ask you to calcul­
ate what number of this description of force, it was in his power 
to have assembled, for his assistance? From knowleoge of the 
wealth and influence of the Northwest Company, and the nu­
merous Engagees in their service, and the deep interest t.hey 
had in opening the communication through the Detroit river, 
through which channel, they received their supplies, you will 
be able to juclge what aid, 'he might have received from that im­
portant establishment. 

After the fall of Michillimackanack and Chicago, the forces 
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which reduced those places, could have had no other o~ject, ex­
cepting the reduction of Detroit, lind those from Michillimack­
anack were descending the upper lakes, for the purpose, as ap­
pears by Mr. McKenzie's letter, and other testimony, and those 
from Chicago, and the we~tern wilderness were marching to the 
same place, as appears by the letter of Colonel Anderson, who 
commanded at the river Raisin, which has been recited. The 
river Raisin, it will be seen by looking on the map, is in the di­
Fect course from Chicago to Malden. 

I have taken this view of the subject, fellow citizens, to fur­
nish you with facts and materials, to assist you in forming a cor­
rect judgment of the forces, which the Hritish General, had it 
in his power, to have assembled, for the invasion of our territo­
ry, before I coulll have received any assistance, from any quar­
ter whatever. Perhaps I may be censured by critics, for repe­
tition and digression. I have no other object in. writing, but to 
£ommunicate the truth, and have it distinctly understood by all 
classes of my fellow citizens, even by the youngest children 
who attend our schools and to correct the erroneous statements 
which have been published. It is a fact which will appear evi­
dent from the testimony, which has been, and will be present­
ed, in the course of these memoirs, that many of the school 
books which are made use of for the education of the rising gen­
eration, contain the grossest falsehoods on this subject. It is a 
misfortune, which every good man will lament, that such books 
should be admitted into these most valuable of all our institu­
tions, and that any of the rising generation should be taught 
errour and indeed falsehood, instead of justice and truth, with 
respect to the history of our happy and prosperous republic. 

I shall now ask your attention, to a consideration of tpe evi· 
dence, which I shall offer, to satisfy you of the number of the 
forces, with wh\ch General Bl"Ock actually crossed the Detroit 
river, and invaded our territory on the morning of the 16th of 
August. 

In addition to the re enforcements, which attended him, from 
the east part of the province; he had all the forces which were 
at Malden, when he arrived; to ascertain that number. I will 
here offer to you the same evidence, which my prosecutors made 
u~e of at my trial, (viz:) the testimony of Lieutenant Forbush. 
Lleutenant Forbush was made a prisoner, in the Cayahoga pack-
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et, the 1st day of July, and remained at Malden until the 16th 
of August; he was then a Serjeant. and was promoted by the 
administration, to the rank of Lieutenant, two grades, bef(Jr~ he 
gave his testimony. He was selected and examined by the 
Judge advocate, to prove the numbers, which were at Malden, 
at the time mentioned, and which had been there, from the 1 st 
of July. I only examined him to prove the circumstances of 
the vessel being taken, and to ascertain the number of Indians, 
he counted at Malden, on the 15th of August. His'testimony 
was as here follows. 

"I was then Sergeant in the 4th regiment of Infantry, and 
had charge of the sick and of the hospi:al stores. The enemy 
permitted me to go about the works at Malden, and I was little 
restrained. I took every opportunity I could of counting them. 
The regulars, when I arrived, were from eighty to an hundred. 
From two hundred and fifty to three hundred militia. Perhaps 
three hundred to three hundred and fifty Indians." This force 
amounting to seven hundred and fifty, was at Malden, on the 
1st day of July, when my army was opening a road in the wil­
derness, seventy miles from Detroit, and befole I had receivelil 
any information of the declaration of war. 

Lieutenant Forbush then, being asked by the Judge Advocate 
what number of b'oops arrived at Malden afterwards, answerE-d, 
"There were in the Hunter thirty regulars, and in the Lady 
Prevost from thirty to forty regulars. This was about the 20th 
of July; and after the battle of Brownstown, there were three 
l1undred arrived in red coats." ThE-se regulars, ~r red coats, 
amount to three hundred and seventy, which added to the seven 
hundred and fifty which he testifies were at Malden the 1st of 
July, makes the number eleven hundred and twenty. He then 
says, "he counted in one body, on the 15th of August, s'x hun­
dred Indian warriours, passing up, (that is from Malden to 
Sandwich) some on horse-back, and some on foot." He further 
says, that from the 20th to the 30th of July, many of the militia 
went to their farms and returned, making as many as before; 
he then says, nine hundred was the whvle force at Malden, ex­
clusive of the red coats. By his former testimony, given in de­
tail, the red coats amounted to four hundred and seventy-add 
this to the nine hundred, makes thirteen hundred and seventy 
-add to this number thfil six hundred Indian warriours, which 

15 
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he counted at one time, and at one place, at Malden, on the 

15th, and it makes the whole numbet· nineteen hundred and 

seventy. . 
I wish this subject, viz. the numbers at Malden, exclusive 

ef the re-enforcements which arrived with G-eneral Brock, to be 
distinctly understood. General Brock, the latter part of the 
night of the 14th of August, marched from Malden tu Sandwich, 
with the British troops and militia, and arrived early in the 
morning of the 15th; and hundrediS of witnesses might be pro­
duced to prove, that a large body of Indians attended his army, 
and arrived at Sandwich at the same time. They were seen, 
indeed by my whole army on the opposite bank. I have stated 
this fact, because it may be possibly said, that the six hundred 
Indian warriours which Lieutenant Forbush counted at Malden 
on the 15th, and which on that day marched tu Sandwich, was 
the whole of the Indian force. Those which ill' counted on the 
15th at Malden, could haye been no part of those which march­
ing with General Brock, and were at Sandwich early in the morn­
ing of the same day, the distance being eighteen miles. I have 
made this statement, because three hundred and fifty Indians, 
by Lieutenant Forbush's testimony, were at Malden OR the 1st of 
July, and Were included in the whole number of nineteen hun­
dred amI seventy, which is made by a calculation on the details 
of his evidence. On the facts here stated, the judicious reader 
will be able to form a satisfactory estimate. 

With respect to the miiitia at Malden, there is no fact which 
can be more indisputable as to their number. Between the 20th 
and 30th of July, mauy of them deserted and came to my camp. 
Their uHltorm testimony was that when the approach of O'lr 
army was known, one thousand was ordered by the government 
to be detached, and re-enforce the station at Malden, and that 
~ine hundred out of the thoul;and ordered, actually arrived. It 
IS a well known fact, that about the 30th of July, a proclamation 
of pardon was issued; and by the testimony of Lieutenant For­
bush, .it appears they all returned. Many copies of this proc­
lamatIOn were seen in our camp; and besides the evidence I 
have here stated, complete proof of the number of militia de­
tached for the defence of Malilen, may be found on the records 
of Upper Canada. Thus it appears, by the the testimony of Lieu­
tenant Forbush, when examined by the Judge Advocate, the whole 
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numher at Malden was nineteen hundred and seventy, before the 
arrival of General Brock. with the re-enforcements which attend­
ed him from the east part of the province As I have no evi­
dence to determin~ precisely what those numbers were, I must 
leave the estimate to your judgment, under the circumstances 
which have been stated, Ii., it was peace in that quarter, and 
there was no occasion for any force whatever for the defence of 
that part of the province. In a:d'dition to the forces at Malden, 
and those which he- brought with him, he had all the sailors and 
marines which belonged to his navy, which, on the 15th of AIi­
gust, was anchored in the Detroit river, between lSandwich· 
and' the Spring Wells. Raving stated the number of vessels, 
with the number of cannon mounted on thein, and likewise a. 
number of armed !loats, suitable for those waters, and we hav­
ing not a single armed' boat to annoy them, and as consequent­
ly, the whole of their crews might have been, an actually were, 
employed in the laml service, I leave it to your judgment to 
determine their numbers. The detachment of British troops 
which marched across the country, under the comm!llld of Ma­
jor Chambers, with artillery,. collecting the militia al1d Inrlians 
on his rout, joined General Brock at' Sandwich. This number 
must have been several hundl-ed~. On the river Le Trench 
wa .. a large settlement conveniently situated to join his forces 
and the militia of that settlement were seen with the invading 
army at the time of the capitulation. From the facts here offer­
ed, and the evidence produced, you will have the means of 
forming for yourselves an opinion, with respect to hisnUlubers 
at Sand~ich, on the 15th of August. 

I will now state the testimony of Colonel Snelling, who was 
only a captain iri my army, who had been promoted by my pro.;. 
secutors" wh() was d~pendedon as a leading and principal wit­
ness in behalf of the prosecution, and had become my most ma­
lignant enemy. His testimony of the numbers of General 
Brock's army, on the 16th o( August, the day of the capitula­
tion, js as foIlows~ I'shall transcribe it, verbatim et literat'im; 
and it is to be fou,id in the 4'oth page of my trial. He says, 
U that he stood' at the c'omer of the slip leading to the gate of 
the fort, arid attempted to count the Brltisl; troops on entering 
the fort; that the troops in advance were the 41st regirriliiit; in 
platoons of fourteen tiles as well as the York. volcihteers, twen-
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ty-nine platoons, two deep in red. coats; that the militia pla­
toons, which were in the rear, consisted of no more than seven 
or eirrht files, and composed one third part of the whole force, 
prob:bly seven hundred and fifty whit~s; or.wh~c.h.t~~ remain­
ing two thirds were regulars and unulllformed mlhtta. .. 

Here Colonel Snelling swears, there were three descriptions 
of troops, viz. the British 41st regiment, the York volunteers in 
uniform, and the militia, not in uniform. He says the 41st regi­
ment and the York volunteers formed twenty-nine platoons 
of fourteen files ill each platoon, two deep, and in red 
toats. He then says, that the militia platoons, which followed 
in the rear, consisted of only seven or eight files. He does not 
say how many platoons the militia consisted of, but only men­
tions the number of files in each; and then states their whole 
nUinber to be seven hundred and fifty, which was one third part 
of their whole force. He. then says, in these identical words, 
that the remaining two thirds were regulars, and uniformed 
York volunteers. 

By this evidence, it appears, that the regulars and York vol­
unteers, in uniform amounted to only fifteen hundred; to which I 

add seven hundred and fifty, which was the number of the 
ununiformed militia, and was one third part of the whole 
white force, makes the whole force of regulars, uniformed York 
volunteers, and militia, two thousand two hundred and fifty. 

In this number the Indians are not included; for, in his fur­
ther testimony, he says, he supposed the Indian force was more 
than one hundred and fifty, although he only saw that number, 
drawn up to fire a salute, as he understood. As he says that he 
saw only one hundred and fifty drawn up in a body, to fire a sa­
Iut.e, and supposed there were more. no correct estimate can be 
formed of the Indian torce from his testimony. 

As Lieutenant Forbush counted, at one time, and at one 
place, in a body, six hundred Indian warriours, on the 15th at 
Malde~; and as it is well known there was a large body at 
~andwI.ch, at the same time, with General Brock, the testimony 
IS posltLVe that there were six hundred; for when they were 
counted, they were marching to join the General at Sandwich. 
What number were before with the General, I cannot give an 
exact account. 

Only by adding the six hundred, and leaving those who 
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marched up wi.th General Brock out of the estimate, would 
make his whole number, on the morning of the 16th, two thou­
sand eight hur.dred and twenty-five. These were the troops 
which marched into the fort, excepting the Indians. It is well 
known a number were left in the forts on the opposite bank, as 
there was an incessant fire from those 'forts, until the capitula­
tiCln took place, and they were distinctly seen. I have no doc­
mrnt to show the exact number left on the opposite bank. It 
is likewise well known, that as soon as the capitulation took 
place, and before the troops marched into the fort, guards were 
placed around the town and fort, to prevent the Indians from 
taking the horses into the woods, and likewise to protect the 
inhabitants from them. This is the positive testimony of the 
witnesses in behalf of my prosecutors, stated in detail, and the 
calculation is made on the facts to which they testified. From 
examining the whole of the testimony which they gave on the 
other charges, it will be seen that they were no friends to me, 
and that they wished to make General Brock's force as small 
as possible. 

Major Jessup and the other witnesses, who were examined 
on this subject, said they did Dot count the enemy's forces, and 
did not know their numbers, and could only state their general 
impressions. 'Vhatever those impressions were, ought not to 
have weight against the positive testimony of those who counted 
them. Even any opinions which may have been expressed by 
those who counted them, ought not to have influence, if they 
vary from the detailed facts to which they testified. It on­
l,v shows they were not correct mathematicians, I have suf­
fered so much by the opinions of interested witnesses, that I 
hope correct calculations will now be made on facts, and OB 

them a judgment will be formed. It was my intention, in this 
Dumber, to have stated and given you evidence of my force at 
this time, but I find it cannot be contained in one ·paper. I 
must therefore defer it to the next, with the hope that this will 
particularly be kept in mind when the next is presented. 
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No. XXVII. 
1 SHALL exhibit to you from the best evidence which can be 0&· 

tained, the number and quality of the forces under my com­
mand, and at my disposal, on the morning of the 16th of August,. 
when General Brock invaded our territory with the forces which 
have been described in the former number.-To avoid rBpeti­
tion, I must ask you to examine number 16, where will be 
found a general statemtnt of my force before the army retreat­
ed from the Canada shore. It will appear that the original num­
ber ordered by the President, and pl~ed under my command 
when I commenced my march from Dayton. in the state of 
Ohio, was twelve hundred militia, and the 4th United States' 
Regiment, consisting of about three hundred, according to Colo­
nel Miller's testimony, who commanded the regiment. In ad­
dition to these forces there was a small number of voluntpers 
unauthorized by the President's order to Governor Meigs: they 
were the associates @.nd neighbours of Colonel McArthur and 
Cass, and I took the responsibility of including them in the 
return, that they might draw provisions, as they had no other 
mode of obtaining them in marching through the wilderness. 
I did not consider them subject to my authority, and they re­
fused obedience to orders, when offensive operations were c01li~ 
menced, as appears by evidence on my trial. Being Governour 
of the territory of Michis;an, its militia was subject to myau­
thority. The number of white inhabitants of all descriptions. 
from which a militia could have been drawn. was between foui 
and five thousand, as appeared on my trial~ by the officer who 
took the census, and these were settled on the borders' of the 
lakes and rivets, an extent of five hundred miles from the 
Miama to the sault of St. Mary, the outlet of Lake Superiour.: 
The few regular troops, which in time of peace consisted' of 
about fifty, in the garrison at Detroit, were likewise subject to' 
my command; I had no authority to employ the Indians in our 
service-Here is exhibited all the forces of which my army con­
sisted, when I commenced the march from Ohio, and all the 
sources from which any additions could have been drawn. It 
was in evidence on my trial, that three block houses were built 
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by the army in its march through the wilderness, and garrisoned 
by the troops; their situations may be seen on some of the maps 
of the country t"ecently made; that a stockade furt was likewise 
built on the bank of the Miami, and a subaltern officer and thir­
ty men wer~ left for its defence, by order of the Secretary of 
'War. 

That abollt sixty were made prisoners in the vessel, on her , 
passage from Miami to Detroit, under the command of Lieuten­
ant Forbush.: as he says there were as many as the vessel could 
carry, which must have been at least that number. [See Lieu­
tenant Forbush's Testimony, page 145 of my trial.J 

A number were left sick at the river Raisin; having lost my 
papers as before mentioned, which contained the daily reports 
of the sick, and the state of the troops, I cannot ascertain the 
exact n\lmber; according to my best recollection it was not less 
than twenty-five, and they never afterwards joined the army. 
In several rencounters near Malden, a number were killed and 
wounded-the exact number I cannot ascertain for the reason 
above stated. 

On the 4th of August, according to the testimony of Lieu­
tenant Colonel Vanhorn, a detachment under his command was 
attacked by the Indians near Brownstown, and eighteen were 
killed, twelve wounded. and above seventy missing, a part of 
which number afterwards returned to the camp. [See report of 
my trial, page 70.J 

On the 8th of August, in the action 0:1 the bank of the De­
troit river, between Maguago and Brownstown, where Colonel 
Miller commanded, the killed amI wounded on our side was 
eighty-one, according to Colonel Miller's testimony. [See page 
108, of the report of my trial.J 

I will now consider the situation 'of the detachment under 
the command of Colonels McArthur and Cass at this time. On 
the 14th of August, this detachment marched from Detroit, and 
as Colonel Miller, with six hundred of the best men of the 
army, on the 8th of August, had not been able to open the com­
munication to the river Raisin, ,I directed these two Colonels 
to take all the effective men of their regiments, and make an­
other attempt. Having received information that there was an 
Indian path through the wilderness, to avoid being attacked 
from Malden~ in passing that garrison at Brownstown, I thought 
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it expedient to direct Colonel McArthur to take that rout. 011 
this rout, the distance from Det~oit to the river Raisin was about 

fifty miles. 
At this time, not having recei ved information of the arrival of 

General Brock, with the re-enforcements from fort Erie, and a 
number of cattle having arrived at the river Raisin, for my 
army, guarded by a company of militia, I then thought, and 
now think, under the circumstances which existed, the measure 
of ordering this detachment was expedient. On the morning of 
the 16tH, when General Brock landed at the Spring Wells; 
under cover of his naval armament, I had received no informa· 
tion of this detachment; I had therefore the strongest reasons 
to believe, as they had been absent two days, that they were at 
that time at the river Raisin, fifty miles from Detroit, the rout 
they marched, and thirty by the way of Brownstown. As Colo­
nels McArthur and Cass were going themselves on this hazard­
ous enterprize, and as they had an authority to select all the 
effective men of their regiments, I ask you whether, under these 
cireumstances, they would, and did not t::>.ke all that they 
thought would be useful and necessary to effect the object 
There is another reason which is conclusive, in my mind, that 
they did. On the 15th of August, after I had received infor· 
mation of the arrival of General Brock, the remainder of these / 
two regiments which were left behind, were paraded, and I ex· 
amined them: the number was very small, and I saw none but 
sickly invalids. 

I believe the situation of this detachment, whieh must have 
amounted to more than four hundred of the most ... ffective men 
of the Ohio regiments, will, by every candid I"eader, be con­
sidered such, that in case of an action at Detroit, I could have 
had no assistance from them. 

Colonel Cass, in his letter to the govel'llment, stated, that 
the number in the detachment amounted to three hundred and 
fifty .. Colonel McArthur, in his testimony before the Court 
Martial, says, he received an order froUl me to detach from his 
Fegiment one hundred and fifty. 

I ask why he did not produce the order to prove the fa~t? 
The loss of my papers, in the manner I have stated, is the 

reason why I do not produce i.t. 

Having thus stated the numbers, which were ordered for 
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my command. by the government, it will be proper in estimat­
ing my forces on the 16th of Au~ust, to upuuct. those which 
were left to garrison the block housel'; those who were made 
prisoners in the vessel on the 1st of July, those killed, wound­
ed, and missi-ng, in the different actions at the river Au-t 'anard, 
and at other places, betwel!n Sandwich and Malden; and like­
wise, those who were killed, wounded, and missing in the two 
actions at Mal!;uago and Brownstown, where Colonel Vanhorn 
and Colonel Miller commanded. 

When you have before you the fact, proved by the testimony 
of Colonel Anderson, who commanded the militia at the river 
Raisin. that the whole of them Wf're not sufficient for the pro­
tection of that settlement, and he requested succour from De­
troit, for safety to the inhabitants; when :vou likewise consider, 
that in addition to the militia at the Miami, I was obligpd, by 
the orders of the government, to leave an officer and thirty men, 
for the protection of that settlement; when you likewise con­
sider the scattered situation of the other inhabitants of the ter­
ritory, surrounded by Indian villages, on all sides of them; and 
further that a part of those belonging to the settlempnt at De­
troit, joi:led the British forces, as soon as they landed; and the 
further information, I received, that the whole would desert 
and join them, I cheerfully submit to your judgment, under 
these facts and circumstances, whether I had a right to calcu-

t 
late on any assistance fWIll these militia ;-and rather, as I had 
been informed a part of them had joined the enemy, and their 
Colonel gave it, as his opinion that the whole would join them, 
whether I had not grounds to believe, that they would add to 
,the enemy's force. r 

In making your estimate of my effective force, it will be pro­
iPel'~ ~nd I am sure you will take into consideration, that as it 
was then the middle of Augusi'; the sickly season of the year; 
and as" by the capture of the vessel, we had lost all our medical 
stores, and there was no possibility of obtaining the least supply, 
from any quarter whatever, and as the country was liable to 
agues and fevers, that a pr~portion of the troops, mutst have 
been sickly and non-effective. 

I have presented this statement, to furnish you with the means 
of determining, how much my army ll1ust have been reduced, 
on the 16th of August, and of comparing the opinions, you may 

16 
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form on the facts thus exhibited, with the other evidence, I sban 
now olfer. 

The evidence, which I shall now offer, is the evidence. of 
Major Jessup, who then acted as the Adjutant-General of my 
army, and is now the Quarter-Master Gen~ral of the United 
States.-\Yith respect to other testimony, I have referred to 
the report of my trial. I have done this, because, that book is 
in circulation, and any reader, who is desirous of comparing the 
documents, and evidence, which I have stated~ can more easily 
obtain it, and make the comparison, than from the records, in 
the office at \Yashington, where is to be found only one copy, 
and that in manuscript. Colonel Forbes, who published the 
Report. was one of the members of the Court Martial, and the 
documents, as well as my defence, were furnished him, by the 
administration, from the records of the government. 

As ~ajor Jessup was the acting Adjutant General, it was his 
official duty, to make a return to me, when ordered, of tire 
whole force, under my command--He was ordered at this time, 
to do it. In examining his testimony, I find there is a variance, 
between the report of my trial, and the copy I have obtained 
from the Adjutant-Gener~l's office, taken from the records, by 
an order from Mr. Calhoun, the Secretary of war. I shall 
therefore transcribe, precisely from both, that the varia'nce may 
be seen, and if one is mllre favourable to me than the other, ' 
that I have no disposition, to take advantage of it. 

In the first place I will tt'anscribe from the report of my trial, 
his testimony with respect to my numbers-It will be fmlnd in 
page 9.t. "Major Jessup stated, that he had received a report 
from different Adjutants of different corps, estill!ating the men, 
fit for action, and thinks that the amount, (as stated in General 
Cass' letTer) exceeded a thousand men, including the Michigan 
militia of four hundred, and the detachments absent with Colo- . 
nels Cass and Me Arthur; perhaps, this estimation, includert 
tbe Michig:m legion, which on an occasion, when he had tWG 

, companies of them under his co~mand, behaved itS well as any 
troops he ever saw, having formpd on an island, where some 
fighting was expt'cted, in the most regular manner.-There were 
also on the evening, of the 15th about thirty or forty armed 
wagunners ." 

Before I make any comments, I will transcribe the same evi-
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dence precisely, from the copy I r~ceived, fl'om: the Adjutant 
General's office. It is as follows :-

" On the evening of the 15th, I recrived an estimate, of the 
Adjutants of the different corps, of the men, fit for action. The 
force. I think, exceeded a thousand. I gave Colonel Cass a 
statement of it the next day after the surrender. I subsequent. 
ly saw a letter published, said to have been written by Colonel 
Cass, in whicll the number was st.atrd, I think, according to the 
statement I furnished him. I am not certain whether the Mich­
igan legion were included in the estimate, but the militia 
were 110t, It is my impression that the Michigan legion were. 
I suppose there were four hundred at least of the Michigan 
militia under arms at the time, and I believe thel e were 
more. I was once out on a detachment, with a part of 
the Michigan legion,-we had to go on to an island, where 
we expected to be fired oJ.1, the moment we landed. They land­
ed and formed with as great regularity as any regular troops I 
ever saw." He then mentions the same number of armell 
wagonners, a,s stated in the report of the trial. 

You here have before you, fellow citizens, the number of 
forces ordered for my command hy the President, in the first 
instance, and the various cat;)ualties by which it was reduced. 
You likewise have the testimony of the Adjutant General, the 
official officer, whose duty it was to make a return of the whole 
number to me. 

In the first place, my fellow citizens, as I stand before you as 
judges, and I know that I now stand before a candid, impartial, 
and intelligent tribu,nal, I ask you to make your calculations, 
of the numbers of my effective forces at Detroit, on the 16th of 
August, on the facts which I have exhibited, viz. the number 
and quality of troops ordered by the government; the few uu­
authGrized volunteers, who joined the army on the march; the 
f~w regulars, whieh had been stationed in the fort of Detroit, 
i,n time of peace; and the militia which could have been drawn 
from the whole popUlation of the territory, which population 
eonsisted of little more than four thousand souls, From this 
fOl'ce then deduct the number left in three block houses, and a 
stockade fort, at the river Miami, established to assist in pre~ 
serving the communication to Ohio; those made prisoners in 
the C8:yahoga packet; the sick which were left at the river 
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Rai"in; the killed and wounded at several rencotmters, at the 
river Au-Candrd, alld between Malden and Sandwich; the 
killed, wounded and mi~sing, 'in the action at Brownstown, un: 
der the command of Colollel Vanhorn; likewise the killed and 
wounded in the battIe between Maguago and Brownstown, un­
cleI' the cpmmalld of Colonel MIller; likewise Colonels McAr­
thur and C S3' detachments, which marched on the 14th of 
August, to the river Raisin, to open the communication, and 
ootalll provisions; and likewise the state of the Michigan mi­
litia-that a part of them had joined the enemy's forces, with 
their arms in their hands, whe!! they first landed, and the infor­
mation I had receIved from their Colonel, that the whole num­
ber would join them; likewise the number which at this season 
were sick, being without medicine, or even necessary comforts. 
Of al\ these facts. you have e\idence, in the course of the fore­
going numbers; and without giving any opinion, I ask you to 
form a judgment for yourselves. 

I shall now consider the testimony of Major Jessup, the offi­
cial officer, and acting Adjutant General, on the subject of the 
nun;bel's ot my army at this time. 

He says. that on the 15th of August, he had received a report 
from the A djutants of the different corps, and the amount ex­
ceeded a thousand men, (as stated in General Cass' letter.) 
That letter stated the number, by that report, to be a thousand 
and sixty. Colonel Cass' letter. however, ought not to be con­
sidered as any eviller.ce. He was not under oath when he 
wrole it. As, however, that part of it which relates to my 
nU;.Ibcrs is confirmed by the tp,stimony of Major Jessup, I am 
willing to admit, under the explanation which he afterwards 
mad .. , the correctness of it. He says, in these identical 
words, ,. exceeded a thousand men, including the Michigan 
militia, of four hundred, and the detachments absent with Colo­
nels Cass and McArthur." He then says, "perhaps this esti­
mate includes the Michigan legion." He afterwards states, 
"t' b t ,. C nere were a ou t lll'ty or lorty armed wagonners." 

By referring to Colonel Cass' letter. published in the report. 
of my trial, you will perceive, he says, there were three hun­
~red and fifty in the detachment; and Major Jessup, in his te6-
tllllOny. says, that this detachment was included in the one 
thousand; it consequently ought .to be deductetl, havin" been 
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absent two days, under orders to march to the river naisin. 
This will reduce my number to seven hundred jlnd ten. He 
also says, there wl2're about thirty or forty wagonners armed that 
evelililg; say thirty-five, which makes the whole number seven 
hundred and forty·five. 

About half of these, aC~Ol'ding to his testimony, were Michi­
gan miiitia; and 1 have produced evidence, that a part of them, 
with their arms, joined the enemy the next morning, and that 
their Colonel informed me the whole of them would desert. 
Theref()t'e they ought not only to be deducted from my numbers, . 
but ;tdded to the enemy's. 

ThIS. I lh~lieve you will be of the opinion, is the OiIly fair ex­
planation which can be given of the testimony of Major Jessup, 
the Adjutant General, as reported in my trial, by Colonel 
Forbes, one of the members of the Court Martial, who was fur­
ni,;hed with my defence, and other documents, by the govern­
ment, and published under the auspices of the administration. 

By comparing the two statements, both of which have been 
literally transcribed, it will be seen, that theie is this variance-

In the one, taken from the report of my trial, Major Jessup 
says. that the Michigan militia was included, and made part of 
the whole force, viz. one thousand and sixty. In the other, 
taken from the records furnished by order of Mr. Calhoun, he 
says, expressly, that it was his impression, the Michigan legion 
was included in the one thousand and sixty, and the militia 
(which must have been the other part of the militia) were not. 
This legion, as it is called, was a part of the four hundred 
Michigan militia, and it is very immaterial whether the men 
who composed them were included or not, for the reasons which 
have bl'en just stated, as they added to the force of the enemy. 

Perhaps the inquiry may be made, in what manner General 
Brock, in his official report to his government, made the number 
of prisoners so much gt'eater? Such an inquiry is easily an­
swered. All the prisoners from Michilimackinack were at 
Detroit on their parole, and included in the number. All the 
militia at the river Raisin, and in every part of the territory; 
all persons, indeed, of every description, who were found at 
Detroit, were in his power, and considere~ as prisoners. It 
was easy for him to make the numbers as large as he -pleased, 
He hall, indeed, a great object in making them as large as pos-
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sible. His official' communication was to be sent to Londoij!, 
and presented to his Majesty, the fuuntain of distinctions and, 
honours. In proportion as the achievement could be magnified, 
he expected distinctions and honours would be conferred. In 
this he was not disappointed; the order of knighthood was con­
ferred on him, as soon as his dispatche~ were received. 

From the statement and evidence uffered for your considera­
tion in this and the former number, I have the happiness to b~ 
lieve you will be satisfied, that the pledge which I ga,ve in my 
second number, viz. that I would prove to your satisfaction" 
that on the 1 tith of August, 1812, General Brock invaded our 
territory, with more than double the effective force which I had 
to oppose to it, has more than been redeemed; and, if I had 
pledged myself to have proved that he had at that time more than 
three times my effective furce, the statement would have been 
correct. On the evidence furnished by the administration, my 
prosecutors, I could not have carried into the field one third 
part of the £('rce with which our territory was invaded; and as 
the suspension of hostilities, was at that time in full operation, 
in every othet· part of Canada, and all the British troops, militia 
of the province, and all the savages, were subject to the au­
thority of the British General, and were moving in all directions 
to the only point where their services were necessary, I aga~n 
ask you, whether you are not fully satisfied, that his army migbt 
have been I'e-enforced to much more than double the numbers 
then present, before I could, by any posibility, have received 
assistance? 

No. XXVIII. 
PERHAPS, after reading the two last numbers, in which were 

exhibited evidence of General Brock's forces, and those under 
my command, an inquiry may be made, why this statement and 
evidence was not presented more particularly in my defence r 
to satisfy you in relation to such an inquiry, it will be perceiv:­
ed the whole of the evidence llOW exhibited was noi befor-e the 
Court Martial, and the part which was, I expected the member. 
would critically examine, and form their judgment$ on the frtCt8 
which were proved, and not on the opinion8 of tiw. wltJ!,esses. 
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There was anothel" reason, which was the principal Gne; vi2'H 
the very shGrt tin.e allG\\ ed bj the Caurt, tG prepare my de. 
fence. 

The evidence was clGsed Gn Friday, the 11th day Gf Februa­
ry, and the CQurt met agaiTl the next Tuesday-a Sabbath in­
tervened, which Gught tG be devGted tG the wQrship Gf Gur GGd. 
CGnsequently, I had GRly Saturday and Monday, tG arrange all 
the evidence, bQth written and oral, which had Gccupied thil'ty­
tWG days in presenting to the Court, where I had cGnstantly 
attended at the bar, in examining witnesses, &c. without any 
assistance. This 'evidence was to be applied tQ a volume of 
charges and specifications; and th'e administration, my prosecu­
tQrs, had employed two of the mQst eminent CounsellQrs in the 
United States, tQ assist the Judge Advocate in preparing these 
charges and in hunting up and examining witnesses, and taking 
down minutes Qf their testimony, long before the trial com­
menced. 

I believe no law can be f~)Und, authorizing the emplGyment 
of these Counsellors, or the payment of the large sums of public 
mGney, they received fGr their services. 

Until the ,whOle Gf the testimony was Qffered it was impGssi­
ble tQ make an arrangement of it, and apply it tG the numerQUS 
charges. Every day witnesses were examined Gn all the differ­
ent specificatiGns. I have nGt made this statement tG iUlpiicate 
the cGnduct of the Couxt in this particular, as I did nGt U1'ge fQr 
a IGnger time. The reaSGn why I did not, was, that every ap­
plicatiQn Gf any impGrtance, which I had made during the whGle 

trial, had belln denied---I therefGre thGught it would be a useless 
waste Gf time. I ha.ve unly stated this fact as a reaSGn, why 
my defence was nQt presented in su clear, partkular, awl intel­
ligible a manner, as it migl.t have been, had mGre time been al­
lowed. It was impossible tG arrange such a mass of testimuny 
in so short a time, as tu have the case distinctly understQud by 
the mQst attentive readers. These are reaSQns, why my case 

has not been mure clearly and fully 'explained. 
In a furmer number, I referred tu the convention of Saratoga, 

tG show the fatal cQnsequences of an army being ordered intG a 
situation where its communication with its magazine!! cannGt 

be .... eserved. r', ;tit • 
As tile events Gf the northern campaign, in 1777, are an im-
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portant portion of the history of our revolution, and as in many 
respects, there appears to be a similarity between the mi~t'or· 
tunes, which attended the army, commanded by General Bu.r. 
goyne and the case which I have presented for your considera­
tion, it may afford some illustrations of the subject, to describe 
them, and trace the similarity. 

The invasion of the United States, in the year 1777. from 
Canada. was a favourite object of the British administration, 
planned in the cabinet of London, and the executiolJ (Jf it com­
mitted to General Burgoyne. Early in the spring of that ,Year, 
he advanced from Canada with a large army. as distinguished 
for character and discipline, as, perhaps, that nation ever fur­
nished. Attached to his command were the fanadian militia, 
and savages of the northern and western regions. Distinguish. 
ed, not only by his talents, as a civilian, but by long experience 
in the wars of Europe, and having acquired the highest reputa­
tion, as a military commander, he was selected for this impor­
tant command. Aided by a naval force on lake Champlain, he 
passed over those waters, and possessed himself of Tyconderoga •. 
Calculating on assistance, and cQ-operation with the army un­
der the cOlhmand of Sir Henry flinton, in New York, and ex­
pecting to form a junction with that army, <1t Albany. he pene­
trated to the Hudson, and crossed that river, at fort Edward. 
If his communication should be cut off from his magazines in 
Canada, he expected when a junction was formed with the army 
at New York, it would be opened for the supply of his army, 
from those below. Not receiving that co-operation, on which 
he depended, and his communication between his army, and his, 
magazines in Canada, being intercepted by tht' American forces, 
he considereu it his duty to accept the best terms which could 

.. be obtained; and surrendered his army as prisoners of war, un­
der a convention, to which the American General acceded. 
This was occassioned by the want of co-operation un the part 
of his superiour officer, from New York. 1 ask you, my fellow 
citizens, to compare the two cases, and although it may be said_, 
it is comparing great things with small, yet they depend on the 
same principle, and are offered as an illustration of the subject 
under review. I was ordered to make the invasion of Upper 
Canada, from Detroit. General urgoyne was ordered to in­
vade the United States, fl'om t:anada. . After my army invaded 
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Canada, its communication was cut off, by the enemy's naval 
force on lake Erie, and his land forces, and savages, on the 
road which had been opened from Ohio, and no supplies could 
be obtained from any magazines from my country. After Gen­
eral Burgoyne's army invaded the United States, and advanc­
ed to Saratoga, his communication was intercepted from his 
magazines in Canada, and no supplies could be obt.ained from 
that quarter. 

It was a part of the plan of the campaign in 181£, that Gen­
eral Dearborn should. cross the Niagara river and co operate 
with me, with an army sullicient for the conquest of Upper 
Canada, by which event, my communication would have been 
opened to the magazines, in our country on the Niagara river. 
Had Sir Henry Clinton successfully co-operated with Gelleral 
Burgoyne, his communication would have been opened to his 
magazines in New York, from which his army would have re­
ceived its supplies. The want of that co-operation alone be­
came fatal to Burgoyne. I had no communication with my 
country, excepting through lake Erie, and the road I had open­
ed through the wilderness to Ohio. After the declaration of 
war lake Erie was closed against me, by the enemy, and the 
road by the savages. As Gencral Dearborn neglected to assist 
amI co-operate with me, my communication bcing entirely in­
tercepted, I considered it my duty to negotiate and accept the 
best terms which could be obtained. 

Thus far there appears to be a similarity between the two 
tases. Had General Washington at that time proposed to Sir 
William Howe, who commanded the British army, an armistice, 
and had it been agreed to, without including General Bur· 
goyne's army, the similarity \\-ould have continued ;-and in an 
event of that kind General Washington might have marched his 
whole army, or as large a part as he deemed necessary to have 
assisted General Gates with the most perfect safety to the other 
parts of the country, and at once overwhelmed General Bur-

. goyne~s army. By a calculation on the subject it will appear, 
that General Burgoyne had a larger force, in proportion to Gen­
eral Gates'than I had in proportion to General Brock's. 

The surrender of General Burgoyne's army, was occasioned 
by the want of co-operation, from the army at New York, com­
manded by Sir Hemy Clinton; and I am satisfied, you will be 

1T 
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fully convinced, that the disasters of my army were caused by 
the neO"lect of General Dearborn, in not assisting and co-operat.; 

"' ing with me as he was ordered. 
I will now ask your indulgence, for a moment, in examining 

the conduct of the "British administration towards this unf~rtun­
ate General. I do it with a view to contrast it with the treat­
ment I have received from the administration under which I serv­
ed. This treatment is so well known to you, that it is unnec· 
essary to repeat it. Indeed, no language can describe the base 
injustice I ha ve experienced, 01' the vile and disgraceful mo­
tives from which such injustice originated. 

Let me then ask you whether the officers of the British Ad­
ministration received and published to the nation and to the 
world, an official account of the causes of that surrender, from 
a subordinate officer, before that of the commander of ~he army 
was received and published? Were capital charges in the first 
instance, exhibited against General Burgoyne; and was Sir 
William Howe, whose duty it was to have assisted and co-oper­
ated with him, and who was deeply interested in the event of 
an inquiry. appointed President of a court martial for his trial? 
Did General Burgoyne's officers, selected as witnesses, receive 
the patronage of the British administration, by being promoted 
two or three grades, to prepare them to give the most unfavo1l.r­
able testimony against him? Were the newspapers of England, 
by the influence of the administration, filled with false and 
scandalous accounts of his condud, and the oaths and affirma­
tions of every unprincipled adventurer and follower of his army, 
taken and circulated to excite the clamour of the nation against 
him? 

No, fellow citiZens, the officers of the administration of the 
natiun from which you descended, harl too mIlch honour and 
justice to make use of such dishnnourable practices even for 
their own preservation in office. As, however, they knew that 
an inquiry would produce a re-action on themselves, who form­
ed the plan of the campaign, and on Sir 'WiIliam Howe, the 
commander in chief of the army, who neglected to co-operate, 
or to provide the necessary means of co-operation, with General 
B~rgoyne, no trial was ordered, and he retired to private lifet 

WIth the esteem and affecti~n of his fellow citizens. 

He was the unsuccessful general, and as the plan of the cam-
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paign had been formed by the officers of the administration, and 
its want of success, had excited a clamour ill the nation, it was 
well known, that the public censure would have rested on them, 
and the generals who had neglected to co-operate with him, had 
a trial been ord~r .. d. That nation would never have suffered 
such an outrage on justice as has been here practised. 

By examining the most r.elebrated historians of the war of 
Our revolution, it will be seen, that the causes of the disasters 
of General Burgoyne's army are attributable to the want of the 

_ co-operation which was expected. 
In proof of this declaration, I will here transcribe a few sen­

tences from Botta's history of the war of our independence, 
translated by our countryman G. A. Otis, Esq.; a work highly 
creditable, both to the author and translator, as well as to the 
rising literature of our country. 

Speaking of Burgoyne's expedition, he remarks, "that its 
success depended on the combined -efforts of the generals who 
commanded on the lakes, and of those who had the manage­
ment of the war in the State of New York. But far from mo\'­
ing in concert, when one advanced, the other retired. 'Vhen 
Carleton had obtained the 'Command of the lakes. Howe, instead 
of ascending the Hudson towards Albaby, carried his arms in­
to New Jerl'iey, and advanced upon the j'elaware. When, af­
terwards, Burgoyne entered Tyconderoga in triumph, Howe 
embarked upon the expedition against Philadelphia; and thus 
the army of Canada was deprived of the assistance it expected 
from New York." 

The author then makes the following reflections: "Perhaps 
Howe imagined, that the reduction of such a city as Philadelphia, 
would so confound the Americans and so derange their plans, 
that they would either easily submit, or make but a feeble re­
sistance. Perhaps, also, he believed, that by attacking the centre, 
and as it were the very heart of the confederation, he effected 
the most useful diversion in favour of the army of the north, 
thereby depriving the Americans of the ability to oppose it with 
-a sufficient force upon the Hudson. Finally, it is not impossi­
ble, that, listening to his ambition, he had flattel"ed himself, that 
with his own means alone. he could acquire the exclusive glory 

-of having put an end to the war. But whatever might have 
tleen the importance of the acquisition of Philadelphia, ellery 
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one must readily perceive how much greater was that of the 
junction at Albany of the two armies of Canada and New York. 
It was very doubtful, whether the conquest of a sIngle city 
would decide the issue of the war; whel'eas the junct.ion af the 
armies offered almost an assurance of it." In the next page it 
is further observed, "Perhaps, also, (speaking of the Britisll 
administrati@) they erred in this, that having too great confi­
dence in the reputation, rank, and military experi~l'lce of Sir 
'William Howe, they neglected to send him more minute in.­
structions. For it appears by the best informatitln we have 
found on this subject, that the orders given to that general 
in regard to his co-operation ""ith the army of Canada,. w{'l'(~ 

rather discretioll9.ry than absolute; but all the ruin of the enter­
prize is clearly attributable to this '/{Jant of co-operation." 

Sir William Howe had taken so large a portion of the army 
from New York, in his expedition to Philadelphia, that it pro­
bably was not in the power of Sir Henry Clinton, consi .. tent 
with the safety of the posts below, to en-operate with GenerM 
Burgoyne. After these events took place, Sir William Howe 
was recalled, and the command of the army given to Sir Henry 
Clinton. General Howe's conduct was severely censured by 
the British government, for not supporting and co-()per~ting 
with General Burgoyne. 

Thus it appears, that Sir William Howe was censured by his 
government, and recalled from his command, for not taking 
mea.sures to assist and' co-operate with General Burgoyne~s 
army, when, as it appears~ his orders were only discretionarJ! 
on the subject. 

I now ask you to com,ider the case of General Dearborn. He 
rl.'tained the confidence of the administration, and was continu­
ed in his command; although he took no measures to co-operate 
with my army, although his orders' were J1o,~itive to do it. 

Although it appears by the authority af this historian, thatSir 
'~illiam Howe ha-d not received positive orders to co-oparat-e 
WIth General BU1'goyne; and although he had not made an av­
mistice with General Washington, which left aU the forces of 
the United States at liberty to have m3il'ched and joined' Gen­
eral Gates' army against General Burgoyne~ yet I will here ap­
ply the same refiecti<llls in relation to the disasters of 1812, and 
on General Dearborn's co-nduet, as the historialt- hu made ell 
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the events of the campaign of 1777, and on S~r 'William Howe'5i 
'Conduct. In relatien to the events of 1812, it will thus stand. 
,H That the conquest of Upper Canada depended on the combin­
oed efforts of the generals who commanded on the east and west 
side of lake Erie. That when I crossed the Detroit river, and 
invdued Canada on the west side, General Dearborn advanced 
the priQcipal part of his army to Plattsburg and Burlington, in 
the direction of Mlmtreal. Perhaps General Dearborn imagin­
-ed. that even the appearance of the reduction of s-uch a city as 
Montreal, would so confound the Canadians and so derange 
their plans, that :hey would either easily submit, or make but a 
feeble resistance. Perhaps, also, he believed, that by attacking 
the centre, and as it were the very heart of the province, he ef­
fected the most useful diversion in favour of the northwestern . 
.army, thereby depriving the Canadians of th~ ability to oppose 
it, with sufficient force, on the Detroit river. Finally, (as the 
historian observes, only changing names) it is not impossible, that 
General Dearborn, listening to his ambition, had fiatttred him­
self, that with his own means alone, he could aequire the ex­
;clusive glory of having put an end to the war." 

I will continue the same reflections as the historian has Ihade 
in the other case, and you, my fellow citizens, will judge how 
far they are applicable: "But whatever might have been the 
importance of the acquisition of Montreal, (waving the probabil­
ity of obtaining it) everyone must readily perceive how much 
greater was that of,the junction of the two armies in the centre 
of the upper province. It was very duubtful, whether the con­
quest of 1:'_ single city would decide the issue of the war; where­
.as the junction of the two armies offet'ed almost an assurance 
Qf it. Perhaps they erred (only changing the British for the 
American administrati.on) in this, in placing too great confidence 
in the reputation, rank and military experience of General 
Dearborn. But all tlre ruin of tlte enterprize is clearly attj'ibut­
-able to t!tis want of co-operation." 

If the observations made by this celebrated historian, in the 
case which he was reviewing are correct, the same observations 
will more strongly apply to the case here presented to your 
'Consideration, because General Dearborn had particular instruc­
tions which he did not comply with, but agreed to a suspensitln 
Qf hostUities~ 
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1f Sir William Howe was thus censured and recalled from his 
ol;ommand, when his orders were only discretionary with respect 
to co-operation with General Burgoyne's army, I ask, and I 
solemnly ask, what would have been his fate, had his orders 
from his government been positivp to have co-operated witll 
Burgoyne-and instead of obeying those onders, in imitation of 
Dearborn, he had agreed to an armistice with General Wash­
ington' without including Burgoyne's army, and without mak­
ing any provision that General "". ashington~s ~army should re­
main, during the armistice., in the position it then occupied, 
and any part of it, or the whole, with the General at its head, 
had marched to the Hudson, and re-enforced Gates' army. 

Thi" might have been done, under such circumstances, with 
the most perfect safety to every other part of the country dur­
ing this suspension of hostilities between Washingtor. and 
Howe. 

I believe you will accord with me in the opinion, that if Howe 
had made such an agreement with Washington, it would have 
caused the immedia.te ar.d certain destruction of Burgoyne j and 
nl)thing could have sheltered him from te vengeance of any 
administration which had any regard to character, policy, or 
justice. 

----------

No. XXIX.* 
ON the return of this joyful anniversary of our independence, 

it would be most grateful indeed to me only to indulge in a re­
collection of the means by which it was produced, and the hon­
ours and blessings it has afforded, unmingled with any regrets 

o for subsequent misfortunes. 

Indeed, this event is considered so important that the cele­
bration of it is n?t confined to our own country, but patriots and 
sages, throughout the civilized world, hail the example as the 
dawn of their freedom. 

~t affords me ~appiness, which no language can express, that 
I hv~d at the penod when these great events were passing, that 
my httle bark followed, and sailed attendant, with that of our 

.. First published, in the .1merican Sta&estrl!ltJ, Monday, J uJ'y 5th, 1824. 
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inustrious leader, partook in a small degree of the same auspi­
cious gale, aud witnessed the same glorious triumph. When 
those invaluable privileges, which -had been acquired, with so 
much success and glory, were assailed, I was willing again to 
raise my feeble al'm for their support. 

To what causes ought to be attributed the misfortunes which 
succeeded, is- the o~ject of the memoirs which I am now pre­
senting for your consideration. I should be wanting in grati­
tude, did I not both feel and express my sincere and unfeigned 
thanks fi,r the candour with which they have been received, 
and the attention with which they have been read. I cannot 
omit on this occasion, to make my particular acknowledgements 
tv the conductors of our free presses, for their liberality, in 
giving publicity to my narrative, and for the candour and im­
partiality which has appeared in their editorial remarks. As 
long as this blessing is maintained, truth will break down the 
barriers of falsehood, and overcome all opposition. 

This nu~ber coming in its regular course, on this auspicious 
day, no considerations ought to induce me to deviate from the 
system I have adopted. I shall deeply regret the necessity of 
stating a sillgle fact, or drawing a sin&;le inference, which may 
have the least tendency to disturb the repose of His Excellency .. 
Governour Eustis, both on account of the personal friendship, 
which long subsi"ted between us; and the high esteem I have 
entertained for his character, but likewise on account of the 
profound respect for the majority of his electors, and my un­
shaken attachment, notwithstanding all I have suffered, to the 
principles which have elevated him to the chief magistracy of 
the commonwealth. They are principles, which I early im­
bibed, for which, in my youth I have often fought, and which I 
hope to cherish during thl' future remnant of my life. Princi­
ples are fixed and immutable, and it is no reason to abandon 
them because they are sometimes abused and perverted by those 
who p\'Ofess to follow them, or because innocence sometimes 
suffers by such abuse, and perversion. I shall therefore now 
pres.ent to you an official letter from His Excellency, then Se­
cretary of War, to General Dearborn, dated after the disasters 
of the campaign had happened, which seems very clearly to un­
fold the views and intentions of the administration, in relation 
to its misfortunes. [Vol. 6, p. 253.] 
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" Frat Department, Dec. 18, 1812. 
,rSIR,-Your letter of the 11th inst. is received. Fortu­

nately for you, the want of success which has attended the cam­
pai ... n will be attributed to the Secretary of WaT. So long as 
yo: enjoy the 'confidence of the government, the clamour of the 
discontented should not be regarded. 

"You are requested to make an exchange of General Hu.JIr 
as soon as possible. 

[Signed,] W. EUSTIS. 

" Major General H. DEARBORN." 

By this letter, it appears, that at the time it was dated, T wa~ 
a prisoner, and General Dearborn was requested to make an 
arrangement, ami effect my exchange, as soon as was pos~ible. 
This letter, under the circumstances, speaks in language too 
plain to be misunderstoorl. General Dearborn is informed that 
it is fortunate for him, that the want of success which has at­
tpmled the campaign will be attributed to the Secretary of War. 
Here His Excellency, then Secretary of War, in a "ery kind 
manner, agrees that all the misfortunes of the campaign, shall 
rest upon himself. He informs the General that he ought not 
to regard the opinions of those who are dissatisfied~ as long ail' 
he retains the confidence of the government. 

'Vhat is the proper construction to be given to the foregoing 
sentence? Is it not obviously this, that the opinions of the 
people ought to be disregarded as long as General Dearborn re­
tained the confidence of the administration, the servants of the 
people? Your opinions ought to be held in contempt, while 
the opinions of those to whom you have committed a temporary 
authority ought to be respected! Is this the genius and spirit 
of the government under which you live? Can a sentiment 
like this receive your approbation, however decorated with titles 
and authority the individual may be from whom it proceeds? 
The opinions of the administration, to be respected, and your 
opinions, my fellow' citizens, to be disregarded! !-Here the 
Secretary acknowledged, from under his own hand, thai the 
misfortunes of the campaign would be attrbuted to him. His 
c~aracter, therefore. as Secretary of 'Var, by his own confes· 
SIOn, was implicated. Did it comport with the dignity of hili 
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office or the honour of his character, to retire, borne down with 
such a load of opprobrium? 

When he voluntarily consented to take these misfortunes 
from the shoulders of General Dearborn he knew they would 
not evaporate in smoke, and that it would require some power­
ful engine to remove them. Thus commenced the plan 4e­
signed for my destruction. By General Dearborn's arrange~ 
ments I was immediately exchanged; and, at the same time 
that I received notice of my exchange, I was arrested, and 
called to answer to a volume of charges prepared hy Mr. Dal­
las, who had been specially employed by the administration for 
the purpose. He was assisted by a number of my officers, who 
seeing the favour and patronage Colonel Cass had received from 
his official letter, were willing to follow his example, and were 
not disappointed in their reward. All the promiuent act~ of the 
campaign, in this volume of charges, were made capital offences, 
although many of these very act5, had before, been highly ap-­
proved by the very admini"tration which now exhibited them. 
This was the engine which was prepared to relieve the Secre­
tary, from the butden. which he had in so generous a manner 
taken from the General's shoulders. The success of the plan 
which was formed for my destruction, is well known to you, as 
well as the reward3 which have been given to those who formed 
and executed it. General Dearborn was continued in office, 
with all the emoluments of commanding General, to the close 
of the war, without any inquiry into his conduct for not obeying 
the President's orders, and has since been aFpointed Ambas­
sador to a foreign court, with a compensation of thirty-six thou­
sand dollars of your money, for three years' services. The 
Secretary of War, Governour Eustis, retired from the war de­
partment, with the misfortunes of the campaign upon his shoul­
ders, and as soon as he had been relieved by the plan that had been 
adopted, was rewarded with the appointment of Ambassador to 
Holland, with the same compensation of thirty-six thousand 
doUars for three years' services. This letter, which until very 
lately has not been obtained, unfolds the plan I}f the adminis., 
tratioll, and a scene of injustice and oppressIOn which has few 
examples in the annals of the world. 

This conduct of his Excellency will probably seem unac­
countable and mysterious. Every impartial man mU,st be of 

18 
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the opinion the misfortunes of the campaign, ought to have r~t. 
ed on the officer, whose conduct had produced them-notwlth­
standinO' a declaration of war was made before a navy was built 

~ '. 
on lake Erie. and before other necessary preparatIons were 
made, yet no fault, on that account ought, perhaps to have been· 
imputed to the Secretary-notwithstanding the delay in giving 
me notice of war being declared, and the misfortunes which 
arose from that delay; and notwthstanding the orders I receiv­
ed to march the army, I commanded to Detroit, eighteen mileil 
in the rear of the enemy's principal fortress, and from thence to 
commence offensive operations, yet had General Dearborn 
obeyed the orders he repeatedly received, from Governour Eus· 
tis, then Secretary of 'War, Upper Canada would, without any 
doubt have been conquered that campaign, and we being in pos­
sessiou of all the harbours, on every side of the lake, the navy 
of the enemy must have fallen into our possession-There is 
the strongest possible grounds for an opinion of this kind, all 
the regular troops in the northern sections of the country were 
placed under General Dearborn's command; all the militia of 
the powerful state of New· York, were under his controut" and 
orders. Indeed he had the means in his power of making the 
invasion from the Niagara River, with an army capable of con­
quering, liS fast as it could have marched, and in his official dis­
patches to the government, in imitation of Cresar-three words 
only would have been necessary, "Veni, vidi, vici." He was 
ordered to place the forces, under his command, in suitable 
situations for this purpose, as appean, by the Secretary's letters 
to him, ~w:i to attack the enemy's posts, and to co-operate with 
my forces:"-He did not obey these orders of the President, com­
municated by the Secretary, but agreed to the armistice, which 
has been fully stated-This disobedience of orders was the great 
cause of th~ misfortunes of the campaign--After the Secretary 
?ad given the necessary orders, had they been obeyed, the ob­
J~t wou~d have been obtained, and the campaign would have 
cl,,',.J With conquest and glory, instead of misfortune. Why 
Was he willing, to take on himsel f that misfortune, and inform 
General Dearborn that, he was to retain the cor, fidence of the 
administration, and ought to disregard your opinions? 

The Secretary well knew the orders he l1ad given General 
.. ~Je~rh'·,,, to co t ·tl 
"' _.. l - ~upera e WI 1 my army, and how he had disre· 
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g'arded them-He knew the manner in which he had made ,tU 

armistice, and how it was disapproved by the President-He 
knew that it was done without any authority, and the effects it 
had on the operations of the campaign-He must have known 
then General Dearborn ought to have beenl-csponsihle, for the 
misfortunes, which he tpok on himself in his leiter, which has 
been recited. Why then, I ask you, did he consent to relin­
quish his important office5 in the midst of a war, and carry with 
him disasters, which belonged to another? 

In reflecting on this subject, there certainly is great difficulty 
in determining, what possible motives could have induCf~d His 
Excellency to have written this letter.-He must have known 
better than any other oliicer of the government, all the circum­
stances attending the camp~igll-Hc well knew that I had obey­
ed every order, which I had rcceiveu from the government, be­
cam;e he himself as the military organ, had communicated them 
--He knew, that in obedience to his orders, I had marched the 
army to Detroit, after the declaration of war. contrary to my 
own opinion.-He knew that I had made the invasion of Cll~la­
da, in conformity to the orders I had received from him.-He 
knew that an attack on Maider., and atl my other orders ex­
cepting those I have menhoned were discretionary.--\Vith res­
pect to General Dearborn, he well knew, that he had neglecte!\ 
to assemble his forces on the Niagara river, and co-operate with 
me according to the repeated and positive orders of the Presi­
dent, communicated by him. He had a p~rfect knowledge, 
that without any authority, General Dearborn had agreed with 
the enemy, to a suspension of hostilities, in which my army was 
not incl uded, and that it was disapprm ed hy the President; 
-and the effect which it hall on the forces under my command, 
and on the fate of the campaign.--Knowing therefore that Gen­
eral Dearborn, had been the cause of the misfortunes of the 
campaign, why did he consent, to become not only the agent of 
purging him from them, but taking them on himself? If Gene­
ral Dearborn had done his duty, these misfortunes would not 
have taken place. 

I again repeat the question, what could have been the motives 
of his conduct? 

They u,ndoubtedly were, to shelter the administration, and 
especially the }'resident, whose re"election was approaching, 
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from any censure, in consequence of these mi~fortunes. COli­
sidering probably, that the safety of the people, is the supreme 
1a w, and how much that safety depended, on the officers of that 
administrati on, as a good patriot, and a deal' lover oj hi,y country, 
he probably tho lIght, that any measures were justifiable, which 
were neeeasary to effect so desirable an object. I 'was then all 

ulJfortunate prisoner, and the most unprecedented, out.rageous, 
and wicked measures had been adopted to exr,ite your indigna­
tion a~ainst me. The Secretary himself, was one of the admin­
lstration, and bv his own confession, in the letter which has 
been recited, th~ misfortunes of the campaign were attributed 
to him. 

By General Dearborn's letter of the 11th Decembet·, to which 
the Secretary's of the 18th wa~ an answer, it appears that he 
was tremiJling on account of discontents, and an opinion that 
very generally prevailed, that 111' was most justly entitled to a 
large share of these misfortunes. How unfortunate for His 
Excellency, whom we all know to be an honourable man, that 
he ever consented to write this letter in behalf of the adminis­
tration, and to wipe off every stain from the commanding Gene­
ral. Better for his honour, had his hand been paralized, be­
ffJre he suffered it to do an act, which he must have known was 
so evidently unjust. His own letters, written with the same 
hand, to General Dearborn, have been recited in these memoirs. 
In them it appears, he was commanded to co-operate with my 
forces, in the conquest of Upper Canada, and instead of obey­
ing those orders, he al!;reed to a suspension of hostilities, in 
which my army was not included. which measure was disap­
proveu by the President. W'hen therefore, he wrote this letter, 
he perfectly knew, that General Dearborn had not obeyed his 
orders, and had dqnc an act which was disapproved by his mas­
ler, which was the final fatal cause of these misfortunes. On 
what grollnd~, then, could he say to General Dearborn, you re~ 
tain the confiuence of the go\'ernment, and ouo-ht not to n'!l"ard the 

. • b b 

Opll1lOns of the people! I ask whether a o-reater insult on your 
. ,b 

sovereIgnty and rights, and a more barefaced outrage on justice 
Was ever committed? And why was this done? Perhaps llis 
Excellency may say, that this was an official letter,and he 
wrote it merely as lhe military organ of the administration? 
-Granted. Being however, Olle of the administration, ought 
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he not to have had more regard to himself, than to have retired 
from office with misfortunes which did not brlong to him; and 
is there any principle which can justify him in his attempt, to 
purify General Dearhorn, when he must h:we heen sensible, 
how deeply he was infected. 

With confidence I submit to your consiueration, and I be­
lieve, I mi~ht nuw with safety, to the candid judgment of His 
Excellency, wl)ether it would not have much better comported 
with the illlPo;tance of the occasion, and the principles of jrts­
tice, to_have· instituted an inquiry into the causes of those mis­
fortunes, and to have ascertained to whom they ought to have 
been attributed, rather than to have determined themselves, my 
fate, and only to have appointed a court martial for the mere 
ceremony of a trial? The administratiun, however, did not 
consider this a safe mode of proceeding for themselves, and I 
having 1!reen the unsuccessful General,-it was thought the pub­
lic indignation could be transferred fl'om them, and more easily 
fixed on me, than on any other officer. Hence, for more than 
a year every possible effort was made, to excite this indignation 
against me, and ail the officers, who could be induced to be­
come witnesses against me, were promoted, and patronized be­
fore the trial commenced. 

I beiieve, my fellow citizens, you will he astonished, that 
General Dearbo.rn should be appointed hy the admi.nistration 
President of the court martial; or that he accepted, when he 
knew how deeply he was interested in the result of the trial; 
your astonishment, however, I have no doubt, will cease when 
you read the evidence contained in these memoirs, and perceive, 
that neither the administration nO,r the General, had any other 
safety, than by my condemnation. 

I have stated, before, gellerally, the reasons WjlY I did not 
make objections, 

In addition to those reasons, I will now answer, that I had 
served with him during the war of the revolution, and that he 
then sustained the character of a brave officer. I then could 
not entertain the suspicion, that a brave man, could be a dis­
honof,trable man. 

Bravery, honour, and impartiality, I considered inseparable 
'Companions.-The old maxim has been confirmed by his COI1-

duct~ that there are exceptions to all general rules. 
I 
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At that time I did not know how deeply he was intereste(l ill 
the event of the tria\. Although I requested, tha1 all the let­
ters which had any relation to the campaign, might be sent to 
the court martial, yet many, which were favourable to me, were 
withheld antI could not be found in the public offices; other~ 
were likewise withheld and no reaSGn given. It will appear by 
my defence, that whes they could not be obtained from the of­
ficers of the departments, I applied to the President for his in­
terference. but, without success. 

It will be recollected, that it was then nearly t;vo years after 
the events of the campaign had taken place. That during that 
tinle, I had been in arrcst, and the administration, had exhibit­
ed capital charges against me; that an honourable and inde· 
pendent c(lurt martial had been appointed to assemble at 
Phlladelphi:l, the year before, where I YUluntarily appeared, 
and was r('~,d.;' fot' lI1y lri,~l; that, that cOllrt martial .. was dis­
solved by the President, without giving any reason for its dis­
solution. That I had been continued another year in arrest, 
when a llew court martial was selected, of which this interested 
oHicer was appointed President. As I had been sincerely de­
sirous that all my COlHlud. dUl'ing that campaign, should be in­
vestigated, I feared, had I objected to the organization of the 
court, it would have occasioned further delay. I felt so con­
sc.ions of iunoccIlce, and of having f:tithfully performed my du­
ties, that I preferred even a trial by my enemies, rather than a 
further procrastination. 

I did not believe it was possible, that men, distinguished by 
Ladges of honour, could act a dishonourable part; 1 did not be­
lieve it possible, that allY p:ltronagc which could be given them, 
by the administr:ltirm, or indred any considerations could in­
duce them, to deviate from the paths of Justice and Honour, 
'~hich in all ages have been the glory of the military pl'ofe~­
~lOn. 

'Vhen, however, I saw the cOO1lllander in chief of our armies 
at the head, and when 1 beheld a majority of the members, 
young Lieutenant Colonels, very lately promoted to that rank, 
and some of whom, I knew had been his Aids-de-Camp, and in­
troduced into the army by his patronage, and others, whose 
names I never had heard, until thry were called on that service, 
I thought it a strange organization of a court martial for the 
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trial of 'a General officer. Especial! y when invariable custom, 
and the articles of war provided, that officers should be tried by 
those of at least as high rank as themselves, whel'e such officers 
could be obtained. 

'With respect to the President, it was strange, amI indeed 
unprecedented, to see the fint officel' of the army, serving 
on a court martial. Some very special reasons, must have 
induced the President to have made this appointment, and tile 
General to have accepted it. He was the commanding General 
of the armies of the United States. The spring of 1814, was a 
critical period of the war: it was an established principle dur­
ing the revolutionary war, that the commander in chief never 
servp.d on a court martial; the reason is. that an officer appoint­
ed a member, from the time a court martial is ordered until it is 
dissolved, is not called on to perform any other duty. It was 
several months after this court was instituted before it was dis­
solved. The command of the army therefore, during this time 
must have devolved on a junior officer. U niess, therefore, some 
very pal,ticular reasons h~d operated, would General Dearborn 
have relinquished the command of the army, and degraded him­
~lr by performing a duty to which the youngest General was 
competent? I believe, lily fellow citizens, you will form a cor­
rect opinion on this su~ject, anti believe; that both the fatf: of 
the administration and the fate of the General dependeu so 
much on this trial, that they were not willing to trust it to other 
hands; and likewise that the first court martial, composed of 
honourable and independent c1,aracters was dissolved for the 
same reasons. 

I have thus explained the preparatory plan of the administra­
tion that you may compare it with the tyrannical and barbat·ous 
principles the court martial adopted, and the measures which it 
pursued. 
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ON the .'3d of January, 1814, the Court Martial, of which 

General Dearborn was President, assembled at Albany. On 
receiving notice of the time anti place of its meeting, 1 volun­
tarily attended. Although I had been more than a year in ar­
rest, on capibl charges, yet I had never been for a moment re­
strained "f my liberty, in the least degree; and the established 
military custom of depriving an officer in arrest of his sword, 
harl been waved. From a sense of propriety, I resigned it to 
the court, with the most well founded expectation, as I firmly 
believed, it wvuld have been returned with honour. I cannot 
but think you will ri~htly estimate the motives of these indul­
gencies, and will be satisfied, they were not granted from any 
favourable disposition towards me. The officers of the ad­
ministration well knew, that I had obeyed every order which 
had been given me, and that I had not been guilty of any crir.ne 
unless the honest exercise of my discretion, in which they hat! 
fully confided, was one. I believe every man who obtains a ) 
correct knowledge of the facts, will not entertain a doubt of the 
motives of this apparent liberality. It was undoubtedly hopl.'d 
that the terrour of the charges would have driven me from my 
country, and that such a desertion would haye been considered 
as an acknowletlgment of my guilt, and an absolution uf the 
faults of the administration. 

If any doubts can exist, with respect to the motives of my 
prosecutors, in relation to this apparent liberality, I think they 
must be removed by the fact which I shall nllw relate. On the 
day the sentence was passed, the 28th of March, 1814, by di­
rection of the Court Martial, the President wrote a letter, of 
which the following is a copy. 

.f1lbany, .Ma1'ch 28th, 1814. 

SIR,-You will please to return to your usual place of resi­
dence, in Massachusetts, and there continue, until you shall re­
ceive orders from the President of the United States. 

Your humble servant, 

H. DEARBORN, Major Gen. "2. 
• and President of the Court.S 

Brig. Gen. W 1II. HULL. 
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'The 'seat of the court martial was at Albany. and the seat of 
'the government at Washington, where the President resideu. 
The sentence was capital. I ask you, my fellow citizens. on 
what greunds the court martial would have dared, thus to have 
left me, by its own ordel', at perfect liberty after such a sen­
tence? Is not this conclusive evidence in your minds, that there 
was a ~oncert, and understanding between the leading members 
of the court martial and the administration, and that the sen­
tence, which was to be pronounced. was determined in the cab­
inet at Washington, before I was called to answer, or a witness 
was examined? And whether it was not likewise determined 
that the sentence shoulrl be remitted? l ask you to account for 
this conduct, on any other principles? 

Conscious of innocence, I never asked myself for mercy nor 
authorized a friend to intercede in my behalf. Had J been 
guilty of the crimes with which I had been charged, I ought ill 
justice to yeu, ~!l have made an atonement by my blood. I must 
again repeat the question, whether the court martial could have 
dared thus to have given me my liberty, by which I might have 
avoi<led the execution of the sentence, unless such a concert 
and understanding existe<l before tr,e trial r Such conduct 
would be trifling with the most importar.t uuties, which men 
can be called to perform; it would indeed have been making, 
not only a mere ceremony, hut even a mockery of justice. Tlw 
clespicable meanness of leaving me in a situation, to avoiu the 
sentence, of which they were ashamed, no language can ue­
scribe, and no example can be found, from Adam to the present 
moment. 

Before the trial commenced, I objected to the employment of 
'other counsel than the Judge Advocate in the following lan­
guage. [See Lt. Col. Forbes' report of the trial, page 12.J 

" 'Vhatever reasons may be urged, to exclude professional aid 
on the part of the prisoner, let me ask with great respect why 
they will not equally apply, on the part of the prosecution. 
And yet it is most evident, that the officers of the government 
who have instituted this prosecution, have not felt the force of 
those reasons :-If they had, they would have left the prosecu­
tion, to be conuucted by the military prosecutor. And yet it is 
seen, to the charges drawn up against me, the name of one of 
the most eminent counsel in the United States: and I likewise 

19 
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'find enlisted against me, in aid of the military Judge Advotate, 
a professional gentlemen of this State, not less distinguished 

for bis talents." 
I have made this statement, in order to show to you in the 

plainest manner, the inconsistent, unequal, and tyrannical 
principles which were adopted by the court martial in t~e com­
mencement of the trial, to contrast them with the decision, 
which at the same time was made on mJ application for coun-

sel, to assist me in my defence. . 
I cannot but here observe, that IIOt only the character, which I 

had established in a life of public services, for near half a cen­
tury, and particularly in fighting the battles for your safety, 
glory, and independence, was at stake, but that life which GOD 

has given me. 
I did not ask to be permitted to employ counsel at the ex­

pense of the government, but at my own expense. 
I will now inform you, what was the decision of the court, 

which was rigidly adhered to throughout the whole trial. 
That the counsel, employed by the administration, my prose­

cutors, should be admitted to examine the witnesses. produce 
the uocuments, speak to all collateral questions, and lastly, to 
the final question, and that I should not be prrmitted to em­
ploy counsel, even at my own expense, to open their lips, in 
the presence of the court, in examining witnesses·, producing 
Ilocuments, or speaking on any collateral questions of law, 
which might arise, in the course of the trial, or on the filial 
questio:l, whether guilty or not guilty. Here you see, one rule 
was established for the prosecution, and another for the prisoner 
in his drfence. My object will be, now, to prove to you, that 
this decision of the court martial, was not only unequal, incon­
sistent. and tyrannical, but that it was contrary to the funda­
mental principles of our government, and the spirit of the con­
stitution of our country. To that constitution which was ob­
tained, by the blood I)f many of your Fathers I now appeal, 
and if the members of that coort martial will read it in the 
spi-rit of candour, they must feel shame and remo'rse, for the 
principle they alh,tp(J. 

By this constit" "11, it is provided, that ill all criminal prose­
c,utions, the accused shall enjoy the right, to have the assistance 
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o( .counsel for his defence. Here the right is placeu Oil ihl; 
llroadest fou ndation. 

This right is the property of every individual. No power 
can de.prive him of it. It is the first, apd highest law of the 
lal}d-Congress has no authority to make a law contrary to it­
Jt is binding ,on all cO,urts, both civil and military. 

Instead Qf adopting the rational llud liberal principles, amI 
spirit Qf our constitution, which ought 10 be engrafted on all our 
institutions, the court martial searcheu the records of that na­
tion with which .we were then at war, and from which we had 
separated, on account uf the oppression, and tyranny of its gov­
ernment. In thosel'ecords far back, in the dark ages of arbi­
trary and despotic governrfi.ent, when a prosftcution by the 
Crown, was in effect, a sentence of death, and when the object 
was to guard against every interposition, between the accused, 
and the sword of the king. The court martial, with the assis­
tance of their unauthorized special Judge Advocate, found some 
authorities, on which to ground their decision. 

In recurring to the authorities, on which those tyrannical 
principles adopted by the court martial were foundecl, it will be 
seen, that the English writers, who haye attempted to support 
them, finding they were contrary to the fundameu~al principles 
of the British government, were ohliged to refer to the practice 
of the Egyptians for their support. 

As I observed to the court martial, every commentator who 
bas written on the subj,cct, has blushed for the ahsurdity and 
barbarity of t.he reasons on which. the exclusion of counsel, in 
behalf of the pl'isQner. i~ fOUl)ded. Speaking of this rule, Black­
ston.e says, .. It is a rule, which ho\v\Over, it may be palliated, 
seems not to be of a piece with the rest of the humane treatment 
of pd.soners, by .tke English la~; for on whf\tface of l'ca.son 
can that IIssistance pe denied to save theJife of a man, which is 
allowed hip! il)cvery petty t.re~pass." 

Christian, in his NotC;l on 13lackstone, ~aJs--,-" It is very ex­
traordinary, t\ll) assistance of counsel shou~ci be denied, wherc it 
is wanted n19st. That is when it is wanted to defelllJ the life, 
t\l,e hopo\1r, ~nd all th,e pro'perty of an individual." 

ThllSWe see the ligjlt in which th~ liberal con)ment1ltor:o, <;.on-
si~er thf~ subject. ' 

·Shall we, then, who liy~ uq.der the freest governme~t ill the 
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world, be governeti by rul"s, which are derived f,'om such a 
source, and have originated in such motives? Shall we adopt 
rules at which the sense, reason, and humanity of mankind, 
since the civilization of the world, have revolted? I ask these 
questions ith a confidence, that when you, my fellow citizens, 
have considered them, you will answer them, with the spirit of 
freemen, anti stamp ynur intiignation on any tribunal, acting un­
tier your lIlilti constitution, which has adopted such inhuman, 
anti barbarous principles; principles so contrary, to the genius 
and ,;pirit of the government, under which you live. 

If, my fellow citizens, you find such principles, as have here 
been exhibited, adopted by the court martial, at the commence­
ment of its proceedings, what will be your expectations in the 
progress and final issue of the cause, To your candid judg­
ment I submit the subject of this memoir, and in my next, shaH 
consider the conduct of the court, in admitting the opinions of 
the witnesses to prove the charges against me, 

-----------

No. XXXI. 

I lIfUOH feal' that I shall not be able to do justice to the sub'" 
ject of this number. Each of you, my fellow citizens, as well 
a~ myself, have a drep interest in the principles which will be 
considered-not only your characters and all that is dear to 
you, lJut your lives may depend on them. It is easy to make 
out a string of capital charges against any individual in public 
or private life. If the opinions of witnesses are admitted as 
evidence to prove such charges, the witnesses themselves become 
the judges, and the necessity of any other judicial tribunal is 
superceded, All the proceedings may be summary; it will on­
ly be necessary for the accusers, which m this case were the ad-' 
ministration, to call up the witnesses, take their opinions, and 
execute the sentence. Such a precedent b£;comes law! and 
must 2;0vern in future similar cases. "\\'henever the court ad­
mits the opinion of witnesses as evidence of the proof of facts, 
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it yields up its prerogative to the witnesses, and they really ap~ 
'pear in the novel character of judges. 

In the present depraved state of human nature, the most in,· 
calc.ulable evils would be produced by a system of this kind. 
Interest, prejudice, revenge, and malice have so powerful an 
influence on human conduct, that the ties of moral obligation 
are brok.en by them~ like cobwebs, and lose all theil' binding in­
fluence. By the admission of such a principle, therefore, the 
lives and dearest interests of any individual ma:y easily be sa­
crificed on any altar, wher'e such passions are kindlp.d. 

Where facts are necessary to prove charges, witnesses are 
restrained by the obligations of oaths. Their testimony is lia­
ble to be controulled by other testimony, and if it appears they 
have testified falsely they ar~ liable to be indicted, and punish­
ed for the crime of perjury. The obligation of an oath, for the 
proof of facts is the best security that can be afforded. This 
security is entirely removed where the opinion of witnesses are 
taken. For no man is liable to punishment for his opinion, and 
it would be impossible to prove the motives that induced him to 
give it. They remain in his own breast. The Court Martial 
was appoiuted to determine wl{ether certain facts were true 
which constituted criminal charges. The witnesses were per­
mitted by the court to give theil' own opinions. without stating 
any facts which woultl be the least foundation for them. The 
facts on which the charges against me were founded, were-

1st. For employing a small vessel at the Miami of lake Erie, 
to tmusport the sick and baggage not wanted on the march, to 
Detroit, the distance being about seventy miles. 

2dly. FOl' not attacking the enemy's fortress at Malden. 
Sdly. For retreating to Detroit and there taking a defensive 

position. 
4thly. For not opening my communication to Ohio ;-and 

5thly. for agreeing to the capttulation. 
For the employment of the vessel a charge of treason was 

founded. By the foregoing numbers it will appear, that this 
measure would have been highly proper, in time of peace, and 
that I had received no knowledge of the war. And this. want 
o( knowledge, was occasioned bi the fault of the Secretary of 
War, in not giving me as early notice of it as might have 
bee~ given,-and the evidence was &tronger (if there had beelil 
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treason) that it was at W'ashington, than at my camp. If ilny 
precedents could have been found, where the opinions of wit­
nesses had been admitted to have proved ovel't acts of tr,eason f 

this charge might undoubtedly have been proved. To establish 
a new precedent, after great deliberation, was thought tpo op,en, 
and too outrageous an attack unjustice. The reaction it 'lWll,\Ild 
have on the administration, probably operated m.ore powerfully, 
than any other consideration. As I have before ob&erved,. 
on this charge, and its 8pecifications~ I was acquitted, and opin­
ions were .-e.;.erved for those which followed. By a recurrence 
to the evidence which has been exhibited. contained in the let­
ters of the Secretary of 'Var, it will he seen, that I had no or­
ders on any of the subjects, and that all these acts were intrust­
ed by the administration to my discretion. The crimes, there­
fore, of which the administration accused me, were, for not 
exercising this dlscretioT,l properly; for not exercising it i!l the 
manner which some of the militia officers of t;le state of Ohia 
thought they would have exrl"cised it, hau they commanded the 
army, and had it been intrusted to them. If t!tey had beep 
Generals, (and some of them were so created, immediately lj,f· 
ter the campaign, by the administration, fur their ,,';ordy 
valour,) t!tey would have attacked Malul'n, they would not 
have recr05sed the Detroit river, they would have opened the 
communication to Ohio, they would !lot have agreed to tIll! ~~­
pitulation. 

By an attention to the eyiUe,llce against me on the four last 
charges, it will likewise be seen, that the opiniQns of the",e sall)e 
inexperienced, and interested officers, were received by tb.e 
court martial, to prove my depression of spirits, and the altera· 
iio-n of my countenance. For two Ql' three nights, I had little or 
no sleep, and had "ery few officers to assist me, in wlW,l)l J 
qmld place the least confidence. My I1rincipal Qffi,cer, Cp,\(mel 
Miller, was sick and unable to perform any duty. Wit~ entire 
confidence I shall submit to your j\ldgment, whether the fatiglJ es 
I had endured, the high responsibility of my situation, and t/le 
want .of any ~ind of assistance, 1)U which l c(luld qepend, w:ilJ 
not sufficiently acc,o.uot for a depression of spirits, and Ij, differ­
ent appearance of countenance?- Colonel Snellipg was pr.QPlot­
ed and selected as a leading witneSt3 agaiI\!St me It i~ a duty 
lowe both to myself af!.d to you, to' state his sjtuatiWl at thl!~. 
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time, and show ho,,, deeply interested he was in the result /)f 

my trial. 
On the night of the 15th of August, he commanded the guard, 

statio'ned at the SpTing ,"Veils, and there was attached to his 
commatnf a piece of artillery. At this place Genetal Brock 
landed with his army the next morning at day-light. Colonel 
Snelling was ordered to remain at this post, until he received 
orders from me to retreai:, or until he was compelled by a supe­
riour force of the enemy-and to give me information of any 
movements of the enemy The Spring 'VeIls were opposite to 
Sandwich, ',·here General Brock's forces were stationed, and 
his vessels of war were 011 the river between the two places. 
Colonel Snelling with'OUt any oruers from me left his post, and 
marched l1i-;; men to the fort, \vith the piece of at,tillery, a little 
before day light on the morning of the 16th. His testim{)llY 
before the Court Martial is in these words-" I returned with 
my detachment before day, I think th'e dawn was perceptible on 
my arrival at the fort, but am not certain; the piece of artille­
ry I left at the gate of the cit:tdel--'my detachment I marched 
into the fort." 

When Col. Snelling was giving hiA testimony, and was in­
-quired of, from whom he received orders to return from his sta­
tion at the Spring Wells at day light, in the morning, he an­
s,vered-" From some pers"n' in the General's family, I do not 
recollect whom, I believe from Brigade-Major Jessup, but am 
not ceriain." Col. Snelling wished afterwards to alter this 
testimony, and then said there was a man c~lIed Co1. 'Vallace, 
not recognized by the officers. He did not, however, say he 
received orders from him. 

These facts he acknowledged, and thus- he equivocated in his 
testimony. 

Major Jessup Was present, when he made this ackIUlwledg­
ment in his testimony, of leaving his post, and undoubtedly in­
formed him that he did not give him the orders, which induced 
him tn alter his testimony. His mere hint, with respect to 
Col. Wallace, was probably intended to make an impre5sioll 
that he received the orders from him. AIth()ugh he does not 
say it, as Col. ,.y allace' was present, and would have contradict­
ed it; and there was this further reason, as he hirrse' f declared, 
that Colonel WaUace, was not recognized by ihe officers, as an 
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:aitl~de-camp, and consequently, had no authority to give sUell 
~rders. __ 

Knowinn- the fact, that he had abandoned his post without 
'" ()rders, hI' well knew what his fate must have been, ,had I been 

acquitted, Nothing but the events of the 16th, prevented me 
from arresting him at that time. In forming a judgment on his 
test;mony the fact here related, YOll will, undoubtedly, think 
ought to be kept in mind. Col. Snelling was not on trial. and 
the court did /lot think proper to investigate the fact, although I 
stated I had not authorized any officer, to order him from his 
post. 

As his opinion was relied on to prove the most important 
charges, it wou ld have been dangerous to have suffered any 
thing to have been said which would have invalidated his testi­
mony. These opinions were received to prove entire charges, 
and entire specifications of charges, By thus receiving the 
opinions of a witness in the whole matter in issue, or on a par­
ticular specification, in a charge, is precisely the same, as pre­
senting the list of charges, and asking each individual witness, 
whether he believe5 the accuspd guilty? If the witness is cred­
ited, of what use is it for the court to go farther? The accu'sed 
is found guilty by the opinion of the witness, and the members 
of the Court Martial become the mere organs of his opinion. 
If, on the contrary, the witness SWears to facts, the court is left 
to deciue, whether the facts are proved, and whether the facts 
thus proved cor.stitute the charges. As a fact, a witness can 
answer with certainty; his testimony, if untrue, can be im· 
peached, circumstances may be introduced, to rebut its infer· 
ences; but where is the restraint .on opinion? The witness is 
licensed and free! He roams at large, and if unchecked by any 
moral obligation, he finds an easy victim in any individual, 
againo,t whom the want of Success alone, has excited the public 
clllmour. 

To engraft a scion of this kind, on the tree of liberty, which 
was not only planteu by our forefathers, in this !loil of freedom, 
but protected by their valour, and nurtured and defended by 
their gallant descendants, wouln produce a branch, whose fruit 
would be as dissimilar to that of the orip-inal stock as despotism 
is dissimilar to freedom,-and the tast~ of which cuuld never 
be relished, by the present or future generations. 
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if the human feelings and passions can be determined by the 
!tppea.rance of the countenance, and witnesses are adl1:.' '"d to 
testify what those feelings and passiom are by this stantiar~, 

and capital offences are to be proved in this manner, I ask you. 
to consider to what dreadfu1 consequences such a doctrine 
would lead. A.llow me here to offer an illustration. When 
Colonel Snelling was on the stand, giving his testimony before 
the court martial. I myself, and many others present, observed 
a strang~ and unusual appearance in hiscou!ltenance; we were 
of the opinion that it indicated strong features of prejudice, 
malice, and revenge against me, and a fixed determination to 
say every thing he could bring to his recollection to injure me, 
and prove the high charges which were exhibited against me. 
Suppose Colonel Snelling had been indicted for perjury, for giv­
ing this testimony-and suppose we had been called on as wit­
nesses, to have proved that he had been guilty of perjury­
weuld our testimony. whatever knowledge we might have pro­
fessed to have acquired in physiognomy, have, been admitted by 
any court, to have proved, by the expression of his countenance, 
that he had been guilty of perjury? 

It is impossible to conceive the evils which would result from 
admitting the opinions of witnesses in proof of charge:;; of this 
kind. The Judgmtrnt of the court, distracted amidst the con·· 
fiieting opinions of confiicting interests, has no guide; its pow­
ers are transferred to another tribunal; and the unfortunate 
prisoner stands convicted, not on facts, but on opinions. The 
result of such proceedings must necessarily lead to the most un­
heard of abuses. An administration, instead of resorting to the 
ordinary modes of criminal proot~ would have only to hunt up 
opinions, to bring to the scaffold the most meritorious charac­
ters. The experience, knowledge and charactel's of the wit­
nesses, in the case now under review, will present a striking 
illustration of th~ subject. They were principally militia offi­
cers, burn and educated in the wildel'lless of Ohio, whu had no 
other knowledge of military movetnents, excepting what they 
had acquired in the training of companies about their doors. 
Tlley had been elected as officers by the men they commanded 
who considered tnemselves in every respect as their equals, and 
would not submit to· the necessary restraints of military disci~ 
pUne. If they received any orders from these officer~ which 

£0 
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they disapproved, it was their custom to consult to!rether, ancl: 
determine what measures should be pursu'cu. It frequently 
happened, that these officers were treated with the greatest in· 
dignity; and one of the offiCf~rs of the 4th regiment testified, on 
my trial, (see Lieut. Col. Forbes' report, page 124) "that! ne 
evening, at U rbann'a, there W;tS a noise; when he [witness] rail 
out to inquire the cause, and saw some men of his regiment, 
who informed him, it WetS only some of the Ohio milit1a ridinc 
one of their officers on a rail." \ 

It is with deep regret that I mention circu.mstances of this 
kind, and should not do it, were it not necessary you should 
know the character of both officers and soldiers who composed 
the army furnished by the administration. 

Farther to illustrate the subject under review; I will here re· 
peat the same ollservations which I made before the court mar· 
tian in my defence. I recite the words of my defence, because 
jf I had then made any statement which was not founded in 
truth, the court would have corrected me. 

" It seems extraordinary, that there has lIot been a witness 
examined on the part of the prosecution, who has not been pro­
moted since he was under my command. A great majority of 
the young gentlemen who have been called by the Judge Advo· 
cate, have appeared decorated with theil' epaulets; these hav~ 
been bestowed, and sometimes with the augmentation of a star, 
upon gentlemen who began their military career with my unfor· 
tllnate campaign . 

" By what services many of these gentlemen have merited 
such rapid promotion, I have not learned. But if it all arises 
out of their aclllevements while under my command, I must &ay, 
that it appears to me my expedition wa$ more prolific of promo· 
tion than any other unsuccesslul military enterprize I ever 
heard of. 

" It cannot be that it has been intended to give a weight to 
the testimony of these witnesses, by giving them ranks and 
honours, which it would not otherwise have had. But when 
my m;litary character and measures are to be tested by the 
opini ns of gentlemen, with high sounding l.t!es of mIlitary 
rank, I think it neces~ary to remind the court, that with the ex­
ceptl"n of a ff'w of the young oOlcels, thf're al'e none 01 them 
who have not been promoted to their high stationi .without hav-
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tng had any military experience, and without, as far as I have 
Iaeard. ever having discovered any military talent 01' genius, 

"Ifthe opinions of witnesses, on mtlitary subjects, ought ill 
any case to be listened to, (which I conceive ought not to be) 
yet I think the opinions of men of these descriptions ought to be 
received with the greatest caution." 

Without imputing unworthy motives to the administration, 
in making these promotions, as inducements to the witnesses to 
give a high colouring to their testimony. I endeavoured to 
account for it in the following language. 

"The extraordinary pr-omotions which the witnesses against 
me have generallv attained, I think may be accounted for, by a 
recurrence to the fact of which this trial has afforded the most 
conclusive evidence; which is, that each of the witnesses. from 
the General to the youngest and lowest officer that has been 
called by the J udge Adv~cate, is himself, in his own opinion, a 
hero. 

" From G,eneral McArthur, who thought himself capable of 
fighting a whole garrison, down to the lowest rank, every officer 
seems to have thought, that if he- had been the commanding 
General, or if I had taken his advice, all would have gone well. 
No doubt they have, in justice to themselves, made these repre­
sentations to the government; and their rank must be consider­
ed .a reward for the great things which they ,laid they would 
have done, rathe-r than to have been acquired by any actual 
service" 

Before I close this numbel', I cannot omit to make some ob­
servations on the unprecedented rule which the court adopted 
in the examination of the witnesses, which was, to examine each 
witness in the presence of the rest. And here I will make the 
same remarks which I made in my defence. 

"Till this court decided that it should be so, I did think it 
was a well established rule of martial as well as civil law, that 
the witnesses should be examined separately. The justice aml. 
propriety of this rule I have very sensibly felt on this occasion, 
In a case where so much may depend upon the language or 
phrases in which -the witnesses express themselves, it would 
have been desirable, that each should have been left to the ne­
cessity of selecting his own language to express his meaning. 
But according to the course pursued, each witness was at libel'-
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ty to adopt the words which had been used by any other wit­
ness on the same point.-The disposition of several of the wit.> 
tlesses to do so, has been very plainly manifested, by their 
answering, when interrogated respecting my personal beha", 
viour, that it was the same as had been represented by a prior 

witness." 
In these courts martial, when the members, among whom 

there may be great inequality of grades, are intended to be put 
on an equal footing a~ judge~, care has been taken to avoid. as 
far as possible, the influence likely to arise from authority. It 
is on this account, that the opinion (If the youngest is always 
first taken. And it was on the same account, as I conceive, 
that the rule was e6tablishetl, that witnesses should be examin" 
ed separately-that the youngrr might not be influencrd in his 
testimony by what might be said by his superiour It would be 
contrary to rxperience of the human disposition to suppose, af­
ter a subaltern had hrard two or three Generals, and officers of 
higher rank. than himself, testi(y, to whose authOl·ity he is per 
hars subservient. or to whose good word he may have owed, or 
expects to owe, his promotion, that he will be willing to contra­
dict what his superiours have said, or even to make a repre­
sentation which will vary from theirs. 

If, in any case, the weight of this sort of influrnce could 
be felt on the testimony, the mode which was pursued gave it 
the fairest scope. f 

The witnesses were generally arranged, and produced ac;.,· 
cording to their rank, commencing with those who had been pro .. 
moted from the rank of Lieutenant Colonels in the Ohio militia, 
to the rank of Genemls in the standing army, and the principal 
one with an additional appointment as Governour of the terri­
tory of Michigan, which appointment, for nine years, I had 
held, during which time my conduct in that. station had uni­
formly received the approbation of the government. When the 
trial commenced, the question arose, whether the witnesses 
ought to be examined in the presence of each other; to which 
the President, General Dearborn, replied, that it was not ne­
cessary, in Ius judgment, to examine them apart. [See Lieu- J 

~enant Colonel Forbes' report, page 117. ] As all the proceed­
mgs of the court were ,regulated by his opinion, it would h.ave 
been only a useless waste of time to have ,discuss~" the .ques-
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tton ...... His judgment was pronounced in a positive manner, anll 
the Court at once acqUiesced in it. As the stron~ bamers of 
the constitution .had been no security, but had been overleaped, 
on other questiolls; and objections on this could only ha\'e been 
drawn from precedent, alld the authority of the best writers on 
military subjects; I believe you will be ~atisfied that any rea­
sons [ might have offEred would have been unavailing-espet:ial­
ly after the judgment of so I!;reat an authority as the command­
er in chief had been pronounced; especially as the whole plot 
which had been concerted migH have failed. 

Thus have I exhibited some of the leading principles by 
which the proceedings of the Court Martial were governed, for 
the purpose of giving you a knowledge of the manner in which 
my trial was conducted. 

If this were the conduct of the Court Martial. it may be ask­
ed why I addressed them in different language in my defence. 
The reason is, my observations were then made according to 
the knowledge I possessed. The necessary documents to show 
how deeply interested the ·President of the court was, could not 
be obtained. I acknowledged the patience of the court, as it 
had been manifested by a session of more than forty days. In 
many instances, the course which was pursued was contrary to 
any experience of which I had any knowledge, and to which I 
objected. The President and members were constitutional 
judges, and if they erred, as all men are liable to err, I hoped 
they were honest errours. I observed I had confidence in their 
honour; from my youth I had always been taught to confide in 
the honour of military characters; indeed those observations 
were made on the ground that it is human to err. I objected, 
however, and stated my own i'Ileas at the time. It would have 
been improper for me then to have imputed other than honoura­
ble motives; although there appeared to me a deviation in the 
c~urse, yet, in the pnd, I expected justice. The pill which had. 
been made for me had been prepared in secret, and it was so 
covered that I could not discern the ,Ieadly poison which it 
contained. Having now obtained and spread before you the 
evidence, with respect to the deep interest which both the ad­
ministration and the head of the court had in the J'esult of the 
trial, I believe the answer I have given to the inquiry I hal"e 
lllenti811ed, will be satisfactory. .... 
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~Vl:lry member of that COUl't martial depended on the ll(\miR" 
istration for his military existence; and on you, fellow citizens, 
the administration depended for the continua:nce of power. 

The declaration of war, without suitable preparation, and the 
misfortunes which had attended its progress, excited your just 
resent.;'ent. The language of discontent, in the first instante, 
,,'as pronounced by you, with a freedom becoming your £harac­
ter, and pointed against those to whom you had committed 
your safety. The very ground trembled on which the adminis­
tration stood. To ~atisfy your just resentment, it was evident 
a sacrifice must be prepared. The plan presented in my last 
number was devised, and the execution of it committed to the 
the court martial, whose leader had been rendered immaculate, 
by the Secretary of War, who retired from office, loaded with 
all the misfortunes this leader had occasioned. 

Having now, fellow citizens, presented to you a narrative of 
the north-western campaign, with the documents and evidences 
relating to it; I shall relieve your patience, after furnishing one 
number more, in which will be condensed a summary of the 
principal facts, containpd in the whole. The object of this sum­
mary, is to exhibit to you, at one view the most important fact;, 
which caused the misfortune, which the Secretary of War, waS 
of the opinion would be attributed to him. This summary will 
be published, as soon as I am able to prepare it. 

No. XXXII. 
IN the second memoir which I presented for your considera­

tion, I exhibited a general outline of the facts which it was my 
object to prove in the subsequent numbers. I have endeavour­
ed faithfully to redeem the pledge which I then gave. Mter 
having stated the facts and produced the evidence it was my 
intention to have relieved your patience and submitted the pro­
priety of my conduct to your judgement on the facts and evi· 
dence contained in those numbers without recapitulating them. 
But as some of my readers, from the manner in which they have 
been published, have not been able to obtain the whole of theu.i, 
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and preserved the connexion, an OpInIOn has been expressed 
that the subject will be more .clearly and generally' understood 
by condensing and bringing info one view the material facts 
which they contain. In compliance with this opinion, I will de~ 
vote this number in as concise a manner as possible, to the at. 
t~mpt. 

In the first place, the reasons are st~Jed why this communi­
cation has not before been made, and why the evidence and 
documents now introduced were not produced in my defence. 
The delay, I told you, was occasioned by the loss of my papers 
and copies of the duplicates having been withheld, though fre· 
quently applied for until the autumn of 1823, when on applica­
tion they were immediately forwarded me by the present Spcre­
tary of 'War, Mr. Calhoun. I then disclosed to you the motives 
which 'induced me to accept a military appointment in the 
spring of 1812, and take the comma.nd ofthe forces which com­
posed the north western army. In consequence of an expecta­
tion of war with Great Britain, the savages of the north and 
west had been excitl'd to hostility by the military officers and 
Indian agents of Canada, and it was deemed by our government, 
both expedient and necessary to provide a force for the safety 
and protection of the defenceless inhabitants of the frontiers. 
To effect this purpose, twelve hundred militia from the State of 
Ohio and the 4th United States' l'egiment, then at St, Vincen­
nes, were detached by the President. I was then Governour of 
the Michigan territory, and in connexion with that office, lac· 
cepted the command of these troops, not by my own wish or re­
quest, but at the urgent desire of the administration. About 
the middle of April I left Washington and previously to my 
departure, I stated to the President in repeated communications 
ihl'ough the Secretary of War, my views with respect to the 
command, declared tha.t I considered the force not only suffi· 
cient in point of numbers, bu' likewise a of suitable character for 
the object for which it wa.s designed. That this object was the 
protection of the frontier against the savages, appears from the 
instructions I recei\1ed from the Secreta~ of War, and in which 
letter I was ordel1ed to proceed to Ohio,' take the command of 
t.hese troops and march them to Detroit, where I must make tile 
.est arrangements in my power, for the safety of that part of 
the conntry. It was then understoQd that in time of peace, De-
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troit or some other position on the west part of lake Erie, was a 
suitable station for that purpose because all necessary supplies 
could easily be transported over that lake. I not only corn-, 
municated to the government my views in time of peace with 
Great Britain, but also in the event of war with that nation­
and stated in the most explicit manner, that a navy un lake 
Erie, sufficient to preserve the communication, would be indis­
pensably necessary, and that without such a navy, the posts of 
Detroit, Michillimackanack, and Chicago, could not be main­
tained. That likewise, in such an event, all the savage war­
riours residing both in the British dominions. and OU1" own ter­
ritories. would probably jom the British standard. After mak­
ill~ these statements, I took the command of the army in Ohio, 
a··f! ilpened a road two hundred miles through a wilderness. 
Oil this road I built a number of block houses, leaving in them 
a small force for defence, and made usc of the best means in 
my power to preserve my communication. 

While I was yet in the wilderness, the government on the 
18th of June declared war. I received no account of it until 
the 2d day of July, while the enemy at Malden were apprised 
of it several days before, although that I)lace was much farther 
from Washington than my army. If proper measures had been 
taken, this important event might have been made kNown to 
me in less than half that time. In consequence of this neglect 
of the administration, a vessel was taken by the enemy with the 
sick of my army and the hospital stores, while on her passage 
from the rapids of the Miami to Detroit, which vessel would 
not have been employed in this service, had I received intelli­
gence of the declaration of war even one day sooner. For send­
ing this vessel I was accused of the crime of treason by the ve­
ry administration by whose neglect alone the misfortune had 
been occasioned. In this letter, giving me information of t.he de­
claration of war, I received positi"!- orders to march the army to 
Detroit, eighteen miles in the rear of the enemy's principal tor­
tress at Malden, and there wait for fUl-ther orders. Accorrling­
Iy I proceeded, and on the 5th July, the army arrived at 'e­
troit. I then caned a council of war, at the earnest importunity 
of Illy ufficers, when it was declared expedient to cross the De­
truit river, and make the inva&ion of Call,lda, notwithstand ing 
it was well known that my instructions were to remain there 
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for further orders. Much discontent was excited among some 
of them by my refusal to cmnply with theil' wishes. On the 
evening of -the 9th of July, I received the letter of the Secreta­
ry of War, containing orders to cross the river and invade the 
enemy's territory, and in the same letter was contained a dis­
cretionary authority to make an attack on the fortress at Mal­
den, if in my opinion, my force was adequate to the enterprise, 
and it could be done consistently with the safety of my other 
posts. 

On the same evening I received this letter from the Secreta­
ry. I wrote to him, that it was my opinion that my furce was not 
mlequate to the enterprise. and stated my reasons. This leiter 
was received by the Secretary, and laid befote the President, 
who fully approved of it, and of all my conduct, a;ld, notwith­
standing the measure of attacking Malden was left to my discre­
tion, and notwithstanding I had stated as my op-inion that my 
force was not equal to the enterprise, and although this opinion 
had been appl'Ovcd by the President, yet this very measure was 
made a charge of a most serious nature-supported alone 
by the opinions of some of my officers, that Malden might have 
been taken. 

In the course of my numbers, I stated, as reasons which in­
duced me to think it expedient. to commence offensive opera­
tions in confornlity with the orders I received-that I should ue 
enabled to obtain supplies for my anny from the enemy's couu­
try-that it would satisfy the alJparent impatience of my offi­
cers-and that a display of the American flag on both side", of 
the river would have a favourable effect, both on the swages and 
the militia of Upper Canada-but that the most powerful in­
ducement was, to dislodge the enemy from the opposite bank, 
where he was erecting batteries, which would have greatly an~ 
noyed the town of Detroit. Immediately after making the in­
vasion according to my orders from the administration, I issued 
a Proclamation to the inhabitants of Upper Canada, pledging to 
them the faith of the government, that they should be protected 
in their persons, property, and rights, I have stated also the 
manner in which this proclamation was received and approved, 
by the President, as well as the use which was made of it at the 
treaty of Ghent. 

By an examination of the evidence which I have exhibited, 
21. 
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tIle objects of the government in ordering the forces undel" 
my command, are fully unfolded. This evidence is the highest 
which the nature of the case will admit. It is contained in the 
message of the President of the United States to Congress, after 
the campaign closed. By this message it appears, that these 
forces were ordered to Detroit in time of peace, with a view to 
the pr.,tection of the· territory against the savages, and in the 
event of war, to take possession of lake Erie, and to co-operate 
with other forces in the conquest of Upper Canada. This ob~ 
ject of taking possession of lake Erie against a strong naval 
force of the enemy, by a small band of Ohio militia, was never 
communicated to me by the administration, and the first know­
ledge I had of it was from reading this message seven months 
after the campaign ended. 

The ]lto/eets of the President, as communicated by his mes­
sage, not being realized, such a navy was immedi'atelyordered 
to be built as I had at first recommended. ·With regard to co­
operation, I had the fullest reason to suppose that I should be 
assisted by the army on the Niagara river, at the east end of 
lake Erie. The enemy's principal station was at Malden, 
eighteen miles below Detroit, on the other side of the river. 
The number of troups it cuntained, from the time of the decla­
tion of war to the 16th of August, has been stated, and the 
pl'oof furnished. I remained f~ul' weeks at Sandwich, on the 
British side of the river; and during that time I called two 
councils of war, to consider and determine whether it were ex­
pedient to attack the fort at Malden with the bayonet alone. 
No cannon were on carriages suitable to assist in the operation; 
every possible exertion had been made, a.nd was then making; 
to prepare them. It was the opinion of the majority of the first 
council, that it was not expedient to make the attack, without 
the assistance of cannon. At the second council, I stated, that 
the ht'",y artillery was not in readiness, but would be in two or 
three d:tys. The question was then submitted to th~ council, 
whether it were expedient to wait for the heavy artillery, in oro· 
del' to make a breach in the works, or immediately to make the 
attempt with the bayonet alone. Before the question was tak­
en, I ob~l)rved to the members, that if it should be their opinion 
that it was best to make the assault immediately, and they 
would answer for their men, I would lead them to the attack. , 
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t:(}lonel Miller, who cdlnmanded the regulars; replied that It.e 
"would ue a\{swet'able for the men he commanded. Colonels 
McArthur, Cass, and Findley, who commanded the militia, said 
they would not be answerable for their men, but hoped they 
would behave well. The couni:il then determined that it was 
-expedi.ent to wait two days longer fm the heavy artillery .. [n 
the afternoon of the 7th 0,[ August, I \'eceived letters from Gen­
eral Hall and General Porter, who commanded on t~e Niagara 
l'iver, informing me that the principal part of the troops iii thr 
enemy's stations.at fort George, fOlt Erie, and other posts OIl 

the east part of the province, were advancing to Malden; and 
that a large body of troops had passed over and landed on the 
west side of lake Ontario, and were likewise marching against 
my army. ' These letters further stated, that there was no J)ro­
bability that any assistance would be afforded from that quar­
ter. Thus it appeared, from the information sent me, that the 
whole weight of the war in Canada rested on the few troops un­
der my command, and certainly they were not equal both to of­
fensi ve and defensive operations. 

"Michillimackanack had fallen, and all the forces from that 
direction were descending the lakes to operate against me. The 
savages from lake Michigan had arrived on the head watels of 
the rivers Raisin and Huron in thousands, (as Colonel Ander­
son expressed himself in his letter) and were marching to Mal­
,den. The defeat of Majar Van horn had taken place at Browns­
town, in his .attempt to open the communication to the river 
Raisin; and indeed, every avenue to my country, both by land 
and water, was entirelycloS€d. With this information before 
me, and under this unexpected change of circumstances, I con­
sidered that it was my duty to abandon the enterprise, and re­
cross the river with the principal part of the army, which I diu 
011 the night and morning m the 8th of August. The great rea­
son which induced me to adopt this measure, and which indeed 
was decisive in my mind, was, that the very existence of my 
army depended on opening the communication to Ohio-for 
though success might have attended my arms in the attack on 
Malden, I should yet have been left under the same embarrass­
ment, in having my communication ,ith Ohio still closed. In 
addition to these reasons, I had received information that Brit­
.ish troop~ had arrived in several vessels from fort Erie, {lS re:-
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Gnforc~ments, and that the militia, whi~h bef'Ore had left Mat" 
den, had retul'lled t'O their duty, 'On a pr'OclamatiDn 'Of pardon 
from the commanding 'Officer. On the 8th 'Of August, the day I 
recr'Ossed the river, a detachment was made 'Of six hundred of 
the best of ·ny troops, under the command of Colonel Miller, 
to open the communication to the river Raisin. This detach­
ment \Vas met, near Brownstown, by a superiour number of the 
enemy, and a severe contest ensued, and terminated with hon· 
'Our to the American arms. The loss on our side was between 
eighty and ninety killed and wounded. Nothing hDwever but 
glury was acquired by this victory; the fatigue which had at­
tended the experlition, the loss of killed and wounded, and a se­
vere storm, pn!vented the detachment from proceeding on the 
expedition. On the 14th of August, I made an'Other attempt to 
opf'n the c'Ommunication. F'Or this purpose, I 'Ordered another 
detachment, c'Onsisting of the effective officers and men of Col­
onels McArthur and Cl!3s'rrgiments. This hody was directed 
to proceed to the river Raisin, a number 'Of miles west 'Of the De­
troit river, by a circni tous ] ndian path, to avoid further m'Olesta­
tion frolll the enemy. The distance was greater, but it was my 
only alternative. 

The effort to 'Open the communication, by the detachments 
under Major Van-horn and Col'Onel Miller, proving ab'Ortive, 
and before the one under Colonel McArthur marched, I 
stated, to some of my principal 'Officers, that fr'Om the inferma­
ti(m I had received, it was evident that the whole f'Orce of the 
enemy, of all descriptions, from the east part of Upper Canada, 
from l\1ichillimackanack, and from lake Michigan, were pro­
ceeding t'O jo.ill the forces at Malden; that the lake was closed 

ag~inst us; that the road which we had opened from Ohio was 
obstructed by h'Ostile savages, and that n'O forces from 'Ollr c'Oun­
try were prepared for its pr'Otection; that the provigions were 
nearly exhausted, and a supply eQuId not be obtained from any 
qllarter; and that, under these circumstances, I suggested the 
expediency of making a movement of the army to the f'ODt of the 
rapids of the Miamlt, and there act as circumstances might re­
qUire. The answer tu this was, as appears by Colonel Cass' 
testImony, that the men, 'Or soldiers, did not think such a meas­
ure necessary, and if the orders were given, they w'Ould nDt be 
~beyed. 

This circumstance I h~ve repeated, to show the mllt~rial~ of 
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which my army was composed, and the difficulties which atten~ 
• ed my situation. Bad this measure, at that time, been carried 

into effect .. the al'my probably would have been saved. 
On the 15th of August, the day after McArthur and Cass 

ml!-rched to the river Raisin, the British forces, with the militia 
and savages, attending them, marched from Malden to Sand­
wich, opposite to netroit, with General Brock at their head. 
His letter, demanding a surrender of Detroit, and my, answer, 
han' bel'n recited. I immediatly sent an express, strongly es­
celr' et!. to McArthur and Casa, with orders to return with aU 
p",,<:)le expedition to Detroit; stating that General Brock had 
arri\'erl, with the re-enforcements from fort George, &c, &c. &c, 
My sit.uation had now become most critical. The effective 
strength of two of my regiments was absent at the river Raisin, 
for the purpose of opening the communication, and guarding 
necessary supplies, intended for my camp. The British troops 
which had composed the garrisons on tile east end of the lake, 
with the re-enforcements from various parts of Upper Canada, 
had arrived, and, togetiu,>I' with the force :it Malden, were now 
€ncamped at Sandwich, opposite to Detroit. Information was 
received, that the Canadian militia were coming upon me from 
every quarter. How all this force had been br~ught from so 
:many IIPcessary points of defence to bear upon my army, I 
'Could not imagine. 'What possible reasons could hava induced 
General Brock to draw his troops from the vital part of his pro­
vince, and lrave his most important posts exposed to be taken 
by our troops on tile Niagara river, was truly mysterious. 
Could I have supposed that a suspension of hostilities had taken 
place in that quarter, it seems reasonable j~lat it would have 
been under the condition for the two beligerent parties to have 
been confined to that location in which they were situated at the 
commencement of the truce. 

By a reference to the preceding numbers, it will appear, by 
the letters from the Secretary of 'Var to General Dearborn, that 
he was commanded by the President to concentrate his troops 
on the Niagara river, invade Upper Canada from that quarter, 
attack the enemy's posts, and co-operate with the forces under 

my command. It will further appear, that he did not carry 
these orders into effect, but agreed to the armistice which has 

:heen Vlelil.tioned, whicll must have been unauthorized by the .. 
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't".)resident, because it was disapproved in the most pointed lan­
guage. :My army not being includ~d in the measure, and, ali.. 
has been observed, no coudition having been mane, that the 
-troops should remain in the situation they were, during its con­
tinuance, th~ effect it had on my operations is too evident to be 
here repeated; it must be conside-red as the principal and iIll'­
mediate fatal cause of the disasters of the campaign. 

After the capitulation, I first learned from the lips of the 
British commander, the true state of the case-that the armiilo 

tice of General Dearborn had been eight days in oppratiun, and 
that that circumstance alone had enabled him to bring such a 
force against me. 

Early in the morning of the 16th of August, General Brock 
landed his force at the Spring Wells, three miles I;lelow Detroit, 
under cover of the guns of his navy. From the date of the facts 
contained in the two numbers I have mentioned, I presume you 
must be satisfied, that his efiective force, was more than three 
times greater than mine, and that he might have brought to his 
standard, more than ten times Illy number. before I could have 
received any assistance. This wil! appear, from the knowledge 
of the numbers which originally composed my army, from the 
losses by capture, by the killed and wounded in the battles 
which had been fought, by sickness and a variety M' other casu­
alties; and likewise from the return of the Adjutant General 
Major Jessup, and the testimony of Colonel Casso Being at 
this time, not only the General of the army, but the Governour 
of the territory, and without instructions, as to the course I 
should pursue, all the measures were entrusted to my dis<fe­
tion. Being responsible for the safety of the inhabitants. it be­
-came my duty, if it was possible, to adopt such measures as 
would effect that object My situation was such, that there 
was no possibility of afiordillg the inhabitants protection, fur­
ther than the balls from the cannon in the fort could be carried. 
These inhabitants were scattered over a territory of several 
h.undl'ed miles. The savages had invaded every part I)f this ter­
ritory, and while the contest lasted. there was nothing which 
could restrain their barbarity. The work of desolation and 
cruelty had commenced, and nearly half my effective force was 
absent, and from the time it had marched and the orders it had 
.received fr.om me, I had reason to believe it was nearly -fifty 
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miles distant from me. With the feeble fOl'ce under my com­
mand, I did not believe there was the most distallt pros~ 

pect of success, in the event of a battle; and had the forc.es at 
Detroit been defeated, the fate of the detachment under McAr~ 
thur and Cass would have been inevitable. From the informa­
tion I had received, with respect to General Brock's force, 
there could have been little hope indeed of victory. What was, 
howevel\ decisi;e .... on my mind, wa& my situation, even in a 
possible event of success over his white ior~e. I should have 
then been without provisions, as will appear"by the evidence 
contai:led in my twentieth number; and I had no means of ob­
taining possession of the enemy's navy, and opening my com­
munication over the lake. It would in this case have become a 
war with savages, who would have been aided by all the re­
maining forces "f Upper Canada, and the navy on the lake. In 
addition to the savage force, whi.ch was with General Brock, 
I have produced evidence to shtlW that several thousands of iliis 
description were descending the lakes from the north and from 
the west, Had my army, however, not been divided, and had 
the detachm~nt absent with McArthur and Cass, equal to about 
one half my effective force, been with me, or had I received the 
least information, that it had been in a situation where, by any 
possibility, it could have co-operated, I should have risked the 
consequences of a battle; and these officers would have had 
an opp&rtunity of proving by their deeds the valour which has 
heen only manifested by their words. 

Under the circumstances which existed after the enemy land­
ed, and no information having been obtained from McArthur 
and Cass, I determined to send a flag of truce, open a treaty, 
and accept the best terms which could be obtained. For this 
purpose, J authorized two commissioners, Colonels Miller and 
Brush, to negotiate on the subject. 

By the articles of capitulation, protection and safety were se~ 
cured to the inhabitants of Michigan in theil' persons and pro­
perty. All the militia, both of Michigan and Ohio, returned 
immE'diately to their homes, and none were retained as prison .. 
ers, excepting the few regulars, consistin~ then of little over 
two hundred. This measure, under the circumstances, was. 
clictated in tny opinion by a sense of duty and attended with 
less public calamity then any other which could have been. 
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adopted, alld I was willing to assume, and in my official commu­
nication to the government, took the whole responsibility of it on 
myself. It .required more fil'mness and independence than any 
othel· act of my life~it was dictated by my best judgment and 
a conscientious regard to what I believed to be my duty, and 
I now sincerely rejoice, and there never has been a moment that 
I have not rejoiced, notwithstanding all I have 8tllfered, that 1 
dared thus independently to do my duty. Had that contest 
continued, every moment would have been attended with great­
er disasters, and I availed of the only measure in my power to 
put an end to such calamities. In the capitulation I made no 
provi~ion for myself, and was ordered to Montreal an uncondi· 
tional prisoner. A provision was made for all the officers and 
soldiers of the militia, and they immediately returned to their 
homes.. Colonel Cass, taking advantage of my situation after 
the indulgence I had procured for him, proceeded directly to 
Washington, where he was most graciously received by the ad· 
ministration, and then presented an account of the campaign, 
before it had been possible for me to have made any communi· 
cation. This letter, written by himself, giving particular de­
tails of events, of which he had no knowledge, as he was absent 
when they took place, was received by the administration and 
published as an official account in all the newspapers through· 
out the United States. Search, fellow citizens, the annals of 
history, and, I am persuaded, such an outrage cannot be found! 
While I was a prisoner, my other officers, for whose liberation 
I had provided in the treaty, followed Colonel Cass to Wash­
ington, and seeing the favours and patronag~ he had received 
by his representation, imitated his example, and were not dis­
appointed in their rewards. 

From one end of the continent to the other, the same news­
papers which had published Cass's letter, were filled with a 
series of the most scandalous falsehoods to excite YOUl· resent­
ment against me, and before I was exchanged, and yet a prison­
er, the plot, which is unfolded in my 29th number by the letter 
of the Secretary of 'War to General Dearborn, was sealed for 
my final destruction. As soon as General Dearborn could make 
arrangements for my exchange, I was arrested, capital charges 
wpre preferred against me, and a court martial was ordered to 
assemble at Phil~delph.ia for my tria.l, of which Major General 
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Wade Hampton was appointed the President. In tonformity ~ .. 
the orders of the President, I appeared, ready for my trial. But 
without any reason being assigned, this court martial was dis· 
solved in the manner I have stated. I was continued by the 
administration a prisoner in arrest another year, that amrlle 
time might be afforded for selecting such a court martial, and 
patronil-ing and promoting officers, who,. in their testimony 
would give opinions which would effect the object of the plot, 
which had been formed. After thus remaining a prisoner for 
this length of time, which I believe is unexampled in military 
history, and every preparation being made, I was ordered to 
appear at Albany for tny trial the beginning of January, 1814. 
At this court martial I requested the privilege of being heard by 
counsel. The court denied me sllch aid. In the progress of the 
trial, the opinions of witnesses were admitted as evidence to 
prove entire charges against me. The character of these wit· 
nesses has been fully shewn. 'rhey were officers of no mili­
tary knowledge or experience, and many of them deeply inter~ 
ested in the event of the trial, and had nothing to recommen,d 
them but the patronage and promotion they had received imme­
diatelyafter my unfortunate campaign; but previously to their 
appearing to testify against me. 

The court martial of which General Deal'born was President, 
was selected the 7th day of November, 18IS, during the admin~ 
istration of John Armstrong over the Department of 'Var, and 
this court was 110t dissolved until the last of March. or the be­
ginning of April, 1814. Thus was established a new milita~y 
precedent, and it must be recorded in the history of our coun­
try, that the commander-in-chief of the American army, at It 
most critical period of the war, for about four months, relin .. 
qaished his high duties as commanding General, and performed 
subordinate duties on a court martial, to which the youngest 
General in the army was competent. The question will natu­
rally arise, what motives could have induced so unprecedented 
an arrangement? A constant correspondence was kept up b.e­
tween the court martial and the secretary of War, and direc­
tions were given respecting the manner of proceeding. See Ap­
pendix to my trial, page 29. In some of the public newspapers, 
it is said I am ungrateful for the lenity which Mr. Madison, the 
President, hil~ shown m~. As I never a,sked hilJ). or the cOllft 
, 29 
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martial for mercy, but only for justice, I cannot (eel under any 
obligations to either. The truth is, fellow citizens, the admin­
istration well know your independent spirit and sense of right, 
and dared not execute that sentence, which injustice had pro­
l1ounced. The Secretary was the same John Armstrong, whu 
has the reputation of having commenced his career at Newburg, 
in 1783, and ended it at Bladensburg, in 1814! The two 
events here alluded to, are weJl known, ar:d must make a part 
of the history of our country. The one will do the highest cred­
it to the vi~tue and unshaken patriotism of the revolutionary 
army, in resisting a most artful and insidious attempt to indl,lce 
them to turn those arms against their country which had been 
employed in acquiring its independence. The other must stand 
as a morrument of disgl'ace to those to whom the protection of 
the conntry was entrusted, and particularly to the officer at th~ 
head of the Department of War, at whose disposal was plaoed 
the forces and means of national safety. 
. After I received the order to invade the enemy~s territory, all 
the operations were entrusted to my discretion. This discretion 
was exercised according to my best judgment. The dictates of 
duty alone influenced my conduct. Had I consulted my feel­
ings alone, and not been guided by this principle, I should have 
pursued a very different course. To perform what I then be­
lieved and now believe to have been my duty, it was necessary 
to call into exercise more firn.ness and more energy, than on. 
any other occasion during my life. If it will be any sati~faction 
to my ellemies, I am now willing to acknowledge, that I dare 
not do that which my best judgment ar.d duty forbid. Consid­
erations of personal fame, compared to duty, where asa feather 
in one scale to a mountain in the other. 

My respect, fellow citizens, fOl' your discernment and judg­
ment, induces me to leave the application of the facts and evi­
dence, contained in the preceding number", to your own delib­
erations ; with my sincere thanks for the candour which has 
been already manifested, 

I am, 
With affection and respect, 

Your fellow citizen. 
Newton, July 26th, 1824. WILLIAM HULL. 
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No. XXXIII. 
A SERIES of papers published in the " A.merican Statesman,:~ 

by the son of General Dearborn, in defence of his father, in an­
swer to the memoirs I have addressed to you on the subject of 
t/le north western campaign, in 1812, renders it a duty which I 
owe to myself. to you and to truth, to make a reply. Filial 
affection is justly ranked among the amiable virtues, and when­
ever it is properly manifested. excites both esteem and admira­
tion. Under feelings properly tempered, the son, would have 
reason to expect your sympathies, which would not only have 
been enlisted, but deeply interested in favour of the attempt. 
Had cool, dispassionate reason been substituted in the place of 
violent declamation, and candid inquiry after truth been evinced, 
instead of a spirit of abuse and malignity, he probably would 
have realised the feelings I have described. 

It is among the other misfortunes of my life, that I have now 
no son on whom to rest for support in my declining years. In 
the memorable battle of Bridgewater, in 1814, my only son, in 
his ardour to perform his duty, advanced at the head of his 
company to the most dangerous part of the sanguinary field, 
where he fell, covered with wounds and surrounded by the prin­
cipal part of his brave men, bleeding by his side. Alone and 
unassisted by any thing but truth, and the candour and patience 
you have manifested to ohtain it, I am prepared to meet both 
father and son, before the tribunal of my fellow citizens to 
which I have made my appeal. The day may arrive, when this 
ardent. young man will deeply regret the wantlin and abusive 
language with which he has assailed me, and for the present, I 
am willing to forgive him on account of his laudable effort to 
discharge a filial duty. 

My reply will be confined principally to the plan of the cam­
paign, as stated in young General Dearborn's defence qf his 
father-The ordl'rs which General Dearborn received, and his 
duty to have co-operated with my. army-The armistice to which 
he agreed with Sir George Prevost and General Brock's letter 
to General Van Rensalaer respecting it-The forces under my 

. command and those un.del" the command of General Brock-
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'rhe testimony of Colonel Snelling and others, and my Iettel'l 
to the Secretary of War. It appears from this defence, that 
before General Dearborn left Washington in the spring of 1812f 

a plan of the anticipat(!d campaign against the Canadas, was 
submitted to the Secretary of War by him, is which he recom­
mended, that one army should advance upon Montreal, by the 
way of lake Champlain, while three others should enter upon 
Canada from Sackett's Harbour, Niagara and Detroit-llere 
fellow citizens, you have for your own information, and for the 
use of the future historian, the plan of the campaign of 1812. 
Although I was appointed to the command of one of the three 
armies, yet this plan was never communicated to me by the ad~ 
ministration or by General Dearborn, and I received no know­
ledge of it, untit I read the Presidimt.'s message to Congress, af­
ter the campaign ended, in which it was partially stated, and 
when it was afterwards more fully unfolded by the publication, 
in defence of General Dearborn. The plan of the campaign, 
being farmed by General Dearborn, he must have had a perfect , 
knowledge of it, and he being the commanding General of our 
armies, it became his duty to make arrangements for its execu­
tion, especially as the troops designed for the formation of two 
of the armies, one at Niagara and the other at Sackett's Har­
Dour were under his controuI and subject to his command. 
This wouI'd have been his duty, even without special orders on 
the subject. Notwithstanding this, young General Dearborn 
states that his father made no arrangements to form these two 
divisions of the army at Niagara and Sackett's Harbour, ulitil 
the 26th July, and assigns this reason,-that he had not r~ceiv­
ed orders for the purpose. I believe you will be satisfied, as 
he formed the plan of this campaign-was the commanding 
General, and the troops which were to compose these divisions 
were subject to his controul and indeed under his command, 
that it would have been his duty to have given orders for the 
execution of the plan he had designed. Individuals without 
military knowledge and experi.ence, from common observation, 
I think must accord with the opinion I have expressed. Among 
m~litary. men, I am confident there can be but one opinion on 
thIS subject. Whatever opinion may have been formed, I shall 
~o~ show that he had orders from the W.ar department on this 
sut;ect as early as the 26th June, eight days after war was ,de-
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dared, and while my army was labouring in the wilderness amI 
had received no intdligence of its declaration. The following 
is a letter from the Secretary of 'Var to General Dearborn, 
dated 

War Department, 26th June, 1812. 

SIR,-Having made the necessary arrangements for the de­
fence of the sea-board, it is the wish of the President, that you 
shou'ld repair to Albany and prepare the force to be collected at 
that place, for actual service. It is understood, that being pos­
S'essed of a full view of the intentions of government, and being 
also acquainted with the disposition of the force under your 
command, you will take your own time and give the nec.essary 
orders to the officers on the sea-coast. 

It is altogether uncertain at what tim'e Genera.I Hull may 
deem it expedient to commence oftimsive operations. The pre­
parations. it is presumed will be made, to move in a directioll 
for Niagara, Kingston, and Montreal. On your arrival at Al­
bany, you will be able to form an opinion of the time required 
to prepare the troops for action. 

Maj, Oen. H. DEARBORN. 

By this letter, General Dearborn was dit'ected to repair to 
Albany, and prepare the force to be collected at that place for 
actual service. What was the actual service for which the force 
was to be prepared r War against Great Britain had been de­
clared. The commanding General of our armies had formed a 
plan of the campaign which had been approved by the adminis­
tration. This plan was, that besides my army, three others 
were to be formed to move against the British posts O!l the Nia­
gara, against Kingston and Montreal-and by this letter the 
General was ordered to Albany, to prepare the force for actual 
service. Is it possible that General Dearborn could have mis­
understood this language P Could this actual service have been 
any other service than the execution of the plan 'Which the Gen­
eral himself had planned? It requires nothing more than com­
mon understanding to answer this question. The order must 
have been as plain to him, as if an order to this effect had been 
given-" You are commanded to order a sufficient force to the 
Niagara and invade that part of UpfJer Canada as soon as Gen­
era! Hull commences offensive operations from Detroit. You 
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are likewise commanded to order another force to Sackett's 
Harbour to keep in check the troops at Kingston and prevent 
them from re-enforcing the posts on the Niagara." The next 
sentence of this letter of the 26th June, seems to remove all 
doubt with respect to the construction of it. 

General Dearborn is told that he is possessed of a full view 
of the intentions of the government, and also that he is acquaint­
ed with the disposition of tlte f01'ce under his command. The 
time and manner of executing this part of his duty is then left 
to his· discretion. Had there been a possibility, of doubt witli 
respect to its true meaning and intention, the concluding para· 
graph rendered it as plain, as though it had been in the words 
I have substituted above, The Secretary tells him that it i~· 
uncertain at what time General Hull may deem it expedient to 
commence offensive operations.-He then says, that General 
Dearborn's preparations will be made to move in a direction for 
Niagara, King;ston, and Montreal. Does not this clearly and 
distinctly express to him the intention of the government, to 
form two of the divisions of the forces undel' his command, one 
for the Niagara and the other for Sackett's Harbour, to move 
against Kingston, agreeably to his own plan of the campaign P 
The words of the letter are, "The preparations it is presumed 
will be made to move in a direction for .Niagara, Kingston, and 
Montreal. " 

Thus you see, fellow eitizens, that General Dearuorn was or­
dered by the Secretary of War, to make preparations to move 
in a direction for Niagara and Kingston as early as the 26th of 
June. I now ask you what authority his son had to say, that 
his father had no orders with respect to the troops at Niagara, 
for the purpose of co-operating with me, or to mGve in a direc­
tic)l1 for Kingston and Montreal until the 26th July, a month af­
terwards. Young General Dearborn then recites his father's 
letters, written from Albany, to show the manner in which he 
Qbeyed hi~ orders. 

One to General Van Rensselaer, dated 3d of August, 1812, 
directing him to keep up a correspondence with me. 

One to Governour Tompkins, dated 6th August-requesting 
him to order into service two thousand six hundred of the de­
ta~hed militi~ of the State :-onc thousand to join the troops at 
NIagara :-elght hundred to join those at Sat;kett's Harbour, 
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&c.-one of the 8th of August to Major Mullany, directing hill 
to march to Niagara with recruits under his command. One to 
Colonel Fenwick, of the 8th of August, directing him to prIJ­

,ceed to Niagara with two companies of infantry and there take 
the command of the artillery, &c. 

One io Colonel Macomb to prepare cannon, &c. for Colonel 
Fenwick, &c. 
- One to the Governour of Pennsylvania, dated August 13th, 
requesting him to order two thousand militia to be marched to 
Niagara. 

Thus, fellow citizens, you are furnished by the son of Gener­
al Dearborn with documents, to show the manner in which his 
father obeyed his ordl'rs and fulfilled the expectations of gov­
ernment. I have only, you perceive, referred to the document!!. 
They are published in extenso, in the defence prepared by the 
son, an.1 which may be seen in the "American Statesman" 29th 
July, 1824. By these documents it appears, that General Dear­
born did not commence gi,:ing oruers and making arrangements 
for formijJg an army at Niagara. until the 3d of August. His 
orders were contin.ued on the 6th, 8th, and 13th of the same 
Inonth, and the principal force was ordered on the 6th, 8th, and 
1 Sth. I now ask you to examine the letter of the Secretary of 
War of the 26th of June, above recited, and compare it with 
the documents as furnished by the son of General Dearborn, and 
you will perceive, that it was nearly forty days from the date 
of that letter before he even gave orders for the preparations at 
Niagara, to invade Upper Canada and co-operate with me, and 
a month after I had crossed the Detl'Oit river and commenced 
offensive operations. In my memoirs you will find recited a 
n:umber of other letters of the Secretary of War to General 
Dearborn from the 26th of June to the time he made the armis­
tice, directing him to attack the enemy's posts, co-operate with 
my army in the invasion of Upper Canada, and only make a 
feint against Montreal. 

. When, fellow citizens, you consider that this plan of the 
eampaign of invading Upper Canada from Detroit, Niagara, and 
Sackett's Harbour, was made by General Dearborn himself and 
approved by the administration.-That as early as the 26th of 
June, only eight UllY" after the declaration of war, the Secretary 
of War wrote to General De.arborIl) that he should prepare the 
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ftJrce for actual service, and st;ted that it was understolld, that 
he was possessed of a full view of the intentions of government, 
and acquainted with the disposition of the force under his com­
mand; and when he perfectly well knew that I was on my 
march to Detroit, and was to commence offensive opel'ation8 as 
soon as possible after my arrival, and that his prep.arations 
would be made to move in a direction for Niagara, KiDgston~ 
&c. I again ask you. whether his remaining idle and inactive, 
and not even having given any orders for making preparations 
at Niagara, &c. for so long a time, was not a disobedience of 
both the letter and spirit of the orders which were given on the 
26th June, and from that time continued, until he agreed to the 
armistice, by which he disqualified himself from making use of 
the forces in making diversions in the enemy's country, attack­
-ing their posts, or co-operating with me in any manner what­
ever. 

From General D!!arborn's conference with Governour Tomp­
kins, and from his letter to the Gover.nour of Pennsyl vania, pub­
lished by his SOR, it appears that he was authorized by the Pres­
dent, to call for as lDany militia as he deemed necessary, to 
form the armies at Niagara and Sackett's Harbour, for the in­
vasion of Upper Canada; and it is well known, being the com­
manding General, all the regular troops in the northern part of 
the United States were at his disposal, and subject to his COID­

mand. 
In cases where General Dearborn's orders were discretiona­

ry, he would be governed by his own judgment, and was only 
responsible for the manner in which it was exercised. Admit­
ting he had been vested with discretionary powers altogether, I 
believe you lDust be satisfied, that under the circumstances 
which existed, nothing could have justified his delay and neglect 
in giving orders for the execution for the plan of the campaign 
which had been planned by himself. But this was not the case; 
and ample pruof has been exhibited, both in my memoirs, and 
in this reply, that as early as the ~6th of June, and at different 
times, to the period when he agreed to act only on the defen­
sive, he was ordered to prepare an army at Niagara to co-oper­
ate with me, as aJso at the other posts fQr the conquest of Up­
per Canada. 
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) think with propriety, fcHow citizells, I ~ay now ask you" 
who has made the rash and unfounded declarations which this 
son of General Dearborn has with so much malignity imputed 
to me ?' All his sensibilities appear to have been excited, and 
all the powers of his mind called into exercise with a desire tc­
make you believe that his father had no conne'xion with tile two 
armres, which by his own plan wel'e to be formed, to co-operate 
with mine in ths invasion of Upper Canada, until the 26th of 
JuTy. The investigation I am now considering, is highly im­
portant; both as it respects myself and General Dearborn. If 
it can be shewR that neither from his rank nor the instructions 
he" received, it became his duty to have given orders for the 
formation of the two armies which were to co-operate with 
mine and for the invasion of Upper Canada below, until the 
26th, July, and that after that period he made use of ali th~ 
means with which the administration hau furnished hi.rt, in 
making the necessary preparations, I win very cheerfully Ray, I 
have accused him wrongfully, and win make anyacknowledg­
ments which the propriety of the case and justice to him may 
require. At present, however, I am satisfied that I have not, 
and I continue thesam~ accusation agai<llSt him, that it was his 
duty, under his commission and the orders of the 26th of June" 
to have made those preparations, which it fully appears he ne­
glected to do,-Again, fellowcitizans, I ask Y0U attentively to 
read this letter Hf the 26th June a:Id compare it at the same 
time with the plan of the campaign wllich has been published by 
the son of GeRCl'al Dellil'born and of which his father had a mo~t 
perfect knowledge, as' he formed it hilnself. ''''hen you hav:e 
done this, I shall be satisfied with the rasult of your inquiry. 

There is another p6int of view, in which justice seems to re­
'quire, that this subjeet should be considered. I will here state 
some principles and facts, in which there will be no disagree­
ment. Those entrusted with the goV'ernment of a nation never 
ought to aeelare war, untit suitable preparations I;'-re made. AI", 
though in time of peace, a nation ought to be prepared, at least 
for defensive' war, yet whether prepared or not, when war is 
d'eclared against it, the event must be met. For the declar~tion. 
of war however, without suitable preparation, there can be no 
excuse. If General Dearborn can show that the wal' of 1812 
Ij,gainst Great Britain, was declared without s\litable pl,'epara;.o 

23 
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tit)'!], or that for want of orders, it was not his duty to make the 
preparations for co-operation in Upper Canada. or for the want 
of means, it was not in his power to make such preparations, in 
either of those cases, the blame must rest I)n the administration. 
This must be obvious, because it was the duty of the adminis­
tration, who had recommended the declaration of war and had 
adopted a plan of operations, to have given timely orders and 
to have furnished the necessary means for making such prepar­
tions. Certainly the fault could not have rested on me, be­
cause, by the plan of the campaign, formed as has before been 
described, three armies were to be provided for the invasion of 
Upper Canada and none but mine was ever brought into opera­
tion. If my army were sufficient fOf this object, it was cer­
tainly a great fault in the administratiolil, to order three armies, 
y:hen three times the expense would be incurred. My object 
is to show, that the disasters uf the campaign ought not to be at­
tributed to me. No one· v, ill believe it was in my power to con­
quer, with one army, a country for which the administration 
had assigned three. It was then either the fault of the adminis. 
tration or of General Dearborn. Believing I shall satisfy you 
that I faithfully did my duty, it is not material to me, whether 
the fault rests on General Dearborn or on the admini.stra­
tion. 

Had this defence of young General Dearborn rested on the 
ground, that war was declared without suitable preparation-or 
on the neglect of the administration, in not communicating 

timely instructions to his father, or had it been shewn that ne­
cessary means were not furnished, it is possible the effort which 
has been made to shield General Dearborn. would have been 
crowned with more success. 'With a chivalrous spirit the 
young General has adventured into the field and has not only 
become the advocate of his father but of the administratiO'Jl. It 
is well known, fellow citizens, that the author of this defence 
received and ha.:s enjoyed for more than twelve vears, one of the 
most lucrative offices in its gift, the salary ~nd emoluments 
from which during that time, cannot have he en much less than 
one hundred thousand dollars. A desire to retain so valuable 
ail office, or if be pleases, gratitude to his benefactors, must 
have produ~ed a severe a!ld conflicting struggle, with the dis­
ch,iIJ'ge of fihl\l duty. As a large portion of this defence oop.-
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sl!lts of a republication of my trial, and as he has studiously in­
troduced the names of the members of the,court martial, it mus~ 
be evident that he does not consider that yO'U have any right to 
examine for yourselves the proceedings -of that trial, but that 
the sentence of the cO'urt martial O'ught to be cO'nsidered as final. 
Had thi-s nO't been the case, his defence would have been addres­
sed to the same tribunal to' which I appealed. The difficulty was~ 
he well knew, that yO'U WO'uid nO't be willing to' apPO'int General 
DearbO'rn, President O'f that tribunal, O'n which yO'U are to' sit in 
judgment. He was d'O'ubtless alsll influenced by similar mO'tives 
to' thO'se expresseel in the letter of the Secretary of War to his 
father. which is recited in the 29th number of my memO'ir&, 
where, in his very emphatic language he says, that "so lO'ng as 
you (that is General DearbO'rn) enjO'y the confidence O'f the gO'V­
ernment, the clamO'urs O'f the discO'ntented shO'uld nO't be re­
garded." 

In my next number I shall replj to' yO'ung General DearbO'rn, 
Qn the subject O'f the armistice. 

No. XXXIV. 
IT is stated in the defence O'f General Dearborn, that no troop" 

Qr military supplies were sent to' the relief O'f FO'rt Malden, dur­
ing the tempO'rary armistice-That General BrO'ck had nO' 
knowledge O'f it, until he returned to' FO'rt GeO'rge, and that so 
far from neglecting the situatiO'n O'f General Hull, every precau­
tiO'n was taken by General Dearborn, to' render the arrange­
ment, not Qnly nO't injurious, but advantageO'us to' him. It is 
very desirable to present to YO'U, a certified CO'Py of the Armis­
tice, entered intO' O'n the 8th of August by General Dearborn on 
Qne part, and by Sir George PrevO'st on the O'ther. The sO'n O'f 
General DearbO'rn says, it was entered intO' O'n the 9th O'f Au­
gust-but I find he has published a letter frO'm General Van 
Rensselaer to' General DearbO'rn, in which he acknO'wledges the 
receipt of General DearbO'rn's letter of the 8th O'f August, en­
~losing the very agree1Y!ent for an armistioe. The letter re-
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ferred to, is published by young General Dearborn in the ,. A~ 
merical! State.man" of the 29th of July, 18!!4. This prove~ 

that it was made at least as early as the 8th of August. Ire .. 
ally hoped he would have published a copy of it, in his defence 
of his father. I have applied to the offices of the Secretary of 
"Val', and likewise of State, and the original cannot be found on 
record or on ·file in either of those offices. I likewise applied to 
Governor Eustis, who was Secretary of War at that time, 
who declared that it was received at the War Office and placed 
on the file or recorded. Who has taken it from the office, I 
Imow not. The son of General Dearborn has however publish­
ed two letters explanatory of it, one to the Secretary of War 
and one to me, for which I ought to express my obligations to 
kim, as the information they contain, will be highly useful in 
the investigation of the subject. When I wrote my memoirs, I 
only had the explanation of it, as contained in a letter of the 
Secretary of War to me, and -likewise in another letter from the 
Secretary to General Dearborn. I will now copy both of the 
letters which the son has been so kind as to furnish, and I should 
have been under greater obligations, ifhe had furnished an au­
thenticated copy of the original instrument itself. Were we 
POs8\'ssed of it, the true interest and meaning of the armistice 
might be better understood. The letters referred to are as fol­
low. 

Lettel' from General Dearborn to the Secretary of War, inform­
ing him of the temporary armistice. 

"Head Quarters, Greenbush, .f1ug. 9th, 1812. 

. SIR,-Colonel Baynes, Adjutant General of the British army 
In Canada, has this day arrived at this place, in the character 
of a Flag of Truce, with despatches from the British govern­
ment, through Mr. Fostel',* which I have enclosed to the Sec­
retar~: Colonel Baynes was lik('wise the bearer of despatches 
from 8Ir George Prevost, which is herewith enclosed. Although 
I do not consider myself authorized to agree to a cessation of 
arms, 1 concluded that 1 might with perfect safety, agree that 
:u: tro~ps s.hould act merely on the defensive, until I could re-
elve directIons from my government; but as I could not in' 

#; Late Minister of Great Britain, then at Halifax. 
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cludeGeneral HuH in such an arrangement, he 'having received 
his orders directly from the department of war, I agreed to 
write to him, and state the proposition made to me, and have 
proposed, his confining himseif to defensive measures, if his 
orders, and the circumstances of a'ffairs with him. would justify 
it. ('olone] 'Baynes has written similar orders to the British 
officers in Upper Canada, and I have forwarded them, to our 
commanders of posts, to be by them transmitted to the Britisll 
commanders. 

I consider the agreement as favourable at this period, for we 
could 1I0t act offensively, except at Detroit, for some time, and 
there it will not probably have any effect on General Hull or 
his movements, and we shall not be prepared to act offensively 
in this quarter, before you will have time to give me orders for 
continuing on the defensive or act otherwise,. 

We shall lose no time, or advantage, by the agreement, but 
rather gain time without any risk. It is mutually understood, 
that aIlllreparatory measures may proceed, and that no obstruc­
tions are to be attempted, on either side, to the passage of 
stores, to the frontier posts; but if General Hull should not 
think it advisable to confine himself to mere defensive opera­
tions, the passage of military stores to Detroit, will not be con­
sidered as embraced in the agreement last noticed. 

Col. Baynes informs me, that a party of British troops and 
Indians, had taken possession of Michilimackanack, and that 
our garrison were prisoners. I made no particular inquiry as 
to the circumstances, as I entertain some doubts as to the fact. 
I have no expectation that the government will consent to a 
cessation of hostilities, on the strength of the communication 
forwarded by Mr. Foster; but all circumstances considered, it 
may be well to avail ourselves of the occasion, until we are bet­
ter prepared for acting with effect; at all events, we can lose 
nothing by the arrangement, I have consented to, it being ex­
plicitly understood, that my gllvernment will not be under any 
obligation to agree to it, unless the despatches from the British 
government should be such, as to induce the President to pro~ 
pose an armiilti~, as prepatatory for negotiations for peace. I 
informed Colonel Baynes, that OUl' government would readily 
meet any such overture from Great Britain, as clearly indicat­
ed a disPQsition for making peace on satisfactory terms; but af-
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t:er what had occurred, in relation to the adjustment with Mr. 
Erskine, it could not be expected that any other than the mo&t 
explicit and authentic directions to their agent in this country, 
would produce any change in our measures. It is evident that 
a war with the United States is very unpopular in Canada.­
Colonel Baynes arrived at our frontier post, at Plattsburg, and 
was conducted to thifi place by Major Clark, an officer in the 
detached militia of this State, he returned this day with th~ same 

officer. 
I am, Sir, &c. 

H. DEARBORN." 

Letter from General Dearborn to General Hull, announcing the 
temporary armistice. 

"Head Quarters, Greenbush, .!lug. 9th, 181:. 

SIR,-Having received from Sir George Prevost, Governour 
General, and conlmander of the British forces in Upper and 
Lower Canada, despatches from the l~ritish !/;{)vernment, said to 
be of a conciliatory nature, which I have forwarded to Washing­
ton, and a, letter from Sir George Prevost to me, by his Adju­
tant General, Colonel Baynes, proposing a c~ssation of hostili­
ties on the frontiers; I have so far agreed to his proposals as to 
consent that no ()ffensive operations shall be Mte.mpted on our 
part, until I have received further instructions from our govern­
ment; but as you received your orders directly from the de­
partment of war, J could not agree to extend the principle to 
your command, but I agreed to write to you, and state the gen­
eral facts; and propose to you, a concurrence in the measures, 
if your orders and situation would admit of it; of course you 
will act in conformity with what has been agreed upon, in re­
spect to the other posts on the frontiers, if not incompatable 
with your orders, or the arrangements made under them, or the 
circumstances under which this letter reaches you. Any pre­
parations for offensive operations may be continued, and when 
it is agreed to suspend any offimsive operations no obstacles 
are to be opposed to the transportation of military stores. In 
all c~ses where offensive operations cease, by virtue of the afore­
~entloned agreement, four entire days are to be allowed, after 
el~her party shall revoke their orders, before any otfensive oper­
atIons shall commen«e. .A letter from Colonel Baynes, to tire 
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commanding officer at Amherstburg, has been forwarded by me 
to the commanding officer at Niagara, to be by him transmitted 
to Detroit. The removal of any troops from Niagara to De­
troit, while the present agreement continues, would be impro­
per, and incompatible with the true interest of the agreement. 
I have made no arrangement that should have any effect upon 
your command contrary to your own judgment. 

I am, &c. 
H. DEARBORN.". 

The publication of the letter above recited addressed to me, 
is the first knowledge I ever had of it. It never was received 
by me.-Without any other feeling than a dpsire for truth, [ 
will examine these letters with all due caution" and give them 
no other construction, than such as is obviously to be inferred 
from the language with which they are clothed. Here is pre­
sented by the son of General Dearborn, his father's own letters, 
explanatory of his temporary armistice, as it is called by him. He 
does not present the agreement itself, for reasons which I shall 
not pretend to conjecture. If it were as favourable to his father, 
as the explanation given of it in these letters, I am sure you will 
believe it would not have been withheld. I will now consider~ 
what it appears to have been by these letters. Colonel Baynes, 
the Adjutant General of the British army. came to General 
Dearborn's head quarters, with a proposition from Sir George 
Prevost. The General says, in his lettel' to the Secretary of 
War, "although I do not consider myself authorized to agree to 
a cessation of arms, I concluded I might with perfect safety 
agree, that our h'oops should act merely on the defemive."­
These are the very words he makes use of. There is not one 
w9rd in his letter to the government, by which it can even be in­
ferred, that there was any agreement on the part of the British 
Adjutant Qeneral, that the British troops opposite to ours, should 
likewise act only on the defensive. G!'neral Brock, with all the 
farces of Upper Canada, was left at perfect liberty to march of­
fensively against the forcel' I commanded. General Dearborn 
agreed to write to me, that I might acton the defensive only, if 
I thought proper. And it seems to have been virtually under­
stood, that the British commander, General Brock,'might also 
act only on the defensive, if he thought proper. Theie discr,e-
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tionary powers appear to have been vested both in Getlel'a.l 
Brock and myself without any '3pecial authOl;ty, either from the 
British Adjutant General or from General Dearborn. Thus it 
seems, by General Dearbpm's own letters, that General Brock 
waS at liberty to march all the forces of Upper Canada, and in­
vade our country, by his attack on me, while General Dearblmi 
became pledged, by his armistice, to confine himself to his 
post, where he was then situated, and could not cross the Nia­
gam rivel-, to take possession of fort Erie or fort George, al­
thQugh they were left in a perfectly defenceless condition, with· 

. out violating his own agreement. It must be seen, that so long 
as we are deprived of the original agreement for this temporary 
armistice, that I have no other nlode of explaining it, than by 
the information which Genera.l Dearborn has given in his letters 
explanatory of it. If it contains any thing more or any thing 
diffh-ent from what has been or may he explained, let a copy of 
the original instrument be produced- General' Dearborn in his 
letter to the Secretary of 'Val', says, H that he did not consider 
himself authorized to agree to a cessation of hostilities,'" and in 
another part of his letter he says, "that he has no expeetation 
that his government will consent to a cessation of hostilities 
on the strength of the communications which he had forwarded 
to the Secretary of State on the subject." Eut nevtlrtheless, he 
agreed to act only on the defensive. 

As it does not appear by the above letteri'l, to have been stip~ 
ulated, that the British were to act only on the d'efensive, I ask 
whether such a constl"Uction can be inferred from the terms 
contained in those letters? According to the common meaning 
and acceptation of language, it cannot. It is proper tc} construe 
this instrument, as it actually was, and not as it ought to-have 
been-

In the letter which he says he wrote to me, he gives tbe same 
account, that he had agreed to act only on the dif6nBive, which 
is contained in the one to the Secretary of War. He further 
says in his letter to me, that" the remOVal of any troops from. 
Niagula to Detroit while the agreement continued, wonld· be 
improper and incompatible with the true intent of the agree· 
ment." This is his own construction, but there i~ nothing con­
tained in the letters referred to, as far as I can comprehend 
them, which will justify such a construction-, It is certain, Sir 
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George PreY-ost did not put thiseonstruction to the agreement, fur 
it appears by General Dearborn's letter to General V till Rensse­
lae.r, dated twe-Ive days after it was made, and while it was in 
full force, that he refers to detachments which had been sent 
from Niagara to Detroit, and General Van Rens .. elaer was or­
dered to prepare, to take advantage of their reduced force, as soon 
as there sllOuld be orders to aet offensively. And no evidt:nce 
has been offered, to show, that this removal of the troops from 
Niagara to Detroit, was ever eomplained of by General Dear­
born, as a violation of the armistice. 

This then was the temporary armistice, which General Dear­
born agreed to, as appears by his own letters, and although not 
-authorized to agree to an armistice, and having stated .to the 
Secretary of W ar~ that" he had no expectatioH that the govern­
ment would consent to a cessation of hostilities, on the strength 
·of the comm!lnication forwarded by Mr. Foster," yet he did 
agree that his troops should act only on the defensive" regard­
less of my situation, and leaving me to b.e exposed to the united 
forces from Niagara and at Malden. 

'Vas it possible for him t6 have made an arrangement more 
fatal to me? How long did this temporary !lll'mistice continue P 
-A letter from General Van Rensselaer, dated at Lewistown, 
to General Dearborn, acknowledges the receipt of General Dear­
born'S letter of the 8th of August, enclosing the armistice, s~ 
that it must have been as early as the 8th of August. This let­
ter is published by the son of General Dearborn. By a letter 
which he has also publisheu in the same paper, from General 
Brock to General Van Rensselaer, dated the 25th August, 1812, 
-General Van Rensselaer is informed, that General Brock dis­
patched an expt"ess to Amherstburg, the day before, giving infor­
mation of the armistice. By this letter it appears, that the ar­
mistice must have been in operation, at least from the 8th to the 
25th of August, when if we suppose the armistice to have end­
ed, which was not the case, however, and four days being al­
lowed thereafter, for notice to have been given of its termina­
tion, the period of its operation would then have amounted to 
twenty-one days. During all this period, General Brock had it 
in his power, with all his forces of every description, to come 
against me, while the whole American forces 'on the Niagara 
, 24 
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l'i;Jer, were confined to our territory, under the armistice .llf' 
their commanding General. 

In answer to young Gen. Dearborn's rounu assertion, thal 
at this time, no troops left Niagra for Malden, I will recite the 
letter of his Father to Gen. Van Rensselaer, dated the 20th of 
Aiw"ust. It is ill these words-" t'.S it is believed a detachment 

" has been made from the British force at Niagra, to re-enforce the 
garrison at Malden, it will be necessary to be as well prepared as 
possible, to take adva.ntage of the reduced force in your front, as 
soon as there shall be orders to act offensively. "-In his let­
ter likewise to the 8ecretary of War of the 7th (If August, Gen­
eral Dearborn states the movement of the British troops from 
Niagara to Detroit. This was one day only, before he agreed 
to the armistice, in anticipation of which, there can be no doubt, 
this detachment of the British, took advantage of the contem­
plated temporary cessation of hostilities. This testimony the 
young General Dearborn has furnished, as will be found, by re­
fer~nce to the defence of his father and expressed, in a "letter of 
which the following is a copy, of so much as relates to that pait 
of the subject. 

Letter to the Secretary of Wal·. 

"Head Quarters, Greenbush, August 7, 1812. 

SIR,-I have been honoured with your letters of the 26th, 
17th and 29th uIt. and of 1st and 5th inst. I have been making 
arrangements with Governour Tompkins for having re-enforce­
ments sent to Niagara, Ogdensburg and Plattsburg. I trust 
they will be moved soon; but tOI) late, I fear, to make the di­
version in favour of General Hull, which is so desirable. 

" I have ordered I .. ieutenant Colonel Fenwick, with two com­
pani~s of Simond's regimt'nt, two 18, and two 12 pounders, 
to mov~ up the Mohawk to Utica, where the roads part, which 
lead to Niagara and Sackett's Harbour. 

" I shall order a detachment of light artillerv, and the infan­
~ry, with the heavy pieces, a quantity of ammu'nition, intrench­
mg tools, ar.u other articles, to proceed to Niagat-a.-The whole, 
except the \ig"-; artillery, will go by water from fort -Schuyler: 
I wrote to tht" cflmmanulllg ufiicl'rs at Niagara and Sackett's 
Harbour, confidentially, to let it be k.nown they had received 
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iilitetligence, that large De-enforcements of regulars and militia 
were on their march to jojn them: I enclosed a letter to each of 
thelIl to that effect. It is said, that a detachment Qas been sent 
from Nigara. by land, to, Detroit; if so, I should presume, be­
fore they can march two hundred and fifty miles, General Hull 
will receive notice of their approa-ch, and in season to cut them 
off before they reach fod Malden." 

Here then we have the testimony of General Dearborn him,. 
self, that on the 7th of August, a detachment of British troops 
had rnarched from Niagara to re-enforce the troops at Malden; 
and on the 20th of August, General Van Rensselaer was inform­
ed, that a detachment had marched from the same place.:" 
Either then there were two detachments of the British which 
moved forward to Detroit, as referred to by General Dearborn 
on the 7th August to the Secretary of ""Va1', and afterwards on 
the 20th of the same month in his letter to General Van Renss.e­
laer, a more minute account of which, giving the amount of the 
force of one detachment, is given by the above letter of Colonel 
Cass, 01' General Dearborn was criminally negligent, in suffer­
ing thirteen days to elapse, betwien the 7th and 20th August, 
before he communicated to General Van Rensselaer, informa­
tion of so much importance. The young General Illay have his 
choice of the alternatives, in making out the defence of his 
father. 

There is anothel' consideration which must be irre&istible on 
this subject. Sir George Prevost was th'a commanding General 
of both the Canadas. General Brack was acting governour, and 
commanded the troops in Upper Canada, and was under the 
commaml of Sir George Prevost. At this time I had invaded 
Upper Canada from Detroit. No invasion was made from any 
other quarter. It was of great importance, to 're-enforce the 

'" lnaddition to the lettels of Gerieral Dearborn which have been cited, it fUl'­

ther appears by Colonel Cass'letter to the government, dated 10th September, 
1812, which has been published in General DearbClrn's defence, that the enemy 
at Malden, about the 10th "",ugust, after the armistice was ellt~red into, re­
ceived a re-enforcement from the same place. His words Are" about the 10th 
August, the enemy received a re-enforcement of about four hundred mer.." 

It appears evident, from this statement of Colonel Cass, tbat the force of four 
hundred men, which atrived on the 10th August, must havE' been an extra force, 
besides that of G-eneral Brock, whic4 did not reach Malden, unt~e 14th of 
the same month-. ' 
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troops at Malden, to repel this invasion. Troops could not bt! 
removed with safety to the British posts below, while our troopa' 
at Niagara, had a right to act offensively. 

I now ask you, whether you do not believe that this plan was 
concerted by Sir George Prevost, solely for the purpose of ena· 
blin~ General Brock to carry his troops to re-enforce the troops 
at ~,~ .tIden? And whether you do not believe, as soon as the 
plan was conceived and Sir George Prevost had determined to 
send his proposals to General Dearborn, that he immediately 
gave General Brock information, that a suspension of hostilities 
would probably take place at Niagara, and that he might with 
saff'ty to those posts, march his troops to Malden, which it ap· 
pears by the two letters above recited to the Secretary of War 
and to General Van Rensselaer, he actually did. 

The facts thus proved by the letters of General Dearborn to 
the Secretary of War and to General Van Rensselaer, shewing 
that a detachment had moved from Niagara for Malden, and the 
commentaries which ha ve been and will now be made on them, 
will give a satisfactory explanation of the letter of General 
Brock, which has b('en published by young General Dearborn. 
General Brock had carried his re-enforcements to Malden, and 
during the existence of the armistice, was engaged in offensive 
operations. When he wrote his letter of the 25th August to 
General Van Rensselaer, disavowing any knowledge of the ar· 
misti(;e, at the time of his attack on Detroit he had then return­
ed with his re-enforcements to fort George. It is true, the ~es­
patches from the British Adjutant General, communicating. 
official intelligence of the armistice, and which General Dearborn 
had undertaken to transmit to the British commanding officer at 
Niagara and to myself may not have been received by General 
Brock, as he states, previously to the 25th of August. But I 
would ask how it happens that this official intelligence of the 
armistice was not received by General Brock, before the 25th 
August, seventeen days after it was agreed upon? And what 
became of the despatches, which it is stated General Dear­
born had transmitted to me, and which I declare I had never 
received. 

In a letter from General Dearborn to the Secretary of War 
of th,· 7th, of August, he says, "I have been making arrange­
rnent3 WIth Governour Tompkins for having re'enforcemeDts 
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eent to Niagara, Ogdensburg, and Plattsburg, I trust they witt 
move soon, but too late, I fear, to make the diversions in favour 
of General Hull which is so desirable." In the same letter of 
the 7th of August, he informs the Secretary" that' a detachment 
had been sent from Niagara to Detroit." 'Vhat were the cir­
cumstances which induced General Dearborn to express to the 
Secretary of War hisfear's that the re-enforcements he had or­
dered from the State of New York would be too late to make 
diversions in favour of General Hull? Although he says these 
fe-enforcements would move soon, yet he says he fears they 
would be too late. Does he not himself in this very letter give 
the reason why it would be too late for these re-enforcements 
to co-operate with 'me? viz. "that a detachment of the British 
had been s£'nt from Niagara to Detroit." With the knowledge 
bel ore Ilim of the movement of this detachment, I think I may 
then ask, what possible reason could have induced him on the 
very next day i:o have paralyzed his own troops on the Niagara, 
by pledging himself that t.hey should act only on thE:' defensive? 
As soon as this temporary armistice was mad.e, on the 8th Aug­
gust, the British Adjutant General delivered a copy of it to 
General Dearborn enclosed in a letter to General Brock or the 
commanding officer at fort George, to be transmitted by him, as 
he had undel·taken to have it sent. Permit me again to ask, 
what could have induced him to have adopted a measure, which 
he himself says he was not authorized to agree to, and which 
he believed the government would not approve? If he should 
say his object was my relief, I must request you, fellow citizens, 
now to consider the measures he adopted to afford that relief. 
All the letters containing this important information, were en­
trusted to General Dearborn to be communicated. He was the 
commanding General of our armies and must have known how 
materially this importallt measure would effect my army~ and 
having entered into it himself, it evidently became his duty to 
have taken the mgst effectual means regardless of every ex­
pense, to have made this communication to me with the greatest 
possible expedition. 

The distance from Albany to the Niagara river, is about three 
hundred miles and thence to Detroit about two hundred and 
fifty miles more. It appears then that I was about five hund­
dred and fifty miles from Albany, where General Dearborn 
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was situated at the date of the armistice, and tha.t (jQne~ 
Brock was OR his way to Malden. Inte1lig~'!lc~ of thi~ armis­
tice might have reached ml1,jn five days after it was a~reed up­
on, by an express, travelling less than five miles an hour. H~d 

this been done, I should have received the armistice three day~ 
before the 16th August. the day that Gen~ral Brock inv,a,ded 
our territory. By the measures adopted by General Dearborn 
to have these important despatches conveyed, it will be seen by 
reference to General Van Rensselaer's lstter to Gellllra,l Dear­
born, as before recited, that he did not receive them. until th~ 
17th of August being nine days in travelling th.ree hUDd,ed 
miles, and by General Brock's. letter to GelUlral Van R.e~Sll,eo 

laer, it appears he did not receive them until his return to. fort 
George, af-ter the capitulation at Detroi,t, amI as I have befofl!' 
stated, the despatches sent to me, I have never received. Had 
proper and efficient measures been adopted by General Deal'· 
born, to forward the despatches with such expedition as they 
might have b~cn sent, according to his own construction of tbll 

terms of that agreement, General Brock would then have reo 
ceived the official account in due time to have prevented his ill­
vading our terr:itory in his attack on me. and I should have had 
it in my power to have exercised my discretif)ll in agreeiog 
likewise to the a\'mi~tice or to have acted otherwise, as circum­
stances might have warranted. General Brock having made 
the invasion of our country in his attack on me, tiuri.ng. the oper­
ation of the armistice, he felt the necessity in justiiicati()Jl of 
himself, of writing the letter referred to, addressed to General 
Van Rensselaer, protesting against any knowledge (mean:ifI,g 
official knowledge) of the existence of such armistice at tha.t 
time. It is well known that the Adjutant General is the direc~ 
organ of communication, through whom orders are made known 
to an army. and if by other means, a subordinate officer has r-e­
ceived intelligence of such orders unless communicated in. an 
official verbal or written form, from the commanding officer, he 
is not bound and indeed he dare not qbey them. The armLitice 
having been made nearly three weeks before General Brock ha«,l 
returned from Malden to his post on the Niagara, I ask you 
whether it is probable that it was such a profound secret in Up .. 
per Canada, that General Brock should hav.e received no indirect 
inforllla,tion of it,. when he was in a situation wh~re it might 
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have heen communicated to him in three or four days at most .. 
'Truth is frequently morc dearly elicited frolD circumstances, 
than 'from any other kind of testimony. Records are liable to 
be mutilated; the memory of man is not always correct and re­
tentive; interest, pass{un, and pl'ejudice frequently have a pow­
erful 'operation on the mind. In the case under l'evie\v, the 
circumstances which existed speak in terms most convincing 
and irresistible. 

It is necessary to take a view of the situation of both armies, 
and their relation to each other, with·{he objects of both parties 
in the war, to form a proper estimate on the subject. The ar­
my I commanded, made the invasion from the Detroit river. I 
had no co-operation. This was owing to the neglect of 'General 
Dearborn in the first instance and to his temporary armistice in 
the second. This armistice was proposed by Sir George Pre­
'Vost at a time when his provinces were invaded frum no other 
quar'tercbut Detroit. I ask you, then, for What purpose this 
proposal was made? To your consideration and judgment I 
~he'el'fuUy submit the two following inquiries. First, whether 
the sole object was 'not to enable General Brock to march with 
the h'oops from the east part of the province to re-enforce the 
troops at Ma!lden, to repel the invasion I had made? Second, 
whether from the· evidence and circumstances which have 
been related you are not perfectly satisfied that General Brock had 
information of the temporary armistice before he returned from 
Malden, three weeks after it had been made-a sufficient time 
for the information to have arrived, had it been sent from Eng­
land? In support of this evidence and of these circumstanc~s, 
I do now in the most solemn manner declare, as I before stat­
-ed, that immediately afterihe capitulation on the 16th August, 
General Brock informed me that the orders in Council had been 
repealed, and General Dearborn had agreed to an armistice at 
Niagara and the other posts where he commanded, and he hop. 
ed and expected it would be the foundation of pea~e between 
the two countries; or words to that effect. You all well know 
fellow citizens, with what despatch eXpresses are sent almost 
every day through the country for the bene1it of commercial 
8(Jcculation, and that the distance of five or six hundred miles is 
frcq\lently travelll'd over i'O about lhree days. With the know­
}'edge of iUC!J .facts which the expedence of aU of you confirm, 
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Ciin it be considered unreasonable in me to suppose that equal 
vigilance would havfl been observed on this occasion, as is prac­
tised ina private con.mercial speCUlation? On a great national 
occasion, when the fate of an army and a large section of 
country is exposed, was it not the duty of the commanding 
Ger:eral, to whom was confided your safety and the protection 
of your property, to have made as great exertions for their pre­
servation, as are every day made by individuals, where nothing 
is at stake, but pecuniary private interest? But it is further in 
evidence, fellow citizens, that General Dearborn's expresse.9 did 
not travel with but little more than one third the speed with 
ordinary expresses; as General Van Rensselaer on the 17th of 
August, nine days after the armistice was agreed upon, which 
was on the 8th of August, and only three hundred miles from 
Albany, acknowledges then to have just received General Dear­
born's Jettel', communicating the intelligence of it. So that you 
perceive this expres.9 travelled at the astonishing rate of not 
.quite a mile and an half an hour. With such evidences of the 
vigilance and exertions of General Dearborn in carrying into 
execution the plan of a campaign which he himself had formed 
and making preparations for conducting an offensive war, de­
clared by an administration from which he received his commis­
sions, I will leave you to make your own comments. 

No. XXXV. 
THE temporary armistice made with Sir George Prevost 

by General Dearborn, had so fatal an effect on the division 
of the army I commanded, and was so essentially the cause 
of the misfortunes of the campaign, that I must beg your 
further attention to that subject. The fact is, that as early as 
the Sd and 7th of August, General Dearborn well knew my 
critical. situation, and how much I stood in need of ca-operation 
and assistance. In the letter of the 3d to General Van Rensse­
laer, he says, " you will please to take measures for keeping up 
a correspondence WIth General Hull, and ascertain his move­
ments by expresses or otherwise; and as he has crossed over 
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into Upper Canada, and taken possession of Malden, it will he 
expedient to make every exertion in your power to co-operate 
with him; and if your force will not admit of any strong offen­
sive operations, it may be well to make such diversions in his 
faveur as CirCUJ;flstances will permit, so as to prev'ent the rnemy 
from detaching any force from the vicinity of Niagara,-to 
oppose the movements of General Hull. I trust you will slIon 
be able to act in a more decisive manner." 

In his letter to t!ie Secretary of War, dated the 7th of August, 
lIe says, "I have been making arrangements for having re-en­
forcements sent to Niagara, Ogdensburg, and Plattsburg. I 
trust they will move soon-but too late I fear, to make the di­
'Version in favour of General Hull, which is so desirable. "-In 
th~ same letter he informs the S(:'cretary that a detachment of 
the British had been sent from Niagara to Detroit. 

General Dearborn, as you will perceive; from his letters of 
the 3d and 7th of August, knew that troops had marched from 
Niagara to re-enforce the post of Malden-he was likewise aware 
that in making an armistice, he could not include mt7-as shewn 
by his letter to me on the subject. where he says, "that as you 
received your orders directly from the Secretary of War, I could 
not agree to extend the principle to your command." With 
full and certaiu knowledge of these facts he makes the armis­
tice. The circumstance of some of the troops having marched 
to Malden previous to the armistice, only increased the difficul­
ty. for it enabled the enemy to stre~gthell their posts and be 
better prepared for service. 

Knowing then, as he did, my critical situation, and that a 
part of the force of Niagara had marched against me, I ask on 
what gl"Ounds his conduct could be justified? 

There is additional evidence to shew, that General Dearhorn 
was correct in stating that troop" had been sent to Malden, as 
found in the letter of Colonel Cass to the government after the 
capitulatiou, which letter was sellt to the court martial asevi­
dence against me. Colonel Cass says, "that about the 1 Oth of 
August, the enemyre~eived a re-enforcement of about .four hun­
dred men." General Deal,born left it optional with me to act 
on the dt:fensive, and it was equaHy so with the Dritish-for as 
apart of theil' troopshl\d left Niagara previous to the armit'\tic~ 
they were not pledged by it. Now, had I received his letter. 

25 
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il'nnounciul!; the armistice, and had I found it expedient, to have 
proposed a similar measure the enemy was at full liberty to 
do as he pleased. and leave me no choice. 

The sou of the General, in defence of his father. says, "that 
s'o far from neglecting the situation of General Hull. every pre· 
caution was taken by General Dearborn to render this arrange­
ment not only not injurious bllt advantageous to him!" On what 
grounds was this opinion of the son of the General founded? I 
am left to suppose that it waR on the letter of his father to the 
Secretary of War, in which he observes, "I have no expectation 
that the government will consent to a cessa,tion of hostilities. 
but all circumo;tances considered, it may be well to avail our­
selves of the occa'lion. until we are better prepared for acting 
with effect; fLt all events. we can lose !lOthing by the arrange­
ment I have consented to, it being explicitly understood, that 
my government will not be under any obligation to agree to it, 
unless the despatches of the British government are such, as to 
induce the Presid-ent to propose an armistice, as preparatory for 
negotiations for peace !" 

The only reason given in this letter is, that we might be bet­
ter prepared. Whose fault was it that we were not better pre­
pared? In my SSd number, it is proved, that it was the duty of 
General De'lrborn to have made the preparations at Niagara, 
&c. and that he neglected, even to give any orders for the pur­
pose, more than forty days, after the Serretary of War, gave 
him instructions for the purpose.-No principle is better estab­
lished, than, that a man shall not take advantage of his own 
wrong. 

Thus I have proved that he knew I required assistance-tl~at 
re-enforcements of the enemy had been sent to aid in opposing 
me-that he did not include my army in the armistice, and yet 
that he made it while possess.ed of this knowledge. I ask you 
to consider what motives could have induced him to have agreed 
to a measurE:. so fatal to my army? 

I will now consider young Gimeral Dearborn'S remarks as to 
my views of the conquest o(Canada, without the assistance of a 
navy.-Thf hest evidence, I can offer is my official letters to 
~he governm~nt. In a letter addressed to the Secretary of ", ar, 
ill 18~9. I say, "I would !ikewi~e suggest for consideration the 
el'pedlency of building some armed vessels on lake Erie, for the 
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purpose of preserving the communication. Consider you ha¥e 
three military posts to the north and west of these watp.rs, and 
no other communication with them." In the next, dated the 
6th of March, 1812, more than two months before the declara­
tion of war, I observed, •. If we cannot command the ocean, we 
can command the inland lakes of our country, I have always 
been of the opinion, that we ought to )lave built as many armed 
vessels on the lakes as would have commanded them. We 
have more interest in them than the British nation, and can 
build vessels with more convenience. ') Both these communica­
tions were made before I accepted a military appointment. 
. After this appointment, and before I left Washington, to take 

the command of the northwestern army, I presented another 
letter to the Secretary of \Var, and I here copy from my de­
fence before the court martial the contents of it. Page 38-
~'It did cDntain, a representation, in the most explicit and 
stronge3t terms, of the necessity of our having a naval force 
superiour to the enemy on the lakes, and that without it, and 
unless the army I was to command was stren!!;thened by addi­
tions to its numbers, and unless it was followed by detachments, 
to keep open the communication, and insure it supplies from 
Ohio, and unless it was supported by co-operations on otiler 
quarters, my army could not be able to maiJ;ltain itself at De­
troit, much less carryon offensive operations in the enemy's 
country." 

On this subject, I will here state the testimony of Captain. 
Charles Stewart of the navy, who says that at an interview he 
had with the Secretary of the Navy, in the beginning of April, 
1812, "the Secretary informed him, that it was contemplated 
to give him the command of the lakes; that a naval force suo 
lleriour to the British on the lakes, had been strongly urged by 
General Hull, as essential, and as a c.ertain means of ensuring 
to the army succeSiil." This intel'view of Captaiu Stewart with 
the Secretary of the Navy did not take place, until I left Wash­
ington for Ohio, to take the command of tile army, as he had 
not arrived, while I was there. 

Young General Dearborn ought to have stated the whole of 
General Porter1s testimony-it is_to be found in pages 1£6 an~ 
127 of my trial. 
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He says, the . last of March or the beginning of April, he 
was witt} me at the office of the Secretary of War, and I recom­
mended that a navy should be formed on the lakes, to have a 
superiority over the British in case of war; that I stated the 
strength of the British naval force; and that I recommended'R 
sloop of war of twenty guns, and that the brig Adams, then on 
the stocks, should be taken into the service; and the Secretary 
of the N avy proI~o~ed writing to Captain Stewart at Philadel~ 
phia, to repair to '" ashington to concert measures. He then 
says, that a navy agent was appointed on the lakes; tpat he 
was twice at the President'~ with me, when the subject of a na­
vy was talked over; at one time, he says, that the Pre!ident 
thought it would ue abandoned-at another time, he agreed that 
it shoulu be done. I have stated here the substance of hi, tes­
timony on this subject, in as Goncise a manner as possible.­
Whoever wishes to see the whole of it, will find it in the book 
Anu page:> I have mentioned. 

It does not appear that the plan was abandoned before I left 
'Vashington; because after my departure a navy agent was ap­
pointed to build a nayy, and Captain Stewart was sent for tl 
cOlllmand it. 

If the President at anyone time suggested to General Porter 
that it was abandoned, it must hal'e been mere loose conversa­
tion, and not an official determination. 

My letters to the government on this subject, ought and will 
be considered the best evidence of my opinions; and as they 
were received as official communications, I had good reason to 
believe that the yiews of the government accorded with my 
own. Every person, therefore, who will read these letters to 
the government, on tile subject of a navy, the last of which was 
written after I was appointed to the command of the northwes­
tern army, ami a few days only before I left 'Vashington, and 
likewise the other testimony I have off~red, must be satisfied, 
that 1 hau reason to expect a navy sufficient ta preserve the 
communication of the lake, would have been constructed. 

It is true, in my official cummunications, and in my conver­
sati~n with the members of tbe administration, that while I urg­
e~, III as strnng language as I was capable of using, the expe­
~lency, and indeed necessity, of commanding the upper lakes, 
lU the even of war with Great Britain, at the same time I 
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stated the only measures by which our territory and posts situ­
ate'd on those waters could by any possibility be preserved, pro-

vid(~d a navy could not be pn>pared. . 
Should not that essential preparation be made, the plan WhiCh 

I propofled was, as soon as war was deciared, to cross the Niag;­
ara river with a large army, to co· operate with the forces I 
€ommanded. I furthe .. stated, that if with these armies we 
could make the conquest of Upper Canada, the harbours around 
every part of the lake would be in our possession, and the navy 
of the enemy could not be supported, and must be destroyed, 
or fall into OU1· hands. 

If on the alternative, here stated, the administration aban­
doned the measure of building a navy in 1~12, and adopted the 
suggestion I had made, an army ought immediately to have 
been assembled on the Niagara river, of sufficient- sb·ength, to 
have co-operated with mine, to have taken possession of the 
province, and espec.ially of the harbours on the lake. This not 
being done, was strollg evidence to me, that the altemative was 
not adopted, and that a navy would be prepared, which in all 
my communications I recO/!lmended in conjunction with an ar­
my to be preferable. Ever since I have had a knowledge of 
that country, I have given the opinion, and that opinion now 
seems to be confirmed by experience, that the command of the 
lakes, is essential to its preserv:ttion. 

This opinion was founded on its distant and 'isolated situa­
tion, Detroit being separated from any other settlements, by a 
wildemess of more than two hundred miles, MichilIimackinack 
five hundl'ed, and Chicago eight hundred, and the whole of them 
situated on navigable waters. 

This must continue to be the case, until they are united to the 
states, by the progress of settlement. This explanation I have 
been called to make in consequence of General Dearbom's as­
sertion, and you have now before you both of my views as to the 
conquest of the Canadas. 

In this defence of General Dearborn, it is very frequently as­
serted, that [could ha.ve taken the British fort at Malden, and 
my instructions from the Secre'tary of War are recited, to show 
that it was my duty to have done it, indeed, that I was directed. 
to do it; as it was made a crime against me for not doing it, 
I will ask your attention to this part of the subject. On the 
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first column of the defence of General Denrborn, are recited the 
only orders I received on this subject. They are dated the 
24th of June, and were received on the 9th of July; I here copy 
them from his defence, with my answer on the same day they 
were received. 

" Should the force under your command be equal to the en­
terprize, consistent with the safety of your own posts, you will 
take possession of Malden, and extend your conquests as cir­
cumstances may justify. It is also proper to inform you that 
an adequate force cann~t soon be relied on for the reduction of 
the enemy's posts below." 

My answer to this part of the Secretary's letter on the sub­
ject of taking Malden, written on the 9th of July, the same day 
it was received, is in these words: "The British command the 
water and the savages. I do not think the force J-.ere equal to 
the reduction of Amhcrstburg, (meaning Malden.") 

I am much obliged to the author of the defence, for copying 
,the last paragraph of this letter, which he says I omitted; it is 
a very strong additional reason for the opinion, I gave for not 
making an attack on that fortress. I was informed by it, that 
the divisions of the army at Niagara, &c. were not ready to co­
operate in the invasion of Canada. It now appears by this let­
ter of the Secretary of "'. ar, that I was ordered to cross the 
river, and make the invasion of Upper Canada, and the enter­
prize of attacking Malden, was left to my discretion, and I was 
to make the attempt if in my opinion, it could be done consist­
ent with the safety of my other posts; and it likewise appears, 
that I wrote to the Secretary, on the same day that I received' 
this letter, that it was my opinion, that it could not be done 
consistently with the safety of my other posts. Here is present­
ed all the orders and facts, which relate to this subject. I now 
ask you, fellow citizens, and particularly those of you, who 
have had military experience, and paid particular attention to 
military subjects, whether, under these orders, and the opinion 
I had gi\en to the government, I could have been ;ustified, in 

. J 
makmg the attack? If I had ordered the enterprize, and it 
had been unsucceflsful, would not the administration have said, 
and "'ith propriety, that the measure was left to my discretion, 
and I had given my opinion, that it could not be undertaken~ 
with safety to my other posts? Jndeed, whether the true .. lI\!!an.: 
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;;ihg and intention of this order~ consi~ering tl~e opinio\lS I had 
given, in conjunction with it, and the mformatIon the letter con­
tained, that I should then have no co-operation, was not that I 
was not authorized to make the attack? 

Besides, after the Secretary of War had r~eived this letter, 
in which I stated that my force was not equal to the enterprize, 
I received an answer from him, in which he said, that my con­
duct was not only approved, but viewed with the highest satis­
faction, by the President. From these facts and documents, it 
must be evident, that I strictly obeyed the orders I received 
-from the government. and that different conduct would have 
b~en a violation of at least the spirit and intention of them. 

-----------

No. XXXVI. 
I WILL now reply to that part of the defence of young Genet;­

al Dearborn in protection of his father. in which he accuses me 
with attempting to pervert the testimony of Major Snelling, 
and endeavour to satisfy you, that there is not the lea,st found­
ation for this accusation. To exhibit it in the plainest possible 
manner, I will here copy the testimony on column No. 1. pre­
cisely as it is printed in the number of my memoirs, to which 
the young General refers, and in which he says it has been 
perverted, and opposite to it in No.2, you will see the testimo­
ny, as printed in the Report of the trial, with the same punctua­
tion, as in each. 

No. I. 
Witness says, "That he 

stood at the corner of the slip 
leading to the gate of the fort, 
and attempted to count the 
British troops on entering the 
fort; that the troops in ad­
vance were the 41st regiment, 
in platoons of fourteen files as 
well as the York volunteers, 
twenty-nine platoons, two 
det'p in red coats; that the 
)'UUitia platoons, which. were 

No. II. 
" That witness stood at the 

the corner of a slip leading to 
the gate of the fort, and at­
tempted to COUllt the British 
troops on entering the £ort­
that the troops III advance 
were the 41st, in platoons of 
fourteen files, as well as the 
York militia volunteers-twen­
ty-nine platoons, two deep, in 
red coats-that the militia 
platQons consisted of no more 



in the rear, consisted of no 
more than seven 0(' eight files, 
and composed one third part 
of the whole force, probably 
seven hundred & fifty whites; 
of which the remaining two­
thirds were regulars and un­
uniformed militia." 

20(} 

than seven or eight files, am 
composed one third of tn, 
whole force-probably sevel 
hundred and ,fifty whites-o 
which the remaining two­
thirds welP regulars and uni· 
form militia." 

\Vitness says, agreeably to statement, "That the troops ill 
ridvance, were the 41st, (meaning regiment) in platoons of four· 
teen files, as well as the York militia volunteers-(as well as, 
that is, the 41st r{'giment with the or as well as the York mili­
tia volunteers) (York militia volunteers, militia of C(lurse, they 
being volunteers) twenty-nine platoons, two deep, in red coats 
-that the militia platoons (which were in the real', certainly, as 
the 41st regiment and the York militia volunteers were inacl­
vance, as above stated) consisted of no more than seven or eight 
files, and composed (what composed, why the militia platoons 
composed) one third of the whole force-(one third of what, wh'y 
of the whole force) probably seven hundred and fifty whites­
(who do these seven hundred and fifty whites refer to, why. to 
one third of the whole force) of which the remaining two thirds 
were regulars and uniform militia," (what does, of which refer 
to, why to whflle force) the remaining two thirds (one third 
of the whole force, being seven hundred and fifty whites) the 
other two thirds must of course have amounted to fifteen hun­
dred whites, as twice seven hundred and fifty is equal to jj.fteen 
hundred; and seven hundred and fifty beinU; added to fifteen 
hundred, makes the whole white force amount to two thousand 
two hundred and fifty whites, as I have represented in my 
memoirs, and now have actually demonstrated. It will there­
fore read thus, 

"That the troops in advance were the 41st regiment. in pla­
toons of fourteen files, as well as or with the York vuiunteers­
twenty-nine platoons. two deep, in red coats-that the militia 
platoons, which. were in the rear, consisted of no more than 
seven or eight files, and composed one-third of the whole force, 
~robably seven hundred and fifty whites, of which the remain­
mg two-thirds were regulars and uniform militia." From these 
premises, I make the following calculation. That the number of 
militia being seven hundred and fifty whites, whic:1 was one-
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t.ltird of the whole w'nte force and the l'emamtng tw.0-~/m'ds, 
which were regulars and uniform militia, and C\ln~lstmg of 
COUl'se of fifteen hundred, inasmuch as the tirst tnu'd sp.ven 
hundred and tifty, gives therefore the aggregate white force, 
the number of twenty two hundt'ed and fifty men, as I ha\'e be­
fm'e stated in my memoirs. Add to this only six hundred In­
dians, which it is proved by the testimony of I,ieutenant For­
bush. before referred to, and which he states to have counted 
the day before the capitulation, and the whole number of the 
enemy would amount to two thousand eight hundred and fifty 

men. 
In mv defence before the court martial, I merely referred to 

that pa;t of Major Snelling'S testimony, wherE' he mentioned 
seven hundred and fifty whites~ without considering it in con­
nexion with the other part of it. In my memoirs I stated that 
I had enly two days allowed me to prepare my defence, and 
arrange a mass of testimony which had occupied thirty-two 
days in presenting to,the court. I observed it was not so full 
and intelligible, as it might have been, had more time been al­
lowed me. . Although however 1 may have stated the testimony 
of Major Snelling, on my trial, as young General Dearborn has 
represented I did, yet if any partuf it were overlooked by me 
at that time, which is susceptible of a construction onia less 
hurried examination, to operate in my favour, a candid and lib­
eral mind would at once concede, that it was not only my pre­
rogative, but that, in justice to myself, it becomes my duty to 
avail myself of it. 

I will now state to you the testimony of Major Jessup, who 
was the Adjutan.t General of my army, as reported in my- trial, 
page 94, in these words," That he had received a report froln 
different !\.djutantsof different corps, estimating the men fit for 
action. and tRinks that the amount exceeded one thousand men, 
including tIle Michigan militia of four hundred, and the detach­
menj·s -absent with Colonels Cass and McArthur; perhaps this 
.estimation includes the Michigan legion."-He likewise says, 
"there were also on the evening of the 15th, about thirty or 
forty armed wagonners." Young General Dearborn, in his de­
fence, says, the Michigan lbgion cOllsi~ted of one hundred. 
Aftel' deducting these detachments, it will appear, that my 
whole efNctive force on the day of the capitulation, did not 

26 
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exceed but about six hundred men, agrt'eably to this testi. 

mony. . . 
By examining the testimony of Colonel Cass, as con tamed In 

his ~emorable letter to the go"e1'llment, he states the effective 
men fit for duty on the 16th August at one thousand and sixty, 
without including, as he says, a detachment to which he refers, 
and the Michigan militia of three hllndred, on duty. This 
statement, you will perceive, is made thus minutely by a man, 
who was absent at the river Raisin with Colonel McArthur on 
the 16th, and could therefore only receive his information from 
hearsay testimony, w[;ereas the statement of Major Jessup, is 
testimony furnished by an individual, the Adjutant General of 
the army, and being present on the 16th testified both to what 
he saw and heard on that day. The variance of their testimo­
ny I will leave with you to l'econcile or to diilCf'iminate between 
them. From the above view, it appears, my f~rce on the day 
of the surrender was less than one third of the white force of 
the enemy, and not a fourth of his whole force, consisting of 
white men and Indians. 

The manner in which young Geneml Dea;rborn has given an 
account of the numbers of my army renders it necessary. to 
make some explanation of it. IJe has extracted the whole num­
ber in each regiment from a return, which was made at fort 
Findley on the 17th of June, soon after the army commenced 
its march in the wilderness-and has represented it in such a 
way, as to induce you to believe, that the number he has men­
tioned was pl'el>ent and fit for duty at the time of the surrender. 
Young General Dearborn has been a militai'y officer himself. and 
must have knowll, that such a misrepresentation would have 
deceived those unacquainted Wilh military forms. He well 
knew. when a Colonel makes a return of his regimen~, he is 
obliged to inclilde in it, every officer and soldier, belonging to 
it. whether present or absent, fit for duty or not fit f(lr duty. 
He had the r ~turns before him~ whm he made the extract; why 
then did he not publ ish those retUrTll"- instead of the tntal aggre­
gat.e? It is well known that the tourth re""lment had been 8ta-

• ~ .r' 

tlOlled at post St. Vincennes and jllmed tLe militia regiments at 
l!rbanna a few days only before the army IT.arched. All the 
SIck and non·effectiw llIt'n 01 the 1'1 gill ent. \Hl'e left at that 
post, and many were debIlitated on the march and dId not jOill 
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h . t t Detr'oit When younD" General Dearborn Wll~ t e regtmen a • . ~ , h h 
t f 0' a few lines onty 'of Colonel Miller's testnnony, Gug t e 

::t I;: have stated the Colonel's account ,ot the numbers· that 
regiment contained? If he had stated thIs account ,of the num­
ber of that regiment, instead of foUl' hundred and eIghty-three, 
it would have appeared that only two hundred ~lId fifty or t~o 
hundred and sixty. were at Detroit and consldt'I'ed effectIve 
men. By reference to page 111, of my tdal, it appears that 
when ask"ed the strength of the fourth regimen~, fit for duty on 
the morning of the surrender, say~, "Ther~ were about two 
hundred and fifty 01' two hundl'ed and sixty, effective for du­
ty." -General Dearborn then makes t{ appeal', that in the three 
Ohio regiments of militia, with the few dragoons there were fif­
teen hundred and ninety-two men. This number is three hun­
dred and ninety-two more than the President had ordered, 
which number ~s has been stated, was twelve hundred, and I 
had no authority to take any surplus under my command. The 
Colonels, I pre~ume at that time, must have included this sur­
prus of three hundred and ninety-two mell. in their returns, in 
order to obtain provisions for them in the wilderness, as it could 
not be obtained in any other way. These men were volunteers, 
who had joined us at intervals on our march, and were not un­
der my orders-they returned home whenever they pleased; 
At the time of the capitulation, on the 16th August, young 
General Dearborn includes all the straggling volunteers, all the 
men of the fourth regiment who were left at post St. Vincennes, 
all that were left sick on the march, and all !be Michigan mili­
tia which were then scattered over a territory of five or six hun­
dred miles in ext<!nt. If he had been desimus of presenting to 
you a just statement of my effedive force on the day of surren­
der, he never could have exhibited the statement which he has 
now attempted to impose upo~ you. Michillimackinack, which 
was a part of the territory and all the militia at that place 
and the adjOining. country, were in the hands of the enemy. 
By a letter I receIved from Colonel Anderson, which I recited 
in a former number, who commanded at the river Raisin, he re­
quested. me, not t,o order any militia from that place to Detroit, 
but deSIred I should send re-enforcements and ammunition fOl' 
the preserva,tion of the settlements, against the savages. Thil'! 

was at that tIme the largest settlement in the ter.ritory, except .. 
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ino,the one at the Detroit river. Under the exposed tonditiol 
~ 

of that settlement, as stated by Colonel Anderson, nomen were 
ordered frnm that quarter to Detroit. Indeed; there Were no 
militia which could have been collected at Detroit, excepting 
the few who resided on that river. By ascertaining what popu­
lation was on the Detroit river, and the disposition that was 
manifested by ~uch of those as were with me on the 16th Aijr 
gust, you will be enabled to form a judgm~nt of their numbevs 
and what deper.:dence I could place un them. I was of theopin. 
ion, and I believe you will agree with me, there coultI have beeR 
none at all, A part of them had joined the enemy at the Spr,ing 
Wells, and their Colonel informed me on the morning of the 
16th, that the whole of them would do the same. 

In our investigation, we ought always to make use of the best 
evidellce the nature of thf' case will ad mit. In this case, the 
return of the Adjutant General is the best evidence. I have 
stated his testimony, given under oarh. relative to my force Oil 

the morning of the 16th of August, and he says, "that the num· 
bel' of effective men, was about one thousand, including Me 
Arthur and Cass's detachments-" and by tIeducting them for 
the reasons, which have bee!} fully statetI, my force would ~I!. 
i'educed to about six hundred mell. Thus you see the UllIn­
strous errours, which this son of General Dearborn has coml\lit. 
ted in his solicitude to defend his father. To check his impet­
uous ardour, the bJlundaries of truth have been no barrier, but 
have been overleaped with as much facility, as if straws. only 
had impeded his course. 

It is a duty which lowe to myself and to a proper investiga!' 
tion of the subject, to state the situation and inducements of the 
witnesses, immediately after the surrender, but before the trial, 
the testimony of whom is introduced to you by young General 
Dearborn, that you may judge of the degree of credibility to 
which each is entitled. 

In tile first place, I will introd'Jce to you Colonel Cass, who 
pr(,ceeded to Washington immediately after the capitu.lat~on, 
altu und!'!' the eye of the officers of the administration, address­
ed a letter to the Secret.ary of \Yar, giving such an account of 
th.e events of the campaign, as lhey, who Were my prosecutor8, 
WIshed. 



205 

He was the first witness examined by tile court M arHal. Ali 
, the other. witnesses were present; and attended to heal" the tes­
timony he gave. Before he testifieri, he had been promoted 
from the rank of a lieutenant colonel of militia. which he held 
while under my command. to the rank of brigadier general in 
the standing army, and by looking at the register of the rl';O::<1 iar 
army at thatti.me, it will be seen. how many colonels of that 
army were superseded, to. make way fOl' his promotion. 'When 
he was on the stand, testifying, he had in his pocket, an addi­
tional commission, as govemour of the territory of Michigan, 
which office, I had held for nine years, and my conduct had re­
ceived the fullest approbation of the government. If you will 
examine the newspapers, devotee;!. to the administration, around 
the capital, at Albany, where the r,ou!"t martial was held, you 
will there see, immediately after he testified, the manner in 
which his. testimony was applauded. When the young officers 
who were left to follow him, perceived the distingui!>hed favours 
he had received, and the manner in which his te&timony was 
applauded in the newspapers, and. being present and hearing 
the testimony he had given, I ask you, whether, they did not 
expect, that following the paths he had opened, they would 
attain by the m~st direct course, similar favours and distinc­
tions? 

The letter which he had written to the Secretary of War, be-­
fore I was in a situation to communicate official information of 
the event, has since..been published by young General Dearborn, 
in defence of hi!! father. This letter, giving a minute account 
of transactions, a knowledge of which he could only have ac­
'luired by hearsay, was not only received from a junior officer, 
and published by the administration as an official leiter, but 
was sent by the same administration to the court martial, as 
evidence agai~st me, to prove capital charges, and has been re­
corded in my trial!! By his own testimony, it appears that he 
was absent at the time, and all the knowledge he had of the 
transactions on the 14th, 15th, and 16th of August, as I before 
observed, was mere hearsay evidence. / 

I ask you to co~pare the statements made in this letter, with 
the testimony of the witnesses under oath, who were present, and 
from whom he must have received his information. In his letter, 
h.e says, after he returned to Detroit, Major Jessup, the Adju-
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tant General. informed him that my force on the
l 
morning or the 

16th of August. was one thousand and sixty, and further says, 
the ,leta{'hment ['('nt to the river Raisin, was not included in 
th~t r('turn. Major Jessup, the Adjutant General, says, he in­
fonnpd Colonel Cass of the return that morning, and that there 
was about one thousand, and expressly says, that this detach. 
ment was included in the number. It would tire your-patience 
to point flut all the variations of this letter from the testimony; 
I therefore leave thf comparison with you, as the whole of the 
lette,-, and the testimony of the Adjutant General, from whom 
he says he received the information, have been published. 

Gpnera) McArthur, was a lieutenant colonel in my army, 
and after the campaign, and before he gave in his testimony, 
was appointed a Brigadier General in the regular army, without 
having performed any service to entitle him to it, or ever hav, 
ing had any military experience, excepting while under my 
command. The administration could certainly have had no 
other motive in superseding all the colonels in the regular army, 
in making this appointment, than to prepare him to testifya­
gainst me. Colonel Snelling, was a captain in my army, and 
before he appeared a3 a witness against me, was promoted, and 
soon after had a regiment given to him. The administration 
never even instituted an inquiry into his conduct, for having 
left his post at the Spring Wells, on the night of the 15th Au­
gust, 181!:2, without orders, where General Brock landed the 
morning after. 

Major Whistler was a captain in my army. This officer was 
a soldier in General Burgoyne's army, and deserted from it; 
During the Indian war, while General St. Clair commanded, he 
enlisted in our army. Having been in the British army, he had 
acquired some know)eclge of the manual exercise, and was ap­
pointed a sergeant: afterwards an ensign: and finally advanc­
ed to the rank of captain. The President being informed of his 
character and situation, refused him further promotion, although 
he became entitled to it in regular succession. For a number 
of years, younger officers. superseded him. He submitted to 
this degradation, and did not resign, accordil!g to usual custom 
in such cases. At my trial his testimony was wanted bv: the 
admimstration, an~ h~ was pr~moted to the rank of majo;, and 
travelled from OhIO, m the mIdst of winter, to testify. against 
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."Ine. Ite was c.ertainly deeply indebted to the administration, 
and did not fail in his testimony to make a suitable reward. He 
eught, however, to have remembered, what would have been his 
fate as a deserter, if I had .not made particuJal' provision, in the 
capitulation, that all belonging to my army, should be pI'otect­
ed in their persons. Majm' Jessup, w~s a lieutenant in my 
army. I a~pointed him brigade major, and acting adjutant gen­
eral, with the brevet rank of major. After the campaign, but 

( before he presented himself as a witness against me on my trial, 
he was appointed a colonel in the army, and afterwards, qual'­
~er master general, and is now quarter master general of the 
United States. All the other witnesses, part only of whose tes­
timony have been cited in the defence of General Dearborn, 
who could be induced to testify against me, were patronized 
and promoted, and prepared to follow General Cass, the princi­
pal and leading character in the mock hial, under which I have 
suffered. In considering the testimony of these witnesses, you 
will find, that the principal part of it consists merely of their opin­
ions, with regal'd to my declining the attack on ~aldeR, in re­
treating from Sandwich. in not keeping open my communication 
to Ohio, and in agreeing to the capitulation. The witnesses 
ought not to have been suffered to have stated any thi'1g but 
facts, and it was the province of the court to have formed opin­
ions, on those facts. By this mode of procedure the witnesses 
he came the judges, and the court was left in the degraded char­
acter of being the organ of their opinions. I will now, fellow 
citizens ask your patience a few moments, while I present to 
you, from the reports of the trial, from which young General 
Dearborn has made his extracts, a small part of the other evi­
dence, which was given to the court martial, and will refer you 
to the report of my trial for the whole of it. I will begin with 
Colonel MiIlel"s testimony. It is to be f(lund in page 115. He 
says, .. that he saw nothing in my conduct on the 16th of Au­
gust, which the fatigues I had undergone, and the responsibility 
which was upon me, might not have produced," General Dear­
born in defence of his father, has only cited a line or ~wo of 
Colonel Miller's testimony. It contains several pages, and I 
refer the reader to the whole of it. It wiil be seen that Colonel 
Miller, who was constantly with me, saw nothing in my con­
duct, which the fatigue I/tad undergone, and the responsibility 



which was upon me, might not have pl'oduced. And in his tes· 
timony afterwards, when particularly inquired of, could state 
nothing but the surrender, which could have made any'other 
impressions. Colonel Miller was a witness, and not a member 
of the court martial; and it was his province as a witness, only, 
to have slated facts. It was known that I had surrendered, and' 
the manner in which I had surrendered, and it was for the court 
to have determined whether it was Fro per or not. His testimo­
ny, thel'efore, !flUst be considered favourable to me. I have 
been the more particular iu making these observations, because 
they will apply to more than half the witnesses on the trial. 
'fhey stated nothing but the naked facts, that I refused to at· 
tack Malden, that I retreated from Sandwich, that my commun· 
ication with Ohio was not kept open, and that I agreed to the 
capitulation; all of which was supported by their opinions only, 
to prove that I was influenced by other considerations than a 
sen!Se of duty. On an investigation of the causes whiCh lea 
to these events, the court marti21 was sitting in judgment, and 
the opmioll of witnesses ought not to have been admitted.­
Therefore it is unnecessary to be more particular in reciting 
them. 

I will here state the testimony of Captain Bacon, who was 
then an officer in the fourth regiment, page t 24, report of the 
hial. "Witness saw General Hull once on the 15th of August, 
on the parapet, and once on the 16th. He saw him also, in dif· 
ferent parts of the fort during the cannollade. General Hull 
appeared engaged as lHua], and agitated more than usual on the 
morning of the 16th, but witne~s does not know the cause. He 
had no suspicion that it proceded from personal fear, neither 
did he hear any officers at the time express an opinion that it 
did." The testimony of this officer was favourable to me; he 
received no favour, no promotion from the government. The 
first opportunity that occurred when the army wa" reorganiztd. 
Captain Bacon, though a valuable officer, W08 not even retained 
in service. In page 131 of my trial, will be seen the testimony 
of Major Munson, a major in one of the Ohio reo-;mellts. He 
says, "the General's situation was a critical o~e; he had a 
great deal of responsibility and great care on his mind. if he 
had any feelings. I saw noth':,g in his conduct hut what 
might be accQunted for, without recurring to pers(j)n~l fear." 
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You will observe, fellow citizens, that the court martial ac­
quitted me of the charge of treason, and every specification un­
der it. My trial was del ayed 'neady two years, by thl' admin 4 

istration, to hunt up testimony on that charge. ~ot even the 
shadow of testimonycouhl be fOURd; not one act could be dis­
covered, which afforded even the w]our of proof. The clan of 
witnesses, who had be£:n patronized and promoted in the mal:· 
ner which has been shewn, wel'e as ready to have gi\'en opinions 
on this charge, as they were as to my personal appearance. 

Both the administration, and the court martial thought it 
would be too great an outrage, on established precedent, to found 
a conviction on the opinion8 af witnesses alone, without proving 
a single act in support of this charge. They believed the rea­
sons, good sense and justice of mankind, in this enlightened 
age, would revolt at such an attempt. Far this reason alone, 
the gnound was ohanged, and all the power of my prosecutors 
was collected to a single point, to prove that I was under the 
influence of personal fear. In searching the records, far back 
in the days of ignorance and oppression; when the people were 
not allowed even to think, some precedents were found, for the 
admission of opinion on this charge. The witnesses therefore 
were allowed to state their opinion.~, that I was under the in­
fluence of personal fear, because I did not attack Malden, be­
cause I retreated from Sandwich, because I,did not open any 
communication with Ohio, becaust' I agreed to the capitulation~ 
finally, because they thought there was the appearance of alter­
atiop. in my countenance. It will be perceived that when I con­
sideredit not expedient to attack Malden; to retreat fro-m 
Sandwich, and to take' measures for opening my communioation 
to Ohio, there was no enemy within eighteen miles of me, and 
in reality, 'iW appearapce of immedtiate danger. When in the 
exercise of my discretion and best judgment, I performed those 
acts, was it proper for the court to take the opinions of witnes­
ses, with 'respect to the motives which induced me to adopt 
them? 'Vas it Bot their province alone to determine the pro­
priety of these acts P I ask, whether the court did not give up 
its prerogative to the witnesses, when their opinions on these 
military acts were admitted as evidence.? fOl' what purpose, 
were their opinions admitted? Certainly for no other, than to 
preJ"H.liee the minds of th~ court, a.nd induce it to pronounce 

~ 
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which the ,v"itnesses had been trained by patronage and promo .. 
tion, before they appeared as witnesses against me, the inform· 
ality in re'ceiving theil' testimony in the presence of each other, 
the admission of opinions, in lieu of direct testimony as to facts, 
I most willingly appeal to your judgment, for an approbatiQIl 
I)f my conduct. 

No. XXXVII. 

YOUNG- General Dearborn has published a number of my leV 
-tltrs, to the Secretary of War, and you will see by the dates of 
many of them, they were ,,,ritten while I was in the state of 
Ohio, and before I had any knowledge of the declaration of war. 
In answer to his strictures on those letters, I will observe that 
I expressed my honest feelings of the opinion:t entertained, of 
the character of the citizens of Ohio. That they manifested a 
praiseworthy spirit, and had volunteered their services, with a 
promptitude and energy which was highly honourable to them. 

I further observed, ., that the armv was in high spirits, and 
animated with a I~udable zeal," and-in another letter observed, 
" that the patriotism and perseverance,· with which this army 
has 3ustain~d a 111 arch, attenderl with difficulties, uncommon in 
theit' nature, does honour to themselves and their country." 
These expressions of approbation, I then thought, and now think 
were due to them.-I knew, and therefore said nothing of their 
discipline; military experience, or subordination. 

It will be I ecoUected in the letter of the Secl'etary of War to 
me, of the 9th of April, the force, which I was to command, was 
described, and the o~lect of my command then stated. The 
force was twelve hundred militia, and the fourth UnTted States 
regiml'nt.-'l'he object was the security of the Michigan terri­
tory, and the protection of the exposed frontier settlements from 
the Indians. This force I stated to the government, was suffi­
cient for tkis purpos~in time of peace. It would, therefore, 
have been wrong for me, to have asked for a larger force under 
those circumstances. 
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I stated likewise, the amount"of my force and the numbers 
'which had joined the army, after I commenced my march 
through the wilderness. I have explained to you the manner, 
in which this force was formed. I stated that I consiuered it 
suffieient to oppose any force of Indians which could be brought 
against me. 

After the declaration of war, and after the desertion of some 
of the militia, ] wrote to the Secretary, that although I might 
take Malden, yet J thought it would be attended with too great 
a sacrifice. In reflecting on the expediency of attacking the 
regular constructed fort at Malden, defended by British troops, 
I could not call to my mind a single instance during the revolu­
tionary war, where militia had successfully marched up to, and 
carried regular fortifications. I expressed it as my opillion, 
which was also concurred in by a council of war, that we had 
better wait until heavy cannon could be provided-my calcula­
tion was made, and my communications to the government were 
founded on the force, which was then at Malden, and the addi­
tions which prubably would be made to that force. 

Had not the post at Malden b~en re-enforced in an.y other 
manner than I had reason to expect, in the common occurren­
ces of war, my opinion then was and now is, that I should have 
been able to have sustained my situation at Detroit, provided, 
I had been assisted from Ohio, in opening my communication, 
in such a manner as to have received supplies. 

It will, however, be observed, that I stateu in one of the let­
ters, quoted by young General Dearborn, that the forc!' at MaI­
den, in point of numbers, was superiour to mine. And if one 
part of my letter is recited to operate against me, the other part 
ought certainly to be entitled ,to equal credit. Therl.' is no 
doubt, fellow citizens, that the force ordered for my command, 
was sufficie~t for the protection of the frontier settlements, 
against the Indians, in time of peace, under all the excitements 
which could have been made, which, as [ was informed by the 
government, was the object, for which it was ordered.-And 
further, in my opinion, it would have been sufficient, not only 
to have defended our territory, but s,:!ccessfully to have com­
menced offensive operations against Upper Canada, had the 
communication of the lake been preserved by a navy, and had 
the c01'llmandin~ General prepared suitable armi~s from Niaga,. 
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fa to have co-operated with it, instead of having, at a, eriticat 
moment agreed by an armistice, to act oniy on the defeno 

3ive, and thel'eby leave the whole force of the province m ope­
rate against it. It wiII be distinctly remembered, that when I 
informed the government, that Malden might be taken with the 
forces under my command, I observed in the same letter it 
would be attended with too great a sacrifice. After having 
made this communication, "that it was my opinion it would be 
attended with too great a sacrifice," and that opinion having been 
approved by the President, I submit to your judgment, whether, ' 
under those circumstances, I could have been authorized to 
have made the attempt, withtmt a positive order for the purpose. 

The son of General Dearborn has endeavoured to make the 
impression, that my complaint of the court martial, in not suf­
fering counsel to appear in my defence, was without any foun­
dation. It is true, when I informed the court of the names of 
the gentlemen I wished to employ as my counsel, the request 
appeared to be granted. When the trial commenced, and the 
gentlemen attempted to examine the witnesses, they were in­
formed, that they would not be permitted to examine the wit­
nesses, speak to any collateral question of law, which might 
arise in- the trial, or to the final question, whether by the evi­
dence, I was guilty or not. At the same time, Mr. DaUas, and 
Mr. Van Buren had bcen employed by my prosecutors (the ad­
ministration) to assist the army Judge Advocate, and allowed 
to examine the witnesses, speak to all questions of law, and to 
the final question, whether I was guilty of the .charges (01' not, 
and I was not permitted to reply in any manner whatever, to the 
application of the testimony, and the a~guments, which w.ere 
made use of, to enforce it against me. Of what use was this 
apparent caudour, in consenting that I might employ counsel? 
Without the permission of the court,· I had a FrjO'ht to ask the 

'" advice of any counsellors, that I chose to employ. It is true, 
the court did not post centinels at my dool', and prevent me 
from consulting with them, neither did they prevent them from 
writing a~y questions, and, handing them to me, to be proposed 
to the wItnesses. All tlus they certainly would have had a 
right to have done, without the permission of the court. 

It would have been too great an outrage, for the court to hitv,& 
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determined, that no one should be permitted to write for -.l1e, or 
advjse with me. 
- There could have_been no mode of executing an order of this 
kind, but confining me in a dungeon. Throughout the whole 
trial, the order of the court, that my counsel should not be per­
mitted to speak in its prcllence, was rigidly adhered to. It fre­
quently happelted, in the course of the trial, that questions of 
law arose, with respect to the admission of testimony, and on 
Qther subjects. Feeling myself incompetent to the discussion 
of these legal questions, the law was e}l:plail1ed by the Special 
1udge Advocate, who was employ.ed and paid by my p~osecu­
tors, and adopted by the court, according to his explanation. 

It must be obvious, that the manner in which it was admitted 
could have been of no use to me, As the administration had 
employed special counsel to assist the Judge Advocate in the 
prosecution, the court was not willing, in direct terms, to deny 
my request. It was however granted in a manner, only to save 
appearances, but not to be of the least use to me. 

I now ask, whether the scales of justice, held by the hand of 
General Dearborn, tire president of the court martial, were 
equally balanced in this case? My right to employ counsel 
was founded on the libet'al princi.ples of our government, and 
particularly on OUl' constitution, which is the highest law of the 
J.and. 

I need only appeal to your own senSe of justice and right, 
fellow citizens, for you to confirm the reasonableness of a re­
quest, to be allowed the !Sallie assistance of counsel, in the full­
est .extent, where not only life, but character, which is dearer 
than life, is depending on the issue of the trial, ail is admitted 
in the most trifling trespass, 01' que~tion of property, before any 
of the courts in our country. The argument, fellow citizens, 
in favour of my right to counsel, to a~ist me, in showing my 
innocence, and defending my life and reputation, is founded 
on that constitution, which is the WOl'k of your own hands, and 
is your unalienable inheritance. 

The precedent, by which the arguments urged by young Gen­
eral Dearborn are supported, is founded on a practice, ei;tab­
lished in the dark ages of tyranny and oppression, when the 
people were considered as ha,ving no rights, and their lives, lib­
erty, reputation and property, were at· the disposal of the 
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,,,ill of a tyrant. It is for you to judge, on which side is th~ 
weight of argument, and on which side the scales'of justice pre­
ponderate. 

In the defence of General Dearborn, the testimony of Captain 
'Vhistler is recited, with respect to provisions. ,In one of ,my 
llumbers, I have informed 'you 'of the character and 'situation of 
this officer. Admitting however, his testimony to be true, with' 
respect to the barrels of provisions in the store, which he says 
he counted, if you will only take the trouble of calculating the 
number of rations they would make, and the time when he 
counted them, and compare it with the issues previous to that 
time, which have been, stated by the contractur, you will find it 
only would have lasted to about the 16th of August, the day of 
the capitulation. This statement you will find, is correct by 
mathematical calculation. This witness has likewise stated the 
the number of cannon, small arms, powder and ball, at the 
fort. 

In reply I will only observe, that a part of these cannon were 
left by the British, when the fort was delivered to us, by virtue 
of the tr€aty of peace, being principally without carriages, and 
were considered as useless. Others were left, with the small 
arms and powder, by ~neral "Vayne's army which was dis­
banded at Detroit, after the Indian war, and all the carriages 
were rotten, and the small arms ate up with rust and not worth 
repamng. The powder remained so long a time in the store 
that it had lost all its strength, and was no better than ashes. 
f should be wanting in duty to myself, did I not make sODie re­
ply to that part of the defence which relates to the Indians.­
I refer you, fellow citizens, to the 3d number of my memoirs, 
in which I recited a letter, which I wrote to the Secretary of 
War on that subject. In that letter the character, habits, and 
predominant passions of the Indians are descrihed. I informed 
the government that in the even t of war, the f'lachems and chiefs 
would advise the warriours to take no part in it. but gave it as 
my opinion in the most explicit manner, that their authority 
over them would not be able to restrain them. The policy of 
our government was not to employ them. As soon as I took 
the .command ~f the army, I sent messages to their villages and 
adVised them, III the event of war, to remain quiet in their wig­
wams, and take no part ill the contest, in which they could 
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lJave no interest. The old sachem chiefs, called in council,c;~ 
and atlvi~ed the walTiours to this policy. Their advice and au­
thority had no effect, and as I was not authorized to employ 
them, they all joined the British standard. 

Their conduct was precisely sueh, as I had predicted to the 
government, and there was nothing, which 'cuuld have made it 
different, but an invitation to them to join our standard, which 
I had no authority to give. 

Young General Deal'born has published the names of the of­
ficers who composed the court martial, with his father at the 
head, as president. It required two-thirds only of the mem­
bers, to pronounce the sentence. It is very certain, that it was 
not unanimous, as it is said two-thirds of the members agreed 
to it. Had it been unanimous, it would have been so stated, 
It must be evident, that a part of the court were opposed to it. 
I should be happy indeed, wefl~ it in my power, to designate 
the characters, who were only influenced, by disintereste d and 
honourable motives. 

I have stated the reasons why I did not object to the l'lresi­
dent or any of the members of this court martial. I had been 
much more thau a year, a prisoner in arrest, was conscious of 
having faithfully done my duty, and in my official communica­
tion to the government, requested an investigation of my con­
'duct It had been delayed in an unprecedented manner, dur­
ing this long time, and I believed, had I made objections to the 
president or any members of the court, it would have caused 
further delay. Besides, most of the members of the court were 
strangers to me; men, whom I never before had seen, and 
whose names I had never heard, excepting General Deal'born, 
General Bloomfield, Colonel Fenwick, Coionel House, and 
Lieutenant Colonel Conner. 

By examining the list, published by young General Dearborn 
you will perceive, the other members belonged to new raised regi­
ments which did not exist, during the campaign of 1812. They 
were appointed to l'egiments numbered from thirty-two to forty­
two. They had no military rank at that time. 

It is well known, that officers were selected to form these ad­
ditional regiments, from the most violent partizans of the ad­
ministration, and this alone was a sufficient qualification. Of­
frcers of this, description constituted a majority of the court. 

ze 
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They were pledged to any measures, which the administratiollt 
my prosecutors, wished. 'Vith respect to General Dearborn, 
the president, the deep interest which he had in the issue of 
the trial, has been presented to you. 

General Bloomfield was a meritorious officer of the revolu­
tion, and served with rredit to himself. He was an amiable 
and much respected citizen at the termination of the revolution­
ary war, and I believe retained the esteem of society to the 
close of his life. He is now numbered among the dead, with 
many others,his compatriots in arms- and in the presence of· 
that Judge, who examines the motives as well as the actions of 
men-and before whose tribunal we must all appear.-May he 
rest in pf'ace ! 

Colonel Fenwick and Colonel House, I have ever bplieved were 
governed by the purest and most honourable motives, ami were' 
under no other influence, than a sense of duty. Under this in­
luence, whatever may have been their opinions, I shall ever re­
.spect them as honourable men. Lieutenant (olonel CODner 
received his commission about the time that Gen~ral Dearborll 
was appointed the first Major General. It was ubtained by his 
patronage. He was in his family, and one of his aids de camp. 
But a short time before the court martial was ordered he was. 
promoted to the rank of lieutenant colonel by the same patron­
age, and selected as a member of the court for my. trial. To 
the president of the court martial, he owed both his first ap­
pointment, and his sudden promotions. 

Any comments from e. ap~·ear unnecessary. 
When you consi.1er, that the court martial was composed of 

a majority of offict'rs "elected from the arlditiollal re~riments, 
not in service until after the campaign of 1812, aud when you 
reflect on the conditil.lns on whicl officers were appointed at 
that time, that they must be zealous slJpporters of every nleas­
ure of the administration and subservient to the wishes of its 
officers and of its commanding General, as an indispensable 
q'lallfication 10 promotiun. and how deeply imPl'ested tha t ad­
~inistration, who beca~~ ruy prosecutors, were. in fixmg ~he 
disasters of the campaign on me, I am pl'rSlladed vou L8!.r:ot 

be at a loss to dpclar.· lIo!, n.,.', '\ l>' "hich PIOlllpted ti.e !>entencc 
?f two·th:rds 01 a ('ourt martl:tl~ thus 81'1, cieri Clr,d thus organ-
1,~1l. When you f\.lnller conslder, that this court martial re .. 
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ceivea the opinions of witnesses on great military operations.) 
who nevel' had any military experience, and many of whom 
frorll the l'vidence now presl'nted, you must be satisfied, were 
deeply interested in my condemnation, you must be sensible, 
that little or no credit ought to be given to their tl'I'timony_ 
From the" sentence of. such a court martial, whose judgment was 
formed on testimony like this-I hav!' appealed to the highest 
tribunal on earth, whose decisio!l 1 am convinced will be found­
ed on impartial Justice, In answer to my animadversions on; 
the procpeding" of the court martial and the evidence 1 have. 
produced, to show the deep interest which the president and 
some of the members had in the issue of the trial, and the mo­
tives which must have influenced, nearly the whole of them, he 
has extracted tl'om my delence an observation which I then 
made, expressive of my confidence in that court martial. As 
this is his last effort and seems to be his dernier resort, in de­
fence of his father, it becomes necessary to furnish its true ex­
planation. By an e~amination of the extract, it will be seen~ 
that it is qualified by this remark, 'that there has been some 
departure from accustomed forms.' Nothing is more evident, 
fur the just construction of a sentence,- than that the whole of it 
ought to bp taken into one view, with the circumstances under 
which it is made. Having stated the marmer in which I lorot 
all my papers which related to the campaign, it is well known, 
that I had no documents at my trial, excepting such copies 
from the records of the government as my prosecutors thought 
proper to furnish. In my repeated applications to the govern­
ment, I request£'d to be furnished with copies- of all the docu~ 
ments which had any relation to the campaign. None were furn­
ished, excep~ing such as it was thought would operate most strong­
lyagainst me. In my defence~ it may be seen, in what manner I 
applied for particular d(lcum~nts, which I shewed were deposit­
ed in the War Office, and the reasons which were offered, why 
they were not furn·ished. The letters from the Secretary of 
War to General Dearborn, containing the orders to him to co­
operate with me, his letters to the Secretary and all the letters 
relating to the armistice were withheld, and I was consequently 
deprived of the use of their contents. All I then knew, was 
that such arrangements had been made, but on what principles, 
by whose authority, and fur what reasons, were unknown to .~ 
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as r"could "giv-e- M explana:tion, and my prbsecutors did not 
thiDk Froper to present them in evidence, it was impossible fot 
me to avail of t~stimony 60 highly important to me. The e.vi ... 
dence both with respect to co-operation and the armi~tice, being 
withheld from me. it was impossible for me to know, how deep­
ly General Dearborn was interested in the re.ult of my trial.­
It now seems, however, by General Dearborn's own statement 
to the Secretary of 'Yar, that he entered into the armistice, 
when at the same moment, Adjutant General Baynes had in­
formed him. that Michillimackanack had fallen into the hands 
of the British, and consequently when he must have kDown that 
an additional force of the enemy. with the tribes of Indians from 
the north would thereby be spared to act against me. Being 
blindfolded and kept in ignorance of the deep designs of my 
proRecutors. I expressed what is well understood to' be a gener­
al custom in similar cases-a generous confidence in a tribunal 
of MY PEERS as I had considered them, from the badges by 
which they were distinguished. Since that period, evidence 
has been furnished which unfolds circumstance:; connected with 
the campaign, and exhibits in colours, which never can be ef­
faced, the causes of its disasters and misfortunes. Those ex­
pressions therefore, made under the state of things which then 
existed, young General Dearborn is at ful1 liberty to grasp, 
among the many other shadows he so eagerly aims to seize. 

It is our duty to respect all the public institutions of our 
country, and feel a liberal confidence in characters, elevated to 
the seats of justice-we ought to presume they are unspotted, 
and free from any undue bias and influence, until the contrary 
appears. 

I will endeavour to illustrate these considerations, by exam­
ples in our civil courts which you see every day practised. 
"\\'hat is more common, than for an advocate at the bar, to ex­
press his confidence in' the justice and integrity of the court and 
jUl'Y, before which a cause is tried, either of a criminal or civil 
nature, involving life, reputation or properly, to acknowledge 
there has been a patient trial, and to express his o-ratitude for 
the impartiality with which it has been conducted? But when 
sentence has been pronounced by the court, if it afterwards 
appears that the Chief Justice, or other judges, or the foreman 
or any of the jurors, had.a deep interest in the cause, or had 
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been improperly tampered with, I ask, whether dn an appeal 
from suc.h a sehttmc~, 01' on a new trial, before another tribunal, 
it was ever contended, that the sentence was just, and ought not 
to be reversed, because, forsooth. the advocate at the first trial 
made such acknowledgments and expressed such gratitude, as is 
above supposed. I will not insult your understandings, fellow 
citizens, by dwelling further on a point so clear and familiar to 
the most inexperienced among you, but will leave this with 
many other such strong Izolds of the young General, for you to 
.m.ake your own deductions. 

The prodigal use of epithE'ts too disgusting for repetition, 
'which adorn the pages of your.g General Dearborn, in defence 
of his father, carry with them their own antidote, and are en­
titled to no further notice from me; such la.nguage is the usual 
substitute, where a cause is deficient of argument 01' truth for 
its support; this defence of General Dearborn, with my appeal 
to your candour and impartiality, are now r;;ubmitted by your 
fellow citizen, WILLIAM HULL. 

New(on, .9.ugUBt Sotlz, 1824. 

No. XXXVIII. 

SINCE the publication of my reply to the attempt of the SOil 

of General Dearborn, to defend the conduct of his father, I 
have obtained some new evidence on the subject of the armis­
tice, which I shall present for your consideration il'l this num­
ber. This evidence consists of the letters of Sir George Pre­
vost to General Brock, a few days befOl'e the armistice took 
place, during its continuance, and after its operation ceased. It 
is contained in a pani'phlet, entitled, "Some account of the 
Public Life of the late Lieutenant General Sir George Prevost, 
Bart. particularly of his services in Canada; London, publish­
ed by Cadell, &c. 1823," and will be found i!l pages 37, 38, 39, 
40, and 41. It is stated in the defence of General Dearborn, 
by his son, t1~at "no troops, or military supplies, were sent to 
the relief of fort Malden, from any post below, during the tem­
porary armistice, and that Geperal Brock, did not even know-



22! 

that one had been agrperl upon, until he returl1ed to fort tl'ie', 
on the 'Siagara, after the capture of General Hull and his army, 
and that so far from neglecting the situation of General Hull, 
every precaution was taken by Gene~al Dearborn, to renuet 
the arrangement, not only not injuriou~, but advantageous to 
him_ " To prove that troops had been sent, from Niagara to 
Malden a few days before the armistice was agreed to, and 
while it was in operation, I have produced the letten of Gene­
ral l)sarborn, to the Sf'cretaryof War and to General Van 
Rpn~selaer, who commanded on the Niagara river_ By these 
letters. it appears,. that General Dearborn had a pel-feet know­
ledge. that re-enforcements had IJlarcherl against me, when he 
signed the armistice_ Although on this point, I believe the 
evidence I have offered, is satisfactory to you, yet as this unau­
thorized measure was so essentially the cause of the disasters 
of my a.-my. it is desirable to remove ever.v doubt, if any exists 
in the mind of a single individual. 

In page 37. of this pamphlet, it is stated, "that Sir George 
Prevost, upon the receipt of despatches from Mr. Foster, ac­
quainting him, with the proposed repeal of the orders in council, 
by the British government, immediately opened a communica­
tion with Major General Dearbom, commanding the Aml"rican 
forces, on the frontiers of Lower Canada, for the purpose of 
concluding an armistice, until the Congress should determine 
upon the proposals, transmitted to them by Mr. Fl)ster. An 
armistice of about three weeks did accordingly take place." 
The advantages are then stated, which this armistice gave to Sit< 
George Prevost; that a regiment had arrived from the West 
Indies; and after the armistice was concluded, and during the 
continuance of it, considerable re-enforcements of men and sup­
plie:., were forwarded to Upper Canada, where they arrived, be­
fore the resuming of hostilities, and materially contributed, to­
wards defeating the attempts, which were made bv the enemy 
to invade that province. It is then stated, that intelligence 
was sent to General Brock, which must have reached him at 
A~herstburg, (that is, Malden,) while he was at tltat place. 
It IS then further stated, that .. Sir George Prevost despatched 
~ private letter, to GeIleral Brock of the 2d of August, 1812, 
SIX days before the proposed armistice was concluded and upon 
the subject of it." In a letter, addressed to GeJle;al Brock, 



~ the 80th of August, 1812, he quotes the opinion of' his majes­
ty's government, on the subject of the defensive system, in 
these words: 

"The King's Government, having most unequivocally ex­
~essed to me, their desire to preserve peace with the United 
States, that they might uninterruptedly pursue, with the whole 
<lisposable force of the country, the great interests committed to 
them in Europl', I have endeavoured to be instrumental in the 
accomplishment of those views. He then says in this same let­
ter, "But I consider it most fortunate, to have been enabled to do 
so witko!41 inte~fering with YOUR operations on the Detroit. I 
llave sent you men, money, and stores of every kind." Here are 
quoted the identical words of Eir George Prevost to Generd 
Brock, on the subject of the armistice. and the operations on 
the Detroit river.. Thus fellow citizens, I have not only fur­
nished you with the letters of General Dearborn, to the Secre­
tary of War, and to General Van Rensselaer, that a few days 
before he agreed to the armistice, and during the continuance 
of it, that troops had been sent tG Malden, from Niagara, but 
have now established the same facts, by the letters of Sir George 
Prevost, who commanded the British army in the Canadas~ 
and have! 'i-wise t'stablished this most important fact, that as 
early as the 2d of August, six days before the armistice was 
1:9ncluded, that a private Jettel' was sent to General Brock, by 
Sir George Prevost, giving him information on tht' subject of 
the armistice.-On the evidence before offered, in addition to 
this, I ask you to consider on what grounds young General 
Dearborn could have made the assertion c.ontained i:>l the de­
fence of his father? 

'.rhe evidence, which I have presented in this and my former 
numbers, must exhibit,in the most dedded manner, the effects 
which this m.'asure had on my operations. It nuw becomes a 
very serious inquiry, what were the motives of General Dear­
born's conduct? 

It cannot be presumed that he acted without motives. His 
awn acknowledgement, that he had no authority to agree to a 
~essation of arms, is the bt'st . , idence which can be adduced, 
that he consented to a measure which his duty .!ld not warrant, 
and fur which he had no authority; a mea~ure not founded in 
pulicy or expediency; because he " .. ys Hi his letter to the Se" 
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would consent to it. 

GeReral Dearborn had formed the plan of the'campaign, and 
well knew the time and manner in which the invasion of Upper 
Canada had been made by the troops under my command. He 
likewise knew the progress I had made in the execution of his 
own plan, and the manner in which the operations on the De­
troit river had been approved by the President.-Having him· 
self neglected to make preparations at Niagara, and being hard 
pressed by the President to order his troops to attack the ene­
my's posts, and co-operate with me; what does he say? I ask 
you to look at his letter of the £8th of July, to the Secretary of 
-War, recited by the son in defence of his father? You will 
find, he appeared to he in a state of amazement, and the first 
sentence of it is, "Who is to command the operations in Uppm' 
Canada?" Thi" was a critical crisis. By the positive com­
mands he had received, he must have ordered the troops at Ni­
agara to have invaded Upper Canada, and co-operated with my 
forces, or made some arrangement, for an excuse, for not obey­
ing these positive commands. In this situation, to prevent the 
possibility of co-operating amI affording me any assistance, what 
did he do? In a few days after he agreed to the armistice, in 
which he pledged himself, that the troops he commanded, 
should not make the invasion, and should not co-operate with 
my forces. Under these facts, the motives by which he was in­
fiu£nced, I do think must be too plain to be misunderstood; es­
pecially when considered in connection with his conduct as 
president of the court martial by which I was tried. 

It must be satisfactory evidence, that his measures were re­
'gulated by what he believed to be his own private interest, 
whatever might be the sacrifice, regardless of the public good. 
By the arrangements he had made, and afterwards by the pro­
ceedings of the court martial, of which he was president, he be­
lieved that he had supported himself on my ruins; that by this 
measure, he had disqualified himself from rendering me any 
assistance and had left all the forces ill Canada in a situation to 
march against me. 

~y o~ject, you will perceive, is to furnish you with evidence 
which w.lll remo~e all doubt.s from your minds, with respect to 
the motives of his conduct III relation to me; from the view I 
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nave all'ead,. taken of the subject I may now ask you, Wit11 "pro­
priety, whether he did not consider any means justifiable which 
would have a tendency to accomplish the end. Our" actions are 
influenced by our dispositions; any uther part of his conduct 
therefore, which wilf show the disposition of his heart, will not 
be considered as irrelevant to the present subj-ect. His account 
of the battle of Bunke," Hill was written ann published in the 
year 1818. His object in writing and publishing this account, 
must be evident. His condud during the war, in wluch he 
was nominally considered as the first General, had lowered him 
to a scale of dE:'gradation, which was mortifying to his own van o 

ity and pride. The principal achievements which he perform­
ed during his command, were the armistice which occasioned 
the disasters of my army; his services as president of the court 
martial for my destruction; and his expedition agaillst York, in 
Upper Canada, where he remained in his vessel on the lake be­
'yond the range of cannon shot, whence he viewed the gal­
lant and unfortunate General Pike, land his troops, ascend the 
bank, take possession of the town, and perish with many of his 
hrave troops, by the explosion o( a magazine of powder, pre­
pared for the purpose. After this explosion he landed in safe­
ty, and obtained a scalp, which he pres.erved as a trophy of vic­
tory. For these exploits he waiil retained in service, with his 
rank and emoluments, until peace was established; but in the 
degraded situation of seeing junior Generals appointed to all 
the important commands. Not having performed a single act, 
while commanding General, which entitled him in your estima­
tion to the station he had held, or to the least distinction in so­
i\iety ; he remembered, that he was in the battle of Bunke,' Hill, 
and that you were di;,!posed to give great eredit to those who 
aCted a part on that important ami meroot'able occasion. 

His account of the battle was forty-three year~ after the event 
took place, and essentially uilferent from any other which be­
fore liad been pUblished. He says, that General Ward, the 
-commander in chief of the American army, took no interest Or 
part in the transactions of the day; and that General Putnam, 
who was the senior officer on Bunker Hill, behaved like a 
4~ coward," and was entitled to no credit for his conduct; that 
nothing saved him from trialllnd censure but his extraordinary 
popularity? and it was afterwards thought mysterious why Col-

29 
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-onel Gerrish was made the" scape goat." The circumstau'CQ 
of this battle are an importanc part of your history, and it is de­
sirable, indeed, that the facts relating to it should be handed 
down to posterity as they existed, in truth. It is evident that 
his object in publishing this aCCGunt was to influence you to be­
lieve that General Putnam was a coward. and persuade you t8 
give himself a great share in the glory. Hereafter this 8ubjkct 
will be more fully considered. 

I will now return to the consid~rations more immediatel, 
connected with the subject of the campaign of 1812. 

The letters published in the volume. to which I have refer­
red, from the British government to Sir George Prevost, and. 
his letters to General Brock, distinctly IOhow the views of that 
government, with respect to the war, which C{)ngre~s had de­
clared. 

Tit€> instructions to the British commander in Canada were 
to act 011 the defensive.-In these instructions it was stated that 
the great interests in Europe, required all the strength and re­
sources of the British nation. Under these circumstances, no 
measure would have been so favourable for the defence of Can­
ada. as delay; nothing could have operated E.O effectually to 
have produced delay, as an armistice. Its advantage to our 
enemy are forcibly pointed out in the volume to which I have 
referred. 

Our situation was totally differl'nt-to us it was a favourable 
moment for active offensive operations. To both belligerents 
it could not have been favourable. The acknowledgment by 
the British commander that it was most advantageous to him, is 
eertainly good evililence that it must have been injurious to us. 
Ris advantages were out· losses. 

In must be obvious that delay must be advantageous to a. 
army whose object i!! defensive opprations; and injurious til one 
acting on the contrary system. Had the armistice been general, 
oonsidering the objects of the war, and the circumstances of the 
armies, it would have given advantages to the enemy, and beelt 
injurious to us.-Under the partial circumstances it was agreed 
to, (a part of our army not being included in it,) no measure 
could have been more fatal. The terms of it were such, as ren­
dered all the British posts from Quebpc to lake Erie perfectly 
sltfe, durillg its continuance. It is per,fectly understood, that 
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tke (orces I commanded on the Detroit river had Wi participa~ 

tion in it; and it is now proved by the letters of Sir George 
Prevost, to General Brock, that there were no provisions con­
tained in it, which preven ted the British commander from send­
ing troops, wat'like storelt, and supplies of every kind, to re-en~ 
force and assist the army operating against me. 

Thi,s fact is so important, fellow citizens, that I must ask 
you to permit me to repeat the evidence of it contained in Sir 
George Prevost's letter to General Brock. Speaking of his in­
struction8, and of the defensive system, he sayB, "I have en­
deavoured to be ihstrumental in accomplishing the views of my 
government; but I consicler it most fortunate to have been ena­
hIed to do so, without intei:fering with your operations on the 
Detroit.-/ have sent you, men~ money, and stores of every kind." 
-Thus you have before you, the evidence, not only that Sir 
George Prevost considered himself authorized, notwithstanding 
the armistice, to send re-enforcements and supplies of every 
kind to General Brock, but that he actually did send them to him 
at the time, and during its continuance. 

You likewise have before you, fellow citizens, the letter of 
General Dearborn to· the Secretary of \'Var, written It few days 
before he made the armistice; and his letter to General Van 
Rensselaer, during its continuance, giving information that 
troops had been sent from Niagara to re-enforce the garr:ison at 
Malden; and also the letter of Colonel Cass, to prove, that 
about the 10th of August four hundred regular troops had act­
ually arrived at Malden as a re-enforcement. You likewise 
now have the additional proof of Sir George Prevost's- letter to­
General Brock, that it was most fortunate that his defensive 
system had not interfered, with his (General Brock's) operations 
at Detroit, and stating that he had sent him troops, money, and 
supplies of every kind, during the continuance Qf the at'mistice. 
On the othet" hand you have the naked round assertion of the 
son of General Dearborn, that no troops were sent at that time, 
as re-enforcements to that place. If the letters of his father 
and the British commander are to be believed, his assertion can~ 
not be true. It might be some consolation if he could plead' 
ignorance. That is impossible, because in the same paper in 
which he made the assertion that no troops were sent from Nia­
gara to re-enforce the army at Malden, he published his father'$. 
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letters to the Spcretary of War, and General Van Rensselaer, 
givin~ them the information, and advising General Van Rensse­
laer to \p pr'epared to take advantage of the reduced !!Iituatioll 
of the enemy at Niagara. when the armistice should be over. 

Thus he manifested his wishes by furnishing evidence whic~ 
prnved his assertinns to he false; and something still worse, by 
making an assertion, whi,ch by the evidence in his possession­
he knew was not true-it therefore must be considered as a 
wilfnl misrepresentation. 

I make Use of no epithets, or abusive language, to excite a 
prejudice a:,sainst him; I state facts, and produce the evidence 
of their truth; I only ask you to make such inferences, as must 
naturally f'lllow from the facts, and to give him such a charac­
ter, and Ruch a name as he deBerves. No! I will not even ask 
this! Unfol'tunate man! My only request is, that you would 
pity and forgive him !-" Honour your father" is the command 
of God. Obedience to this command, he says, has been the 
most painful act of his life. He must remember it was his own 
act, and however painful, it was caused by his own weakness 
and passions. It is hoped, it will be a useful lesson to hilll in 
future litf->, and teach him the importance of regulating his col'!­
duct, by reason and truth. Having asked your forgiveness fur 
him. J freely offer him mine, because I believe he was so el:­
cil,j by passions that" he knew not what he did." 

Hod he Come fOl'ward in an honourable manner, and attempt­
ed:-,) have proved. by evidence and fair argument, that his 
fai\~l' had no interest in the event of my trial, and that the pro­
c<"'(lings against me w,:re just, I should have met him only With 
thr S;,lHC weapons of evidence, and of argument. But since he 
has dflopted " different COUl·:;e, and has grounded his defence on 
the p,','c"edings of 0 court martial, over which his interested 
father :Jresideu. a'ld on those proceedings alone, without any 
othel' I-v.idence, has endeavoured to calumniate and continue 
your pn"judlces a!!,ainst me, I fcel myself justified, and I have 
t~e ple~i;u re to believe you will be of the opinion, that I am jus­
tdied. lU the few personal remarks, which I have here made. 

From the proceedings of that court martial I have now 
appealed, to a fair, independent, and impartial tribunal. 

~fy right to this appeal, is fou~ded on the principles of our 
goVer~PJllnt. You. are the fQunta.m of all power, aJl~ the source 
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whence all authority flows. It follows of course, that your ju­
risdiction is above all tribunals which you have instituted. I 
well know the difficulty which attends an individual, in making 
his case known to so numerous a body. I have stated it in as 
plain, and simple a manner, aa it was possible, that it might be 
understood by all. It has been published, with great disinter­
estedness ill many, very many of our newspapers, and as far as 
my knowledge extends, has been read not only without preju­
dice, but with great candour, and a sincere desire to obtain tha 
truth. 

If from a want of evidence before the court martial, or from 
any other cause, you should now be satisfied that the proceed­
ings against me, were unjust, your opinion will afford hnppi­
ness to the few remaining days of my life, which no language 
can express. If, on the contrary, from the difficulty of spread­
ing the truth befol'e you, I Ehould not be able. to convince you, 
that I acted faithfully, and that my conduct was influenced by 
a sense of duty, I shall I>till respect your opinion, and shall 
only have the same consolation, until my death, which has beep 
my support since the events happened. .!1 consciousness of the 
pU'I'ity of motives, and a beliif, that my conduct, as circttmstances 
were, was the m08t correct. 

I am, with the highest respect, 

Your injured fellow citizen, 

WILLIAM. HULL. 

Newt-on, October l~th, 1824. 
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During this time he expected his army would be re-enforced, 
and expressed a hope to lead them to new victories. After 
rcalling and explaining this address to my company, which con­
si.sted of sixty men, everyone engaged to remai.n the time, 
which was requested. 

The last day of December, the strength of the British army 
marched against him at Trenton, and being greatly superiour to 
his army in numbers, on the night of the 1st of Januar'Y, 1777, 
undiscovered by the enemy, and only separated by a small 
ereek, he abandoned his camp, and marched to Pr incetown, 
where he obtained another victory no less important, than the 
one at Trenton. 

At this time General Washington had received an authority 
from Congress, to re-organize the army, and make promotions, 
I was a young Captain, and not entitled to promotion by regular 
succession. By a letter from him to General Heath, which has 
lately been published, it will appeal' that he gave me the ap­
pointment of a Major in the'Massachusetts' line, in consequence 
of my conduct, in these two battles. After these events, the 
beginning of January, the army marched to Morristown, in 
New JerseYt for its winter quarters. 

From this post, ] was ordered, to join the regiment to which 
I was attached, then recruiting in Boston. .'\.s fast as the men 
were enlisted; they were ordered to Springfield on Connecticut 
river, and when about three hundred had rendezvoused at that 
place, I was directed to take the command of them, and march 
them t(J Tyconderoga, in the month of April, 1777. Michael 
Jackson. who WIlS the Colonel of the regiment, and had been 
wounded in ~n attack on Montrasuer's Island, near New York, 
the year before, had not recovered of his wounds, and the late 
Governour Brooks who was the Lieutenant Colonel, remained 
in Boston, to superintend the recruiting of the residue of the 
regiment. 

General St. Clair coml'nanded at Ticonderoga on my arrival, 
the latter part of April.-My station, with the command of this 
regiment, was at the old French lines, which had been repaired 
the year before. After the arrival of General Burgoyne's army 
these lines were several times attacked, and the assailants as 
often repulsed. In the retreat of the army from this post, 
through the woods of Vermont, I continued to command the 
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~giment, and after a fatiguing march, a junction was formed 
with General Schuyler's army, on the Hudson, a little below 
fort Ed ward. 

As General Burgoyne advanced from lake Champlain, Gen­
eral Schuyler retreated, and cl'ossed to the west bank of the 
Hudson. l'hearmy in its retreat halted at Sarratoga, and in 
the evening three hundred men, under my command, were post­
ed two miles above, on the ban~ of the river, as a rear guard. 
In the night a large body of General Burgoyne's army, with the 
savages attached to it, crossed to the west bank of the river, 
made a circuitous march, and at day light in the morning ap­
peared in the front, and on the left flank of the guard, my right 
being extended to the river. In this situation, the enemy com­
menced the atta.ck, both in my front, and on the left flank, 
which was resisted, and the ground maintained, until perceiv­
ing they were greatly superi6ur to me in numbers, and were 
pressing around my left flank, and gaining my rear, I ordered a 
retreat, which was continued about a mile, under a heavy fire of 
regulars and savages. Observing an advantageous height of 
ground, the detachnient was formed, and held their position, 
-although hardly pressed, until a strong re-enforcement arrived, 
for my support; the whole body then advanced and compelled 
the assailants to retreat in their turn. In this rencountcr, our 
loss was forty men and three officers, killed and wounded.-· 
Although, in the first instance, I was obliged to retreat, yet I 
received the full approbation and thanks of General Schuyler, 
in public orders, for my conduct. At this time Lieutenant Col­
onel Brooks had arrived at Albany with the remainder of the 
regiment, and was marching up the Mowhawk, with a detach­
ment ordered for the relief of fort Stanwi~, which was in­
vested, by a deta'thment of the British army, and savages. I 
was ordered to join him with the part of the regiment I had com­
manded during the campaign, and the junction was made at the 
German Flats, which was then the extent of our settlements. 
The o-allant defence of tha.t fort, with the circumstances of the 

~ 

siege, and the mannr.r in which it was relieved, are fully re-
corded in history. After the siege was raised and the besiegers 
compelled to retreat to Canada, the detachment returned, and 
joined the army on the Hudson, at the entrance of the Mohawk, 

into that river. 
30 



v APPENDIX. 

General Gates had now been appointed to the chief command 
in the northern department, and immediately ordered the army 
to advance on the enemy. He took a position, and formed his 
camp, on Bhemis' heights, about eight miles below Sarratoga, 
where his fortifications were erected, with the right extending 
to the Hudson. General Burgoyne, crossed the" rivel' at fort 
Edward, and established his camp, and fortifications, above, 
leaving a space of about two miles, between the two armies.­
The two memorable battles, which were fought on this ground 
by these two armies, on the 19th of September, and the 7th of 
October, previously to the surrender of General Burgoyne, are 
also described in the history of the revolutionary war. The 
action of the 19th of September, commenced between Colonel 
Morgan's riflemen and an advanced corps from the right of 
General Burgoyne's encampment, directed towards the left of 
Genel'al Gate's position. It was about one o'clock in the after­
noon. A very short interval succeeded, when Morgan's corp. 
was re-enforced by General Poor's brigade from New Hamp­
shire, and at the same time, with a detachment of three hun· 
dred volunteers, from the Massachusetts' brigade, to which I 
belonged, and the command of which was assigned to me. The 
action was obstinate, and severe, and was only interrupted by 
the dusk of the evening. GenE'ral Burgoyne claimed the victo­
ry. because his troops lay on the field of battle; our troops more 
desirous of comfort, than of etiquette, retired, in the dusk of 
the evening to their tents, to prepare for combat the next day, 
if called again into the field. By the return, it appeared, that 
one hand red and fifty of the three hundred under my command, 
were killed and wounded. 

On the 7th of October, I likewise commanded another detach­
ment from the brigade, of about three hundrcd men, which be­
f?re the action commenced, was ordered to the left of our posi­
tion, to observe the movements of the enemy. give information, 
and check any small parties, which might be advancing. It 
was discovered in the afternoon, that the strength of the British 
army was inovillg to occupy elevated ground on the left of our 
encampmen t. 

Colonel Morgan's riflemen, with a corps of light infantry un­
der the c~mmand of Major Dearborn and the principal p:rt of 
the left wwg of the army, was ordered to attack them. When 
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allese re-enforcements arrived on the ground where I was posted, 
I joined Colonel Weston's regiment with the detachment I 
eommanded, and after a severe conflict, General Burgoyne wa" 
compelled.to retreat to his lines, where he was followed, and 
the day was closed by storming his entrenchments, and entire 
~possession was gained of the right of his position, and encamp­
ment. This victory, amI the obstinate battle of the 19th of 
September, with our success at fort St:ll1wix, and Bennington, 
on his right and left wing, decided the fate of his army. After 
the sun·ender, the regiment to which I belonged, with {lther de­
tachments from General Gates' was ordered to t·e enforce Gene­
ral Washington's army, then at "Vhite Marsh, between the 
Delaware and Schuylkill, in Pennsylvania,-after this junction 
the British army marcherl out of Philadelphia, reconnoitred, and 
viewed every part of General Washington's position. and it was 
fully expected a general battle would have been fought, between 
the two armies, on this occa~ion. Sir William Howe could have 
had no othe,· motive in advancing from Philadelphia; and Gen­
eral W· ashington had taken a strong position, and there is no 
doubt, but it was his intention, to have defended it. He had 
now with him the strength of General Gates' success fui army, 
and the army 'he had commanded during the campaign. The 
one would have been animated with a desire to have maintained 
the character it had acquired, and the other to have proved, 
that it had deserved equal success. The fieids between the 
tW1l armies, were suitable for military operations, and the 
strength of both was collected in compact bodies. 

The British commander, declining the combat, probably pre­
vented a more general battle than was fought during the war of 
the revolution. The British army would have been ambitious 
to have retrieved tbe misfortunes at the north, and the American 
army, now united under the standard of its beloved Washing-: 
ton, would have exerted all its energies to have added to the 
glory, which had been acquired at Saratoga. 

After the retreat of the British army to Philadelphia, General 
Washington marched his army to the west bank of the Schuyl­
kill, about twenty miles from Phiiadelphia, in the month of De­
cember, where huts were built for wintet' quarters, with mate­
rials taken immediately from the forest, and constructed by the 
troops, without any assistance from mechanics. Here, after 
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the toils of the campaign, the army suffered every distress, whicb 
the want of necessary food, comfortable clothing, and conse­
quent disease could occasion. In this situation it remained, 
until the British army evacuated Philadelphia, and commenced 
its march through New Jersey to New York, by the way.of 
Amboy. As soon as information was received of this move­
ment, General Washington crossed the Schuylkill, and march­
ed on the rear of the enemy. At Monmouth, the British army 
was overtaken, and a battle ensued, honourahle to the Ameri­
can arms. In this battle, I commanded the 8th Massachusetts' 
regiment, Lieutenant Colonel Brooks acting on the staff as Ad­
jutant General to the advanced corps, under the command of 
General J.ee. After this battle, the army retired to the Hud­
son, and the following winter, was stationed at West Point, 
and in the high lands. 

During the winter, the command of the troops, on the ad­
vanced lines of the army, near York Island, was assigned to 
me. The objects of the command were, to observe the move­
ments of the enemy, check any small parties advancing into the 
country, and afford protection to the inhabitants ofthat part of the 
iiltate of New York, and the west part of the state of Connecti­
cut. The line of defence extended from the north river to the 
White Plains, and from thence to the east river or sound, a 
distance of about ten miles. 

This position was about twenty-five miles from any other 
part of the American army, and not more than ten miles from 
the enemy, on York Island. My command consisted of about 
four hundred men, and the duty was so severe, that all the offi­
cers and men, were relieved every fortnight. I however re­
mained, at the request of General Washington, from November 
until May; d1lring this time, many attempts were made by the 
enemy to surprize my guards, but without success. All my 
rest and sleep were taken by d.1Y, and my nights were devoted 
to incessant duty. In this exposed situation, for five months, 
within three hours' march of the whole British army, no part of 
my troops was ever surprized, although many attempts were 
made for the purpose, and'many successful enterprizcs were 
made against the enemy's out-posts • 

. In May, 1779, wh~n the British army advanced up the north 
nver, to take possessIOn of Stoney and Verplank's points, I was 
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ordered to retire from the lines, and Jom the army at West 
Point. This corps, composed of light infanh'y, was continued 
under my command, and was ordered to take a position on the 
highest ground, in the rear of the fortifications at that place 
and which overlooked aU that had been constructed between it 
and the river. Here a new fort was erected, by this corps. 
General Wayne, at this time, commanded the light infantry of 
the army, and his station was on the west bank of the Hudson, 
about three miles below West Point, near fort Montgomery. 
The British commander having erected fortifications on both 
sides of the Hudson, about fourteen miles ,below West Point, 
at Stoney Point and Verplank's point, and, leaving about a 
thousand men at each of those posts, returned til New York 
with the main body of his army, and formed a predatory expe­
dition against the towns in Connecticut, which bordered on the 
sea shore. His object undoubtedly was, to draw General Wash­
ington from his strong holds, on the Hudson, and before he 
could return for their defence, ascend the Hudson, and possess 
himself of West Point, and the positions in the high lands. 
Under these circumstances, it became necessary, for General 
Washington to adopt some measures, to check the desolation 
making on the sea-board. 

Not thinking it safe to march his auny from the Hudson, he 
projected an enterprize against Stoney and Verplank's Point. 
The execution of the one against Stoney Point was committed 
to General Wayne; I w.as ordered with the corps I comtnand­
ed to leave the heights I had fortified, and join him at Sandy 
Beach, near fort Montgomery. Before we marched, two com­
panies of light infantry, from North Carolina, under the com­
mand of Major Murphy, were ordered to join my corps, and 
being the senior officer, my command now consisted of seven 
companies. The ,whole body of light infantry, being thus or­
ganized under the command of General Wayne, consisting of 
less than two thousand men, commenced its march over the 
mountains, and halted the beginning of the evening, about a 
mile and an half from Stoney Point. 

Here the orders were, for the first time, communicated.­
At twelve o~lock at night, the attack was made, with unloaded 
arms, and with the bayonet alone. Some historians of the rev­
olution have considered that the British garrison was surprized. 
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This is not the fact; as we advanced, the centinels fired on us 
half a mile from the fort, and when we forced the barriers, and 
entered the fort, every British soldier was in full uniform, with 
his al"ms in his hands. History has pointed out all the trans­
actions relating to this successful entel"prize. 

In consequence of letters from General Washington to Gene­
ral Heath, and from General Washingtori to the legislature of 
Massachusetts, after the enterprize against Stoney Point, I was 
promoted to the rank of I.ieutenant Colonel ;-promotions at 
that period, being made by the legislatures of the states. 

When the army retired to winter quartel's, in 1779, the paper 
money, in which the officers and soldiers had been paid, had 
depreciated to such a degree, that justice and expediency re~ 
quired that some measures should be adopted for their relief. 
General Washington approved and consented to an arrange­
ment, of sending commissioners, to the different states, to repre­
sent the case to the legislatures, and solicit relief.-To this duty 
I was appointed, by the officers of the Massachusetts' line,· and 
this was my first absence from military duty, since I had joined 
the army in 1775. 

In December, 1780, and January, 1781, mutinies had been 
excited in the Pennsylvania and Jersey lines of the army, from 
causes, which here it is unnecessary to mention, and it was feared 
the excitemlmt would extend to the other parts of the army. 
General Washington was desirous of making some offensive 
operations against the enemy, to show to his country, and the 
British commander, that his whole army was not infected with 
this mutinous spirit. For this purpose he ordered a detachment 
to march against the mutineers into New Jersey, and alOlOther 
detachment to attack the enemy's post at Morrisania. The 
command of the latter detachment was assigned to me-Mor­
rissania was so insulated, that General "\Vashington considered' 
that success was very doubtful; but under the circumstanceli 
which existed, as appears in his letter on the subject to General 
Heath, he thought it expedient to make the attempt. The re­
sult, however, was favourable to the American arms, as com­
plete success attended the enterprize. 

In the summer of ]783, after preliminary artie1es of peace 
were ~eti.led, and a c~ssation of hostilities had taken place, the 
Amencan army remamed at West Point, and in the highlands 
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in its neighbourhood and a COl'pS of light infantry was formed 
and stationed very neal' the British posts at Kingsbrirlge, the 
command of which was assigned to me, Here I remained until 
the British army was ready to evacuate New York. At that 
time General Washington with many of the principal officel's 
of the army, attended likewise by the Governour, and a number 
of the civil officel's of the State were escorted into the city by 
the corps I commanded; and commencing at Kingsbridge, as 
the British retired from their posts we advanced and took pos­
session of them. 

The day General Washington took his final farewell of his 
brother officers in New York, this corps which I had so long 
commanded, had the honour of escorting him to his barge, and 
paying him the last military salutation he received from that 
army, which had followed his standard through the trying scenes 
of the revolutionary struggle. 

Under the circumstances, which have since taken place, and 
the attempts which have been made, to destroy my military 
character, I have considered it my duty, fellow citizens, to pre­
sent to you, this general sketch of my revolutionary services. 

In the enterprize against Morrissania, where I commande~, I 
refer you to the letter of General Washington to General Heath, 
which has been lately published, to show his opinion of the haz­
ard, which attended it, and to his public orders to the army, ex­
pressing his thanks, for the judicious arrangements, which were 
made, and the intrepid manner, in which they were executed. 
Likewise to the resolution of Congress, with similar expressions 
of approbation. 

For my conduct, in storming Stony Point, I refer you to the 
public orders of General Wayne, General Washington, and the 
resolution of Congress, in which my name will be found associat­
ed, with the officers, who distinguished themselves on that oc­
.asion. 

On all other occasions where I was called into the field of 
danger, I can refer to the letters and orders of General Wash­
ington, and the other Generals, under whose immediate com­
mand I served, for their approbation. 

I am in the possession of these testimonials, and many of 
them are on the records of our country. They will be preserv­
ed and left with my family, to be made use of hereafter, in such 
manner, alii they may think proper. WILLIAM HULL. 


